
SOUTHEND-ON-SEA BOROUGH COUNCIL

People Scrutiny Committee

Date: Tuesday, 11th April, 2017 @ 18.30
Place: Committee Room 1 - Civic Suite

Contact: Fiona Abbott - Principal Democratic Services Officer  
Email: committeesection@southend.gov.uk 

AGENDA

**** Part 1 

1  Apologies for Absence 

2  Declarations of Interest 

3  Minutes of the Meeting held on Tuesday, 24th January, 2017 

4  Minutes of the Special Meeting held on Tuesday, 20th December, 2016 

5  Questions from Members of the Public 

**** ITEMS CALLED IN / REFERRED DIRECT FROM CABINET - Tuesday 14th 
March, 2017 

6  Monthly Performance Report 
Members are reminded to bring with them the most recent MPR for period 
ending February 2017 which was circulated recently.  Comments / questions 
should be made at the appropriate Scrutiny Committee relevant to the subject 
matter.

7  The Future Provision of Secondary Places in Southend 
Minute 856 (Cabinet Book 1 – Agenda Item 9 refers)
Called in by Councillors Jones & Gilbert

8  School Admissions Arrangements for Community Schools and the 
Coordinated Admission Scheme for Academic year 2018/19
Minute 857 (Cabinet Book 1 – Agenda Item 10 refers)
Called in by Councillors Jones & Gilbert

9  Annual Education Report 
Minute 858 (Cabinet Book 1 – Agenda Item 11 refers)
Called in by Councillors Jones & McDonald

10  School Term Dates 2018/19 
Minute 859 (Cabinet Book 1 – Agenda Item 12 refers)
Called in by Councillors Jones & Ware-Lane

11  The 2016 Annual Report of the Director of Public Health 
Minute 861 (Cabinet Book 1 – Agenda Item 14 refers)

Public Document Pack



Called in by Councillors Nevin & Willis

**** PRE-CABINET SCRUTINY ITEMS - NONE 

**** ITEMS CALLED-IN FROM FORWARD PLAN - NONE 

**** OTHER SCRUTINY MATTERS 

12  Scrutiny Committee - updates 
Report of Chief Executive (attached)

13  In depth scrutiny report - 'Alternative provision - off site education 
provision for children and young people' 
Report of Chief Executive (to follow)

14  Exclusion of the Public 

To agree that, under Section 100(A)(4) of the Local Government Act 1972, the 
public be excluded from the meeting for the items of business set out below on 
the grounds that they involve the likely disclosure of exempt information as 
defined in Part 1 of Schedule 12A to the Act, and that the public interest in 
maintaining the exemption outweighs the public interest in disclosing the 
information.

**** Part 2 

**** ITEM CALLED IN FROM CABINET - Tuesday 14th March, 2017 

**** OTHER SCRUTINY MATTERS 

15  Schools Progress Report 
Report of Deputy Chief Executive (People)

TO: The Chairman & Members of the People Scrutiny Committee:

Councillor J Moyies (Chair), Councillor C Nevin (Vice-Chair)
Councillors B Arscott, M Assenheim, M Borton, H Boyd, S Buckley, M Butler, 
C Endersby, D Garston, S Habermel, A Jones, D McGlone, C Mulroney, G Phillips, 
M Stafford and C Walker 

Co-opted Members

Church of England Diocese – 
Ms Emily Lusty (Voting on Education matters only)

Roman Catholic Diocese –
VACANT (Voting on Education matters only)

Parent Governors – 
(i) Mr Mark Rickett (Voting on Education matters only)
(ii) VACANT (Voting on Education matters only)



SAVS – Ms Alison Semmence (Non-Voting);
Healthwatch Southend – Ms Leanne Crabb (Non-Voting);
Southend Carers Forum – VACANT (Non-Voting)

Observers

Youth Council
(i) E Feddon (Non-voting) 
(ii) J Jenkins (Non-Voting) 



This page is intentionally left blank



SOUTHEND-ON-SEA BOROUGH COUNCIL

Meeting of People Scrutiny Committee

Date: Tuesday, 24th January, 2017

Place: Committee Room 1 - Civic Suite

Present: Councillor Moyies (Chair)
Councillors Nevin (Vice-Chair), Arscott, Assenheim, Borton, Boyd, 
Buckley, Butler, Endersby, Evans*, D Garston, Jones, Phillips, 
McGlone, Mulroney*, Walker and Woodley*
L Crabb and M Rickett (co-opted members)
*Substitute in accordance with Council Procedure Rule 31.

In Attendance: Councillors Lamb, Courtenay and Salter (Executive Councillors)
Councillors Gilbert and Waterworth
R Tinlin, D Simon, F Abbott, S Leftley, A Atherton, J O'Loughlin, 
Brin Martin, S Houlden, I Ambrose, N Corrigan and J Williams
E Feddon and J Jenkins – Youth Council observers

Start/End Time: 6.30  - 8.55 pm

687  Apologies for Absence 

Apologies for absence were received from Councillor Habermel (substitute Cllr 
Evans), Councillor Stafford (substitute Cllr Woodley), Councillor Wexham 
(substitute Cllr Mulroney), E Lusty (co-opted member), A Semmence (co-opted 
member) and A Clarke (co-opted member).

Members asked that their best wishes be forwarded to Ms Lusty who had 
recently broken her leg. The Chairman advised that Ms Clarke will be stepping 
down as the Carers Forum representative on the Scrutiny Committee, due to a 
change in circumstances. The Committee asked that their thanks and best 
wishes be forwarded to her.

688  Declarations of Interest 

The following interests were declared at the meeting:-

(a) Councillors Lamb, Salter and Courtenay (Executive Councillors) - interest in 
the referred items; attended pursuant to the dispensation agreed at Council 
on 19th July 2012, under S.33 of the Localism Act 2011;

(b) Councillor Salter – agenda items relating to Draft General Fund 
Revenue Budget; Scrutiny update – non-pecuniary interest – husband is 
Consultant Surgeon at Southend Hospital and holds senior posts at the 
Hospital; son-in-law is GP; daughter is a doctor at Broomfield Hospital; 
Highlands Practice mentioned during debate;

(c) Councillor Lamb - agenda item relating to Scrutiny update - non-
pecuniary – Governor at Southend Hospital; 

1

3



(d) Councillor Lamb – agenda item relating to Schools progress report – 
non-pecuniary – Governor at West Leigh Junior School; Governor of 
Southend Adult Community College;

(e) Councillor Nevin - agenda item relating to - Scrutiny update - non-
pecuniary – 2 children work at MEHT; sister works at Basildon Hospital; 
NHS employee outside area; previous employee at Southend and 
MEHT Hospitals;

(f) Councillor Arscott – agenda item relating to Fostering Service – non-
pecuniary – member of Southend Fostering Panel;

(g) Councillor Arscott - agenda item relating to Schools Progress report – 
non pecuniary – Governor at Our Lady of Lourdes Catholic Primary 
School;

(h) Councillor Boyd - agenda item relating to School Progress report – non-
pecuniary – Governor at Westcliff High School for Girls and South East 
Essex Academy Trust, south east Essex Teaching School Alliance;

(i) Councillor Borton - agenda item relating to School Progress report – 
non-pecuniary – Governor at Milton Hall School;

(j) Councillor Borton – agenda item relating to MPR – non-pecuniary – 
SEPT mentioned and is daughters’ employer;

(k) Councillor Jones – agenda item relating to Schools Progress report – 
non-pecuniary – parent of child attending school and governor;

(l) Councillor Jones - agenda item relating to Fostering Service – non-
pecuniary – member of Fostering Panel.

689  Questions from Members of the Public 

Councillor Courtenay, the Executive Councillor for Children & Learning 
responded to a written question from Mr Webb and Councillor Salter, the 
Executive Councillor for Health and Adult Social Care responded to a written 
question from Mr Webb.

690  Minutes of the Meeting held on Tuesday, 29th November, 2016 

Resolved:-

That the Minutes of the Meeting held on Tuesday, 29th November, 2016 be 
confirmed as a correct record and signed.

691  Corporate Performance Management 2017/18 

The Committee considered Minute 645 of Cabinet held on 19th January 2017, 
which had been referred direct by Cabinet to all three Scrutiny Committees, 
together with a report of the Chief Executive on the Council’s corporate approach 
to performance management for 2017/18.

In response to questions about Corporate Priority 33 (% of children in good or 
outstanding schools), and the new achievement data at KS4, the Executive 
Councillor said that he would consider whether to include this in the Schools 
Progress update. The Deputy Chief Executive (People) also said that he would 
be happy to arrange a training session for Members on this new annual set of 
data. 

2



Resolved:- 

That the following decisions of Cabinet be noted:-

“1. That the Corporate Priority Performance Indicators to be monitored via the 
Monthly Performance Report (MPR) for 2017/18, as set out at Appendix 1 
to the submitted report, be approved.

2. That the MPR will also include a small basket of indicators (as outlined in 
paragraph 4.3 of the report) relating to areas where the Council does not 
have lead responsibility or direct control.

3. That the Corporate Priority Actions, to support implementation of the 
Council’s 2017/18 Corporate Priorities, as set out at Appendix 2 to the 
report, be approved.” 

Note:- This is an Executive Function 
Executive Councillor:- Lamb

692  Draft Capital Programme 2017/18 to 2020/21 

The Committee considered Minute 648 of Cabinet held on 19th January 2017, 
which had been referred direct by Cabinet to all three Scrutiny Committees 
together with a report of the Corporate Management Team setting out the draft 
programme of capital projects for the period 2017/18 to 2020/21.

In response to questions about new scheme C16 (ICT – Children’s and Adult 
Social Care – Development of the Liquid Logic Case Management System), 
detailed in Appendix 7 (page 9/28), the Deputy Chief Executive (People) said 
that he would be happy to meet with Members to provide an outline of the 
system and is also providing a full update to the next meeting of the Audit 
Committee. 

Resolved:

That the following decisions of Cabinet be noted:-

1. That the current approved Programme for 2017/18 to 2019/20 of £125.4m, 
as set out in Appendix 1 to the submitted report, be noted.

2. That the changes to the approved Programme, as set out in Appendix 2 to 
the report, be noted.

3. That the proposed new schemes and additions to the Capital Programme for 
the period 2017/18 to 2020/21 totalling £59.1m of which £52.9m is for the 
General Fund and £6.2m for the Housing Revenue Account, as set out in 
Appendices 6 and 7 to the report, be endorsed.

4. That the proposed schemes subject to external funding approval for the 
period 2017/18 to 2020/21 totalling £42.6m as set out in Appendices 2 and 7 
to the report, be endorsed.

5. That it be noted that the proposed new schemes and additions, as set out in 
Appendices 6 and 7 to the report, and other adjustments as set out in 
Appendix 2 to the report, will result in a proposed capital programme 

3



(excluding schemes subject to external funding approval) of £185.8m for 
2017/18 to 2020/21.

6. That it be noted that of the total programme of £185.8m for the period 
2017/18 to 2020/21, the level of external funding supporting this programme 
is £58.2m.

7. That it be noted that a final review is being undertaken on the 2016/17 
outturn and that the results will be included in the report to Cabinet on 14th 
February 2017.”

Note:- This is an Executive Function save that approval of the final budget 
following Cabinet on 14th February 2017 is a Council Function.
Executive Councillor:- Lamb

693  Draft Fees & Charges 2017/18 

The Committee considered Minute 649 of Cabinet held on 19th January 2017, 
which had been referred direct by Cabinet to all three Scrutiny Committees, 
together with a report of the Corporate Management Team detailing the fees and 
charges for services in 2017/18 included in the budget proposals for 2017/18.

In response to questions from the Committee about the forecast average unit 
cost of all home care per hour, in Appendix 1 (item 5, page 2), the Deputy Chief 
Executive (People) agreed to circulate by email clarification on the charge and 
also the average hourly rate paid to suppliers. 

Resolved:-

That the following decision of Cabinet be noted:

“That the proposed fees and charges for each Department as set out in the 
submitted report and appendices, be endorsed.”

Note:- This is an Executive Function, save the approval of the final budget 
following Cabinet on 14th February 2017 is a Council Function.
Executive Councillor:- Lamb

694  Draft General Fund Revenue Budget 2017/18 

The Committee considered Minute 650 of Cabinet held on 19th January 2017, 
which had been referred direct by Cabinet to all three Scrutiny Committees, 
together with a report of the Corporate Management Team presenting the draft 
revenue budget for 2017/18.

In response to questions concerning PE2, Learning (Appendix 13, page 3/9), the 
Director of Learning said that he would supply details of the Schools which the 
authority provides services to.

With regard to Appendix 7 and 8, draft budget for Children & Learning and for 
Health & Adult Social Care, the Group Manager, Financial Management, said 
that he would provide written response on employee costs / overspends and also 
about the apparent increase in Children and Learning government grants.

4



Resolved:-

That the following decisions of Cabinet be noted:

1. That the 2017/18 draft revenue budget and any required commencement of 
consultation, statutory or otherwise, be approved.

2. That it be noted that the 2017/18 draft revenue budget has been prepared 
on the basis of a Council Tax increase of 4.99%, being 1.99% for general 
use and 3% for Adult Social Care.

3. That it be noted that the 2017/18 draft revenue budget has been prepared 
using the provisional local government finance settlement and that the 
outcome from the final settlement will need to be factored into the final 
budget proposals for Budget Cabinet and Budget Council.

4. That the 2017/18 draft revenue budget, as endorsed, be referred to all 
three Scrutiny Committees, Business sector and Voluntary sector to inform 
Cabinet, which will then recommend the Budget and Council Tax to 
Council.

5. That the schools position and the recommendations to the Schools Forum 
on 18th January 2017, as set out in Appendix 14 and 14(i) to the submitted 
report, be noted and referred to People Scrutiny Committee and then to 
Cabinet and Council.

6. That the direction of travel for 2018/19 and beyond, as set out in section 15 
of the report, be endorsed.”

Note:- This is an Executive Function, save the approval of the final budget 
following Cabinet on 14th February 2017 is a Council Function.
Executive Councillor:- Lamb

695  Monthly Performance Report 

The Committee considered Minute 596 of Cabinet held on 10th January 2017 
together with the Monthly Performance Report (MPR) covering the period to 
end November 2016, which had been circulated recently. 

Resolved:-

That the report be noted.

Note:- This is an Executive Function.
Executive Councillor:- As appropriate to the item.

696  Annual Report on Safeguarding Children and Adults 

The Committee considered Minute 598 of Cabinet held on 10th January 2017, 
which had been referred direct to Scrutiny by Cabinet, together with a report of 
the Deputy Chief Executive (People) on the annual assurance assessment in 
respect of the Council’s responsibilities for safeguarding children and vulnerable 
adults in Southend. 

5



Resolved:

That the following decision of Cabinet be noted:

“That the report be noted and that the actions detailed in paragraph 3.9 of the 
submitted report, be approved”.

Note:- This is an Executive Function
Executive Councillors:- Courtenay and Salter

697  Adoption Service Annual Report 

The Committee considered Minute 599 of Cabinet held on 10th January 2017, 
which had been referred direct to Scrutiny by Cabinet, together with a report of 
the Deputy Chief Executive (People) on the activities of the Adoption Service for 
the period January – December 2016 and, set out for approval, the updated 
Statement of Purpose.

Resolved:

That the following decisions of Cabinet be noted:

“1. That the Annual Report, as set out in Appendix 1 to the submitted report, be 
noted.

2. That the updated Statement of Purpose, as set out in Appendix 2 to the report, 
be approved.”

Note:- This is an Executive Function
Executive Councillor:- Courtenay

698  Fostering Service Annual Report 

The Committee considered Minute 600 of Cabinet held on 10th January 2017, 
which had been referred direct to scrutiny by Cabinet, together with a report of 
the Deputy Chief Executive (People) which presented the Fostering Service 
Annual report and the updated Statement of Purpose.

Resolved:

That the following decision of Cabinet be noted:

“That the Annual Report, as set out in Appendix 1 to the submitted report, and 
Statement of Purpose at Appendix 2 to the report, be approved.”

Note:- This is an Executive Function
Executive Councillor:- Courtenay 

6



699  Standing Order 46 

The Committee considered Minute 605 of Cabinet held on 10th January 2017, 
which had been referred direct to Scrutiny by Cabinet. 

Resolved:

That the submitted report be noted.

Note:- This is an Executive Function
Executive Councillor:- As appropriate to the item

700  Scrutiny Committee - updates 

The Committee considered a report of the Chief Executive which updated the 
Committee on a number of health scrutiny matters and other matters relating to 
the work of the Committee. 

The Scrutiny officer advised that with regard to the protocol with the CCG, set 
out in Appendix 1 to the report, some minor comments had been received from 
the CCG which will be incorporated into the protocol.  

Resolved:-

1. That the report and any actions taken be noted.

2. That the updated protocols between the Scrutiny Committee and NHS 
Southend CCG (as amended), Healthwatch Southend and the Health & 
Wellbeing Board attached at Appendices 1, 2 and 3 be agreed and 
published on the internet.

3. To note that the Chairman, Vice Chairman and Scrutiny Officer will be 
attending a half day session on scrutiny and Sustainability & 
Transformation Plans on 6th February 2017. 

Note:- This is a Scrutiny Function.

701  Exclusion of the Public 

Resolved:-

That, under Section 100(A)(4) of the Local Government Act 1972, the public be 
excluded from the meeting for the items of business set out below, on the 
grounds that they would involve the likely disclosure of exempt information as 
defined in Part 1 of Schedule 12A to the Act and that the public interest in 
maintaining the exemption outweighs the public interest in disclosing the 
information.

7



702  Schools Progress Report 

The Committee received and considered a report of the Deputy Chief Executive 
(People) which informed the Committee on the current position with regard to 
schools causing concern, including Academy developments. The Director of 
Learning also provided a verbal update on recent Ofsted Inspections.

Resolved:

That the report be noted.

Note:- This is an Executive Function. 
Executive Councillor:- Courtenay

Chairman:

8



SOUTHEND-ON-SEA BOROUGH COUNCIL

Meeting of People Scrutiny Committee

Date: Tuesday, 20th December, 2016

Place: Committee Room 1 - Civic Suite

Present: Councillor Moyies (Chair)
Councillors Nevin (Vice-Chair), Arscott, Assenheim, Borton, Butler, 
Endersby, D Garston, Habermel, Jones, McGlone, Mulroney*, Phillips, 
Stafford and Walker 
L Crabb and E Lusty (co-opted members)
*Substitute in accordance with Council Procedure Rule 31.

In Attendance: Councillor Salter (Executive Councillor)
Councillors Davidson, Gilbert, McMahon, Ware-Lane and Willis
F Abbott, S Leftley, A Atherton and D Simon

Start/End Time: 6.00  - 8.30 pm

571  Apologies for Absence 

Apologies for absence were received from Councillor Boyd (no substitute), 
Councillor Buckley (no substitute), Councillor Wexham (substitute Councillor 
Mulroney) and A Semmence (co-opted member). 

572  Declarations of Interest 

The following interests were declared at the meeting:-

(a) Councillor Salter – agenda item relating to Success Regime – non-pecuniary 
interest – husband is Consultant Surgeon at Southend Hospital and holds 
senior posts at the Hospital; son-in-law is GP; daughter is a doctor at 
Broomfield Hospital;
(b) Councillor Nevin - agenda item relating to Success Regime - non-pecuniary 
– 2 children work at MEHT; step sister works at Basildon Hospital; NHS 
employee outside area; previous employee at Southend and MEHT Hospitals;
(c) E Lusty – agenda item relating to Success Regime – non-pecuniary – 
husband is orthopaedic Consultant Surgeon at Southend Hospital / Wellesley 
Hospital;
(d) Councillor Borton - agenda item relating to Success Regime - non-pecuniary 
– daughter is a nurse at Rochford Hospital / employer is SEPT;  
(e) Councillor Habermel - agenda item relating to Success Regime - non-
pecuniary – sister is a nurse at Southend Hospital;
(f) Councillor Moyies - agenda item relating to Success Regime - non-pecuniary 
– member of Task & Finish Group re Shoeburyness Health Centre;
(g) Councillor Assenheim - agenda item relating to Success Regime - non-
pecuniary – member of Task & Finish Group re Shoeburyness Health Centre;
(h) Councillor Mulroney - agenda item relating to Success Regime - non-
pecuniary - registered at Pall Mall Surgery which was specifically mentioned.

9

4



573  Questions from Members of the Public 

Councillor Salter, the Executive Councillor for Health and Adult Social Care 
responded to written questions from Mr Fieldhouse and Mr Traub.

574  Mid and South Essex Sustainability and Transformation Plan and Success 
Regime 

Further to Minute 345 from the meeting held on 11th October 2016, the Chairman 
welcomed the following health representatives to the meeting for this item:-
 Melanie Craig, Chief Officer (NHS Southend CCG),
 Dr Neil Rothnie, Medical Director (Southend University Hospital NHS 

Foundation Trust), 
 Andy Vowles, Programme Director (Mid & South Essex Success Regime),
 Robert Shaw, Joint Director of Acute Commissioning and Contracting (NHS 

Southend CCG).

The Committee considered a report from the Programme Director, Mid and South 
Essex Success Regime which provided an update on the progress of the Success 
Regime (SR) and Sustainability and Transformation Plan (STP) and also received a 
detailed presentation. Since the last update, there have been a number of 
developments, including:-
 Publication of draft STP – a summary document was attached with the papers 

for the meeting at Appendix 1
 Engagement undertaken and change to timescales – options appraisal 

process and completion of pre-consultation business case now in 2017 – 
service redesign will be subject to public consultation in May 2017 – will 
consult on options which can be delivered. Non acute elements have 
engagement but not formal consultation

 The 3 main elements in the plan are – focus on how can work together to help 
people stay well for longer; organise out of hospital / community based 
services and care and to build capacity; 3 hospitals in the footprint 
collaborative working

 locality developments – 4 localities for Southend for organising services in 
Southend - around supporting more resilient and sustainable primary medical 
services (i.e. GPs etc.), co-location of services and improved premises (e.g. 
Shoebury primary care centre, St Luke’s primary care centre and west central 
area), complex care coordination service

 procurement of integrated 111 and out of hours services
 in hospital work streams, and developing options for a potential hospital 

reconfiguration, described in more detail in the STP summary
 financial overview and system wide oversight group to support the SR / STP, 

meeting monthly- pump prime increase in capacity (e.g. integrated teams)

This was followed by Q&A from the members of the Committee, covering a number 
of issues:-
(a) localities based around GP hubs, community services
(b) integration of health & social care
(c) hospital configuration, centres of excellence, A&E & services at 3 hospitals
(d) staff recruitment issues – hospital side, moving to group directorate model 

across 3 sites and the 5 CCG’s will be streamlined
(e) prevention, consultation and public engagement (interactive & inclusive)

10



In summary, the Chairman said that members need to see the clinical evidence 
base underpinning the proposals and potential models. Mr Vowles said that he will 
share the evidence and make results available.

Resolved:-

1. That the representatives be thanked for the informative presentation and 
update. 

2. That the business case be shared with the Committee prior to the public 
consultation stage at a special meeting of the Committee.

Note:- This is a Scrutiny Function.

Chairman:

11



This page is intentionally left blank



V1.0

MMONTHLY PERFORMANCE 
REPORT 

February 2017 

Contents 

Section 1 2016-17 Exceptions – Current Month’s Performance  
Page 1 - 5 

Current Month’s performance information for indicators rated 
Red or Amber 

Section 2  2016-17 Corporate Performance Indicators 
Page 6 - 9 

Performance Information for all Corporate Priority Indicators 

Section 3 Detail of Indicators Rated Red or Amber 
Page 10 - 23 

Performance detail for indicators rated Red or Amber 

Section 4 Budget Management Statements 
Page 25 - 55 Budget monitor and forecast by Portfolio 

Capital Expenditure Section 5 
Page 5 7

Summary of Capital Expenditure 

13

6



V1.0

Key to Columns and symbols used in report 

Column Heading Description

better

worse

 

14



S
ec

ti
o

n
 1

: 
2

0
1

6
-2

0
1

7
 E

xc
ep

ti
o

n
s 

- 
C

u
rr

en
t 

M
on

th
 P

er
fo

rm
an

ce
C
om

m
en

ts
 o

n 
In

di
ca

to
rs

 r
at

ed
 R

ed
 o

r 
A
m

be
r 

G
en

er
at

ed
 o

n
: 

27
 M

ar
ch

 2
01

7 
13

:5
5 

Ex
p

ec
te

d
 O

u
tc

o
m

e 
A
t 

ri
sk

 o
f 

m
is

si
ng

 t
ar

ge
t

R
es

p
o

n
si

b
le

 O
U

s 
D

ep
ar

tm
en

t 
of

 t
he

 C
hi

ef
 E

xe
cu

ti
ve

 

M
P

R
 

C
od

e
S

h
o

rt
 N

am
e 

M
in

im
is

e 
or

 
M

ax
im

is
e 

La
te

st
 

M
on

th
 

M
on

th
's

 
V

al
u

e 
M

on
th

's
 

Ta
rg

et
 

A
n

n
u

al
 

Ta
rg

et
 

2
0

1
6

/1
7

 

Ex
p

ec
te

d 
O

u
tc

om
e 

B
et

te
r 

or
 

w
o

rs
e 

th
an

 la
st

 
ye

ar
 

C
om

m
en

t 
- 

ex
p

la
n

at
io

n
 o

f 
cu

rr
en

t 
p

er
fo

rm
an

ce
, 

ac
ti

on
s 

to
 im

p
ro

ve
 

p
er

fo
rm

an
ce

 a
n

d 
an

ti
ci

p
at

ed
 f

u
tu

re
 

p
er

fo
rm

an
ce

 

S
cr

u
ti

n
y 

C
o

m
m

it
te

e 

C
P 

5.
4 

W
or

ki
ng

 d
ay

s 
lo

st
 p

er
 F

TE
 

du
e 

to
 s

ic
kn

es
s 

- 
ex

cl
ud

in
g 

sc
ho

ol
 s

ta
ff
 [

C
um

ul
at

iv
e]

 

A
im

 t
o 

M
in

im
is

e 
Fe

br
ua

ry
 

20
17

 
6.

72
 

6.
49

 
7.

20
 

W
hi

le
 t

he
 C

ou
nc

il 
ha

s 
m

et
 it

s 
ta

rg
et

 f
or

 
Fe

br
ua

ry
 b

ut
 is

 n
ot

 m
ee

tin
g 

th
e 

re
qu

ir
ed

 
cu

m
ul

at
iv

e 
ta

rg
et

 f
or

 t
he

 y
ea

r 
to

 d
at

e.
 H

R
 

co
nt

in
ue

 t
o 

pr
ov

id
e 

m
an

ag
er

s 
w

ith
 in

fo
rm

at
io

n 
re

ga
rd

in
g 

ke
y 

ar
ea

s 
of

 s
ic

kn
es

s 
to

 e
ns

ur
e 

si
ck

ne
ss

 a
bs

en
ce

 is
 a

pp
ro

pr
ia

te
ly

 m
an

ag
ed

, 
an

d 
to

 h
el

p 
de

pa
rt

m
en

ts
 id

en
tif

y 
tr

en
ds

. 
Th

e 
C
ou

nc
il 

st
ill

 c
om

pa
re

s 
fa

vo
ur

ab
ly

 w
ith

 o
th

er
 

lo
ca

l a
ut

ho
ri
tie

s 
an

d 
ot

he
r 

se
ct

or
s 

(l
at

es
t 

Lo
ca

l 
G

ov
er

nm
en

t 
A
ss

oc
ia

tio
n 

W
or

kf
or

ce
 S

ur
ve

y 
sh

ow
s 

co
un

ci
ls

 r
ep

or
tin

g 
an

 a
ve

ra
ge

 o
f 
8.

5 
da

ys
 lo

st
 p

er
 F

TE
 e

m
pl

oy
ee

).
  

Po
lic

y 
&

 R
es

ou
rc

es
 

S
cr

ut
in

y 
 

Ex
p

ec
te

d
 O

u
tc

o
m

e 
A
t 

ri
sk

 o
f 

m
is

si
ng

 t
ar

ge
t

R
es

p
o

n
si

b
le

 O
U

s 
Pe

op
le

 

M
P

R
 

C
od

e
S

h
o

rt
 N

am
e 

M
in

im
is

e 
or

 
M

ax
im

is
e 

La
te

st
 

M
on

th
 

M
on

th
's

 
V

al
u

e 
M

on
th

's
 

Ta
rg

et
 

A
n

n
u

al
 

Ta
rg

et
 

2
0

1
6

/1
7

 

Ex
p

ec
te

d 
O

u
tc

om
e 

B
et

te
r 

or
 

w
o

rs
e 

th
an

 la
st

 
ye

ar
 

C
om

m
en

t 
- 

ex
p

la
n

at
io

n
 o

f 
cu

rr
en

t 
p

er
fo

rm
an

ce
, 

ac
ti

on
s 

to
 im

p
ro

ve
 

p
er

fo
rm

an
ce

 a
n

d 
an

ti
ci

p
at

ed
 f

u
tu

re
 

p
er

fo
rm

an
ce

 

S
cr

u
ti

n
y 

C
o

m
m

it
te

e 

C
P 

1.
4 

R
at

e 
of

 c
hi

ld
re

n 
su

bj
ec

t 
to

 a
 

C
hi

ld
 P

ro
te

ct
io

n 
Pl

an
 p

er
 

10
,0

00
 (

no
t 

in
cl

ud
in

g 
te

m
ps

) 
[M

on
th

ly
 S

na
ps

ho
t]

 

G
ol

di
lo

ck
s 

Fe
br

ua
ry

 
20

17
 

59
.6

 
45

.7
-5

2.
3 

45
.7

-5
2.

3 

Th
e 

ra
te

 o
f 
ch

ild
re

n 
re

m
ai

ne
d 

st
ab

le
 t

hi
s 

m
on

th
. 

Th
is

 is
 b

ec
au

se
 t

he
 n

um
be

r 
of

 c
hi

ld
re

n 
w

ho
se

 p
la

ns
 w

er
e 

di
sc

on
tin

ue
d 

is
 c

on
si

st
en

t 
w

ith
 n

um
be

r 
of

 c
hi

ld
re

n 
be

co
m

in
g 

su
bj

ec
t 

of
 a

 
C
P 

Pl
an

, 
ho

w
ev

er
 t

he
 n

um
be

r 
of

 c
hi

ld
re

n 
di

sc
on

tin
ue

d 
fr

om
 a

 p
la

n 
is

 s
lig

ht
ly

 lo
w

er
 t

ha
n 

av
er

ag
e.

 T
hi

s 
in

di
ca

to
r 

re
m

ai
ns

 a
t 

ri
sk

 o
f 

m
is

si
ng

 t
ar

ge
t.

 T
hi

s 
in

di
ca

to
r 

is
 b

ei
ng

 
m

on
ito

re
d 

by
 m

an
ag

er
s 

an
d 

w
or

k 
is

 in
 p

la
ce

 t
o 

Pe
op

le
 S

cr
ut

in
y 

15



M
P

R
 

C
od

e
S

h
o

rt
 N

am
e 

M
in

im
is

e 
or

 
M

ax
im

is
e 

La
te

st
 

M
on

th
 

M
on

th
's

 
V

al
u

e 
M

on
th

's
 

Ta
rg

et
 

A
n

n
u

al
 

Ta
rg

et
 

2
0

1
6

/1
7

 

Ex
p

ec
te

d 
O

u
tc

om
e 

B
et

te
r 

or
 

w
o

rs
e 

th
an

 la
st

 
ye

ar
 

C
om

m
en

t 
- 

ex
p

la
n

at
io

n
 o

f 
cu

rr
en

t 
p

er
fo

rm
an

ce
, 

ac
ti

on
s 

to
 im

p
ro

ve
 

p
er

fo
rm

an
ce

 a
n

d 
an

ti
ci

p
at

ed
 f

u
tu

re
 

p
er

fo
rm

an
ce

 

S
cr

u
ti

n
y 

C
o

m
m

it
te

e 

re
du

ce
 t

he
 r

at
e 

of
 C

P 
pl

an
s.

 

C
P 

3.
2 

D
el

ay
ed

 t
ra

ns
fe

rs
 o

f 
ca

re
 

fr
om

 h
os

pi
ta

l f
or

 s
oc

ia
l c

ar
e 

pe
r 

10
0,

00
0 

po
pu

la
tio

n 
(A

S
C
O

F 
2C

(2
))

 [
Ye

ar
 t

o 
da

te
 

av
er

ag
e]

 

A
im

 t
o 

M
in

im
is

e 
Fe

br
ua

ry
 

20
17

 
2.

08
 

1.
43

 
1.

43
 

Pe
rf

or
m

an
ce

 h
as

 d
ec

lin
ed

 s
lig

ht
ly

 t
hi

s 
m

on
th

, 
in

flu
en

ce
d 

by
 5

 n
ew

 d
el

ay
s 

(4
 f
ro

m
 a

cu
te

, 
1 

fr
om

 n
on

-a
cu

te
),

 b
ut

 w
e 

re
m

ai
n 

w
el

l b
el

ow
 t

he
 

re
gi

on
al

 a
ve

ra
ge

 o
f 
3.

79
. 
A 

7 
da

y 
a 

w
ee

k 
se

rv
ic

e 
is

 e
ns

ur
in

g 
th

at
 d

is
ch

ar
ge

 f
lo

w
 is

 
su

pp
or

te
d.

 A
n 

ex
te

ns
io

n 
of

 t
he

 o
ve

rn
ig

ht
 

su
pp

or
t 

se
rv

ic
e 

is
 a

m
on

gs
t 

th
e 

in
iti

at
iv

es
 b

ei
ng

 
pu

t 
in

 p
la

ce
 t

o 
bo

th
 p

re
ve

nt
 h

os
pi

ta
l a

dm
is

si
on

 
an

d 
ai

de
 t

im
el

y 
di

sc
ha

rg
e 

fr
om

 h
os

pi
ta

l. 

Pe
op

le
 S

cr
ut

in
y 

Ex
p

ec
te

d
 O

u
tc

o
m

e 
A
t 

ri
sk

 o
f 

m
is

si
ng

 t
ar

ge
t

R
es

p
o

n
si

b
le

 O
U

s 
Pl

ac
e 

M
P

R
 

C
od

e
S

h
o

rt
 N

am
e 

M
in

im
is

e 
or

 
M

ax
im

is
e 

La
te

st
 

M
on

th
 

M
on

th
's

 
V

al
u

e 
M

on
th

's
 

Ta
rg

et
 

A
n

n
u

al
 

Ta
rg

et
 

2
0

1
6

/1
7

 

Ex
p

ec
te

d 
O

u
tc

om
e 

B
et

te
r 

or
 

w
o

rs
e 

th
an

 la
st

 
ye

ar
 

C
om

m
en

t 
- 

ex
p

la
n

at
io

n
 o

f 
cu

rr
en

t 
p

er
fo

rm
an

ce
, 

ac
ti

on
s 

to
 im

p
ro

ve
 

p
er

fo
rm

an
ce

 a
n

d 
an

ti
ci

p
at

ed
 f

u
tu

re
 

p
er

fo
rm

an
ce

 

S
cr

u
ti

n
y 

C
o

m
m

it
te

e 

C
P 

1.
1 

S
co

re
 a

ga
in

st
 1

0 
BC

S 
cr

im
es

; 
Th

ef
t 

of
 v

eh
ic

le
, 

th
ef

t 
fr

om
 v

eh
ic

le
, 

ve
hi

cl
e 

in
te

rf
er

en
ce

, 
do

m
es

tic
 

bu
rg

la
ry

, 
th

ef
t 

of
 c

yc
le

, 
th

ef
t 

fr
om

 p
er

so
n,

 c
ri
m

in
al

 
da

m
ag

e,
 c

om
m

on
 a

ss
au

lt,
 

w
ou

nd
in

g'
s,

 r
ob

be
ry

. 
[C

um
ul

at
iv

e]
 

A
im

 t
o 

M
in

im
is

e 
Fe

br
ua

ry
 

20
17

 
76

04
 

67
54

 
73

89
 

S
ou

th
en

d 
C
om

m
un

ity
 S

af
et

y 
Pa

rt
ne

rs
hi

p 
ha

ve
 

pr
og

re
ss

ed
 a

 n
um

be
r 

of
 k

ey
 r

ec
om

m
en

da
tio

ns
 

fr
om

 t
he

 1
6/

17
 S

tr
at

eg
ic

 I
nt

el
lig

en
ce

 
A
ss

es
sm

en
t.

 T
hi

s 
in

cl
ud

es
 a

 m
ul

tia
ge

nc
y 

fo
cu

s 
on

 c
er

ta
in

 k
ey

 h
ig

h 
cr

im
e 

ar
ea

s 
su

ch
 a

s 
Yo

rk
 

R
oa

d 
(O

pe
ra

tio
n 

S
to

ne
ga

te
),

 a
 r

ev
ie

w
 o

f 
cr

im
es

 
th

at
 a

re
 c

au
si

ng
 c

on
ce

rn
 (

 v
io

le
nt

 c
ri
m

e)
, 

an
d 

im
pr

ov
ed

 s
tr

at
eg

ic
 a

nd
 o

pe
ra

tio
na

l l
in

ks
 

be
tw

ee
n 

th
e 

ke
y 

pa
rt

ne
rs

hi
p 

bo
ar

ds
. 
In

 
ad

di
tio

n,
 t

he
 in

-d
ep

th
 s

cr
ut

in
y 

re
vi

ew
 o

n 
en

fo
rc

em
en

t 
is

 p
ro

gr
es

si
ng

 a
nd

 h
as

 c
on

si
de

re
d 

ev
id

en
ce

 f
ro

m
 t

he
 P

ol
ic

e 
an

d 
C
ri
m

e 
C
om

m
is

si
on

er
 a

nd
 w

id
er

 s
ta

ke
ho

ld
er

s 
bo

th
 

fr
om

 w
ith

in
 t

he
 C

ou
nc

il 
an

d 
ex

te
rn

al
. 

 
Th

e 
B
C
S
 C

ri
m

e 
br

ea
kd

ow
n 

fo
r 

Ja
nu

ar
y 

20
17

: 
Th

ef
t 

of
 a

 v
eh

ic
le

 -
 4

%
;T

he
ft

 f
ro

m
 a

 v
eh

ic
le

 -
 

1
0

%
; 

V
eh

ic
le

 in
te

rf
er

en
ce

 -
 2

%
; 

B
ur

gl
ar

y 
in

 a
 

dw
el

lin
g 

- 
8

%
; 

B
ic

yc
le

 t
he

ft
 -

 6
%

; 
Th

ef
t 

fr
om

 
th

e 
pe

rs
on

 -
 3

%
; 

C
ri
m

in
al

 D
am

ag
e 

- 
1

9
%

; 
H

M
IC

 V
io

le
nc

e 
W

ith
ou

t 
In

ju
ry

 -
 2

9
%

; 
W

ou
nd

in
g 

(S
er

io
us

 a
nd

 O
th

er
) 

- 
1

7
%

; 
R
ob

be
ry

 (
Pe

rs
on

al
 P

ro
pe

rt
y)

 -
 2

%
. 
 

Po
lic

y 
&

 R
es

ou
rc

es
 

S
cr

ut
in

y 
 

16



M
P

R
 

C
od

e
S

h
o

rt
 N

am
e 

M
in

im
is

e 
or

 
M

ax
im

is
e 

La
te

st
 

M
on

th
 

M
on

th
's

 
V

al
u

e 
M

on
th

's
 

Ta
rg

et
 

A
n

n
u

al
 

Ta
rg

et
 

2
0

1
6

/1
7

 

Ex
p

ec
te

d 
O

u
tc

om
e 

B
et

te
r 

or
 

w
o

rs
e 

th
an

 la
st

 
ye

ar
 

C
om

m
en

t 
- 

ex
p

la
n

at
io

n
 o

f 
cu

rr
en

t 
p

er
fo

rm
an

ce
, 

ac
ti

on
s 

to
 im

p
ro

ve
 

p
er

fo
rm

an
ce

 a
n

d 
an

ti
ci

p
at

ed
 f

u
tu

re
 

p
er

fo
rm

an
ce

 

S
cr

u
ti

n
y 

C
o

m
m

it
te

e 

C
P 

2.
3 

Pe
rc

en
ta

ge
 o

f 
ho

us
eh

ol
d 

w
as

te
 s

en
t 

fo
r 

re
us

e,
 

re
cy

cl
in

g 
an

d 
co

m
po

st
in

g 
[C

um
ul

at
iv

e]
 

A
im

 t
o 

M
ax

im
is

e 
D

ec
em

be
r 

20
16

 
47

.7
9%

 
54

.0
0%

 
54

.0
0%

 

R
ep

or
te

d 
Q

ua
rt

er
ly

  
Th

is
 f

ig
u

re
 is

 t
h

e 
la

te
st

 p
o

si
ti

on
 a

n
d 

w
ill

 
b

e 
va

lid
at

ed
 b

y 
th

e 
en

d
 o

f 
M

ar
ch

 2
0

1
7

. 
It

 
is

 u
nl

ik
el

y 
th

at
 t

he
 s

et
 r

ec
yc

lin
g 

ta
rg

et
 f
or

 
20

16
/1

7 
w

ill
 b

e 
ac

hi
ev

ed
. 
R
ec

en
t 

go
ve

rn
m

en
t 

fig
ur

es
 h

av
e 

sh
ow

ed
 a

 d
ec

lin
e 

in
 n

at
io

na
l 

re
cy

cl
in

g 
av

er
ag

e 
ra

te
s 

do
w

n 
to

 4
3.

9%
 w

ith
 a

 
w

ar
ni

ng
 t

ha
t 

th
e 

G
ov

er
nm

en
t 

ta
rg

et
s 

of
 

re
cy

cl
in

g 
50

%
 b

y 
20

20
 a

re
 li

ke
ly

 t
o 

be
 m

is
se

d.
 

Th
is

 is
 p

ar
tly

 d
ue

 t
o 

th
e 

re
du

ct
io

n 
in

 p
ac

ka
gi

ng
 

m
at

er
ia

ls
 o

n 
pr

od
uc

ts
, 

th
e 

im
pl

em
en

ta
tio

n 
fo

r 
ch

ar
gi

ng
 f
or

 c
ar

ri
er

 b
ag

s 
an

d 
th

e 
in

cr
ea

se
d 

pr
es

su
re

 o
n 

pr
od

uc
er

 r
es

po
ns

ib
ili

ty
 m

ea
ni

ng
 

pa
ck

ag
in

g 
is

 b
ei

ng
 r

ec
ov

er
ed

 b
y 

m
an

uf
ac

tu
re

rs
 

an
d 

is
 n

o 
lo

ng
er

 a
va

ila
bl

e 
to

 h
ou

se
ho

ld
s 

to
 

re
cy

cl
e.

 M
an

y 
la

rg
e 

co
m

m
er

ci
al

 o
ut

le
ts

 a
re

 a
ls

o 
re

qu
ir
ed

 t
o 

re
m

ov
e 

pa
ck

ag
in

g 
up

on
 d

el
iv

er
y 

of
 

la
rg

e 
ho

us
eh

ol
d 

ap
pl

ia
nc

es
 w

hi
ch

 h
as

 a
ls

o 
ha

d 
an

 im
pa

ct
 o

n 
av

ai
la

bl
e 

m
at

er
ia

l f
or

 h
ou

se
ho

ld
 

re
cy

cl
in

g.
 T

he
 t

ar
ge

t 
fig

ur
e 

ha
s 

al
so

 b
ee

n 
im

pa
ct

ed
 b

y 
th

e 
pe

rf
or

m
an

ce
 o

f 
th

e 
M

B
T 

pl
an

t 
w

he
re

 a
 s

m
al

le
r 

th
an

 a
nt

ic
ip

at
ed

 a
m

ou
nt

 o
f 

m
at

er
ia

l i
s 

be
in

g 
re

cy
cl

ed
 t

hr
ou

gh
 t

he
 p

la
nt

. 
 

Pl
ac

e 
S
cr

ut
in

y 

Ex
p

ec
te

d
 O

u
tc

o
m

e 
S
om

e 
sl

ip
pa

ge
 a

ga
in

st
 t

ar
ge

t
R

es
p

o
n

si
b

le
 O

U
s 

Pe
op

le
 

M
P

R
 

C
od

e
S

h
o

rt
 N

am
e 

M
in

im
is

e 
or

 
M

ax
im

is
e 

La
te

st
 

M
on

th
 

M
on

th
's

 
V

al
u

e 
M

on
th

's
 

Ta
rg

et
 

A
n

n
u

al
 

Ta
rg

et
 

2
0

1
6

/1
7

 

Ex
p

ec
te

d 
O

u
tc

om
e 

B
et

te
r 

or
 

w
o

rs
e 

th
an

 la
st

 
ye

ar
 

C
om

m
en

t 
- 

ex
p

la
n

at
io

n
 o

f 
cu

rr
en

t 
p

er
fo

rm
an

ce
, 

ac
ti

on
s 

to
 im

p
ro

ve
 

p
er

fo
rm

an
ce

 a
n

d 
an

ti
ci

p
at

ed
 f

u
tu

re
 

p
er

fo
rm

an
ce

 

S
cr

u
ti

n
y 

C
o

m
m

it
te

e 

C
P 

1.
3 

Th
e 

pe
rc

en
ta

ge
 o

f 
ch

ild
re

n 
re

po
rt

ed
 t

o 
th

e 
po

lic
e 

as
 

ha
vi

ng
 r

un
 a

w
ay

 t
ha

t 
re

ce
iv

e 
an

 in
de

pe
nd

en
t 

re
tu

rn
 t

o 
ho

m
e 

in
te

rv
ie

w
 [

C
um

ul
at

iv
e]

 A
im

 t
o 

M
ax

im
is

e 
Fe

br
ua

ry
 

20
17

 
79

.2
%

 
85

%
 

85
%

 

Th
e 

su
cc

es
s 

ra
te

 o
f 
co

m
pl

et
ed

 r
et

ur
n 

to
 h

om
e 

in
te

rv
ie

w
s 

th
is

 m
on

th
 is

 7
9.

2%
. 

W
e 

ha
ve

 h
ad

 3
 

yo
un

g 
pe

op
le

 w
ho

 h
av

e 
be

en
 p

ro
lif

ic
 m

is
si

ng
 

pe
rs

on
s 

th
ro

ug
ho

ut
 F

eb
ru

ar
y,

 2
 o

f 
w

hi
ch

 a
re

 
LA

C
 c

hi
ld

re
n.

 T
he

 p
ol

ic
e 

co
nt

in
ue

 t
o 

ca
rr

y 
ou

t 
vu

ln
er

ab
ili

ty
 c

he
ck

s 
fo

llo
w

in
g 

an
y 

m
is

si
ng

 
ep

is
od

es
. 
 

Pe
op

le
 S

cr
ut

in
y 

C
P 

1.
5 

R
at

e 
of

 L
oo

ke
d 

Af
te

r 
C
hi

ld
re

n 
(L

AC
) 

pe
r 

10
,0

00
 

[M
on

th
ly

 S
na

ps
ho

t]
 

G
ol

di
lo

ck
s 

Fe
br

ua
ry

 
20

17
 

69
 

 
 

W
e 

re
m

ai
n 

ab
ov

e 
ta

rg
et

 b
y 

17
 c

hi
ld

re
n,

 
ex

cl
ud

in
g 

un
ac

co
m

pa
ni

ed
 a

sy
lu

m
 s

ee
ki

ng
 

ch
ild

re
n 

an
d 

ar
e 

lik
el

y 
to

 b
e 

ab
ov

e 
ta

rg
et

 a
t 

ye
ar

 e
nd

. 
A
s 

pr
ev

io
us

ly
 r

ep
or

te
d 

w
e 

ar
e 

Pe
op

le
 S

cr
ut

in
y 

17



M
P

R
 

C
od

e
S

h
o

rt
 N

am
e 

M
in

im
is

e 
or

 
M

ax
im

is
e 

La
te

st
 

M
on

th
M

on
th

's
 

V
al

u
e

M
on

th
's

 
Ta

rg
et

A
n

n
u

al
 

Ta
rg

et
 

2
0

1
6

/1
7

 

Ex
p

ec
te

d 
O

u
tc

om
e

B
et

te
r 

or
 

w
o

rs
e 

th
an

 la
st

 
ye

ar
 

C
om

m
en

t 
- 

ex
p

la
n

at
io

n
 o

f 
cu

rr
en

t 
p

er
fo

rm
an

ce
, 

ac
ti

on
s 

to
 im

p
ro

ve
 

p
er

fo
rm

an
ce

 a
n

d 
an

ti
ci

p
at

ed
 f

u
tu

re
 

p
er

fo
rm

an
ce

 

S
cr

u
ti

n
y 

C
o

m
m

it
te

e

im
pl

em
en

tin
g 

st
ra

te
gi

es
 t

o 
re

du
ce

 t
he

 n
ee

d 
fo

r 
ch

ild
re

n 
to

 b
ec

om
e 

lo
ok

ed
 a

ft
er

. 
S
tr

at
eg

ie
s 

in
cl

ud
e 

th
e 

Pl
ac

em
en

t 
Pa

ne
l w

hi
ch

 o
ff
er

s 
ad

di
tio

na
l s

en
io

r 
m

an
ag

em
en

t 
ov

er
si

gh
t 

of
 

de
ci

si
on

 m
ak

in
g,

 a
nd

 t
he

 E
dg

e 
of

 C
ar

e 
te

am
 

w
ho

 o
ff
er

 s
up

po
rt

 a
nd

 c
ha

lle
ng

e 
to

 f
am

ili
es

 s
o 

th
ey

 c
on

tin
ue

 t
o 

pr
ov

id
e 

ca
re

 f
or

 t
he

ir
 

ad
ol

es
ce

nt
 c

hi
ld

re
n.

 W
e 

ar
e 

ex
pe

ri
en

ci
ng

 
pr

es
su

re
s 

du
e 

to
 d

el
ay

s 
in

 s
ec

ur
in

g 
he

ar
in

gs
 in

 
or

de
r 

th
at

 f
in

al
 a

do
pt

io
n 

or
de

rs
 a

re
 g

ra
nt

ed
, 

w
hi

ch
 is

 d
ue

 t
o 

ch
an

ge
s 

in
 c

as
e 

la
w

. 
Th

is
 

m
ea

ns
 it

 c
an

 t
ak

e 
lo

ng
er

 f
or

 c
hi

ld
re

n 
to

 le
av

e 
ca

re
 v

ia
 a

do
pt

io
n.

 F
ur

th
er

 w
or

k 
on

 o
ur

 m
od

el
 

of
 p

ra
ct

ic
e 

an
d 

th
e 

re
un

ifi
ca

tio
n 

of
 f

am
ili

es
 w

ill
 

fu
rt

he
r 

re
du

ce
 L

AC
 n

um
be

rs
 d

ur
in

g 
20

17
/1

8.
  

C
P 

3.
1 

Pr
op

or
tio

n 
of

 o
ld

er
 p

eo
pl

e 
65

 
an

d 
ov

er
 w

ho
 w

er
e 

st
ill

 a
t 

ho
m

e 
91

 d
ay

s 
af

te
r 

di
sc

ha
rg

e 
fr

om
 h

os
pi

ta
l t

o 
re

ha
b/

re
ha

b 
[R

ol
lin

g 
Q

ua
rt

er
] 

A
im

 t
o 

M
ax

im
is

e 
Fe

br
ua

ry
 

20
17

 
79

.6
%

 
86

%
 

86
%

 

Fo
r 

th
e 

re
po

rt
in

g 
pe

ri
od

, 
10

3 
A
du

lts
 u

se
d 

th
e 

re
ab

le
m

en
t 

se
rv

ic
e,

 8
2 

Ad
ul

ts
 w

er
e 

st
ill

 a
t 

ho
m

e 
91

 d
ay

s.
 A

n 
an

al
ys

is
 o

f 
th

e 
21

 A
du

lts
 n

ot
 

at
 h

om
e 

w
ill

 b
e 

co
m

pl
et

ed
. 
O

ve
r 

th
e 

lo
ng

er
 

te
rm

 t
hi

s 
in

di
ca

to
r 

w
ill

 b
e 

m
on

ito
re

d 
fo

r 
im

pa
ct

 
fr

om
 t

he
 n

ew
 D

om
ic

ili
ar

y 
C
ar

e 
C
on

tr
ac

t 
du

e 
to

 
co

m
m

en
ce

 in
 M

ay
 2

01
7 

as
 t

hi
s 

in
cl

ud
es

 a
 

re
ab

le
m

en
t 

/ 
en

ab
le

m
en

t 
fa

ce
t.

  

Pe
op

le
 S

cr
ut

in
y 

C
P 

3.
3 

Th
e 

pr
op

or
tio

n 
of

 p
eo

pl
e 

w
ho

 u
se

 s
er

vi
ce

s 
w

ho
 

re
ce

iv
e 

di
re

ct
 p

ay
m

en
ts

 
(A

S
C
O

F 
1C

 (
2A

))
 [

Ye
ar

 t
o 

da
te

 S
na

ps
ho

t]
 

A
im

 t
o 

M
ax

im
is

e 
Fe

br
ua

ry
 

20
17

 
29

.4
%

 
30

%
 

30
%

 

Th
er

e 
co

nt
in

ue
s 

to
 b

e 
a 

fix
ed

 t
re

nd
 j
us

t 
be

lo
w

 
ta

rg
et

, 
w

hi
ch

 is
 e

ch
oe

d 
by

 p
ar

tn
er

s 
in

 t
he

 E
as

t 
R
eg

io
n.

 B
ar

ri
er

s 
to

 im
pr

ov
ed

 p
er

fo
rm

an
ce

 in
 

th
is

 a
re

a 
ar

e 
go

in
g 

to
 b

e 
ex

pl
or

ed
, 

co
m

m
en

ci
ng

 
w

ith
 t

he
 a

na
ly

si
s 

of
 t

he
 t

im
e 

ta
ke

 f
or

 a
n 

Ad
ul

t 
to

 r
ec

ei
ve

 a
 d

ir
ec

t 
pa

ym
en

t.
 T

hi
s 

is
 a

 r
ep

lic
a 

of
 

th
e 

an
al

ys
is

 c
om

pl
et

ed
 b

y 
Ea

st
er

n 
R
eg

io
n 

pa
rt

ne
rs

 a
nd

 t
he

 o
ut

co
m

e 
w

ill
 b

e 
co

m
pa

re
d.

  

Pe
op

le
 S

cr
ut

in
y 

Ex
p

ec
te

d
 O

u
tc

o
m

e 
S
om

e 
sl

ip
pa

ge
 a

ga
in

st
 t

ar
ge

t
R

es
p

o
n

si
b

le
 O

U
s 

Pu
bl

ic
 H

ea
lt
h 

M
P

R
 

C
od

e
S

h
o

rt
 N

am
e 

M
in

im
is

e 
or

 
M

ax
im

is
e 

La
te

st
 

M
on

th
 

M
on

th
's

 
V

al
u

e 
M

on
th

's
 

Ta
rg

et
 

A
n

n
u

al
 

Ta
rg

et
 

2
0

1
6

/1
7

 

Ex
p

ec
te

d 
O

u
tc

om
e 

B
et

te
r 

or
 

w
o

rs
e 

th
an

 la
st

 
ye

ar
 

C
om

m
en

t 
- 

ex
p

la
n

at
io

n
 o

f 
cu

rr
en

t 
p

er
fo

rm
an

ce
, 

ac
ti

on
s 

to
 im

p
ro

ve
 

p
er

fo
rm

an
ce

 a
n

d 
an

ti
ci

p
at

ed
 f

u
tu

re
 

p
er

fo
rm

an
ce

 

S
cr

u
ti

n
y 

C
o

m
m

it
te

e 

C
P 

3.
8 

N
um

be
r 

of
 p

eo
pl

e 
su

cc
es

sf
ul

ly
 c

om
pl

et
in

g 
4 

w
ee

k 
st

op
 s

m
ok

in
g 

co
ur

se
 

A
im

 t
o 

M
ax

im
is

e 
Fe

br
ua

ry
 

20
17

 
75

1 
1,

15
0 

1,
30

0 
Fi

na
l q

ui
t 

da
ta

 F
eb

ru
ar

y 
is

 u
nl

ik
el

y 
to

 b
e 

av
ai

la
bl

e 
un

til
 t

he
 e

nd
 o

f 
A
pr

il 
20

17
. 

D
ep

ar
tm

en
t 

of
 H

ea
lth

 g
ui

de
lin

es
 s

ta
te

 t
ha

t 
Pe

op
le

 S
cr

ut
in

y 

18



M
P

R
 

C
od

e
S

h
o

rt
 N

am
e 

M
in

im
is

e 
or

 
M

ax
im

is
e 

La
te

st
 

M
on

th
 

M
on

th
's

 
V

al
u

e 
M

on
th

's
 

Ta
rg

et
 

A
n

n
u

al
 

Ta
rg

et
 

2
0

1
6

/1
7

 

Ex
p

ec
te

d 
O

u
tc

om
e 

B
et

te
r 

or
 

w
o

rs
e 

th
an

 la
st

 
ye

ar
 

C
om

m
en

t 
- 

ex
p

la
n

at
io

n
 o

f 
cu

rr
en

t 
p

er
fo

rm
an

ce
, 

ac
ti

on
s 

to
 im

p
ro

ve
 

p
er

fo
rm

an
ce

 a
n

d 
an

ti
ci

p
at

ed
 f

u
tu

re
 

p
er

fo
rm

an
ce

 

S
cr

u
ti

n
y 

C
o

m
m

it
te

e 

[C
um

ul
at

iv
e]

 
su

cc
es

sf
ul

 q
ui

ts
 c

an
 b

e 
re

gi
st

er
ed

 u
p 

to
 4

2 
da

ys
 a

ft
er

 a
 q

ui
t 

da
te

 is
 s

et
. 
 

C
P 

3.
9 

Ta
ke

 u
p 

of
 t

he
 N

H
S
 H

ea
lth

 
C
he

ck
 p

ro
gr

am
m

e 
- 

by
 

th
os

e 
el

ig
ib

le
 [

C
um

ul
at

iv
e]

 

A
im

 t
o 

M
ax

im
is

e 
Fe

br
ua

ry
 

20
17

 
3,

95
8 

5,
05

0 
5,

67
3 

O
ut

re
ac

h 
w

or
k 

is
 u

nd
er

w
ay

. 
Th

e 
H

ea
lth

 C
he

ck
 

bu
s 

is
 s

ite
d 

at
 3

 lo
ca

tio
ns

 in
 S

ou
th

en
d 

(W
ai

tr
os

e,
 B

 &
 Q

 a
nd

 S
ou

th
en

d 
A
ir
po

rt
) 

7 
da

ys
 

a 
w

ee
k 

ov
er

 t
he

 n
ex

t 
3 

w
ee

ks
. 

 

G
Ps

 a
re

 c
on

tin
ui

ng
 t

o 
re

ce
iv

e 
su

pp
or

t 
to

 in
vi

te
 

pa
tie

nt
s 

in
 f
or

 t
he

ir
 N

H
S
 H

ea
lth

 C
he

ck
. 

So
m

e 
pr

ac
tic

es
 a

re
 p

ilo
tin

g 
fo

llo
w

 u
p 

ca
lls

 t
o 

pa
tie

nt
s 

th
at

 h
av

e 
no

t 
re

sp
on

de
d 

to
 in

vi
te

s.
 T

ex
t 

m
es

sa
ge

s 
ar

e 
be

in
g 

se
nt

 o
ut

 t
o 

pa
tie

nt
s 

to
 

en
co

ur
ag

e 
th

em
 t

o 
m

ak
e 

ap
po

in
tm

en
ts

 a
ls

o.
  

Pe
op

le
 S

cr
ut

in
y 

19



S
ec

ti
o

n
 2

: 
2

0
1

6
-2

0
1

7
 C

or
p

o
ra

te
 P

er
fo

rm
an

ce
 I

n
d

ic
at

o
rs

In
fo

rm
at

io
n 

fo
r 

al
l 2

01
3-

20
14

 C
or

po
ra

te
 P

ri
or

it
y 

In
di

ca
to

rs
 

G
en

er
at

ed
 o

n
: 

27
 M

ar
ch

 2
01

7 
13

:5
5 

P
er

fo
rm

an
ce

 D
at

a 
Ex

p
ec

te
d

 O
u

tc
o

m
e:

 A
t 

ri
sk

 o
f 

m
is

si
n

g
 t

ar
g

et
 5

 O
n

 c
o

u
rs

e 
to

 a
ch

ie
ve

 t
ar

g
et

 1
7

 S
om

e 
sl

ip
p

ag
e 

ag
ai

n
st

 t
ar

g
et

 6
 

A
im

: 
S

A
FE

: 
P

ri
or

it
ie

s 
• 

C
re

at
e 

a 
sa

fe
 e

nv
ir

on
m

en
t 

ac
ro

ss
 t

he
 t

ow
n 

fo
r 

re
si

de
nt

s,
 w

or
ke

rs
 a

nd
 v

is
it
or

s.
 •

 W
or

k 
in

 p
ar

tn
er

sh
ip

 w
it
h 

Es
se

x 
Po

lic
e 

an
d 

ot
he

r 
ag

en
ci

es
 t

o 
ta

ck
le

 c
ri

m
e.

  
• 

Lo
ok

 a
ft

er
 a

nd
 s

af
eg

ua
rd

 o
ur

 c
hi

ld
re

n 
an

d 
vu

ln
er

ab
le

 a
du

lt
s.

M
P

R
 

C
od

e
S

h
o

rt
 N

am
e 

M
in

im
is

e 
or

 
M

ax
im

is
e 

La
te

st
 

M
on

th
 

M
on

th
's

 
V

al
u

e 
M

on
th

's
 

Ta
rg

et
 

A
n

n
u

al
 

Ta
rg

et
 

2
0

1
6

/1
7

 

Ex
p

ec
te

d 
O

u
tc

om
e 

B
et

te
r 

o
r 

w
o

rs
e 

th
an

 
la

st
 y

ea
r 

M
an

ag
ed

 B
y 

S
cr

u
ti

n
y 

C
o

m
m

it
te

e 

C
P 

1.
1 

S
co

re
 a

ga
in

st
 1

0 
BC

S 
cr

im
es

; 
Th

ef
t 

of
 v

eh
ic

le
, 

th
ef

t 
fr

om
 

ve
hi

cl
e,

 v
eh

ic
le

 in
te

rf
er

en
ce

, 
do

m
es

tic
 b

ur
gl

ar
y,

 t
he

ft
 o

f 
cy

cl
e,

 
th

ef
t 

fr
om

 p
er

so
n,

 c
ri
m

in
al

 
da

m
ag

e,
 c

om
m

on
 a

ss
au

lt,
 

w
ou

nd
in

g'
s,

 r
ob

be
ry

. 
[C

um
ul

at
iv

e]
 A

im
 t

o 
M

in
im

is
e 

Fe
br

ua
ry

 
20

17
 

76
04

 
67

54
 

73
89

 
C
ar

l R
ob

in
so

n
 

Po
lic

y 
&

 R
es

ou
rc

es
 

S
cr

ut
in

y 
 

C
P 

1.
2 

A
du

lts
 in

 c
on

ta
ct

 w
ith

 s
ec

on
da

ry
 

m
en

ta
l h

ea
lth

 s
er

vi
ce

s 
w

ho
 a

re
 in

 
st

ab
le

 a
cc

om
m

od
at

io
n,

 w
ith

 o
r 

w
ith

ou
t 

su
pp

or
t.

 (
A
S
C
O

F 
1H

) 
[Y

ea
r 

to
 d

at
e 

S
na

ps
ho

t]
 

A
im

 t
o 

M
ax

im
is

e 
Fe

br
ua

ry
 

20
17

 
76

%
 

66
%

 
66

%
 

S
ha

ro
n 

H
ou

ld
en

 
Pe

op
le

 S
cr

ut
in

y 

C
P 

1.
3 

Th
e 

pe
rc

en
ta

ge
 o

f 
ch

ild
re

n 
re

po
rt

ed
 t

o 
th

e 
po

lic
e 

as
 h

av
in

g 
ru

n 
aw

ay
 t

ha
t 

re
ce

iv
e 

an
 

in
de

pe
nd

en
t 

re
tu

rn
 t

o 
ho

m
e 

in
te

rv
ie

w
 [

C
um

ul
at

iv
e]

 

A
im

 t
o 

M
ax

im
is

e 
Fe

br
ua

ry
 

20
17

 
79

.2
%

 
85

%
 

85
%

 
Jo

hn
 O

'L
ou

gh
lin

 
Pe

op
le

 S
cr

ut
in

y 

C
P 

1.
4 

R
at

e 
of

 c
hi

ld
re

n 
su

bj
ec

t 
to

 a
 C

hi
ld

 
Pr

ot
ec

tio
n 

Pl
an

 p
er

 1
0,

00
0 

(n
ot

 
in

cl
ud

in
g 

te
m

ps
) 

[M
on

th
ly

 
S
na

ps
ho

t]
 

G
ol

di
lo

ck
s 

Fe
br

ua
ry

 
20

17
 

59
.6

 
45

.7
-5

2.
3 

45
.7

-5
2.

3 
Jo

hn
 O

'L
ou

gh
lin

 
Pe

op
le

 S
cr

ut
in

y 

C
P 

1.
5 

R
at

e 
of

 L
oo

ke
d 

Af
te

r 
C
hi

ld
re

n 
(L

A
C
) 

pe
r 

10
,0

00
 [

M
on

th
ly

 
S
na

ps
ho

t]
 

G
ol

di
lo

ck
s 

Fe
br

ua
ry

 
20

17
 

69
 

57
.3

-6
8.

3 
57

.3
-6

8.
3 

Jo
hn

 O
'L

ou
gh

lin
 

Pe
op

le
 S

cr
ut

in
y 

20



A
im

: 
C

LE
A

N
: 

P
ri

o
ri

ti
es

 •
 C

on
ti
nu

e 
to

 p
ro

m
ot

e 
th

e 
us

e 
of

 g
re

en
 t

ec
hn

ol
og

y 
an

d 
in

iti
at

iv
es

 t
o 

be
ne

fit
 t

he
 lo

ca
l e

co
no

m
y 

an
d 

en
vi

ro
nm

en
t.

 •
 E

nc
ou

ra
ge

 
an

d 
en

fo
rc

e 
hi

gh
 s

ta
nd

ar
ds

 o
f 

en
vi

ro
nm

en
ta

l s
te

w
ar

ds
hi

p.

M
P

R
 

C
od

e
S

h
o

rt
 N

am
e 

M
in

im
is

e 
or

 
M

ax
im

is
e 

La
te

st
 

M
on

th
 

M
on

th
's

 
V

al
u

e 
M

on
th

's
 

Ta
rg

et
 

A
n

n
u

al
 

Ta
rg

et
 

2
0

1
6

/1
7

 

Ex
p

ec
te

d 
O

u
tc

om
e 

B
et

te
r 

or
 

w
o

rs
e 

th
an

 
la

st
 y

ea
r 

M
an

ag
ed

 B
y 

S
cr

u
ti

n
y 

C
o

m
m

it
te

e 

C
P 

2.
1 

N
um

be
r 

of
 r

ep
or

te
d 

m
is

se
d 

co
lle

ct
io

ns
 p

er
 1

00
,0

00
 [

M
on

th
ly

 
S
na

ps
ho

t]
 

A
im

 t
o 

M
in

im
is

e 
Fe

br
ua

ry
 

20
17

 
30

 
45

 
45

 
Pl

ac
e 

S
cr

ut
in

y 

C
P 

2.
2 

%
 a

cc
ep

ta
bl

e 
st

an
da

rd
 o

f 
cl

ea
nl

in
es

s:
 li

tt
er

 [
C
um

ul
at

iv
e]

 
A
im

 t
o 

M
ax

im
is

e 
Fe

br
ua

ry
 

20
17

 
94

%
 

92
%

 
92

%
 

Pl
ac

e 
S
cr

ut
in

y 

C
P 

2.
3 

Pe
rc

en
ta

ge
 o

f 
ho

us
eh

ol
d 

w
as

te
 

se
nt

 f
or

 r
eu

se
, 

re
cy

cl
in

g 
an

d 
co

m
po

st
in

g 
[C

um
ul

at
iv

e]
 

A
im

 t
o 

M
ax

im
is

e 
D

ec
em

be
r 

20
16

 
47

.7
9%

 
54

.0
0%

 
54

.0
0%

 
Pl

ac
e 

S
cr

ut
in

y 

A
im

: 
H

E
A

LT
H

Y
: 

P
ri

o
ri

ti
es

 •
 A

ct
iv

el
y 

pr
om

ot
e 

he
al

th
y 

an
d 

ac
ti
ve

 li
fe

st
yl

es
 f
or

 a
ll.

 •
 W

or
k 

w
it
h 

th
e 

pu
bl

ic
 a

nd
 p

ri
va

te
 r

en
te

d 
se

ct
or

s 
to

 p
ro

vi
de

 g
oo

d 
qu

al
ity

 h
ou

si
ng

.•
 I

m
pr

ov
e 

th
e 

lif
e 

ch
an

ce
s 

of
 o

ur
 r

es
id

en
ts

, 
es

pe
ci

al
ly

 o
ur

 v
ul

ne
ra

bl
e 

ch
ild

re
n 

&
 a

du
lt
s,

 b
y 

w
or

ki
ng

 r
ed

uc
e 

in
eq

ua
lit

ie
s 

an
d 

so
ci

al
 

de
pr

iv
at

io
n 

ac
ro

ss
 o

ur
 c

om
m

un
iti

es
.

M
P

R
 

C
od

e
S

h
o

rt
 N

am
e 

M
in

im
is

e 
or

 
M

ax
im

is
e 

La
te

st
 

M
on

th
 

M
on

th
's

 
V

al
u

e 
M

on
th

's
 

Ta
rg

et
 

A
n

n
u

al
 

Ta
rg

et
 

2
0

1
6

/1
7

 

Ex
p

ec
te

d 
O

u
tc

om
e 

B
et

te
r 

or
 

w
o

rs
e 

th
an

 
la

st
 y

ea
r 

M
an

ag
ed

 B
y 

S
cr

u
ti

n
y 

C
o

m
m

it
te

e 

C
P 

3.
1 

Pr
op

or
tio

n 
of

 o
ld

er
 p

eo
pl

e 
65

 a
nd

 
ov

er
 w

ho
 w

er
e 

st
ill

 a
t 

ho
m

e 
91

 
da

ys
 a

ft
er

 d
is

ch
ar

ge
 f
ro

m
 h

os
pi

ta
l 

to
 r

eh
ab

/r
eh

ab
 [

R
ol

lin
g 

Q
ua

rt
er

] 

A
im

 t
o 

M
ax

im
is

e 
Fe

br
ua

ry
 

20
17

 
79

.6
%

 
86

%
 

86
%

 
S
ha

ro
n 

H
ou

ld
en

 
Pe

op
le

 S
cr

ut
in

y 

C
P 

3.
2 

D
el

ay
ed

 t
ra

ns
fe

rs
 o

f 
ca

re
 f
ro

m
 

ho
sp

ita
l f

or
 s

oc
ia

l c
ar

e 
pe

r 
10

0,
00

0 
po

pu
la

tio
n 

(A
S
C
O

F 
2C

(2
))

 [
Ye

ar
 t

o 
da

te
 a

ve
ra

ge
] 

A
im

 t
o 

M
in

im
is

e 
Fe

br
ua

ry
 

20
17

 
2.

08
 

1.
43

 
1.

43
 

S
ha

ro
n 

H
ou

ld
en

 
Pe

op
le

 S
cr

ut
in

y 

C
P 

3.
3 

Th
e 

pr
op

or
tio

n 
of

 p
eo

pl
e 

w
ho

 u
se

 
se

rv
ic

es
 w

ho
 r

ec
ei

ve
 d

ir
ec

t 
pa

ym
en

ts
 (

A
SC

O
F 

1C
 (

2A
))

 [
Ye

ar
 

to
 d

at
e 

S
na

ps
ho

t]
 

A
im

 t
o 

M
ax

im
is

e 
Fe

br
ua

ry
 

20
17

 
29

.4
%

 
30

%
 

30
%

 
S
ha

ro
n 

H
ou

ld
en

 
Pe

op
le

 S
cr

ut
in

y 

C
P 

3.
4 

Pr
op

or
tio

n 
of

 a
du

lts
 w

ith
 le

ar
ni

ng
 

di
sa

bi
lit

ie
s 

in
 p

ai
d 

em
pl

oy
m

en
t 

[M
on

th
ly

 S
na

ps
ho

t]
 

A
im

 t
o 

M
ax

im
is

e 
Fe

br
ua

ry
 

20
17

 
10

%
 

10
%

 
10

%
 

S
ha

ro
n 

H
ou

ld
en

 
Pe

op
le

 S
cr

ut
in

y 

C
P 

3.
5 

N
um

be
r 

of
 C

hi
ld

re
n 

In
vo

lv
ed

 w
ith

 
Ea

rl
y 

H
el

p 
As

se
ss

m
en

ts
 

(c
um

ul
at

iv
e)

 

A
im

 t
o 

M
ax

im
is

e 
Fe

br
ua

ry
 

20
17

 
2,

04
9 

1,
83

7 
2,

00
0 

Jo
hn

 O
'L

ou
gh

lin
 

Pe
op

le
 S

cr
ut

in
y 

21



M
P

R
 

C
od

e
S

h
o

rt
 N

am
e 

M
in

im
is

e 
or

 
M

ax
im

is
e 

La
te

st
 

M
on

th
 

M
on

th
's

 
V

al
u

e 
M

on
th

's
 

Ta
rg

et
 

A
n

n
u

al
 

Ta
rg

et
 

2
0

1
6

/1
7

 

Ex
p

ec
te

d 
O

u
tc

om
e 

B
et

te
r 

or
 

w
o

rs
e 

th
an

 
la

st
 y

ea
r 

M
an

ag
ed

 B
y 

S
cr

u
ti

n
y 

C
o

m
m

it
te

e 

C
P 

3.
6 

Pa
rt

ic
ip

at
io

n 
an

d 
at

te
nd

an
ce

 a
t 

co
un

ci
l o

w
ne

d 
/ 

af
fil

ia
te

d 
cu

ltu
ra

l 
an

d 
sp

or
tin

g 
ac

tiv
iti

es
 a

nd
 e

ve
nt

s 
[C

um
ul

at
iv

e]
 

A
im

 t
o 

M
ax

im
is

e 
Fe

br
ua

ry
 

20
17

 
4,

00
9,

62
4 

3,
66

6,
66

7 
4,

00
0,

00
0 

 
 

S
co

tt
 D

ol
lin

g 
Pl

ac
e 

S
cr

ut
in

y 
 

C
P 

3.
7 

Pu
bl

ic
 H

ea
lth

 R
es

po
ns

ib
ili

ty
 D

ea
l 

[C
um

ul
at

iv
e]

 
A
im

 t
o 

M
ax

im
is

e 
Fe

br
ua

ry
 

20
17

 
48

 
36

 
40

 
 

 
Ja

m
es

 W
ill

ia
m

s 
Pe

op
le

 S
cr

ut
in

y 
 

C
P 

3.
8 

N
um

be
r 

of
 p

eo
pl

e 
su

cc
es

sf
ul

ly
 

co
m

pl
et

in
g 

4 
w

ee
k 

st
op

 s
m

ok
in

g 
co

ur
se

 [
C
um

ul
at

iv
e]

 

A
im

 t
o 

M
ax

im
is

e 
Fe

br
ua

ry
 

20
17

 
75

1 
1,

15
0 

1,
30

0 
 

 
Li

es
el

 P
ar

k 
Pe

op
le

 S
cr

ut
in

y 
 

C
P 

3.
9 

Ta
ke

 u
p 

of
 t

he
 N

H
S
 H

ea
lth

 C
he

ck
 

pr
og

ra
m

m
e 

- 
by

 t
ho

se
 e

lig
ib

le
 

[C
um

ul
at

iv
e]

 

A
im

 t
o 

M
ax

im
is

e 
Fe

br
ua

ry
 

20
17

 
3,

95
8 

5,
05

0 
5,

67
3 

 
 

M
ar

ga
re

t 
G

ra
y 

Pe
op

le
 S

cr
ut

in
y 

 

A
im

: 
P

R
O

P
E

R
O

U
S

: 
P

ri
or

it
ie

s 
• 

M
ax

im
is

e 
op

po
rt

un
iti

es
 t

o 
en

ab
le

 t
he

 p
la

nn
in

g 
an

d 
de

ve
lo

pm
en

t 
of

 q
ua

lit
y,

 a
ff

or
da

bl
e 

ho
us

in
g.

 •
 E

ns
ur

e 
re

si
de

nt
s 

ha
ve

 a
cc

es
s 

to
 h

ig
h 

qu
al

it
y 

ed
uc

at
io

n 
to

 e
na

bl
e 

th
em

 t
o 

be
 li

fe
lo

ng
 le

ar
ne

rs
 &

 h
av

e 
fu

lfi
lli

ng
 e

m
pl

oy
m

en
t.

 •
 E

ns
ur

e 
th

e 
to

w
n 

is
 'o

pe
n 

fo
r 

bu
si

ne
ss

es
’ 

an
d 

th
at

 n
ew

, 
de

ve
lo

pi
ng

 a
nd

 e
xi

st
in

g 
en

te
rp

ri
se

 is
 n

ur
tu

re
d 

an
d 

su
pp

or
te

d.
 E

ns
ur

e 
co

nt
in

ue
d 

re
ge

ne
ra

ti
on

 o
f 

th
e 

to
w

n 
th

ro
ug

h 
a 

cu
lt
ur

e 
le

d 
ag

en
da

.

M
P

R
 

C
od

e
S

h
o

rt
 N

am
e 

M
in

im
is

e 
or

 
M

ax
im

is
e 

La
te

st
 

M
on

th
 

M
on

th
's

 
V

al
u

e 
M

on
th

's
 

Ta
rg

et
 

A
n

n
u

al
 

Ta
rg

et
 

2
0

1
6

/1
7

 

Ex
p

ec
te

d 
O

u
tc

om
e 

B
et

te
r 

or
 

w
o

rs
e 

th
an

 
la

st
 y

ea
r 

M
an

ag
ed

 B
y 

S
cr

u
ti

n
y 

C
o

m
m

it
te

e 

C
P 

4.
3 

%
 o

f 
C
ou

nc
il 

Ta
x 

fo
r 

20
16

/1
7 

co
lle

ct
ed

 in
 y

ea
r 

[C
um

ul
at

iv
e]

 
A
im

 t
o 

M
ax

im
is

e 
Fe

br
ua

ry
 

20
17

 
92

.4
0%

 
92

.2
0%

 
97

.2
0%

 
 

 
Jo

e 
C
he

st
er

to
n 

Po
lic

y 
&

 R
es

ou
rc

es
 

S
cr

ut
in

y 
 

C
P 

4.
4 

%
 o

f 
N

on
-D

om
es

tic
 R

at
es

 f
or

 
20

16
/1

7 
co

lle
ct

ed
 in

 y
ea

r 
[C

um
ul

at
iv

e]
 

A
im

 t
o 

M
ax

im
is

e 
Fe

br
ua

ry
 

20
17

 
92

.0
0%

 
91

.6
0%

 
97

.8
0%

 
 

 
Jo

e 
C
he

st
er

to
n 

Po
lic

y 
&

 R
es

ou
rc

es
 

S
cr

ut
in

y 
 

C
P 

4.
5 

M
aj

or
 p

la
nn

in
g 

ap
pl

ic
at

io
ns

 
de

te
rm

in
ed

 in
 1

3 
w

ee
ks

 
[C

um
ul

at
iv

e]
 

A
im

 t
o 

M
ax

im
is

e 
Fe

br
ua

ry
 

20
17

 
92

.8
6%

 
79

.0
0%

 
79

.0
0%

 
 

 
Pe

te
r 

G
er

ag
ht

y 
Pl

ac
e 

S
cr

ut
in

y 
 

C
P 

4.
6 

M
in

or
 p

la
nn

in
g 

ap
pl

ic
at

io
ns

 
de

te
rm

in
ed

 in
 8

 w
ee

ks
 

[C
um

ul
at

iv
e]

 

A
im

 t
o 

M
ax

im
is

e 
Fe

br
ua

ry
 

20
17

 
90

.2
2%

 
84

.0
0%

 
84

.0
0%

 
 

 
Pe

te
r 

G
er

ag
ht

y 
Pl

ac
e 

S
cr

ut
in

y 
 

C
P 

4.
7 

O
th

er
 p

la
nn

in
g 

ap
pl

ic
at

io
ns

 
de

te
rm

in
ed

 in
 8

 w
ee

ks
 

[C
um

ul
at

iv
e]

 

A
im

 t
o 

M
ax

im
is

e 
Fe

br
ua

ry
 

20
17

 
94

.8
7%

 
90

.0
0%

 
90

.0
0%

 
 

 
Pe

te
r 

G
er

ag
ht

y 
Pl

ac
e 

S
cr

ut
in

y 
 

C
P 

4.
8 

C
ur

re
nt

 R
en

t 
Ar

re
ar

s 
as

 %
 o

f 
re

nt
 

du
e 

[M
on

th
ly

 S
na

ps
ho

t]
 

A
im

 t
o 

M
in

im
is

e 
Fe

br
ua

ry
 

20
17

 
1.

36
%

 
1.

7%
 

1.
7%

 
 

 
S
ha

ro
n 

H
ou

ld
en

 
Po

lic
y 

an
d 

R
es

ou
rc

es
 

S
cr

ut
in

y 
 

C
P 

4.
9 

Th
e 

%
  
of

 c
hi

ld
re

n 
in

 g
oo

d 
or

 
ou

ts
ta

nd
in

g 
Sc

ho
ol

s 
[M

on
th

ly
 

A
im

 t
o 

M
ax

im
is

e 
Fe

br
ua

ry
 

20
17

 
84

.7
1%

 
75

%
 

75
%

 
 

 
B
ri
n 

M
ar

tin
 

Pe
op

le
 S

cr
ut

in
y 

 

22



M
P

R
 

C
od

e
S

h
o

rt
 N

am
e 

M
in

im
is

e 
or

 
M

ax
im

is
e 

La
te

st
 

M
on

th
 

M
on

th
's

 
V

al
u

e 
M

on
th

's
 

Ta
rg

et
 

A
n

n
u

al
 

Ta
rg

et
 

2
0

1
6

/1
7

 

Ex
p

ec
te

d 
O

u
tc

om
e 

B
et

te
r 

or
 

w
o

rs
e 

th
an

 
la

st
 y

ea
r 

M
an

ag
ed

 B
y 

S
cr

u
ti

n
y 

C
o

m
m

it
te

e 

S
na

ps
ho

t]
 

A
im

: 
E

X
C

EL
LE

N
T:

 P
ri

o
ri

ti
es

 •
 W

or
k 

w
it
h 

&
 li

st
en

 t
o 

ou
r 

co
m

m
un

iti
es

 &
 p

ar
tn

er
s 

to
 a

ch
ie

ve
 b

et
te

r 
ou

tc
om

es
 f

or
 a

ll 
• 

En
ab

le
 c

om
m

un
iti

es
 t

o 
be

 s
el

f-
su

ff
ic

ie
nt

 &
 f
os

te
r 

pr
id

e 
in

 t
he

 t
ow

n 
• 

Pr
om

ot
e 

&
 le

ad
 a

n 
en

tr
ep

re
ne

ur
ia

l, 
cr

ea
ti
ve

 &
 in

no
va

ti
ve

 a
pp

ro
ac

h 
to

 t
he

 d
ev

el
op

m
en

t 
of

 o
ur

 t
ow

n.

M
P

R
 

C
od

e
S

h
o

rt
 N

am
e 

M
in

im
is

e 
or

 
M

ax
im

is
e 

La
te

st
 

M
on

th
 

M
on

th
's

 
V

al
u

e 
M

on
th

's
 

Ta
rg

et
 

A
n

n
u

al
 

Ta
rg

et
 

2
0

1
6

/1
7

 

Ex
p

ec
te

d 
O

u
tc

om
e 

B
et

te
r 

or
 

w
o

rs
e 

th
an

 
la

st
 y

ea
r 

M
an

ag
ed

 B
y 

S
cr

u
ti

n
y 

C
o

m
m

it
te

e 

C
P 

5.
1 

N
um

be
r 

of
 h

ou
rs

 d
el

iv
er

ed
 

th
ro

ug
h 

vo
lu

nt
ee

ri
ng

 in
 C

ul
tu

re
 

S
er

vi
ce

s 
[C

um
ul

at
iv

e]
 

A
im

 t
o 

M
ax

im
is

e 
Fe

br
ua

ry
 

20
17

 
15

,8
12

 
11

,9
17

 
13

,0
00

 
 

 
S
co

tt
 D

ol
lin

g 
Pl

ac
e 

S
cr

ut
in

y 
 

C
P 

5.
2 

G
ov

m
et

ri
c 

M
ea

su
re

m
en

t 
of

 
S
at

is
fa

ct
io

n 
(3

 C
ha

nn
el

s 
- 

Ph
on

es
, 

Fa
ce

 2
 F

ac
e 

&
 W

eb
) 

[C
um

ul
at

iv
e]

 

A
im

 t
o 

M
ax

im
is

e 
Fe

br
ua

ry
 

20
17

 
86

.3
2%

 
80

.0
0%

 
80

.0
0%

 
 

 
N

ic
k 

C
or

ri
ga

n;
 J

oa
nn

a 
R
uf

fle
 

Po
lic

y 
&

 R
es

ou
rc

es
 

S
cr

ut
in

y 
 

C
P 

5.
3 

N
um

be
r 

of
 p

ay
m

en
ts

 m
ad

e 
on

lin
e 

[C
um

ul
at

iv
e]

 
A
im

 t
o 

M
ax

im
is

e 
Fe

br
ua

ry
 

20
17

 
58

,8
11

 
45

,8
26

 
50

,0
00

 
 

 
Jo

an
na

 R
uf

fle
 

Po
lic

y 
&

 R
es

ou
rc

es
 

S
cr

ut
in

y 
 

C
P 

5.
4 

W
or

ki
ng

 d
ay

s 
lo

st
 p

er
 F

TE
 d

ue
 t

o 
si

ck
ne

ss
 -

 e
xc

lu
di

ng
 s

ch
oo

l s
ta

ff
 

[C
um

ul
at

iv
e]

 

A
im

 t
o 

M
in

im
is

e 
Fe

br
ua

ry
 

20
17

 
6.

72
 

6.
49

 
7.

20
 

 
 

Jo
an

na
 R

uf
fle

 
Po

lic
y 

&
 R

es
ou

rc
es

 
S
cr

ut
in

y 
 

23



Section 3: Detail of indicators rated Red or Amber 

Aim: SAFE: Priorities • Create a safe environment across the town for residents, workers and 
visitors. • Work in partnership with Essex Police and other agencies to tackle crime.  • Look after and 
safeguard our children and vulnerable adults.
Expected Outcome: At risk of missing target 2 Some slippage against target 2 

CP 1.1

Score against 10 BCS crimes; Theft of 
vehicle, theft from vehicle, vehicle 
interference, domestic burglary, theft of 
cycle, theft from person, criminal damage, 
common assault, wounding's, robbery. 
[Cumulative] 

Expected Outcome Format Aim to Minimise 

Managed By Carl Robinson* 

Year Introduced 2007

24



4% - 10% 2%
8% 6% 3% 19%

29% 17%
2%

25



CP 1.3

The percentage of children reported to the 
police as having run away that receive an 
independent return to home interview 
[Cumulative] 

Expected Outcome  Format Aim to Maximise 

    

Managed By John O'Loughlin 

Year Introduced 2013 

     

 

     

 

26



CP 1.4
Rate of children subject to a Child 
Protection Plan per 10,000 (not including 
temps) [Monthly Snapshot] 

Expected Outcome  Format Goldilocks 

    

Managed By John O'Loughlin 

Year Introduced   
     

 

     

 

27



CP 1.5
Rate of Looked After Children (LAC) per 
10,000 [Monthly Snapshot] 

Expected Outcome  Format Goldilocks 

    

Managed By John O'Loughlin 

Year Introduced   
     

 

     

28



Aim: CLEAN: Priorities • Continue to promote the use of green technology and initiatives to benefit 
the local economy and environment. • Encourage and enforce high standards of environmental 
stewardship.
Expected Outcome: At risk of missing target 1  

CP 2.3
Percentage of household waste sent for 
reuse, recycling and composting 
[Cumulative] 

Expected Outcome  Format Aim to Maximise 

    

Managed By Carl Robinson* 

Year Introduced 2008 

     

 

     

 

29



This figure is the latest position and will be validated by the end of March 2017.

30



Aim: HEALTHY: Priorities • Actively promote healthy and active lifestyles for all. • Work with the 
public and private rented sectors to provide good quality housing. • Improve the life chances of our 
residents, especially our vulnerable children & adults, by working to reduce inequalities and social 
deprivation across our communities. 
Expected Outcome: At risk of missing target 1 Some slippage against target 4 

CP 3.1

Proportion of older people 65 and over 
who were still at home 91 days after 
discharge from hospital to rehab/rehab 
[Rolling Quarter] 

Expected Outcome Format Aim to Maximise 

Managed By Sharon Houlden 

Year Introduced 

31



 

32



CP 3.2
Delayed transfers of care from hospital for 
social care per 100,000 population (ASCOF 
2C(2)) [Year to date average] 

Expected Outcome  Format Aim to Minimise 

    

Managed By Sharon Houlden 

Year Introduced   
     

 

     

 

33



CP 3.3
The proportion of people who use services 
who receive direct payments (ASCOF 1C 
(2A)) [Year to date Snapshot] 

Expected Outcome  Format Aim to Maximise 

    

Managed By Sharon Houlden 

Year Introduced   
     

 

     

 

34



CP 3.8
Number of people successfully completing 
4 week stop smoking course [Cumulative] 

Expected Outcome  Format Aim to Maximise 

    

Managed By Liesel Park 

Year Introduced   
     

 

     

 

35



CP 3.9
Take up of the NHS Health Check 
programme - by those eligible 
[Cumulative] 

Expected Outcome  Format Aim to Maximise 

    

Managed By Margaret Gray 

Year Introduced   
     

 

     

 

36



Aim: EXCELLENT: Priorities • Work with & listen to our communities & partners to achieve better 
outcomes for all • Enable communities to be self-sufficient & foster pride in the town • Promote & lead 
an entrepreneurial, creative & innovative approach to the development of our town.
Expected Outcome: At risk of missing target 1  

CP 5.4
Working days lost per FTE due to sickness 
- excluding school staff [Cumulative] 

Expected Outcome  Format Aim to Minimise 

    

Managed By Joanna Ruffle 

Year Introduced 2009 

     

 

     

 

37



38



1 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Revenue Budget Monitoring 2016/17 

 
Period 11 

 
as at 28 February 2017 

Portfolio Summary

39



2 

Contents 
 
Commentary 3 
  
General Fund Summary Forecast 9 
  
Portfolio  
  
Leader 10 
Culture, Tourism and the Economy 12 
Corporate and Community Support Services 14 
Housing, Planning & Public Protection Services 18 
Children & Learning 20 
Health & Adult Social Care 23 
Transport, Waste & Cleansing 25 
Technology 28 
Housing Revenue Account Summary Forecast 30 
  
 

40



3 

1. Commentary 
 
This report outlines the budget monitoring position for the General Fund and Housing Revenue 
Account for 2016/17, based on the views of the Directors and their Management Teams, in light of 
expenditure and income to 28 February 2017. 
 
The starting point for the budget monitoring is the original budget as agreed by Council in February 
2016. Therefore, the full cost budget is being monitored, including fully allocated Management, 
Administrative and Technical Services (MATS) and capital financing costs. As at the end of October 
2016 all corporate savings had been allocated.  
 
 
2. Overall Budget Performance – General Fund 
 
As at the end of February, an underspend to the overall Council budget of £2,387,000 is currently being 
forecast for the year-end. This position reflects a projected overspend of £154,000 in Council 
departmental spending and a £2,541,000 underspend on financing costs and levies. The budget 
pressures which services are reporting are detailed in section 3. The forecast net underspend of 
£2,387,000 is currently estimated to be transferred to earmarked reserves. 
  

Portfolio Latest 
Budget 
2016/17 

£000

Projected 
Outturn 
2016/17   

£000

February 
Forecast 
Variance   

£000

January 
Forecast 
Variance   

£000

Leader 2,858      2,855 (3)              (25)             

Culture, Tourism and the Economy 16,559     16,772 213           310            

Corporate and Community Support Services 4,888      4,516 (372)          (282)           

Housing, Planning & Public Protection Services 10,883     10,819 (64)            (28)             

Children & Learning 32,552     32,855 303           551            

Health & Adult Social Care 43,101     43,362 261           221            

Transport, Waste & Cleansing 25,833     25,649 (184)          (397)           

Technology 65           65 -               -                

Total Portfolio 136,739   136,893 154           350            

Non-Service Areas (12,186) (14,727) (2,541) (326)

Earmarked Reserves (1,347) 1,040 2,387 (24)

Net Expenditure / (Income) 123,206   123,206 0 0 

General Fund Portfolio Forecast Comparison 2016/17

at 28 February 2017 - Period 11

 
 
Where Portfolios are forecasting an overspend by the end of the year, the relevant Director has been 
advised that appropriate action plans must be in place to address any projected overspend position so 
that a balanced budget for the Council is produced by the year end. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

41



4 

3. Service Variances - £154,000 forecast overspend 
 
The key variances are as shown in the following table:-  
Portfolio Unfavourable Favourable Net Previous 

period
£(000) £(000) £(000) £(000)

Leader

Treasury Management Costs (3) 0

Vacancies in the Policy and Communications team (25)

0 (3) (3) (25)
Culture, Tourism and the Economy
Southend Pier - Loss of income due to repair of pile caps and 
associated repair costs due to buggy usage for certain users

133 200

Grounds Maintenance - Additional peak relief staff due to 
weather conditions

69 60

Grounds Maintenance - One off additional materials and 
maintenance costs in relation to the new Southend contract

60 60

Grounds Maintenance - shortfall in income 35 40

Golf course - reduced income due to lower user numbers 50 50

The Forum - Facilities Management contract 100 100

Leigh Library - Income shortfall 6 0

Leisure Management - Newly tendered contract saving & part 
year vacant post

(182) (182)

Town Centre - Additional income from the weekly markets (30) 0

Tourism & Events - Vacant post & unspent contractors budget (28) (18)

453 (240) 213 310
Corporate and Community Support

Income from Cremations (150) (50)

Vacancies in the Customer Service team (61) (8)

IT Costs relating to Citizens Accounts 52 0

Income from the Customer Service support for the Veolia (47) (30)

Benefits Admin Team Staffing 100 100

Vacancies in the Partnership team and Grants to Voluntary 
Organisation teams

(15) (50)

Corporate Training Income (14) (14)

Vacancy in the Transport Management team (20) 0

Vacancies in the Accounts Payable and Accountancy teams (20) (170)

Vacancy in the Asset Management Team (50) (50)

Additional security costs for Civic Campus 25 25

Lettings Income not achieved at Civic Centre 23 23

Council Tax Court Income (80) (90)

Maternity cover in Democratic Services 15 0

Vacancies in the Chief Executive Support team (50) (35)

Printing and Postage for Local Elections and Referendum 10 12

Vacancy Factor in the Legal Team 0 5

Legal Services Court Costs and Barristers' Fees 55 65

Legal Services Income 25 20

Staffing costs in the Business Rates team (35) (15)

Vacancies in Corporate Procurement (20) (20)

Property - Increased capitalisation of staffing costs (50) 0

Property - Income received in relation to a written off invoice (70) 0

Other Minor Variance 5 0

258 (630) (372) (282)  

42



5 

 
…Continued
Housing, Planning & Public Protection Services
Building Control - staffing pressures 57 57
Development Control - staffing & court cost underspends (77) (64)
Development Control - drop in income 20 0
Development Control - CIL monitoring income (42) (42)
CCTV - Consultants costs and equipment maintenance 27 27
Vacancies in Private Sector Housing (65) (27)

Vacancies in Community Housing 0 (35)

Regulatory Services - Legal advice 13 13

Licensing - Tables and chairs income shortfall 28 27

Licensing - Gambling Act income shortfall 17 21

Minor variances (42) (5)

162 (226) (64) (28)

Children and Learning
Children's Placements - high cost children with disabilities, 
and cost of direct payments

58 56

Children's Placements - forecast for current cohort of looked 
after children

7 46

Unaccompanied ayslym younder people - legacy scheme 41 54

Unaccompanied asylum younger people - 16/17 National 
transfer scheme

18 17

Pressure on Leaving Care accommodation placements 102 102

Staffing pressure costs in children services due to highlevels 
of agency staff and MARAT team

106 321

Children under Sect 17 and Sect 20 support costs (69) (62)

Funding pressures at the Marigold Assessment centre mostly 
attrituable to transport costs

127 143

Legal charges for children in care - high case load 159 86

Forecast on current in-house fostering placements and impact 
of adoption referral income

4 38

Home to School Education Transport - lower demand and 
contract management

(150) (150)

School Improvement staff vacancies (100) (100)

622 (319) 303 551

Health and Adult Social Care
People with a Learning Disability - Lower than estimated 
residential care placements  and direct payments

(263) (249)

People with Mental Health Needs - Higher than estimated 
residential care placements, direct payments and supported 
living

596 532

Older People - Reduced residential care packages (151) (108)

Physical and Sensory Impairment - Higher than estimated 
residential care placements

51 71

Pressure against budgeted vacancy levels 64 77

Health contribution towards Integrated commissioning (17) (24)

Underspend on service contracts (19) (78)

711 (450) 261 221
 

43



6 

…Continued
Transport, Waste & Cleansing
Street lighting - full year benefits not expected to be achieved 418 355
Traffic Signals - reduction in contractor costs due to LED 9 (24)
Street works Common Permit Scheme - S.74 penalties (469) (467)
Highways Maintenance - rechargeable works not being 169 152
Structural maintenance - footway repairs 144 184
Projects Implementation - transport & online resource costs 22 21
Environmental Maintenance - contract costs 24 (23)
Winter Maintenance - anticipated stock value at year end (92) 0
Bridge Maintenance - reactive repairs (32) (32)
Decriminalised parking - delay in new contract implementation 152 139
Decriminalised parking - estimated bad debt provision at year 
end

(83) 133

Decriminalised parking - reduction in income 717 649
Parking management - income from on- and off-street (277) (262)
Concessionary fares - based on consultant estimate 35 73
Strategic Transport Policy 11 11
Travel Centre - additional security required for site 58 60
Traffic Management - reduction in contractor costs (71) (72)
Traffic Management - fall in capitalisation 100 116
Traffic Management - transport/supplies & services (15) 0
Traffic Management - highways boundary searches (15) 0
Road Safety - changes to service delivery (52) (47)
Public Conveniences - Reduced electricity consumption (30) (30)
Waste Collection - Vacant post within the team (16) (16)
Waste Disposal - Reduced gate fee at the MBT. Balance 
transferred to the Waste Reserve.

(438) (780)

Cleansing - Service Licences no longer required (19) (19)
Environmental Care - Vacant post and associated staffing (65) (65)
Environmental Care - Revised vehicle hire contract (32) (32)
Waste Management - Income from ECC in relation to the JWA (518) (531)
Flood Defences - vacant posts (42) (42)
Flood Defences - pump station servicing & land licence 109 76
Flood Defences - maintenance 74 36
Business Support - Low staff turnover resulting in vacancy 
factor pressure

40 40

2,082 (2,266) (184) (397)
Technology

0 0 0 0

Total 4,288 (4,134) 154 350 

 
 
Non Service Variances (£2,541,000 forecast underspend) 
 
Financing Costs – (£2,535K) 
This provision is forecast to be underspent against budget at the year-end as; revised Minimum 
Revenue Provision Policy (£2,035K); PWLB interest (£361K) due to reduced borrowing; reduced 
interest from in-house investments due to lower interest rates £110K; interest on short term borrowing 
(£51K); interest on Bonds (£56K); interest property funds (£200K); Schools and trust balances interest 
£51K; finance lease costs £5K; other £2K. 
 
Levies – (£6K) 
The annual levy from the Coroners Court is less than advised by the organisation when setting the 
budget. 
 

44



7 

4. Appropriations to / from Earmarked Reserves 
 
Net appropriations from Earmarked Reserves totalling £3,874,000 were agreed by Council when 
setting the 2016/17 budget in February 2016. The current outturn position allows for further in-year net 
appropriations to reserves, totalling (£4,914,114).  Total net appropriations from / (to) reserves for 
2016/17 will therefore equal (£1,040,114). 
 

• £367,950 from the Business Transformation Reserve to enable the progression of various 
projects. 

• £2,073,936 from the Earmarked Reserves for Grants carried forward from previous years 
• (£301,000) to the Specific Projects Reserve to cover identified projects 
• £250,000 from the Queensway Reserve to cover on-going revenue costs of the project 
• £30,000 from SEN Reserve to support school music 
• (£150,000) to the Rental Equalisation Reserve 
• (£434,000) to the Waste Reserve due to the MBT commissioning phase 
• (£4,364,000) reduction in the contribution to RCCO from original budget 
• (£2,387,000) appropriation to reserves at the year end  

                  
(£4,914,114) 

 
 
5. Revenue Contributions to Capital Outlay (RCCO) 
 
The original budget for 2016/17 included planned revenue contributions for capital investments, via the 
use of Earmarked Reserves, of £6,472,000. Due to slippage in the capital programme, this budget is 
now £2,164,000 with the unused budget being returned to the Capital, Agresso and Social Care 
Reserves respectively. A net change of £4,308,000 has occurred, part of which relates to £56,000 
which has been allocated from contingency to fund the purchase of Bronze Cannons salvaged from 
The London. 
 
 
6. Performance against Budget savings targets for 2016/17 

 
As part of setting the Council budget for 2016/17, a schedule of Departmental and Corporate savings 
was approved totalling £10.086 million. These are required to achieve a balanced budget.  
 
A monthly exercise is in place to monitor the progress of the delivery of these savings.  A breakdown, 
by RAG status, of the Departmental Savings is shown below: 

 

Red Amber Green

Original 
Savings 

Total
Projected 
Outturn

Forecast 
Variance

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Department
Chief Executive 25 75 1,308 1,408 1,383 (25)
People 260 3,547 1,504 5,311 5,015 (296)
Place 0 1,380 1,987 3,367 2,833 (534)

Total 285 5,002 4,799 10,086 9,231 (855)  
 
Although the current forecast is showing a shortfall of £855,000 against the required savings total of 
£10.086 million, it is currently expected that the total savings will be delivered in full as part of each 
Department’s overall budget total by the end of the financial year either by finding alternative savings or 
ensuring amber and red savings are delivered in full. 
 
 
 

45



8 

7. Overall Budget Performance – Housing Revenue Account (HRA) 
 
The HRA budget was approved by Council on 25th February 2016 and anticipated that £2,287,000 
would be appropriated to earmarked reserves in 2016/17. 
 
The closing HRA balance as at 31st March 2016 was £3,502,000 
 
. 
8. Budget Virements 
 
In line with the approved financial procedure rules all virements over £50,000 between portfolio 
services or between pay and non-pay budgets are to be approved by Cabinet. 
Below is a table showing the virements which fall within these parameters. 
 

DR CR
£ £

Virements over £50,000 in reported period 500            (500)           
Virements over £50,000 previously reported 7,018         (7,018)        
Virements approved under delegated authority 10,224       (10,224)      
Total virements 17,742       (17,742)       
 
The virements for Cabinet approval this period are: 
 

• £500,000 To reallocate Care Act Funding 
 

£500,000 Total

46



9 

P
o

rt
fo

li
o

G
ro

ss
 

E
x

p
e

n
d

G
ro

ss
 

In
co

m
e

O
ri

g
in

a
l 

B
u

d
g

e
t

V
ir

e
m

e
n

t
L

a
te

st
 

B
u

d
g

e
t

E
x

p
e

ct
e

d
 

O
u

tt
u

rn
F

o
re

ca
st

 
V

a
ri

a
n

ce
B

u
d

g
e

t 
to

 
D

a
te

S
p

e
n

d
 t

o
 

D
a

te
T

o
 D

a
te

 
V

a
ri

a
n

ce
 

£0
00

£0
00

£0
00

£0
00

£0
00

£0
00

£0
00

£0
00

£0
00

£0
00

Le
ad

er
4,

76
5 

(1
,0

62
)

3,
70

3 
(8

45
)

2,
85

8 
2,

85
5 

(3
)

(1
,8

36
)

(2
,0

45
)

(2
09

)
C

ul
tu

re
, 

To
ur

is
m

 a
nd

 t
he

 E
co

no
m

y
17

,4
39

 
(3

,1
78

)
14

,2
61

 
2,

29
8 

16
,5

59
 

16
,7

72
 

21
3 

15
,6

05
 

15
,8

73
 

26
8 

C
or

po
ra

te
 a

nd
 C

om
m

un
ity

 S
up

po
rt

 S
er

vi
ce

s
12

7,
43

5 
(1

24
,7

72
)

2,
66

3 
2,

22
5 

4,
88

8 
4,

51
6 

(3
72

)
5,

17
7 

4,
69

4 
(4

83
)

H
ou

si
ng

, 
P

la
nn

in
g 

&
 P

ub
lic

 P
ro

te
ct

io
n 

S
er

vi
ce

s
13

,6
89

 
(2

,9
42

)
10

,7
47

 
13

6 
10

,8
83

 
10

,8
19

 
(6

4)
9,

92
6 

9,
81

1 
(1

15
)

C
hi

ld
re

n 
&

 L
ea

rn
in

g 
11

6,
23

4 
(8

5,
46

4)
30

,7
70

 
1,

78
2 

32
,5

52
 

32
,8

55
 

30
3 

29
,2

98
 

29
,5

52
 

25
4 

H
ea

lth
 &

 A
du

lt 
S

oc
ia

l C
ar

e
76

,0
04

 
(3

5,
09

2)
40

,9
12

 
2,

18
9 

43
,1

01
 

43
,3

62
 

26
1 

39
,5

75
 

39
,6

52
 

77
 

Tr
an

sp
or

t,
 W

as
te

 &
 C

le
an

si
ng

35
,0

73
 

(1
1,

94
3)

23
,1

30
 

2,
70

3 
25

,8
33

 
25

,6
49

 
(1

84
)

23
,9

06
 

24
,8

61
 

95
5 

Te
ch

no
lo

gy
5,

85
8 

(5
,7

48
)

11
0 

(4
5)

65
 

65
 

0 
69

 
13

5 
66

 

P
o

rt
fo

li
o

 N
e

t 
E

x
p

e
n

d
it

u
re

39
6,

49
7 

(2
70

,2
01

)
12

6,
29

6 
10

,4
43

 
13

6,
73

9 
13

6,
89

3 
15

4 
12

1,
72

0 
12

2,
53

3 
81

3 

R
ev

er
sa

l o
f D

ep
re

ci
at

io
n

(2
1,

71
1)

3,
06

9 
(1

8,
64

2)
(5

,9
58

)
(2

4,
60

0)
(2

4,
60

0)
0 

(2
3,

08
0)

(2
3,

08
2)

(2
)

Le
vi

es
58

5 
0 

58
5 

0 
58

5 
57

9 
(6

)
49

1 
48

5 
(6

)
F

in
an

ci
ng

 C
os

ts
20

,4
08

 
(4

,6
21

)
15

,7
87

 
(7

2)
15

,7
15

 
13

,1
80

 
(2

,5
35

)
11

,7
09

 
9,

29
3 

(2
,4

16
)

C
on

tin
ge

nc
y

5,
81

6 
0 

5,
81

6 
(2

,8
32

)
2,

98
4 

2,
98

4 
0 

1,
29

7 
0 

(1
,2

97
)

P
en

si
on

s 
U

pf
ro

nt
 F

un
di

ng
(4

,7
82

)
0 

(4
,7

82
)

0 
(4

,7
82

)
(4

,7
82

)
0 

0 
0 

0 
M

is
ce

lla
ne

ou
s 

In
co

m
e

0 
0 

0 
0 

0 
0 

0 
0 

1,
12

6 
1,

12
6 

S
u

b
 T

o
ta

l
31

6 
(1

,5
52

)
(1

,2
36

)
(8

,8
62

)
(1

0,
09

8)
(1

2,
63

9)
(2

,5
41

)
(9

,5
83

)
(1

2,
17

8)
(2

,5
95

)

N
e

t 
O

p
e

ra
ti

n
g

 E
x

p
e

n
d

it
u

re
39

6,
81

3 
(2

71
,7

53
)

12
5,

06
0 

1,
58

1 
12

6,
64

1 
12

4,
25

4 
(2

,3
87

)
11

2,
13

7 
11

0,
35

5 
(1

,7
82

)

G
en

er
al

 G
ra

nt
s

0 
(4

,2
52

)
(4

,2
52

)
0 

(4
,2

52
)

(4
,2

52
)

0 
(3

,5
57

)
(3

,7
01

)
(1

44
)

C
or

po
ra

te
 S

av
in

gs
(2

00
)

0 
(2

00
)

20
0 

0 
0 

0 
0 

0 
0 

R
ev

en
ue

 C
on

tr
ib

ut
io

n 
to

 C
ap

ita
l

6,
47

2 
0 

6,
47

2 
(4

,3
08

)
2,

16
4 

2,
16

4 
0 

5,
93

3 
0 

(5
,9

33
)

C
on

tr
ib

ut
io

n 
to

 /
 (

fro
m

) 
E

ar
m

ar
ke

d 
R

es
er

ve
s

(3
,8

74
)

0 
(3

,8
74

)
2,

52
7 

(1
,3

47
)

1,
04

0 
2,

38
7 

(5
,0

58
)

(6
,6

95
)

(1
,6

37
)

C
on

tr
ib

ut
io

n 
to

 /
 (

fro
m

) 
G

en
er

al
 R

es
er

ve
s

0 
0 

0 
0 

0 
0 

0 
0 

0 
0 

N
e

t 
E

x
p

e
n

d
it

u
re

 /
 (

In
co

m
e

)
39

9,
21

1 
(2

76
,0

05
)

12
3,

20
6 

0 
12

3,
20

6 
12

3,
20

6 
0 

10
9,

45
5 

99
,9

59
 

(9
,4

96
)

U
se

 o
f 

G
e

n
e

ra
l 

R
e

se
rv

e
s

B
al

an
ce

 a
s 

at
 1

 A
pr

il 
20

15
11

,0
00

 
11

,0
00

 
11

,0
00

 
0 

U
se

 in
 Y

ea
r

0 
0 

0 
0 

0 
B

a
la

n
ce

 a
s 

a
t 

31
 M

a
rc

h
 2

01
6

11
,0

00
 

0 
11

,0
00

 
11

,0
00

 
0 

G
e

n
e

ra
l 

F
u

n
d

 F
o

re
ca

st
 2

01
6/

17

a
t 

28
 F

e
b

ru
a

ry
 2

01
7 

- 
P

e
ri

o
d

 1
1

P
o

rt
fo

li
o

 H
o

ld
e

r 
S

u
m

m
a

ry

47



10
 

 

S
e

rv
ic

e
G

ro
ss

 
E

x
p

e
n

d
G

ro
ss

 
In

co
m

e
O

ri
g

in
a

l 
B

u
d

g
e

t
V

ir
e

m
e

n
t

L
a

te
st

 
B

u
d

g
e

t
E

x
p

e
ct

e
d

 
O

u
tt

u
rn

F
o

re
ca

st
 

V
a

ri
a

n
ce

B
u

d
g

e
t 

to
 

D
a

te
S

p
e

n
d

 t
o

 
D

a
te

T
o

 D
a

te
 

V
a

ri
a

n
ce

 
£0

00
£0

00
£0

00
£0

00
£0

00
£0

00
£0

00
£0

00
£0

00
£0

00

a
C

or
po

ra
te

 a
nd

 N
on

 D
is

tr
ib

ut
ab

le
 C

os
ts

3,
76

0 
(1

77
)

3,
58

3 
(8

68
)

2,
71

5 
2,

71
2 

(3
)

(1
,9

66
)

(2
,1

75
)

(2
09

)
b

C
or

po
ra

te
 S

ub
sc

rip
tio

ns
73

 
0 

73
 

5 
78

 
78

 
0 

72
 

66
 

(6
)

c
E

m
er

ge
nc

y 
P

la
nn

in
g

99
 

0 
99

 
43

 
14

2 
14

2 
0 

13
4 

13
6 

2 
d

S
tr

at
eg

y 
&

 P
er

fo
rm

an
ce

83
3 

(8
85

)
(5

2)
(2

5)
(7

7)
(7

7)
0 

(7
6)

(7
2)

4 

T
o

ta
l 

N
e

t 
B

u
d

g
e

t 
fo

r 
P

o
rt

fo
li

o
4,

76
5 

(1
,0

62
)

3,
70

3 
(8

45
)

2,
85

8 
2,

85
5 

(3
)

(1
,8

36
)

(2
,0

45
)

(2
09

)

G
e

n
e

ra
l 

F
u

n
d

 F
o

re
ca

st
 2

01
6/

17
a

t 
28

 F
e

b
ru

a
ry

 2
01

7 
- 

P
e

ri
o

d
 1

1
L

e
a

d
e

r
P

o
rt

fo
li

o
 H

o
ld

e
r 

- 
C

ll
r 

J 
L

a
m

b

 
 V

ir
em

en
ts

£0
00

T
ra

n
sf

er
 f

ro
m

 e
ar

m
a

rk
ed

 r
es

er
ve

s
(3

63
)

A
llo

ca
tio

n 
fr

om
 C

on
tin

ge
nc

y
5

 
In

 y
ea

r 
vi

re
m

en
ts

(4
87

)
(8

45
)

48



11
 

G
e

n
e

ra
l 

F
u

n
d

 F
o

re
ca

st
 2

01
6/

17
a

t 
28

 F
e

b
ru

a
ry

 2
01

7 
- 

P
e

ri
o

d
 1

1
L

e
a

d
e

r
P

o
rt

fo
li

o
 H

o
ld

e
r 

- 
C

ll
r 

J 
L

a
m

b
  

F
o

re
ca

st
 O

u
tt

u
rn

 V
ar

ia
n

ce
 

 
Y

ea
r 

to
 D

at
e 

V
ar

ia
n

ce
 

a.
 

A
 s

av
in

g 
on

 m
on

ey
 m

ar
ke

t f
ee

s 
ar

e 
of

fs
et

tin
g 

th
e 

D
ilu

tio
n 

Le
vy

 c
ha

rg
e 

 
B

ud
ge

ts
 fo

r 
S

al
ar

ie
s,

 C
or

po
ra

te
 In

iti
at

iv
es

, a
nd

 A
ud

it 
co

st
s 

ar
e 

cu
rr

en
tly

 u
nd

er
sp

en
t. 

D
ue

 to
 th

e 
ad

-h
oc

 a
nd

 h
ig

h 
va

lu
e 

na
tu

re
 o

f 
so

m
e 

co
rp

or
at

e 
co

re
 c

os
ts

 it
 is

 n
ot

 p
os

si
bl

e 
to

 p
ro

fil
e 

th
e 

bu
dg

et
s 

fo
r 

P
en

si
on

s 
B

ac
kf

un
di

ng
 a

nd
 C

or
po

ra
te

 In
iti

at
iv

es
 m

or
e 

ac
cu

ra
te

ly
. 

b.
 

 
 

 

c.
 

 
 

 

d.
 

 
 

 

49



12
 S
e

rv
ic

e
G

ro
ss

 
E

x
p

e
n

d
G

ro
ss

 
In

co
m

e
O

ri
g

in
a

l 
B

u
d

g
e

t
V

ir
e

m
e

n
t

L
a

te
st

 
B

u
d

g
e

t
E

x
p

e
ct

e
d

 
O

u
tt

u
rn

F
o

re
ca

st
 

V
a

ri
a

n
ce

B
u

d
g

e
t 

to
 

D
a

te
S

p
e

n
d

 t
o

 
D

a
te

T
o

 D
a

te
 

V
a

ri
a

n
ce

 
£0

00
£0

00
£0

00
£0

00
£0

00
£0

00
£0

00
£0

00
£0

00
£0

00

a
A

rt
s 

D
ev

el
op

m
en

t
70

6 
(3

64
)

34
2 

4 
34

6 
34

6 
0 

33
8 

33
2 

(6
)

b
A

m
en

ity
 S

er
vi

ce
s 

O
rg

an
is

at
io

n
2,

96
4 

(3
86

)
2,

57
8 

82
9 

3,
40

7 
3,

57
1 

16
4 

3,
14

4 
3,

42
0 

27
6 

c
C

ul
tu

re
 M

an
ag

em
en

t
10

4 
(6

)
98

 
0 

98
 

98
 

0 
90

 
94

 
4 

d
Li

br
ar

y 
S

er
vi

ce
3,

78
9 

(3
90

)
3,

39
9 

57
6 

3,
97

5 
4,

08
1 

10
6 

3,
83

6 
3,

95
1 

11
5 

e
M

us
eu

m
s 

A
nd

 A
rt

 G
al

le
ry

1,
30

3 
(6

7)
1,

23
6 

10
7 

1,
34

3 
1,

34
3 

0 
1,

25
2 

1,
25

5 
3 

f
P

ar
ks

 A
nd

 A
m

en
iti

es
 M

an
ag

em
en

t
2,

73
6 

(6
67

)
2,

06
9 

(6
39

)
1,

43
0 

1,
48

0 
50

 
1,

21
3 

1,
19

1 
(2

2)
g

S
po

rt
s 

D
ev

el
op

m
en

t
17

9 
(4

5)
13

4 
1 

13
5 

13
5 

0 
12

4 
12

9 
5 

h
S

po
rt

 a
nd

 L
ei

su
re

 F
ac

ili
tie

s
62

7 
(1

44
)

48
3 

1,
04

8 
1,

53
1 

1,
34

9 
(1

82
)

1,
47

2 
1,

33
7 

(1
35

)
i

S
ou

th
en

d 
Th

ea
tr

es
57

5 
(1

7)
55

8 
17

8 
73

6 
73

6 
0 

70
9 

70
4 

(5
)

j
R

es
or

t 
S

er
vi

ce
s 

P
ie

r 
an

d 
F

or
es

ho
re

 
an

d 
S

ou
th

en
d 

M
ar

in
e 

A
ct

iv
ity

 C
en

tr
e

3,
41

0 
(9

99
)

2,
41

1 
(4

92
)

1,
91

9 
2,

05
2 

13
3 

1,
75

8 
1,

93
4 

17
6 

k
To

ur
is

m
26

7 
(1

1)
25

6 
49

 
30

5 
27

7 
(2

8)
28

2 
26

0 
(2

2)
l

E
co

no
m

ic
 D

ev
el

op
m

en
t

36
3 

0 
36

3 
22

8 
59

1 
59

1 
0 

66
1 

62
6 

(3
5)

m
To

w
n 

C
en

tr
e

21
1 

(5
8)

15
3 

(3
)

15
0 

12
0 

(3
0)

13
9 

10
3 

(3
6)

n
C

lim
at

e 
C

ha
ng

e
20

5 
(2

4)
18

1 
16

2 
34

3 
34

3 
0 

38
8 

34
3 

(4
5)

o
Q

ue
en

sw
ay

 R
eg

en
er

at
io

n 
P

ro
je

ct
0 

0 
0 

25
0 

25
0 

25
0 

0 
19

9 
19

4 
(5

)

T
o

ta
l 

N
e

t 
B

u
d

g
e

t 
fo

r 
P

o
rt

fo
li

o
17

,4
39

 
(3

,1
78

)
14

,2
61

 
2,

29
8 

16
,5

59
 

16
,7

72
 

21
3 

15
,6

05
 

15
,8

73
 

26
8 

G
e

n
e

ra
l 

F
u

n
d

 F
o

re
ca

st
 2

01
6/

17
a

t 
28

 F
e

b
ru

a
ry

 2
01

7 
- 

P
e

ri
o

d
 1

1
C

u
lt

u
re

, 
T

o
u

ri
sm

 a
n

d
 t

h
e

 E
co

n
o

m
y

P
o

rt
fo

li
o

 H
o

ld
e

r 
- 

C
ll

r 
A

 H
o

ll
a

n
d

 
          

  

V
ir

em
en

ts
£0

00

Tr
an

sf
er

 fr
om

 e
ar

m
ar

ke
d 

re
se

rv
es

38
7 

A
llo

ca
tio

n 
fro

m
 C

on
tin

ge
nc

y
30

3 
In

 y
ea

r v
ire

m
en

ts
1,

60
8 

2,
29

8 

50



13
 

G
e

n
e

ra
l 

F
u

n
d

 F
o

re
ca

st
 2

01
6/

17
a

t 
28

 F
e

b
ru

a
ry

 2
01

7 
- 

P
e

ri
o

d
 1

1
C

u
lt

u
re

, 
T

o
u

ri
sm

 a
n

d
 t

h
e

 E
co

n
o

m
y

P
o

rt
fo

li
o

 H
o

ld
e

r 
- 

C
ll

r 
A

 H
o

ll
a

n
d

  
F

o
re

ca
st

 O
u

tt
u

rn
 V

ar
ia

n
ce

 
 

Y
ea

r 
to

 D
at

e 
V

ar
ia

n
ce

 

a.
 

 
 

 

b.
 

A
dd

iti
on

al
 s

ta
ff

in
g,

 m
at

er
ia

ls
 a

nd
 m

ai
nt

en
an

ce
 c

os
ts

 h
av

e 
be

en
 in

cu
rr

ed
 a

s 
a 

re
su

lt 
of

 s
et

tin
g 

up
 th

e 
ne

w
 S

ou
th

en
d 

co
nt

ra
ct

 a
nd

 th
er

e 
is

 a
 s

ho
rt

fa
ll 

in
 

in
co

m
e 

ge
ne

ra
tio

n 
du

rin
g 

th
e 

fir
st

 fu
ll 

ye
ar

 o
f r

ev
is

ed
 s

er
vi

ce
 d

el
iv

er
y.

 
 

 
A

 w
et

 S
pr

in
g/

S
um

m
er

 r
eq

ui
re

d 
hi

gh
er

 le
ve

ls
 o

f r
el

ie
f s

ta
ff

 a
nd

 o
ve

rt
im

e.
 

A
dd

iti
on

al
 s

ta
ff

in
g,

 m
at

er
ia

ls
 a

nd
 m

ai
nt

en
an

ce
 c

os
ts

 h
av

e 
be

en
 in

cu
rr

ed
 a

s 
a 

re
su

lt 
of

 s
et

tin
g 

up
 th

e 
ne

w
 S

ou
th

en
d 

co
nt

ra
ct

 a
nd

 th
er

e 
is

 a
 s

ho
rt

fa
ll 

in
 

in
co

m
e 

ge
ne

ra
tio

n.
 

 
c.

 
 

 
 

d.
 

T
he

 fa
ci

lit
ie

s 
m

an
ag

em
en

t c
on

tr
ac

t a
t t

he
 F

or
um

 h
as

 b
ee

n 
le

t f
or

 lo
ng

er
 

th
an

 a
nt

ic
ip

at
ed

 b
y 

th
e 

F
or

um
 M

an
ag

em
en

t C
om

pa
ny

 r
es

ul
tin

g 
in

 a
 2

 y
ea

r 
de

la
y 

to
 r

en
eg

ot
ia

te
 th

e 
co

st
s.

 T
hi

s 
m

at
te

r 
is

 b
ei

ng
 d

ea
lt 

w
ith

 b
y 

th
e 

F
or

um
 

M
an

ag
em

en
t C

om
pa

ny
. 

 
T

he
 fa

ci
lit

ie
s 

m
an

ag
em

en
t c

on
tr

ac
t a

t t
he

 F
or

um
 h

as
 b

ee
n 

le
t f

or
 lo

ng
er

 
th

an
 a

nt
ic

ip
at

ed
 b

y 
th

e 
F

or
um

 M
an

ag
em

en
t C

om
pa

ny
 r

es
ul

tin
g 

in
 a

 2
 y

ea
r 

de
la

y 
to

 r
en

eg
ot

ia
te

 th
e 

co
st

s.
 T

hi
s 

m
at

te
r 

is
 b

ei
ng

 d
ea

lt 
w

ith
 b

y 
th

e 
F

or
um

 
M

an
ag

em
en

t C
om

pa
ny

. 

e.
 

 
 

 

f. 
A

 r
ed

uc
tio

n 
in

 v
is

ito
r 

nu
m

be
rs

 to
 th

e 
go

lf 
co

ur
se

 c
om

bi
ne

d 
w

ith
 a

 r
ed

uc
tio

n 
in

 th
e 

us
e 

of
 o

ut
do

or
 s

po
rt

s 
fa

ci
lit

ie
s 

ha
s 

re
su

lte
d 

in
 a

 r
ed

uc
tio

n 
in

 in
co

m
e.

  
 

 

g.
 

 
 

 

h.
 

S
av

in
g 

du
e 

to
 th

e 
te

nd
er

ed
 le

is
ur

e 
m

an
ag

em
en

t c
on

tr
ac

t 
 

S
av

in
g 

du
e 

to
 th

e 
te

nd
er

ed
 le

is
ur

e 
m

an
ag

em
en

t c
on

tr
ac

t 

i. 
 

 
 

j. 
Lo

ss
 o

f i
nc

om
e 

as
 a

 r
es

ul
t o

f t
he

 P
ie

r 
tr

ai
n 

be
in

g 
ou

t o
f s

er
vi

ce
 d

ue
 to

 
re

pa
irs

 o
f t

he
 p

ile
 c

ap
s 

du
ri

ng
 th

e 
bu

si
es

t s
ea

so
n 

of
 th

e 
ye

ar
. 

 
Lo

ss
 o

f i
nc

om
e 

as
 a

 r
es

ul
t o

f t
he

 P
ie

r 
tr

ai
n 

be
in

g 
ou

t o
f s

er
vi

ce
 d

ue
 to

 
re

pa
irs

 o
f t

he
 p

ile
 c

ap
s 

du
ri

ng
 th

e 
bu

si
es

t s
ea

so
n 

of
 th

e 
ye

ar
. 

k.
 

V
ac

an
cy

 w
ith

in
 th

e 
te

am
. 

 
V

ac
an

cy
 w

ith
in

 th
e 

te
am

. 

l. 
 

 
 

m
. 

T
he

re
 h

as
 b

ee
n 

a 
pa

rt
 y

ea
r 

va
ca

nc
y 

in
 th

e 
te

am
 a

nd
 a

dd
iti

on
al

 in
co

m
e 

ha
s 

be
en

 r
ec

ei
ve

d 
th

is
 y

ea
r.

 
 

T
he

re
 h

as
 b

ee
n 

a 
pa

rt
 y

ea
r 

va
ca

nc
y 

in
 th

e 
te

am
 a

nd
 a

dd
iti

on
al

 in
co

m
e 

ha
s 

be
en

 r
ec

ei
ve

d 
th

is
 y

ea
r.

 

n.
 

 
 

 

o.
 

 
 

 

51



14
 

S
e

rv
ic

e
G

ro
ss

 
E

x
p

e
n

d
G

ro
ss

 
In

co
m

e
O

ri
g

in
a

l 
B

u
d

g
e

t
V

ir
e

m
e

n
t

L
a

te
st

 
B

u
d

g
e

t
E

x
p

e
ct

e
d

 
O

u
tt

u
rn

F
o

re
ca

st
 

V
a

ri
a

n
ce

B
u

d
g

e
t 

to
 

D
a

te
S

p
e

n
d

 t
o

 
D

a
te

T
o

 D
a

te
 

V
a

ri
a

n
ce

 
£0

00
£0

00
£0

00
£0

00
£0

00
£0

00
£0

00
£0

00
£0

00
£0

00

a
C

em
et

er
ie

s 
an

d 
C

re
m

at
or

iu
m

1,
43

6 
(2

,1
98

)
(7

62
)

(9
6)

(8
58

)
(1

,0
08

)
(1

50
)

(7
77

)
(9

82
)

(2
05

)
b

C
us

to
m

er
 S

er
vi

ce
s 

C
en

tr
e

2,
90

2 
(2

,8
36

)
66

 
10

6 
17

2 
11

6 
(5

6)
16

4 
95

 
(6

9)
c

C
ou

nc
il 

Ta
x 

B
en

ef
it

0 
0 

0 
0 

0 
0 

0 
0 

(2
3)

(2
3)

d
D

ia
l A

 R
id

e
11

7 
(1

9)
98

 
19

 
11

7 
11

7 
0 

10
6 

10
6 

0 
e

S
up

po
rt

 t
o 

M
ay

or
21

8 
0 

21
8 

6 
22

4 
23

4 
10

 
20

8 
21

7 
9 

f
H

ou
si

ng
 B

en
ef

it 
an

d 
C

ou
nc

il 
Ta

x 
B

en
ef

it 
A

dm
in

2,
67

7 
(1

,1
95

)
1,

48
2 

61
 

1,
54

3 
1,

64
3 

10
0 

1,
42

2 
1,

52
3 

10
1 

g
R

en
t 

B
en

ef
it 

P
ay

m
en

ts
98

,9
47

 
(9

9,
05

0)
(1

03
)

0 
(1

03
)

(1
03

)
0 

(9
0)

83
 

17
3 

h
P

ar
tn

er
sh

ip
 T

ea
m

31
7 

0 
31

7 
(2

1)
29

6 
28

1 
(1

5)
26

8 
25

1 
(1

7)
i

S
up

po
rt

 T
o 

V
ol

un
ta

ry
 S

ec
to

r
80

2 
0 

80
2 

24
 

82
6 

82
6 

0 
75

9 
76

1 
2 

j
H

um
an

 R
es

ou
rc

es
2,

20
8 

(2
,2

39
)

(3
1)

48
 

17
 

17
 

0 
18

 
37

 
19

 
k

P
eo

pl
e 

&
 O

rg
an

is
at

io
na

l D
ev

el
op

m
en

t
53

2 
(5

27
)

5 
(1

)
4 

(1
0)

(1
4)

4 
(2

6)
(3

0)
l

Ti
ck

fie
ld

 T
ra

in
in

g 
C

en
tr

e
38

6 
(3

83
)

3 
10

 
13

 
13

 
0 

15
 

(6
)

(2
1)

m
Tr

an
sp

or
t 

M
an

ag
em

en
t

22
7 

(2
40

)
(1

3)
(1

14
)

(1
27

)
(1

47
)

(2
0)

(1
16

)
(1

45
)

(2
9)

n
V

eh
ic

le
 F

le
et

72
0 

(7
41

)
(2

1)
(6

9)
(9

0)
(9

0)
0 

(8
2)

(7
6)

6 
o

A
cc

ou
nt

s 
P

ay
ab

le
25

7 
(2

56
)

1 
0 

1 
(1

9)
(2

0)
5 

(2
0)

(2
5)

p
A

cc
ou

nt
s 

R
ec

ei
va

bl
e

34
0 

(3
51

)
(1

1)
55

 
44

 
44

 
0 

41
 

33
 

(8
)

q
A

cc
ou

nt
an

cy
2,

72
7 

(2
,7

42
)

(1
5)

(3
01

)
(3

16
)

(3
16

)
0 

(3
11

)
(3

45
)

(3
4)

r
A

ss
et

 M
an

ag
em

en
t

43
8 

(4
34

)
4 

30
 

34
 

(1
6)

(5
0)

34
 

(1
8)

(5
2)

s
In

te
rn

al
 A

ud
it 

&
 C

or
po

ra
te

 F
ra

ud
94

8 
(9

40
)

8 
0 

8 
8 

0 
10

 
(7

0)
(8

0)
t

B
ui

ld
in

gs
 M

an
ag

em
en

t
2,

90
9 

(2
,8

43
)

66
 

26
1 

32
7 

37
5 

48
 

39
0 

44
0 

50
 

u
C

om
m

un
ity

 C
en

tr
es

 a
nd

 C
lu

b 
60

54
 

(1
)

53
 

1,
38

3 
1,

43
6 

1,
43

6 
0 

1,
42

9 
1,

42
9 

0 
v

C
or

po
ra

te
 a

nd
 In

du
st

ria
l E

st
at

es
79

4 
(2

,5
39

)
(1

,7
45

)
57

9 
(1

,1
66

)
(1

,1
66

)
0 

(1
,0

45
)

(1
,0

28
)

17
 

w
C

ou
nc

il 
Ta

x 
A

dm
in

1,
35

5 
(4

81
)

87
4 

0 
87

4 
79

4 
(8

0)
80

1 
70

3 
(9

8)
x

D
em

oc
ra

tic
 S

er
vi

ce
s 

S
up

po
rt

43
0 

0 
43

0 
0 

43
0 

44
5 

15
 

39
6 

40
8 

12
 

y
D

ep
ar

tm
en

ta
l S

up
po

rt
 fo

r 
th

e 
C

hi
ef

 E
xe

cu
tiv

e
1,

08
4 

(1
,2

72
)

(1
88

)
(5

7)
(2

45
)

(2
95

)
(5

0)
(2

27
)

(2
74

)
(4

7)
z

E
le

ct
io

ns
 a

nd
 E

le
ct

or
al

 R
eg

is
tr

at
io

n
40

9 
0 

40
9 

25
 

43
4 

44
4 

10
 

41
5 

42
3 

8 
aa

In
su

ra
nc

e
18

5 
(2

43
)

(5
8)

1 
(5

7)
(5

7)
0 

15
4 

13
8 

(1
6)

ab
Lo

ca
l L

an
d 

C
ha

rg
es

27
9 

(3
18

)
(3

9)
0 

(3
9)

(3
9)

0 
(3

2)
(4

4)
(1

2)
ac

Le
ga

l S
er

vi
ce

s
1,

17
3 

(1
,2

37
)

(6
4)

21
 

(4
3)

37
 

80
 

(4
5)

35
 

80
 

G
e

n
e

ra
l 

F
u

n
d

 F
o

re
ca

st
 2

01
6/

17
a

t 
28

 F
e

b
ru

a
ry

 2
01

7 
- 

P
e

ri
o

d
 1

1
C

o
rp

o
ra

te
 a

n
d

 C
o

m
m

u
n

it
y 

S
u

p
p

o
rt

P
o

rt
fo

li
o

 H
o

ld
e

r 
- 

C
ll

r 
A

 M
o

ri
n

g

52



15
 

ad
N

on
 D

om
es

tic
 R

at
es

 C
ol

le
ct

io
n

34
7 

(3
04

)
43

 
(1

)
42

 
7 

(3
5)

18
 

(2
9)

(4
7)

ae
C

or
po

ra
te

 P
ro

cu
re

m
en

t
75

6 
(7

48
)

8 
26

6 
27

4 
25

4 
(2

0)
26

5 
21

0 
(5

5)
af

P
ro

pe
rt

y 
M

an
ag

em
en

t 
&

 M
ai

nt
en

an
ce

74
9 

(6
35

)
11

4 
(1

0)
10

4 
(1

6)
(1

20
)

32
5 

23
9 

(8
6)

ag
M

em
be

r 
E

xp
en

se
s

71
2 

0 
71

2 
0 

71
2 

70
7 

(5
)

65
5 

64
9 

(6
)

T
o

ta
l 

N
e

t 
B

u
d

g
e

t 
fo

r 
P

o
rt

fo
li

o
12

7,
43

5 
(1

24
,7

72
)

2,
66

3 
2,

22
5 

4,
88

8 
4,

51
6 

(3
72

)
5,

17
7 

4,
69

4 
(4

83
)

 
 

V
ir

e
m

e
n

ts
£
0

0
0

T
ra

n
sf

e
r 

fr
o
m

 e
a
rm

a
rk

e
d

 r
e
se

rv
e

s
(8

3
)

A
llo

ca
tio

n
 f

ro
m

 C
o
n
tin

g
e
n
cy

4
0
 

In
 y

e
a

r 
vi

re
m

e
n
ts

2
,2

6
8
 

2
,2

2
5
 

 
                    

53



16
 

G
e

n
e

ra
l 

F
u

n
d

 F
o

re
ca

st
 2

01
6/

17
a

t 
28

 F
e

b
ru

a
ry

 2
01

7 
- 

P
e

ri
o

d
 1

1
C

o
rp

o
ra

te
 a

n
d

 C
o

m
m

u
n

it
y 

S
u

p
p

o
rt

P
o

rt
fo

li
o

 H
o

ld
e

r 
- 

C
ll

r 
A

 M
o

ri
n

g
   

F
o

re
ca

st
 O

u
tt

u
rn

 V
ar

ia
n

ce
 

 
Y

ea
r 

to
 D

at
e 

V
ar

ia
n

ce
 

a.
 

D
ur

in
g 

D
ec

em
be

r,
 J

an
ua

ry
  &

 F
eb

ru
ar

y 
in

co
m

e 
fr

om
 c

re
m

at
io

ns
 h

as
 

in
cr

ea
se

d 
si

gn
ifi

ca
nt

ly
 c

om
pa

re
d 

to
 e

ar
lie

r 
in

 th
e 

ye
ar

 
 

S
al

ar
y 

an
d 

P
ub

lic
 H

ea
lth

 A
ct

 F
un

er
al

 c
os

ts
 a

re
 lo

w
er

 th
an

 a
nt

ic
ip

at
ed

 in
 

th
e 

bu
dg

et
. R

ep
ai

rs
 to

 th
e 

bo
ile

r 
ar

e 
ca

us
in

g 
a 

pr
es

su
re

 o
n 

th
e 

R
ep

ai
rs

 
an

d 
M

ai
nt

en
an

ce
 b

ud
ge

t h
ow

ev
er

 h
ig

he
r 

C
re

m
at

io
n 

fig
ur

es
 in

 th
e 

la
st

 
qu

ar
te

r 
ha

ve
 c

on
tr

ib
ut

ed
 to

w
ar

ds
 a

 s
ub

st
an

tia
l i

nc
re

as
e 

in
 in

co
m

e.
 

b.
 

A
dd

iti
on

al
 in

co
m

e 
fr

om
 th

e 
su

pp
or

t f
or

 th
e 

V
eo

lia
 c

on
tr

ac
t a

nd
 s

ta
ff

 
va

ca
nc

ie
s 

ar
e 

of
fs

et
tin

g 
ad

di
tio

na
l I

T
 c

ha
rg

es
 fo

r 
th

e 
C

iti
ze

ns
 A

cc
ou

nt
 

 
A

 p
re

ss
ur

e 
du

e 
to

 u
nb

ud
ge

te
d 

IT
 c

os
ts

 in
 th

e 
C

us
to

m
er

 S
er

vi
ce

 te
am

 is
 

be
in

g 
of

fs
et

 b
y 

va
ca

nc
ie

s 
an

d 
hi

gh
er

 in
co

m
e 

th
an

 p
re

di
ct

ed
.  

 

c.
 

 
 

O
ve

rp
a

ym
en

ts
 r

ep
ai

d 
re

la
tin

g 
to

 p
rio

r 
ye

ar
s 

d.
 

 
 

 

e.
 

O
ve

rs
pe

nd
 o

n 
P

or
te

r’s
 p

re
m

is
es

 b
ud

ge
t d

ue
 to

 W
at

er
 S

er
vi

ce
s 

co
st

s 
w

hi
ch

 
in

cl
ud

es
 p

ar
t o

f 2
01

5/
16

 y
e

ar
 c

os
ts

 a
nd

 o
ve

rt
im

e 
co

st
s 

fo
r 

th
e 

ch
au

ff
eu

r 
 

 

f. 
F

or
ec

as
t o

ve
rs

pe
nd

s 
on

 a
ge

nc
y 

co
st

s 
 

A
 p

re
ss

ur
e 

on
 e

m
pl

o
ye

es
’ b

ud
ge

t d
ue

 to
 o

ve
rt

im
e 

an
d 

ag
en

cy
 

g.
 

 
 

P
er

io
d 

11
 m

on
ito

re
d 

po
si

tio
n 

h.
 

S
ta

ff
 V

ac
an

ci
es

 
 

 

i. 
 

 
 

j. 
 

 
A

dd
iti

on
al

 in
co

m
e 

ha
s 

be
en

 r
ec

ei
ve

d 
fr

om
 S

uf
fo

lk
 C

C
 to

 fu
nd

 p
ro

je
ct

 w
or

k 
an

d 
fu

nd
in

g 
ha

s 
be

en
 d

ra
w

n 
do

w
n 

fr
om

 th
e 

B
us

in
es

s 
T

ra
ns

fo
rm

at
io

n 
R

es
er

ve
 to

 s
up

po
rt

 th
e 

H
R

 a
dm

in
is

tr
at

io
n 

of
 th

e 
T

al
en

t P
oo

l. 
S

om
e 

sc
ho

ol
s 

ar
e 

no
 lo

ng
er

 s
ub

sc
rib

in
g 

to
 th

e 
H

R
 fu

nc
tio

n 
w

hi
ch

 is
 r

es
ul

tin
g 

in
 a

 
re

du
ct

io
n 

in
 in

co
m

e.
 

k.
 

In
co

m
e 

fo
r 

C
or

po
ra

te
 T

ra
in

in
g 

 
In

co
m

e 
is

 c
ur

re
nt

ly
 h

ig
he

r 
th

an
 p

ro
fil

ed
 in

 th
e 

bu
dg

et
. I

t i
s 

ex
pe

ct
ed

 th
at

 
m

or
e 

co
st

s 
w

ill
 b

e 
in

cu
rr

ed
 b

y 
th

e 
en

d 
of

 th
e 

ye
ar

 w
hi

ch
 w

ill
 p

ar
tia

lly
 o

ff
se

t 
th

e 
su

rp
lu

s 
l. 

 
 

In
co

m
e 

fr
om

 th
e 

T
ic

kf
ie

ld
 C

en
tr

e 
is

 c
ur

re
nt

ly
 h

ig
he

r 
th

an
 b

ud
ge

t b
ut

 it
 is

 
ex

pe
ct

ed
 to

 b
e 

of
fs

et
 b

y 
fu

rt
he

r 
co

st
s 

(r
el

at
in

g 
to

 a
 p

os
si

bl
e 

V
A

T
 

ad
ju

st
m

en
t)

. 
m

. 
V

ac
an

cy
 in

 th
e 

T
ra

ns
po

rt
 M

an
ag

em
en

t t
ea

m
 

 
 

n.
 

 
 

o.
 

S
ta

ff
 v

ac
an

cy
 

 
 

54



17
 

 
F

o
re

ca
st

 O
u

tt
u

rn
 V

ar
ia

n
ce

 
 

Y
ea

r 
to

 D
at

e 
V

ar
ia

n
ce

 

p.
 

 
 

 

q.
 

 
 

P
os

iti
on

s 
in

 F
in

an
ci

al
 M

an
ag

em
en

t h
av

e 
no

w
 b

ee
n 

fil
le

d 
bu

t t
he

re
 a

re
 s

til
l 

va
ca

nc
ie

s 
in

 th
e 

F
in

an
ci

al
 P

la
nn

in
g 

an
d 

C
on

tr
ol

 te
am

 
r.

 
S

ta
ff

 V
ac

an
ci

es
 

 
 

s.
 

 
 

A
n 

un
de

rs
pe

nd
 d

ue
 to

 s
ta

ff 
va

ca
nc

ie
s 

is
 b

ei
ng

 p
ar

tia
lly

 o
ffs

et
 b

y 
an

 
ov

er
sp

en
d 

re
la

tin
g 

to
 th

e 
pu

rc
ha

se
 o

f p
ro

fe
ss

io
na

l e
xp

er
tis

e 
in

 th
e 

fo
rm

 o
f 

co
nt

ra
ct

or
s.

  I
nc

om
e 

re
ce

iv
ed

 to
 d

at
e 

is
 lo

w
er

 th
an

 a
nt

ic
ip

at
ed

 w
he

n 
se

tti
ng

 th
e 

bu
dg

et
 

t. 
A

dd
iti

on
al

 s
ec

ur
ity

 fo
r 

th
e 

C
iv

ic
 b

ui
ld

in
gs

 w
as

 r
eq

ui
re

d 
ea

rli
er

 in
 th

e 
ye

ar
 

w
hi

ch
 h

as
 le

d 
to

 a
 p

re
ss

ur
e 

on
 th

e 
bu

dg
et

.  
In

co
m

e 
ra

is
ed

  i
s 

lo
w

er
 th

an
 

bu
dg

et
ed

 

 
In

 li
ne

 w
ith

 p
re

vi
ou

s 
ye

ar
s,

 th
e 

fu
rn

itu
re

 b
ud

ge
t i

s 
 u

nd
er

sp
en

t b
ut

 is
 b

ei
ng

 
of

fs
et

 b
y 

an
 o

ve
rs

pe
nd

 o
n 

C
on

tr
ac

t C
le

an
in

g,
 S

ec
ur

ity
 a

nd
 R

ep
ai

rs
 &

 
M

ai
nt

en
an

ce
 c

os
ts

 
u.

 
 

 
 

v.
 

 
 

 

w
. 

M
or

e 
in

co
m

e 
re

la
tin

g 
to

 c
ou

rt
 p

ro
ce

ed
in

gs
 h

as
 b

ee
n 

ra
is

ed
 th

an
 

an
tic

ip
at

ed
 

 
M

or
e 

co
ur

t p
ro

ce
ed

in
gs

 r
el

at
in

g 
to

 C
ou

nc
il 

T
ax

 h
av

e 
be

en
 in

iti
at

ed
 th

an
 

ex
pe

ct
ed

 w
he

n 
th

e 
bu

dg
et

 w
as

 s
et

 a
lth

ou
gh

 th
is

 w
ill

 b
e 

pa
rt

ia
lly

 o
ff

se
t b

y 
a 

hi
gh

er
 p

ro
vi

si
on

 fo
r 

B
ad

 D
eb

t a
t t

he
 e

nd
 o

f t
he

 y
ea

r.
 T

hi
s 

is
 m

iti
ga

tin
g 

an
 

ov
er

sp
en

d 
on

 A
ge

nc
y 

S
ta

ff
 

x.
 

P
re

ss
ur

e 
on

 e
m

pl
oy

ee
s 

bu
dg

et
 d

ue
 to

 e
xt

ra
 s

ta
ff

 to
 c

ov
er

 M
at

er
ni

ty
 L

ea
ve

 
 

  

y.
 

S
ta

ff
 v

ac
an

ci
es

 
 

 

z.
 

P
re

ss
ur

e 
on

 th
e 

po
st

ag
e 

an
d 

pr
in

tin
g 

bu
dg

et
s 

du
e 

to
 lo

ca
l e

le
ct

io
ns

 a
nd

 
re

fe
re

nd
um

 in
 y

ea
r 

 
 

aa
. 

 
 

V
ac

an
ci

es
 d

ur
in

g 
ye

ar
 w

hi
ch

 h
av

e 
no

w
 b

ee
n 

fil
le

d 

ab
. 

 
 

H
ig

he
r 

in
co

m
e 

to
 d

at
e 

th
an

 fo
re

ca
st

 in
 th

e 
bu

dg
et

.  
T

hi
s 

is
 e

xp
ec

te
d 

to
 b

e 
of

fs
et

 b
y 

th
e 

en
d 

of
 th

e 
ye

ar
 

ac
. 

C
ou

rt
 C

os
ts

 a
nd

 B
ar

ris
te

rs
 F

ee
s 

in
 r

el
at

io
n 

to
 C

hi
ld

re
n’

s 
ca

se
s 

ar
e 

hi
gh

er
 

th
an

 e
xp

ec
te

d 
at

 th
is

 ti
m

e 
of

 th
e 

ye
ar

.  
It 

is
 c

ur
re

nt
ly

 u
nl

ik
el

y 
th

at
  t

he
 

in
co

m
e 

bu
dg

et
 w

ill
 b

e 
ac

hi
ev

ed
 w

hi
ch

 is
 a

dd
in

g 
to

 th
e 

pr
es

su
re

 

 
 

ad
. 

V
ac

an
t h

ou
rs

 in
 th

e 
B

us
in

es
s 

R
at

es
 te

am
 

 
 

ae
. 

U
nd

er
sp

en
d 

on
 a

 v
ac

an
t p

os
t. 

 
 

af
. 

T
hi

s 
un

de
rs

pe
nd

 is
 d

ue
 to

 a
dd

iti
on

al
 in

co
m

e 
w

hi
ch

 h
ad

 o
rig

in
al

ly
 b

ee
n 

w
rit

te
n 

of
f a

nd
 a

 r
is

e 
in

 th
e 

ca
pi

ta
lis

at
io

n 
of

 s
al

ar
ie

s 
re

su
lti

ng
 in

 a
 r

ed
uc

tio
n 

in
 r

ev
en

ue
 s

ta
ff

in
g 

co
st

s.
 

 
T

hi
s 

un
de

rs
pe

nd
 is

 d
ue

 to
 a

dd
iti

on
al

 in
co

m
e 

w
hi

ch
 h

ad
 o

rig
in

al
ly

 b
ee

n 
w

rit
te

n 
of

f a
nd

 a
 r

is
e 

in
 th

e 
ca

pi
ta

lis
at

io
n 

of
 s

al
ar

ie
s 

re
su

lti
ng

 in
 a

 r
ed

uc
tio

n 
in

 r
ev

en
ue

 s
ta

ff
in

g 
co

st
s.

 
ag

. 
A

n 
un

de
rs

pe
nd

 o
n 

th
e 

M
em

be
rs

 N
at

io
na

l I
ns

ur
an

ce
 b

ud
ge

t 
 

 

 
 

 
 

55



18
 

 

S
e

rv
ic

e
G

ro
ss

 
E

x
p

e
n

d
G

ro
ss

 
In

co
m

e
O

ri
g

in
a

l 
B

u
d

g
e

t
V

ir
e

m
e

n
t

L
a

te
st

 
B

u
d

g
e

t
E

x
p

e
ct

e
d

 
O

u
tt

u
rn

F
o

re
ca

st
 

V
a

ri
a

n
ce

B
u

d
g

e
t 

to
 

D
a

te
S

p
e

n
d

 t
o

 
D

a
te

T
o

 D
a

te
 

V
a

ri
a

n
ce

 
£0

00
£0

00
£0

00
£0

00
£0

00
£0

00
£0

00
£0

00
£0

00
£0

00

a
S

tr
at

eg
y 

&
 P

la
nn

in
g 

fo
r 

H
ou

si
ng

25
6 

(2
55

)
1 

0 
1 

1 
0 

0 
0 

0 
b

P
riv

at
e 

S
ec

to
r 

H
ou

si
ng

4,
13

9 
(5

87
)

3,
55

2 
97

 
3,

64
9 

3,
58

4 
(6

5)
3,

34
5 

3,
28

3 
(6

2)
c

H
ou

si
ng

 N
ee

ds
 &

 H
om

el
es

sn
es

s
1,

27
6 

(5
14

)
76

2 
16

7 
92

9 
92

9 
0 

86
7 

86
7 

0 
d

S
up

po
rt

in
g 

P
eo

pl
e

3,
45

6 
0 

3,
45

6 
(3

16
)

3,
14

0 
3,

09
8 

(4
2)

2,
87

3 
2,

83
9 

(3
4)

e
C

lo
se

d 
C

irc
ui

t 
Te

le
vi

si
on

51
7 

(3
2)

48
5 

10
 

49
5 

52
2 

27
 

46
5 

46
7 

2 
f

C
om

m
un

ity
 S

af
et

y
25

1 
(3

2)
21

9 
3 

22
2 

22
2 

0 
19

9 
17

8 
(2

1)
g

B
ui

ld
in

g 
C

on
tr

ol
73

2 
(3

97
)

33
5 

(1
)

33
4 

39
1 

57
 

29
4 

36
1 

67
 

h
D

ev
el

op
m

en
t 

C
on

tr
ol

82
9 

(5
69

)
26

0 
(1

)
25

9 
16

7 
(9

2)
24

1 
15

3 
(8

8)
i

S
tr

at
eg

ic
 P

la
nn

in
g

41
2 

0 
41

2 
0 

41
2 

40
5 

(7
)

51
4 

51
1 

(3
)

j
R

eg
ul

at
or

y 
B

us
in

es
s

70
7 

(1
1)

69
6 

63
 

75
9 

77
2 

13
 

69
7 

70
8 

11
 

k
R

eg
ul

at
or

y 
Li

ce
ns

in
g

57
0 

(4
83

)
87

 
31

2 
39

9 
44

4 
45

 
98

 
18

5 
87

 
l

R
eg

ul
at

or
y 

M
an

ag
em

en
t

23
6 

0 
23

6 
(2

11
)

25
 

25
 

0 
97

 
38

 
(5

9)
m

R
eg

ul
at

or
y 

P
ro

te
ct

io
n

30
8 

(6
2)

24
6 

13
 

25
9 

25
9 

0 
23

6 
22

1 
(1

5)

T
o

ta
l 

N
e

t 
B

u
d

g
e

t 
fo

r 
P

o
rt

fo
li

o
13

,6
89

 
(2

,9
42

)
10

,7
47

 
13

6 
10

,8
83

 
10

,8
19

 
(6

4)
9,

92
6 

9,
81

1 
(1

15
)

G
e

n
e

ra
l 

F
u

n
d

 F
o

re
ca

st
 2

01
6/

17
a

t 
28

 F
e

b
ru

a
ry

 2
01

7 
- 

P
e

ri
o

d
 1

1
H

o
u

si
n

g
, 

P
la

n
n

in
g

 &
 P

u
b

li
c 

P
ro

te
ct

io
n

 S
e

rv
ic

e
s

P
o

rt
fo

li
o

 H
o

ld
e

r 
- 

C
ll

r 
M

 F
le

w
it

t

 
 V

ir
em

en
ts

£0
00

T
ra

ns
fe

r 
fr

om
 e

ar
m

ar
ke

d 
re

se
rv

es
33

3 
A

llo
ca

tio
n 

fr
om

 C
on

tin
ge

nc
y

7 
In

 y
ea

r 
vi

re
m

en
ts

(2
04

)
13

6 

56



19
 

G
e

n
e

ra
l 

F
u

n
d

 F
o

re
ca

st
 2

01
6/

17
a

t 
28

 F
e

b
ru

a
ry

 2
01

7 
- 

P
e

ri
o

d
 1

1
H

o
u

si
n

g
, 

P
la

n
n

in
g

 &
 P

u
b

li
c 

P
ro

te
ct

io
n

 S
e

rv
ic

e
s

P
o

rt
fo

li
o

 H
o

ld
e

r 
- 

C
ll

r 
M

 F
le

w
it

t
  

F
o

re
ca

st
 O

u
tt

u
rn

 V
ar

ia
n

ce
 

 
Y

ea
r 

to
 d

at
e 

V
ar

ia
n

ce
 

a.
 

 
 

 

b.
 

V
ac

an
ci

es
 d

ur
in

g 
th

e 
ye

ar
 w

ith
in

 P
riv

at
e 

S
ec

to
r 

H
ou

si
ng

. 
 

 

c.
 

 
 

 

d.
 

U
nd

er
sp

en
d 

on
 c

on
tr

ac
ts

 
 

 

e.
 

C
C

T
V

 e
qu

ip
m

en
t m

ai
nt

en
an

ce
 c

os
ts

 a
re

 h
ig

he
r 

th
an

 a
nt

ic
ip

at
ed

 a
nd

 a
 

co
ns

ul
ta

nt
 h

as
 b

ee
n 

br
ou

gh
t i

n 
to

 w
or

k 
on

 s
pe

ci
al

 p
ro

je
ct

s.
 

 
 

f. 
 

 
 

g.
 

P
re

ss
ur

e 
re

su
lti

ng
 fr

om
 in

cr
ea

se
d 

st
af

fin
g 

co
st

s 
 

C
ur

re
nt

 v
ar

ia
nc

es
 a

re
 in

 li
ne

 w
ith

 th
e 

fo
re

ca
st

 o
ut

tu
rn

 

h.
 

D
ev

el
op

m
en

t c
on

tr
ol

 h
as

 u
nd

er
sp

en
ds

 o
n 

bu
dg

et
ed

 s
ta

ff
in

g 
co

st
s 

an
d 

co
ur

t 
co

st
s/

le
ga

l f
ee

s 
w

hi
ch

 a
re

 e
xp

ec
te

d 
to

 to
ta

l £
77

k.
 T

he
se

 a
re

 n
ow

 b
ei

ng
 

pa
rt

ia
lly

 o
ff

se
t b

y 
a 

dr
op

 in
 fo

re
ca

st
 in

co
m

e 
of

 a
ro

un
d 

£2
0k

. S
ep

ar
at

el
y,

 
in

co
m

e 
ha

s 
be

en
 r

ec
ei

ve
d 

in
 r

es
pe

ct
 o

f m
on

ito
rin

g 
w

or
k 

re
la

te
d 

to
 th

e 
C

om
m

un
ity

 In
fr

as
tr

uc
tu

re
 L

ev
y 

(C
IL

) 
cr

ea
tin

g 
a 

su
rp

lu
s 

of
 £

42
k.

 

 
C

ur
re

nt
 v

ar
ia

nc
es

 a
re

 in
 li

ne
 w

ith
 th

e 
fo

re
ca

st
 o

ut
tu

rn
 

i. 
 

 
 

j. 
Le

ga
l a

dv
ic

e 
is

 r
eq

ui
re

d 
as

 p
ar

t o
f a

 n
at

io
na

l c
ou

rt
 c

as
e 

ag
ai

ns
t a

 c
om

pa
ny

. 
 

Le
ga

l a
dv

ic
e 

is
 r

eq
ui

re
d 

as
 p

ar
t o

f a
 n

at
io

na
l c

ou
rt

 c
as

e 
ag

ai
ns

t a
 c

om
pa

ny
. 

k.
 

In
co

m
e 

fr
om

 T
ab

le
s 

&
 C

ha
irs

 L
ic

en
si

ng
 a

nd
 G

am
bl

in
g 

A
ct

 L
ic

en
si

ng
 is

 
be

lo
w

 b
ud

ge
t. 

 
In

co
m

e 
fr

om
 T

ab
le

s 
&

 C
ha

irs
 L

ic
en

si
ng

 a
nd

 G
am

bl
in

g 
A

ct
 L

ic
en

si
ng

 is
 

be
lo

w
 b

ud
ge

t. 

l. 
 

 
C

ur
re

nt
 V

ac
an

ci
es

 

m
. 

 
 

 

  

57



20
 

S
e

rv
ic

e
G

ro
ss

 
E

x
p

e
n

d
G

ro
ss

 I
n

co
m

e
O

ri
g

in
a

l 
B

u
d

g
e

t
V

ir
e

m
e

n
t

L
a

te
st

 
B

u
d

g
e

t
E

x
p

e
ct

e
d

 
O

u
tt

u
rn

F
o

re
ca

st
 

V
a

ri
a

n
ce

B
u

d
g

e
t 

to
 

D
a

te
S

p
e

n
d

 t
o

 
D

a
te

T
o

 D
a

te
 

V
a

ri
a

n
ce

 
£0

00
£0

00
£0

00
£0

00
£0

00
£0

00
£0

00
£0

00
£0

00
£0

00

a
C

hi
ld

re
ns

 C
om

m
is

si
on

in
g

2,
54

9 
(2

,1
66

)
38

3 
1 

38
4 

28
7 

(9
7)

34
7 

24
5 

(1
02

)
b

C
hi

ld
re

n 
w

ith
 S

pe
ci

al
 N

ee
ds

2,
04

7 
(7

39
)

1,
30

8 
30

4 
1,

61
2 

1,
64

4 
32

 
1,

49
1 

1,
52

1 
30

 
c

E
ar

ly
 Y

ea
rs

 D
ev

el
op

m
en

t 
an

d 
C

hi
ld

 
C

ar
e 

P
ar

tn
er

sh
ip

10
,9

93
 

(9
,5

62
)

1,
43

1 
(1

1)
1,

42
0 

1,
42

0 
0 

1,
30

1 
1,

29
6 

(5
)

d
C

hi
ld

re
n 

F
ie

ld
w

or
k 

S
er

vi
ce

s
4,

31
1 

0 
4,

31
1 

44
0 

4,
75

1 
4,

84
7 

96
 

4,
39

3 
4,

50
0 

10
7 

e
C

hi
ld

re
n 

F
os

te
rin

g 
an

d 
A

do
pt

io
n

6,
79

6 
(2

52
)

6,
54

4 
38

9 
6,

93
3 

7,
22

9 
29

6 
6,

43
4 

6,
64

2 
20

8 
f

Y
ou

th
 S

er
vi

ce
1,

44
4 

(3
97

)
1,

04
7 

(9
4)

95
3 

95
3 

0 
85

2 
87

9 
27

 
g

O
th

er
 E

du
ca

tio
n

72
8 

(5
80

)
14

8 
29

 
17

7 
17

7 
0 

22
1 

15
7 

(6
4)

h
P

riv
at

e 
V

ol
un

ta
ry

 In
de

pe
nd

en
t

4,
21

1 
(1

56
)

4,
05

5 
20

0 
4,

25
5 

4,
26

2 
7 

3,
95

0 
3,

96
8 

18
 

i
C

hi
ld

re
n 

S
pe

ci
al

is
t 

C
om

m
is

si
on

in
g

1,
01

6 
(5

9)
95

7 
36

5 
1,

32
2 

1,
40

1 
79

 
1,

22
6 

1,
28

5 
59

 
j

C
hi

ld
re

n 
S

pe
ci

al
is

t 
P

ro
je

ct
s

30
4 

(1
89

)
11

5 
(3

9)
76

 
26

1 
18

5 
10

3 
13

2 
29

 
k

S
ch

oo
l S

up
po

rt
 a

nd
 P

re
ve

nt
at

iv
e 

S
er

vi
ce

s
20

,2
79

 
(1

2,
30

2)
7,

97
7 

85
 

8,
06

2 
7,

81
2 

(2
50

)
6,

57
9 

6,
64

4 
65

 

l
Y

ou
th

 O
ffe

nd
in

g 
S

er
vi

ce
4,

20
5 

(1
,7

11
)

2,
49

4 
11

3 
2,

60
7 

2,
56

2 
(4

5)
2,

40
1 

2,
28

3 
(1

18
)

m
S

ch
oo

ls
 D

el
eg

at
ed

 B
ud

ge
ts

57
,3

51
 

(5
7,

35
1)

0 
0 

0 
0 

0 
0 

0 
0 

n
A

ge
 1

4-
19

 L
ea

rn
in

g 
an

d 
D

ev
el

op
m

en
t

0 
0 

0 
0 

0 
0 

0 
0 

0 
0 

T
o

ta
l 

N
e

t 
B

u
d

g
e

t 
fo

r 
P

o
rt

fo
li

o
11

6,
23

4 
(8

5,
46

4)
30

,7
70

 
1,

78
2 

32
,5

52
 

32
,8

55
 

30
3 

29
,2

98
 

29
,5

52
 

25
4 

G
e

n
e

ra
l 

F
u

n
d

 F
o

re
ca

st
 2

01
6/

17
a

t 
28

 F
e

b
ru

a
ry

 2
01

7 
- 

P
e

ri
o

d
 1

1
C

h
il

d
re

n
 a

n
d

 L
e

a
rn

in
g

P
o

rt
fo

li
o

 H
o

ld
e

r 
- 

C
ll

r 
J 

C
o

u
rt

e
n

a
y

 
 V

ir
em

en
ts

£0
00

T
ra

ns
fe

r 
fr

om
 e

ar
m

ar
ke

d 
re

se
rv

es
1,

09
3 

A
llo

ca
tio

n 
fr

om
 C

on
tin

ge
nc

y
92

9 
In

 y
ea

r 
vi

re
m

en
ts

(2
40

)
1,

78
2 

58



21
 

G
e

n
e

ra
l 

F
u

n
d

 F
o

re
ca

st
 2

01
6/

17
a

t 
28

 F
e

b
ru

a
ry

 2
01

7 
- 

P
e

ri
o

d
 1

1
C

h
il

d
re

n
 a

n
d

 L
e

a
rn

in
g

P
o

rt
fo

li
o

 H
o

ld
e

r 
- 

C
ll

r 
J 

C
o

u
rt

e
n

a
y

  
F

o
re

ca
st

 O
u

tt
u

rn
 V

ar
ia

n
ce

 
 

Y
ea

r 
to

 D
at

e 
V

ar
ia

n
ce

 

a.
 

U
nd

er
sp

en
d 

du
e 

to
 v

ac
an

ci
es

 d
ur

in
g 

th
e 

ye
ar

 
 

 

b.
 

C
ur

re
nt

 c
oh

or
t o

f L
D

D
 p

la
ce

m
en

ts
 a

nd
 d

ire
ct

 p
a

ym
en

ts
 b

ud
ge

ts
 a

re
 

ov
er

sp
en

di
ng

. 
 

 

c.
 

 
 

 

d.
 

O
ve

rs
pe

nd
 d

ue
 to

 c
os

t o
f A

ge
nc

y 
S

oc
ia

l W
or

ke
rs

 in
 fr

on
tli

ne
 c

hi
ld

 p
ro

te
ct

io
n 

ro
le

s 
in

 C
ar

e 
M

an
ag

em
en

t a
nd

 F
irs

t C
on

ta
ct

 te
am

s.
 T

ea
m

s 
ar

e 
un

ab
le

 to
 

ru
n 

w
ith

 V
ac

an
ci

es
 d

ue
 to

 c
as

el
oa

ds
. 

 
O

ve
rs

pe
nd

 d
ue

 to
 c

os
t o

f A
ge

nc
y 

S
oc

ia
l W

or
ke

rs
 in

 fr
on

tli
ne

 c
hi

ld
 p

ro
te

ct
io

n 
ro

le
s 

in
 C

ar
e 

M
an

ag
em

en
t a

nd
 F

irs
t C

on
ta

ct
 te

am
s.

 T
ea

m
s 

ar
e 

un
ab

le
 to

 
ru

n 
w

ith
 V

ac
an

ci
es

 d
ue

 to
 c

as
el

oa
ds

. 
e.

 
T

he
 o

ve
rs

pe
nd

 p
re

ss
ur

e 
is

 m
os

tly
 a

ttr
ib

ut
ab

le
 to

 a
 fo

re
ca

st
 o

ve
rs

pe
nd

 o
n 

ac
co

m
m

od
at

io
n 

pa
ym

en
ts

 fo
r 

le
av

in
g 

ca
re

, a
nd

 th
e 

M
ar

ig
ol

d 
A

ss
es

sm
en

t 
ce

nt
re

 w
hi

ch
 is

 m
os

tly
 a

ttr
ib

ut
ab

le
 to

 tr
an

sp
or

t c
os

ts
.  

 
T

he
 o

ve
rs

pe
nd

 p
re

ss
ur

e 
is

 m
os

tly
 a

ttr
ib

ut
ab

le
 to

 a
 fo

re
ca

st
 o

ve
rs

pe
nd

 o
n 

ac
co

m
m

od
at

io
n 

pa
ym

en
ts

 fo
r 

le
av

in
g 

ca
re

, a
nd

 th
e 

M
ar

ig
ol

d 
A

ss
es

sm
en

t 
ce

nt
re

 w
hi

ch
 is

 m
os

tly
 a

ttr
ib

ut
ab

le
 to

 tr
an

sp
or

t c
os

ts
. 

 

f. 
 

 
 

g.
 

 
 

 

h.
 

C
ur

re
nt

 c
oh

or
t o

f 5
3 

ch
ild

re
n 

an
d 

yo
un

g 
pe

op
le

 in
 P

V
I p

la
ce

m
en

ts
 is

 
fo

re
ca

st
 to

 o
ve

rs
pe

nd
, W

ith
in

 th
is

 th
er

e 
ar

e 
22

 r
es

id
en

tia
l p

la
ce

m
en

ts
 

co
m

pa
re

d 
to

 1
3 

a 
ye

ar
 a

go
.  

T
hi

s 
bu

dg
et

 r
em

ai
n 

vo
la

til
e 

an
d 

su
sc

ep
tib

le
 to

 
su

dd
en

 c
ha

ng
es

 in
 d

em
an

d 
fr

om
 h

ig
h 

co
st

 p
la

ce
m

en
ts

 s
uc

h 
as

 s
ec

ur
e 

ac
co

m
m

od
at

io
n 

pl
ac

em
en

ts
. 

 
C

ur
re

nt
 c

oh
or

t o
f 5

3 
ch

ild
re

n 
an

d 
yo

un
g 

pe
op

le
 in

 P
V

I p
la

ce
m

en
ts

 is
 

fo
re

ca
st

 to
 o

ve
rs

pe
nd

, W
ith

in
 th

is
 th

er
e 

ar
e 

22
 r

es
id

en
tia

l p
la

ce
m

en
ts

 
co

m
pa

re
d 

to
 1

3 
a 

ye
ar

 a
go

.  
T

hi
s 

bu
dg

et
 r

em
ai

n 
vo

la
til

e 
an

d 
su

sc
ep

tib
le

 to
 

su
dd

en
 c

ha
ng

es
 in

 d
em

an
d 

fr
om

 h
ig

h 
co

st
 p

la
ce

m
en

ts
 s

uc
h 

as
 s

ec
ur

e 
ac

co
m

m
od

at
io

n 
pl

ac
em

en
ts

. 
i. 

£4
0k

 o
ve

rs
pe

nd
 a

ttr
ib

ut
ab

le
 to

 th
e 

ne
w

ly
 fo

rm
ed

 M
A

R
A

T
 te

am
. A

 fu
rt

he
r 

pr
es

su
re

 a
ga

in
st

 b
ud

ge
t v

ac
an

cy
 fa

ct
or

 is
 a

ls
o 

pr
es

en
t i

n 
th

e 
pl

an
s 

an
d 

re
vi

ew
 te

am
 a

re
 th

e
y 

ar
e 

ru
nn

in
g 

at
 fu

ll 
es

ta
bl

is
hm

en
t. 

 
 

j. 
C

on
tin

ui
ng

 o
ve

rs
pe

nd
 d

ue
 to

 th
e 

co
st

s 
of

 le
ga

l r
ep

re
se

nt
at

io
n 

in
 c

hi
ld

 
pr

ot
ec

tio
n 

ca
se

s,
 li

nk
ed

 to
 h

ig
h 

nu
m

be
rs

 o
f c

hi
ld

re
n 

in
 c

ar
e.

  T
he

re
 is

 a
 r

is
k 

th
is

 o
ve

rs
pe

nd
 c

ou
ld

 in
cr

ea
se

 a
s 

in
 th

e 
pr

ev
io

us
 fi

na
nc

ia
l y

ea
r 

th
e 

ov
er

sp
en

d 
w

as
 £

20
0k

 a
nd

 r
el

at
ed

 to
 a

pp
ro

xi
m

at
el

y 
12

0 
ca

se
s.

 

 
 

k.
 

A
s 

la
st

 y
ea

r,
 th

er
e 

is
 fo

re
ca

st
 u

nd
er

sp
en

d 
of

 £
15

0k
 fo

r 
ho

m
e 

to
 s

ch
oo

l 
tr

an
sp

or
t c

os
ts

, h
ow

ev
er

 c
os

ts
 m

ay
 s

ta
rt

 to
 r

is
e 

on
ce

 th
e 

gr
ow

th
 in

 p
up

il 
nu

m
be

rs
 r

ea
ch

es
 th

e 
se

co
nd

ar
y 

sc
ho

ol
 p

ha
se

.  
A

 £
10

0k
 u

nd
er

sp
en

d 
is

 a
ls

o 
fo

re
ca

st
 in

 th
e 

S
ch

oo
l i

m
pr

ov
em

en
t s

er
vi

ce
 d

ue
 to

 v
ac

an
ci

es
 d

ur
in

g 
th

e 
ye

ar
. 

 
 

l. 
U

nd
er

sp
en

d 
du

e 
to

 a
 v

ac
an

t p
os

t 
 

 

59



22
 

m
. 

 
 

 

n.
 

 
 

 

60



23
 

S
e

rv
ic

e
G

ro
ss

 
E

x
p

e
n

d
G

ro
ss

 
In

co
m

e
O

ri
g

in
a

l 
B

u
d

g
e

t
V

ir
e

m
e

n
t

L
a

te
st

 
B

u
d

g
e

t
E

x
p

e
ct

e
d

 
O

u
tt

u
rn

F
o

re
ca

st
 

V
a

ri
a

n
ce

B
u

d
g

e
t 

to
 

D
a

te
S

p
e

n
d

 t
o

 
D

a
te

T
o

 D
a

te
 

V
a

ri
a

n
ce

 
£0

00
£0

00
£0

00
£0

00
£0

00
£0

00
£0

00
£0

00
£0

00
£0

00

a
A

du
lt 

S
up

po
rt

 S
er

vi
ce

s 
an

d 
M

an
ag

em
en

t
60

0 
(5

93
)

7 
(1

)
6 

(1
1)

(1
7)

7 
(1

4)
(2

1)

b
C

om
m

is
si

on
in

g 
Te

am
2,

62
8 

(2
,6

85
)

(5
7)

(2
0)

(7
7)

(1
47

)
(7

0)
(7

1)
(1

10
)

(3
9)

c
S

tr
at

eg
y 

&
 D

ev
el

op
m

en
t

2,
29

8 
(2

,3
28

)
(3

0)
12

5 
95

 
14

7 
52

 
95

 
71

 
(2

4)
d

P
eo

pl
e 

w
ith

 a
 L

ea
rn

in
g 

D
is

ab
ili

ty
15

,8
78

 
(1

,6
29

)
14

,2
49

 
25

8 
14

,5
07

 
14

,2
44

 
(2

63
)

13
,2

99
 

13
,0

75
 

(2
24

)
e

P
eo

pl
e 

w
ith

 M
en

ta
l H

ea
lth

 N
ee

ds
3,

62
7 

(1
65

)
3,

46
2 

23
7 

3,
69

9 
4,

29
5 

59
6 

3,
39

1 
3,

96
2 

57
1 

f
O

ld
er

 P
eo

pl
e

32
,2

69
 

(1
4,

94
0)

17
,3

29
 

(3
56

)
16

,9
73

 
16

,8
22

 
(1

51
)

15
,5

62
 

15
,4

70
 

(9
2)

g
O

th
er

 C
om

m
un

ity
 S

er
vi

ce
s

2,
02

1 
(6

65
)

1,
35

6 
1,

59
0 

2,
94

6 
3,

01
0 

64
 

2,
73

8 
2,

74
0 

2 
h

P
eo

pl
e 

w
ith

 a
 P

hy
si

ca
l o

r 
S

en
so

ry
 

Im
pa

irm
en

t
5,

18
2 

(1
,0

03
)

4,
17

9 
60

 
4,

23
9 

4,
29

0 
51

 
3,

88
8 

3,
80

1 
(8

7)

i
S

er
vi

ce
 S

tr
at

eg
y 

&
 R

eg
ul

at
io

n
14

9 
(6

9)
80

 
(2

)
78

 
77

 
(1

)
72

 
71

 
(1

)
j

P
ub

lic
 H

ea
lth

8,
51

6 
(8

,3
79

)
13

7 
19

9 
33

6 
33

6 
0 

31
0 

31
0 

0 
k

D
ru

g 
an

d 
A

lc
oh

ol
 A

ct
io

n 
Te

am
2,

52
9 

(2
,3

73
)

15
6 

99
 

25
5 

25
5 

0 
24

3 
24

3 
0 

l
Y

ou
ng

 P
er

so
ns

 D
ru

g 
an

d 
A

lc
oh

ol
 T

ea
m

30
7 

(2
63

)
44

 
0 

44
 

44
 

0 
41

 
33

 
(8

)

T
o

ta
l 

N
e

t 
B

u
d

g
e

t 
fo

r 
P

o
rt

fo
li

o
76

,0
04

 
(3

5,
09

2)
40

,9
12

 
2,

18
9 

43
,1

01
 

43
,3

62
 

26
1 

39
,5

75
 

39
,6

52
 

77
 

G
e

n
e

ra
l 

F
u

n
d

 F
o

re
ca

st
 2

01
6/

17
a

t 
28

 F
e

b
ru

a
ry

 2
01

7 
- 

P
e

ri
o

d
 1

1
H

e
a

lt
h

 a
n

d
 A

d
u

lt
 S

o
ci

a
l 

C
a

re
P

o
rt

fo
li

o
 H

o
ld

e
r 

- 
C

ll
r 

L
 S

a
lt

e
r

 
V

ir
em

en
ts

£0
00

T
ra

ns
fe

r 
fr

om
 e

ar
m

ar
ke

d 
re

se
rv

es
78

2 
A

llo
ca

tio
n 

fr
om

 C
on

tin
ge

nc
y

1,
21

7 
In

 y
ea

r 
vi

re
m

en
ts

19
0 

2,
18

9 

 
   

61



24
 

G
e

n
e

ra
l 

F
u

n
d

 F
o

re
ca

st
 2

01
6/

17
a

t 
28

 F
e

b
ru

a
ry

 2
01

7 
- 

P
e

ri
o

d
 1

1
H

e
a

lt
h

 a
n

d
 A

d
u

lt
 S

o
ci

a
l 

C
a

re
P

o
rt

fo
li

o
 H

o
ld

e
r 

- 
C

ll
r 

L
 S

a
lt

e
r

 
  

F
o

re
ca

st
 O

u
tt

u
rn

 V
ar

ia
n

ce
 

 
Y

ea
r 

to
 D

at
e 

V
ar

ia
n

ce
 

a.
 

H
ea

lth
 c

on
tr

ib
ut

io
n 

to
w

ar
ds

 in
te

gr
at

ed
 c

om
m

is
si

on
in

g 
 

 

b.
 

M
os

tly
 a

ttr
ib

ut
ab

le
 to

 s
ta

ff
in

g 
va

ca
nc

ie
s 

w
ith

in
 th

e 
cu

st
om

er
 s

er
vi

ce
s 

te
am

 d
ur

in
g 

th
e 

ye
ar

. 
 

 

c.
 

In
 y

ea
r 

pr
es

su
re

 a
ga

in
st

 s
ta

ff
in

g 
co

st
s 

 
 

d.
 

F
or

ec
as

t u
nd

er
sp

en
d 

on
 r

es
id

en
tia

l c
ar

e 
pl

ac
em

en
ts

 a
nd

 d
ay

ca
re

 
se

rv
ic

es
 

 
 

e.
 

F
or

ec
as

t o
ve

rs
pe

nd
 o

n 
re

si
de

nt
ia

l c
ar

e,
 s

up
po

rt
ed

 li
vi

ng
 a

nd
 d

ire
ct

 
pa

ym
en

ts
 

 
F

or
ec

as
t o

ve
rs

pe
nd

 o
n 

re
si

de
nt

ia
l c

ar
e,

 s
up

po
rt

ed
 li

vi
ng

 a
nd

 d
ire

ct
 

pa
ym

en
ts

. 
f. 

F
or

ec
as

t u
nd

er
sp

en
d 

on
 r

es
id

en
tia

l c
ar

e 
pl

ac
em

en
ts

 
 

 

g.
 

T
ea

m
s 

ar
e 

ru
nn

in
g 

at
 fu

ll 
st

af
fin

g 
le

ve
ls

 w
hi

ch
 is

 th
er

ef
or

e 
ca

us
in

g 
a 

sl
ig

ht
 p

re
ss

ur
e 

ag
ai

ns
t b

ud
ge

te
d 

va
ca

nc
y 

le
ve

ls
. 

 
 

h.
 

F
or

ec
as

t o
ve

rs
pe

nd
 o

n 
re

si
de

nt
ia

l c
ar

e 
pl

ac
em

en
ts

 
 

 

i. 
 

 
 

j. 
 

 
 

k.
 

 
 

 

l. 
 

 
 

62



25
 S
e

rv
ic

e
G

ro
ss

 
E

x
p

e
n

d
G

ro
ss

 
In

co
m

e
O

ri
g

in
a

l 
B

u
d

g
e

t
V

ir
e

m
e

n
t

L
a

te
st

 
B

u
d

g
e

t
E

x
p

e
ct

e
d

 
O

u
tt

u
rn

F
o

re
ca

st
 

V
a

ri
a

n
ce

B
u

d
g

e
t 

to
 

D
a

te
S

p
e

n
d

 t
o

 
D

a
te

T
o

 D
a

te
 

V
a

ri
a

n
ce

 
£0

00
£0

00
£0

00
£0

00
£0

00
£0

00
£0

00
£0

00
£0

00
£0

00

a
H

ig
hw

ay
s 

M
ai

nt
en

an
ce

9,
61

1 
(2

,2
29

)
7,

38
2 

35
2 

7,
73

4 
7,

92
8 

19
4 

7,
11

8 
7,

46
0 

34
2 

b
B

rid
ge

s 
an

d 
S

tr
uc

tu
ra

l E
ng

in
ee

rin
g

43
2 

0 
43

2 
(1

1)
42

1 
38

9 
(3

2)
38

6 
35

7 
(2

9)
c

D
ec

rim
in

al
is

ed
 P

ar
ki

ng
1,

30
6 

(1
,6

33
)

(3
27

)
(3

)
(3

30
)

45
6 

78
6 

(2
91

)
50

6 
79

7 
d

C
ar

 P
ar

ki
ng

 M
an

ag
em

en
t

1,
44

3 
(5

,9
59

)
(4

,5
16

)
1,

43
7 

(3
,0

79
)

(3
,3

56
)

(2
77

)
(2

,6
61

)
(2

,7
61

)
(1

00
)

e
C

on
ce

ss
io

na
ry

 F
ar

es
3,

24
6 

0 
3,

24
6 

(1
0)

3,
23

6 
3,

27
1 

35
 

3,
20

0 
3,

24
1 

41
 

f
P

as
se

ng
er

 T
ra

ns
po

rt
40

5 
(6

2)
34

3 
52

5 
86

8 
92

6 
58

 
85

7 
91

9 
62

 
g

R
oa

d 
S

af
et

y 
an

d 
S

ch
oo

l C
ro

ss
in

g
40

3 
(6

0)
34

3 
0 

34
3 

29
1 

(5
2)

31
0 

27
0 

(4
0)

h
Tr

an
sp

or
t 

P
la

nn
in

g
1,

07
7 

(5
7)

1,
02

0 
6 

1,
02

6 
1,

05
0 

24
 

95
6 

1,
01

1 
55

 
i

Tr
af

fic
 a

nd
 P

ar
ki

ng
 M

an
ag

em
en

t
68

3 
(5

)
67

8 
(5

8)
62

0 
61

9 
(1

)
56

8 
55

8 
(1

0)
j

P
ub

lic
 C

on
ve

ni
en

ce
s

60
4 

0 
60

4 
19

4 
79

8 
76

8 
(3

0)
73

5 
68

3 
(5

2)
k

W
as

te
 C

ol
le

ct
io

n
3,

85
0 

0 
3,

85
0 

90
0 

4,
75

0 
4,

73
4 

(1
6)

4,
32

0 
4,

34
8 

28
 

l
W

as
te

 D
is

po
sa

l
4,

12
0 

0 
4,

12
0 

1,
02

6 
5,

14
6 

4,
72

6 
(4

20
)

4,
52

5 
4,

26
8 

(2
57

)
m

C
le

an
si

ng
1,

91
6 

(7
)

1,
90

9 
(3

35
)

1,
57

4 
1,

55
5 

(1
9)

1,
46

1 
1,

44
0 

(2
1)

n
C

iv
ic

 A
m

en
ity

 S
ite

s
57

0 
0 

57
0 

(7
1)

49
9 

49
9 

0 
45

7 
46

1 
4 

o
E

nv
iro

nm
en

ta
l C

ar
e

64
4 

(4
)

64
0 

(1
63

)
47

7 
38

0 
(9

7)
45

1 
34

4 
(1

07
)

p
W

as
te

 M
an

ag
em

en
t

2,
07

8 
0 

2,
07

8 
(1

,0
54

)
1,

02
4 

50
6 

(5
18

)
80

8 
91

0 
10

2 
q

F
lo

od
 a

nd
 S

ea
 D

ef
en

ce
86

0 
(6

4)
79

6 
(3

0)
76

6 
90

7 
14

1 
74

3 
79

9 
56

 
r

E
nt

er
pr

is
e 

To
ur

is
m

 a
nd

 E
nv

iro
nm

en
t 

C
en

tr
al

 P
oo

l
1,

82
5 

(1
,8

63
)

(3
8)

(2
)

(4
0)

0 
40

 
(3

7)
47

 
84

 

T
o

ta
l 

N
e

t 
B

u
d

g
e

t 
fo

r 
P

o
rt

fo
li

o
35

,0
73

 
(1

1,
94

3)
23

,1
30

 
2,

70
3 

25
,8

33
 

25
,6

49
 

(1
84

)
23

,9
06

 
24

,8
61

 
95

5 

G
e

n
e

ra
l 

F
u

n
d

 F
o

re
ca

st
 2

01
6/

17
a

t 
28

 F
e

b
ru

a
ry

 2
01

7 
- 

P
e

ri
o

d
 1

1
T

ra
n

sp
o

rt
, 

W
a

st
e

 &
 C

le
a

n
si

n
g

P
o

rt
fo

li
o

 H
o

ld
e

r 
- 

C
ll

r 
T

 C
o

x

V
ir

em
en

ts
£0

00
T

ra
ns

fe
r 

fr
om

/(
to

) 
ea

rm
ar

ke
d 

re
se

rv
es

(4
26

)
A

llo
ca

tio
n 

fr
om

 C
on

tin
ge

nc
y

13
0 

In
 y

ea
r 

vi
re

m
en

ts
2,

99
9 

2,
70

3 

 

63



26
 

 
G

e
n

e
ra

l 
F

u
n

d
 F

o
re

ca
st

 2
01

6/
17

a
t 

28
 F

e
b

ru
a

ry
 2

01
7 

- 
P

e
ri

o
d

 1
1

T
ra

n
sp

o
rt

, 
W

a
st

e
 &

 C
le

a
n

si
n

g
P

o
rt

fo
li

o
 H

o
ld

e
r 

- 
C

ll
r 

T
 C

o
x

  
F

o
re

ca
st

 O
u

tt
u

rn
 V

ar
ia

n
ce

 
 

Y
ea

r 
to

 d
at

e 
V

ar
ia

n
ce

 

a.
 

S
tr

ee
t l

ig
ht

in
g 

en
er

g
y 

co
st

s 
ar

e 
re

du
ci

ng
 d

ue
 to

 th
e 

LE
D

 r
ep

la
ce

m
en

t 
pr

oj
ec

t, 
ho

w
ev

er
 d

el
a

ys
 a

t t
he

 o
ut

se
t m

ea
n 

th
e 

fu
ll 

be
ne

fit
 is

 y
et

 to
 b

e 
ac

hi
ev

ed
. T

he
 s

av
in

g 
in

 th
e 

20
16

/1
7 

bu
dg

et
 w

as
 b

as
ed

 o
n 

th
e 

pr
oj

ec
ts

 
or

ig
in

al
 ti

m
et

ab
le

 w
hi

ch
 h

as
 r

es
ul

te
d 

in
 a

 p
ot

en
tia

l i
n-

ye
ar

 p
re

ss
ur

e 
ci

rc
a 

£4
18

k 
w

hi
ch

 w
ill

 b
e 

te
m

po
ra

ril
y 

fu
nd

ed
 fr

om
 r

es
er

ve
s.

 
S

tr
uc

tu
ra

l m
ai

nt
en

an
ce

 r
ep

ai
r 

w
or

ks
, p

ar
tic

ul
ar

ly
 o

n 
fo

ot
w

a
ys

, i
s 

lik
el

y 
to

 
re

su
lt 

in
 a

 b
ud

ge
t p

re
ss

ur
e 

of
 a

ro
un

d 
£1

40
-1

60
k 

ba
se

d 
on

 c
ur

re
nt

 
ex

pe
nd

itu
re

 le
ve

ls
. P

ro
ac

tiv
e 

ac
tio

n 
is

 b
ei

ng
 ta

ke
n 

in
 p

ar
tn

er
sh

ip
 w

ith
 th

e 
co

nt
ra

ct
or

 to
 r

ed
uc

e 
co

st
s 

an
d 

th
is

 is
 r

ef
le

ct
ed

 h
er

e.
 

T
he

 v
al

ue
 o

f 
w

or
ks

 r
ec

ha
rg

ed
 to

 th
e 

pu
bl

ic
 fo

r 
da

m
ag

e 
ca

us
ed

 to
 th

e 
hi

gh
w

a
y 

is
 b

el
ow

 th
e 

ta
rg

et
ed

 le
ve

l c
re

at
in

g 
a 

po
te

nt
ia

l p
re

ss
ur

e 
of

 a
ro

un
d 

£1
69

k.
 

In
co

m
e 

fr
om

 th
e 

st
re

et
 w

or
ks

 c
om

m
on

 p
er

m
it 

sc
he

m
e 

is
 a

bo
ve

 th
e 

ex
pe

ct
ed

 
le

ve
l. 

A
 s

ig
ni

fic
an

t p
ro

po
rt

io
n 

of
 th

is
 is

 d
ue

 to
 p

en
al

tie
s 

le
vi

ed
 in

 r
el

at
io

n 
to

 
S

.7
4 

ov
er

ru
ns

. A
t c

ur
re

nt
 r

at
es

 a
n 

in
co

m
e 

su
rp

lu
s 

of
 b

et
w

ee
n 

£0
.4

-0
.5

m
 

se
em

s 
lik

el
y.

 

 
O

ve
rs

pe
nd

 to
 d

at
e 

is
 in

 li
ne

 w
ith

 th
e 

fo
re

ca
st

 o
ut

tu
rn

 

b.
 

A
n 

un
de

rs
pe

nd
 o

f £
30

k 
on

 r
ea

ct
iv

e 
m

ai
nt

en
an

ce
 is

 e
xp

ec
te

d.
 

 
T

he
 u

nd
er

sp
en

d 
to

 d
at

e 
is

 in
 li

ne
 w

ith
 th

e 
fo

re
ca

st
 o

ut
tu

rn
 

c.
 

D
el

a
ys

 in
 th

e 
im

pl
em

en
ta

tio
n 

of
 th

e 
ne

w
 C

om
pl

ia
nc

e 
M

an
ag

em
en

t c
on

tr
ac

t 
fo

r 
de

cr
im

in
al

is
ed

 p
ar

ki
ng

 m
ea

n 
ex

pe
ct

ed
 s

av
in

gs
 in

 th
e 

fir
st

 h
al

f o
f t

he
 y

ea
r 

ha
ve

 n
ot

 b
ee

n 
ac

hi
ev

ed
. T

he
 b

ud
ge

t p
re

ss
ur

e 
as

 a
 r

es
ul

t o
f t

hi
s 

is
 

ap
pr

ox
im

at
el

y 
£1

52
k.

 T
he

 s
ho

rt
fa

ll 
in

 in
co

m
e 

ha
s 

in
cr

ea
se

d 
du

e 
to

 a
 n

um
be

r 
of

 d
eb

ts
 b

ei
ng

 w
rit

te
n 

of
f, 

th
is

 h
as

 r
es

ul
te

d 
in

 a
 c

ha
ng

e 
in

 th
e 

be
d 

de
bt

 
pr

ov
is

io
n.

 T
he

 n
et

 e
ff

ec
t o

f t
hi

s 
is

 a
 r

ed
uc

tio
n 

in
 th

e 
pr

oj
ec

te
d 

ov
er

sp
en

d.
  

 
O

ve
rs

pe
nd

 to
 d

at
e 

is
 in

 li
ne

 w
ith

 th
e 

fo
re

ca
st

 o
ut

tu
rn

 

d.
 

C
ar

 p
ar

ki
ng

 p
er

fo
rm

an
ce

 in
 F

eb
ru

ar
y 

w
as

 a
bo

ve
 e

xp
ec

te
d 

le
ve

ls
 s

o 
th

e 
pr

oj
ec

te
d 

su
rp

lu
s 

ha
s 

in
cr

ea
se

d 
b

y 
£1

5k
 to

 £
27

7k
.T

he
 s

ur
pl

us
 o

f £
33

0k
 

re
po

rt
ed

 in
 th

e 
pr

ev
io

us
 m

on
th

 h
as

 b
ee

n 
re

du
ce

d 
to

 £
26

2k
 d

ue
 to

 th
e 

in
co

m
e 

in
 J

an
ua

ry
 b

ei
ng

 b
el

ow
 th

e 
ex

pe
ct

ed
 le

ve
l, 

th
is

 is
 li

ke
ly

 d
ue

 to
 p

oo
r 

w
ea

th
er

.  

 
U

nd
er

sp
en

d 
to

 d
at

e 
is

 in
 li

ne
 w

ith
 th

e 
fo

re
ca

st
 o

ut
tu

rn
 

e.
 

C
on

ce
ss

io
na

ry
 fa

re
s 

co
st

s 
fo

r 
th

re
e 

qu
ar

te
rs

 o
f t

he
 y

ea
r 

ha
ve

 b
ee

n 
co

nf
irm

ed
 a

nd
 o

ur
 c

on
su

lta
nt

s 
ha

ve
 u

pd
at

ed
 th

ei
r 

es
tim

at
e 

fo
r 

th
e 

ye
ar

. 
B

as
ed

 o
n 

th
es

e 
up

da
te

d 
fig

ur
es

 th
e 

pr
oj

ec
tio

n 
ha

s 
re

du
ce

d 
to

 £
3.

21
m

 
ag

ai
ns

t a
 b

ud
ge

t o
f £

3.
17

m
. F

lu
ct

ua
tio

ns
 in

 th
e 

nu
m

be
r 

of
 jo

ur
ne

ys
 in

 th
e 

fin
al

 q
ua

rt
er

 o
f t

he
 y

ea
r 

m
ea

n 
th

is
 p

re
ss

ur
e 

co
ul

d 
in

cr
ea

se
 a

ga
in

 o
r 

 
 

64



27
 de

cr
ea

se
 fu

rt
he

r.
 

f. 
A

dd
iti

on
al

 s
ec

ur
ity

 le
ve

ls
 r

eq
ui

re
d 

at
 th

e 
T

ra
ve

l C
en

tr
e 

w
ill

 c
os

t 
ap

pr
ox

im
at

el
y 

£7
0k

 fo
r 

a 
fu

ll 
ye

ar
 w

hi
ch

 w
ill

 c
au

se
 a

 b
ud

ge
t p

re
ss

ur
e 

of
 £

60
-

70
k.

 

 
 

g.
 

T
he

re
 is

 a
 p

ro
je

ct
ed

 u
nd

er
sp

en
d 

of
 £

52
k 

on
 R

oa
d 

S
af

et
y 

du
e 

to
 c

ha
ng

es
 in

 
de

liv
er

y,
 w

hi
ls

t m
ai

nt
ai

ni
ng

 th
e 

sa
m

e 
le

ve
l o

f s
er

vi
ce

. 
 

 

h.
 

T
ra

ffi
c 

si
gn

al
 m

ai
nt

en
an

ce
 c

os
ts

 h
av

e 
re

du
ce

d 
si

nc
e 

th
e 

up
gr

ad
e 

to
 L

E
D

 
le

ad
in

g 
to

 a
 p

ot
en

tia
l u

nd
er

sp
en

d 
ci

rc
a.

 £
30

k.
 T

hi
s 

is
 n

ow
 b

ei
ng

 o
ff

se
t b

y 
ov

er
sp

en
ds

 o
n 

st
af

f t
ra

ve
l a

nd
 o

nl
in

e 
da

ta
ba

se
 c

os
ts

. 

 
T

he
 Y

ea
r 

to
 d

at
e 

va
ria

nc
e 

sh
ow

s 
an

 o
ve

rs
pe

nd
 d

ue
 to

 g
ov

er
nm

en
t g

ra
nt

s 
an

d 
E

U
 fu

nd
in

g 
fo

r 
w

hi
ch

 c
la

im
s 

ar
e 

m
ad

e 
in

 a
rr

ea
rs

. 

i. 
A

s 
pr

ev
io

us
ly

 r
ep

or
te

d 
T

ra
ffi

c 
M

an
ag

em
en

t c
on

tr
ac

to
r 

co
st

s 
ar

e 
co

ns
is

te
nt

 
w

ith
 p

re
vi

ou
s 

ye
ar

s 
an

d 
sh

ow
 a

n 
un

de
rs

pe
nd

 o
f a

ro
un

d 
£7

1k
. T

he
 p

re
ss

ur
e 

du
e 

to
 a

ge
nc

y 
st

af
f a

nd
 r

ed
uc

ed
 c

ap
ita

lis
at

io
n 

ha
s 

fa
lle

n 
sl

ig
ht

ly
 to

 a
ro

un
d 

£1
00

k 
an

d 
un

de
rs

pe
nd

s 
on

 tr
an

sp
or

t a
nd

 s
up

pl
ie

s 
&

 s
er

vi
ce

s 
of

 a
ro

un
d 

£1
5k

 a
re

 n
ow

 b
ei

ng
 r

ec
og

ni
se

d.
 In

 a
dd

iti
on

 to
 th

es
e,

 in
co

m
e 

fo
r 

hi
gh

w
a

ys
 

bo
un

da
ry

 s
ea

rc
he

s 
ha

s 
ex

ce
ed

ed
 b

ud
ge

t e
xp

ec
ta

tio
ns

 b
y 

ar
ou

nd
 £

15
k.

 

 
 

j. 
T

he
re

 h
as

 b
ee

n 
a 

re
du

ct
io

n 
in

 th
e 

el
ec

tr
ic

ity
 c

on
su

m
pt

io
n 

at
 c

on
ve

ni
en

ce
 

si
te

s.
 

 
T

he
re

 h
as

 b
ee

n 
a 

re
du

ct
io

n 
in

 th
e 

el
ec

tr
ic

ity
 c

on
su

m
pt

io
n 

at
 c

on
ve

ni
en

ce
 

si
te

s.
 

k.
 

T
he

re
 is

 a
 v

ac
an

t p
os

t w
ith

in
 th

e 
w

as
te

 te
am

. 
 

T
he

re
 is

 a
 v

ac
an

t p
os

t w
ith

in
 th

e 
w

as
te

 te
am

. 

l. 
D

ue
 to

 th
e 

M
B

T
 s

til
l b

ei
ng

 in
 it

s 
co

m
m

is
si

on
in

g 
ph

as
e,

 th
er

e 
is

 a
 r

ed
uc

ed
 

ga
te

 fe
e 

fo
r 

th
e 

di
sp

os
al

 o
f w

as
te

. 
 

C
os

ts
 fo

r 
M

B
T

 P
la

nt
 a

re
 e

st
im

at
ed

 p
en

di
ng

 a
ct

ua
l c

ha
rg

es
 fr

om
 E

ss
ex

 C
C

. 

m
. 

S
er

vi
ce

 li
ce

nc
es

 a
re

 n
o 

lo
ng

er
 r

eq
ui

re
d 

as
 a

 r
es

ul
t o

f t
he

 n
ew

 S
tr

ee
t 

C
le

an
si

ng
 c

on
tr

ac
t. 

 
S

er
vi

ce
 li

ce
nc

es
 a

re
 n

o 
lo

ng
er

 r
eq

ui
re

d 
as

 a
 r

es
ul

t o
f t

he
 n

ew
 S

tr
ee

t 
C

le
an

si
ng

 c
on

tr
ac

t. 

n.
 

 
 

 

o.
 

T
he

re
 is

 a
 v

ac
an

t p
os

t i
n 

th
e 

E
nv

iro
nm

en
ta

l C
ar

e 
te

am
 a

lo
ng

 w
ith

 a
n 

as
so

ci
at

ed
 r

ed
uc

tio
n 

in
 a

dd
iti

on
al

 e
m

pl
o

ye
e 

co
st

s.
 

 
T

he
re

 is
 a

 v
ac

an
t p

os
t i

n 
th

e 
E

nv
iro

nm
en

ta
l C

ar
e 

te
am

 a
lo

ng
 w

ith
 a

n 
as

so
ci

at
ed

 r
ed

uc
tio

n 
in

 a
dd

iti
on

al
 e

m
pl

o
ye

e 
co

st
s.

 

p.
 

Jo
in

t W
or

ki
ng

 A
gr

ee
m

en
t w

ith
 E

ss
ex

 C
ou

nt
y 

C
ou

nc
il 

W
as

te
 In

fr
as

tr
uc

tu
re

 
C

re
di

t l
es

s 
co

st
s,

 le
ss

 le
ga

l a
dv

ic
e 

re
 n

ew
 w

as
te

 c
on

tr
ac

t 
 

Le
ga

l a
dv

ic
e 

re
 N

ew
 W

as
te

 C
on

tr
ac

t. 

q.
 

T
he

 u
nd

er
sp

en
d 

on
 s

ta
ff

in
g 

va
ca

nc
ie

s,
 r

ep
or

te
d 

pr
ev

io
us

ly
, r

em
ai

ns
 a

nd
 is

 
fo

re
ca

st
 a

t £
42

k.
 

U
ne

xp
ec

te
d 

co
st

s 
re

la
tin

g 
to

 s
ur

fa
ce

 w
at

er
 p

um
pi

ng
 s

ta
tio

n 
se

rv
ic

in
g,

 fe
es

 
fo

r 
sp

oi
l s

to
ra

ge
 fr

om
 th

e 
C

lif
f S

ta
bi

lis
at

io
n 

w
or

ks
 a

nd
 h

ig
he

r 
th

an
 fo

re
ca

st
 

co
st

s 
fo

r 
flo

od
 d

ef
en

ce
 m

ai
nt

en
an

ce
 h

av
e 

cr
ea

te
d 

a 
co

m
bi

ne
d 

pr
es

su
re

 o
f 

£1
83

k.
 

 
O

ve
rs

pe
nd

 to
 d

at
e 

is
 in

 li
ne

 w
ith

 th
e 

fo
re

ca
st

 o
ut

tu
rn

. 

r.
 

D
ue

 to
 th

e 
hi

gh
 le

ve
ls

 o
f s

ta
ff

 r
et

en
tio

n,
 th

e 
va

ca
nc

y 
fa

ct
or

 w
ith

in
 th

e 
te

am
 is

 
un

lik
el

y 
to

 b
e 

m
et

 a
nd

 a
dd

iti
on

al
 r

ed
uc

tio
ns

 in
 e

xp
en

di
tu

re
 w

ill
 n

ee
d 

to
 b

e 
fo

un
d.

 

 
D

ue
 to

 th
e 

hi
gh

 le
ve

ls
 o

f s
ta

ff
 r

et
en

tio
n,

 th
e 

va
ca

nc
y 

fa
ct

or
 w

ith
in

 th
e 

te
am

 is
 

un
lik

el
y 

to
 b

e 
m

et
 a

nd
 a

dd
iti

on
al

 r
ed

uc
tio

ns
 in

 e
xp

en
di

tu
re

 w
ill

 n
ee

d 
to

 b
e 

fo
un

d.
 

65



28
 

   

S
e

rv
ic

e
G

ro
ss

 
E

x
p

e
n

d
G

ro
ss

 
In

co
m

e
O

ri
g

in
a

l 
B

u
d

g
e

t
V

ir
e

m
e

n
t

L
a

te
st

 
B

u
d

g
e

t
E

x
p

e
ct

e
d

 
O

u
tt

u
rn

F
o

re
ca

st
 

V
a

ri
a

n
ce

B
u

d
g

e
t 

to
 

D
a

te
S

p
e

n
d

 t
o

 
D

a
te

T
o

 D
a

te
 

V
a

ri
a

n
ce

 
£0

00
£0

00
£0

00
£0

00
£0

00
£0

00
£0

00
£0

00
£0

00
£0

00

a
In

fo
rm

at
io

n 
C

om
m

s 
&

 T
ec

hn
ol

og
y

5,
85

8 
(5

,7
48

)
11

0 
(4

5)
65

 
65

 
0 

69
 

13
5 

66
 

T
o

ta
l 

N
e

t 
B

u
d

g
e

t 
fo

r 
P

o
rt

fo
li

o
5,

85
8 

(5
,7

48
)

11
0 

(4
5)

65
 

65
 

0 
69

 
13

5 
66

 

G
e

n
e

ra
l 

F
u

n
d

 F
o

re
ca

st
 2

01
6/

17
a

t 
28

 F
e

b
ru

a
ry

 2
01

7 
- 

P
e

ri
o

d
 1

1
T

e
ch

n
o

lo
g

y
P

o
rt

fo
li

o
 H

o
ld

e
r 

- 
C

ll
r 

T
 B

yf
o

rd

 
  V

ir
em

en
ts

£0
00

T
ra

ns
fe

r 
fr

om
/(

to
) 

ea
rm

ar
ke

d 
re

se
rv

es
11

4 
A

llo
ca

tio
n 

fr
om

 C
on

tin
ge

nc
y

0 
In

 y
ea

r 
vi

re
m

en
ts

(1
59

)
(4

5)

 
           

66



29
 

G
e

n
e

ra
l 

F
u

n
d

 F
o

re
ca

st
 2

01
6/

17
a

t 
28

 F
e

b
ru

a
ry

 2
01

7 
- 

P
e

ri
o

d
 1

1
T

e
ch

n
o

lo
g

y
P

o
rt

fo
li

o
 H

o
ld

e
r 

- 
C

ll
r 

T
 B

yf
o

rd
  

F
o

re
ca

st
 O

u
tt

u
rn

 V
ar

ia
n

ce
 

 
Y

ea
r 

to
 d

at
e 

V
ar

ia
n

ce
 

a.
 

 
 

A
 p

re
ss

ur
e 

on
 E

m
pl

oy
ee

 c
os

ts
 m

ai
nl

y 
du

e 
to

 A
ge

nc
y,

 S
ta

nd
b

y 
&

 P
ro

te
ct

ed
 

P
a

y,
 R

ec
ru

itm
en

t c
os

ts
 a

nd
 th

e 
V

ac
an

cy
 F

ac
to

r 
is

 b
ei

ng
 o

ff
se

t b
y 

hi
gh

er
 

in
co

m
e 

th
an

 p
ro

fil
ed

. C
ap

ita
lis

at
io

n 
of

 s
al

ar
y 

co
st

s 
w

hi
ch

 s
ho

ul
d 

re
du

ce
 th

e 
pr

es
su

re
 o

n 
st

af
fin

g 
co

st
s 

by
 y

ea
r-

en
d 

ha
s 

no
t y

et
 h

ap
pe

ne
d 

67



30
 D

e
sc

ri
p

ti
o

n
O

ri
g

in
a

l 
B

u
d

g
e

t
V

ir
e

m
e

n
t

L
a

te
st

 
B

u
d

g
e

t
E

x
p

e
ct

e
d

 
O

u
tt

u
rn

F
o

re
ca

st
 

V
a

ri
a

n
ce

B
u

d
g

e
t 

to
 

D
a

te
S

p
e

n
d

 t
o

 
D

a
te

T
o

 D
a

te
 

V
a

ri
a

n
ce

 
£0

00
£0

00
£0

00
£0

00
£0

00
£0

00
£0

00
£0

00

a
E

m
pl

oy
ee

s
27

6 
0 

27
6 

27
6 

0 
27

6 
27

6 
0 

b
P

re
m

is
es

 (
E

xc
lu

di
ng

 R
ep

ai
rs

)
70

2 
0 

70
2 

76
2 

60
 

64
4 

68
4 

40
 

c
R

ep
ai

rs
4,

73
6 

0 
4,

73
6 

4,
73

6 
0 

4,
00

7 
4,

00
7 

0 
d

S
up

pl
ie

s 
&

 S
er

vi
ce

s
67

 
0 

67
 

67
 

0 
61

 
61

 
0 

e
M

an
ag

em
en

t 
F

ee
 

5,
61

8 
0 

5,
61

8 
5,

61
8 

0 
4,

75
4 

4,
75

4 
0 

f
M

A
TS

1,
04

8 
0 

1,
04

8 
1,

04
8 

0 
96

1 
96

1 
0 

g
P

ro
vi

si
on

 fo
r 

B
ad

 D
eb

ts
37

2 
0 

37
2 

37
2 

0 
34

1 
34

1 
0 

h
C

ap
ita

l F
in

an
ci

ng
 C

ha
rg

es
13

,0
45

 
0 

13
,0

45
 

13
,0

45
 

0 
11

,9
58

 
11

,9
58

 
0 

E
x

p
e

n
d

it
u

re
25

,8
64

 
0 

25
,8

64
 

25
,9

24
 

60
 

23
,0

02
 

23
,0

42
 

40
 

i
F

ee
s 

&
 C

ha
rg

es
(5

03
)

0 
(5

03
)

(5
03

)
0 

(4
61

)
(4

61
)

0 
j

R
en

ts
(2

6,
64

5)
0 

(2
6,

64
5)

(2
6,

94
5)

(3
00

)
(2

4,
42

5)
(2

4,
57

5)
(1

50
)

k
O

th
er

(2
63

)
0 

(2
63

)
(2

63
)

0 
(2

41
)

(2
41

)
0 

l
In

te
re

st
(2

10
)

0 
(2

10
)

(2
10

)
0 

(1
93

)
(1

93
)

0 
m

R
ec

ha
rg

es
(5

30
)

0 
(5

30
)

(3
90

)
14

0 
(4

86
)

(4
06

)
80

 

In
co

m
e

(2
8,

15
1)

0 
(2

8,
15

1)
(2

8,
31

1)
(1

60
)

(2
5,

80
5)

(2
5,

87
5)

(7
0)

n
A

pp
ro

pr
ia

tio
n 

to
 E

ar
m

ar
ke

d 
re

se
rv

es
2,

28
7 

0 
2,

28
7 

2,
38

7 
10

0 
0 

0 
0 

o
S

ta
tu

to
ry

 M
iti

ga
tio

n 
on

 C
ap

ita
l F

in
an

ci
ng

0 
0 

0 
0 

0 
0 

0 
0 

N
e

t 
E

x
p

e
n

d
it

u
re

 /
 (

In
co

m
e

)
0 

0 
0 

0 
0 

(2
,8

03
)

(2
,8

33
)

(3
0)

U
se

 o
f 

R
e

se
rv

e
s

B
al

an
ce

 a
s 

at
 1

 A
pr

il 
20

16
3,

50
2 

0 
3,

50
2 

3,
50

2 
0 

U
se

 in
 Y

ea
r

(0
)

0 
(0

)
(0

)
0 

B
a

la
n

ce
 a

s 
a

t 
31

 M
a

rc
h

 2
01

7
3,

50
2 

0 
3,

50
2 

3,
50

2 
0 

H
o

u
si

n
g

 R
e

ve
n

u
e

 A
cc

o
u

n
t 

F
o

re
ca

st
 2

01
6/

17

a
t 

28
 F

e
b

ru
a

ry
 2

01
7 

- 
P

e
ri

o
d

 1
1

D
e

p
u

ty
 C

h
ie

f 
E

x
e

cu
ti

ve
 -

 S
im

o
n

 L
e

ft
le

y

68



31
 

H
o

u
si

n
g

 R
e

ve
n

u
e

 A
cc

o
u

n
t 

F
o

re
ca

st
 2

01
6/

17

a
t 

28
 F

e
b

ru
a

ry
 2

01
7 

- 
P

e
ri

o
d

 1
1

D
e

p
u

ty
 C

h
ie

f 
E

x
e

cu
ti

ve
 -

 S
im

o
n

 L
e

ft
le

y
 

  
F

o
re

ca
st

 O
u

tt
u

rn
 V

ar
ia

n
ce

 
 

Y
ea

r 
to

 D
at

e 
V

ar
ia

n
ce

 

a.
 

 
 

 

b.
 

F
or

ec
as

t O
ve

rs
pe

nd
 d

ue
 to

 th
e 

co
st

 o
f s

ec
ur

ity
 p

at
ro

l s
er

vi
ce

s 
on

 th
e 

V
ic

to
ria

 W
ar

d 
 

 

c.
 

 
 

 

d.
 

 
 

 

e.
 

 
 

 

f. 
 

 
 

g.
 

 
 

 

h.
 

 
 

 

i. 
 

 
 

j. 
H

ig
he

r 
th

an
 e

st
im

at
ed

 r
en

ta
l i

nc
om

e 
be

ca
us

e 
of

 a
 lo

w
er

 n
um

be
r 

of
 v

oi
d 

pr
op

er
tie

s 
th

an
 e

xp
ec

te
d 

in
 th

e 
bu

dg
et

, a
nd

 fu
rt

he
r 

co
nv

er
si

on
 o

f n
ew

 
te

na
nc

ie
s 

be
in

g 
le

t a
t f

or
m

ul
a 

re
nt

. 

 
 

k.
 

 
 

 

l. 
 

 
 

m
. 

D
ue

 to
 a

 r
ed

uc
tio

n 
in

 th
e 

fo
re

ca
st

 s
pe

nd
 o

n 
th

e 
ca

pi
ta

l p
ro

gr
am

m
e,

 th
is

 h
as

 
re

du
ce

d 
th

e 
8%

 fe
e 

in
co

m
e 

re
-im

bu
rs

ed
 to

 th
e 

H
R

A
. 

 
 

n.
 

A
n

y 
un

de
rs

pe
nd

 a
t y

ea
r 

en
d,

 w
ill

 b
e 

tr
an

sf
er

re
d 

to
 th

e 
H

R
A

 R
es

er
ve

. 
 

 

o.
 

 
 

 

 

69



70



Capital Programme Budget 

Monitoring 2016/17 

Period 11 

 as at 28th February 2017 

  Departmental Summary 

71



Capital Programme Monitoring Report – February 2017 

1. Overall Budget Performance 

Department
Revised 
Budget 
2016/17         
£’000

Outturn to 28 
February
2016/17     
£’000

Expected 
outturn 
2016/17   
£’000

Latest 
Expected 
Variance to 
Revised 
Budget 2016/17
£’000

Previous 
Expected 
Variance to 
Revised 
Budget 2016/17
£’000

Total 55,114 38,224 52,046 (3,068) -

External Funding

Council
Budget

Grant 
Budget

Developer & 
Other 

Contributions
Total 

BudgetDepartment
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

1,289

14,185

32,199

7,441

Total 31,650 22,693 771 55,114

72



Department
Grant

Budget

Developer & 
Other 

Contributions
Budget

Total 
external 
funding 
budget

External 
funding 
received

External 
funding 

outstanding

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

4

3,566

1,714

50

Total 22,693 771 23,464 18,130 5,334

73



2. Department Budget Performance 

Department of the Chief Executive 

Department of the Chief 
Executive

Revised 
Budget 
2016/17        
£’000

Outturn to 
28 February
2016/17     
£’000

Expected 
outturn 
2016/17   
£’000

Latest 
Forecast 
Variance 
to Year 
End
2016/17   
£’000

Previous 
Forecast 
Variance to 
Year End
2016/17   
£’000

Subtotal 1,153 409 1,063 (90) -

Total 1,289 409 1,199 (90) -

Priority Works £’000

Council Buildings 

Asset Management (Property) 

74



Cemeteries and Crematorium 

Priority Works 

Summary 

75



Department for People  
      

Department for People
Revised 
Budget 
2016/17              
£’000

Outturn to 
31 January
2016/17
£’000

Expected
outturn 
2016/17
£’000

Latest 
Expected 
Variance to 
Year End
2016/17   
£’000

Previous 
Expected 
Variance to 
Year End
2016/17   
£’000

Total 14,185 10,065 11,665 (2,520) -

Adult Social Care 

General Fund Housing 

76



Children & Learning Other Schemes 

Condition Schemes

Devolved Formula Capital 

Primary and Secondary School Places

Summary 

77



Department for Place

Department for Place
Revised 
Budget 
2016/17      
£’000

Outturn to 
28 February
2016/17     
£’000

Expected 
outturn 
2016/17   
£’000

Latest 
Expected 
Variance 
to Year 
End
2016/17   
£’000

Previous 
Expected 
Variance to 
Year End
2016/17   
£’000

Total 32,199 21,669 31,741 (458) -

Culture 

78



ICT 

Enterprise, Tourism & Regeneration 

Southend Pier 

79



Coastal Defence and Foreshore 

Highways and Infrastructure 

Parking Management 

Section 38 and Section 106 Schemes 

Local Transport Plans (LTP Schemes) 

80



Local Growth Fund 

Transport 

Energy Saving Projects 

81



Summary 

82



Housing Revenue Account 

Housing Revenue Account
Revised 
Budget 
2016/17       
£’000

Outturn to 
28 February
2016/17     
£’000

Expected 
outturn 
2016/17   
£’000

Forecast 
Variance 
to Year 
End  
2016/17      
£’000

Previous 
Forecast 
Variance 
to Year 
End
2016/17   
£’000

Total 7,441 6,081 7,441 - -

Decent Homes Programme 

Council House Adaptions 

Other HRA 

83



Ex
Ap

pe
nd

ix
 1

 O
rig

in
al

 B
ud

ge
t 

20
16

/1
7 

 R
ev

is
io

ns
  

 R
ev

is
ed

 B
ud

ge
t 

20
16

/1
7 

 A
ct

ua
l 

20
16

/1
7 

 F
or

ec
as

t o
ut

tu
rn

 
20

16
/1

7 
 F

or
ec

as
t V

ar
ia

nc
e 

to
 

Ye
ar

 E
nd

 2
01

6/
17

 
 %

 V
ar

ia
nc

e 

£0
00

£0
00

£0
00

£0
00

£0
00

£0
00

Ch
ief

 E
xe

cu
tiv

e
15

,22
9

 
(1

3,9
40

)
    

    
    

 
1,2

89
 

40
9

 
1,1

99
 

(9
0)

 
32

%
Pe

op
le

13
,36

5
 

82
0

 
14

,18
5

 
10

,06
5

    
    

11
,66

5
 

(2
,52

0)
 

71
%

Pl
ac

e
34

,08
3

 
(1

,88
4)

 
32

,19
9

 
21

,66
9

    
    

31
,74

1
 

(4
58

)
 

67
%

Ho
us

ing
 R

ev
en

ue
 A

cc
ou

nt
10

,77
3

 
(3

,33
2)

 
7,4

41
 

6,0
81

    
    

  
7,4

41
 

- 
82

%
73

,45
0

 
(1

8,3
36

)
    

    
    

 
55

,11
4

 
38

,22
4

    
    

52
,04

6
 

(3
,06

8)
 

69
%

 C
ou

nc
il A

pp
ro

ve
d 

Or
ig

in
al 

Bu
dg

et
 - 

Fe
br

ua
ry

 20
16

73
,45

0

Ch
ief

 E
xe

cu
tiv

e a
me

nd
me

nts
(1

5,8
46

)
 

Pe
op

le 
am

en
dm

en
ts

(1
44

)
 

Pl
ac

e a
me

nd
me

nts
(2

,04
5)

 
HR

A 
am

en
dm

en
ts

(3
,48

9)
 

Ca
rry

 F
or

wa
rd

 re
qu

es
ts 

fro
m 

20
15

/16
4,2

18
 

Ac
ce

ler
ate

d D
eli

ve
ry 

re
qu

es
ts 

to 
20

15
/16

(2
,80

7)
 

Bu
dg

et 
re

-p
ro

file
s (

Ju
ne

 C
ab

ine
t)

(1
34

)
 

Ne
w 

ex
ter

na
l fu

nd
ing

1,9
11

 
 C

ou
nc

il A
pp

ro
ve

d 
Re

vis
ed

 B
ud

ge
t -

 F
eb

ru
ar

y 2
01

7
55

,11
4

Su
m

m
ar

y 
of

 C
ap

ita
l E

xp
en

di
tu

re
 a

t 2
8t

h 
Fe

br
ua

ry
 2

01
7

Ac
tu

al
 c

om
pa

re
d 

to
 R

ev
is

ed
 B

ud
ge

t s
pe

nt
 is

 £
38

.2
24

M
 o

r 
69

%

84



Ap
pe

nd
ix

 2

 Y
ea

r 
 O

ut
tu

rn
 £

m
 

 O
ut

tu
rn

 %
 

20
12

/1
3

61
.0

 
97

.9
 

20
13

/1
4

43
.3

 
93

.8
 

20
14

/1
5

34
.8

 
83

.8
 

20
15

/1
6

37
.9

 
97

.0
 

-1
0010203040506070

0
1

2
3

4
5

6
7

8
9

10
11

12
13

£ Millions 

Ca
pi

ta
l p

ro
gr

am
m

e 
De

liv
er

y 
 

Cu
m

m
ul

at
iv

e 
Ca

pi
ta

l E
xp

en
di

tu
re

 2
01

2/
13

 to
 2

01
6/

17
 

20
12

/1
3

20
13

/1
4

20
14

/1
5

20
15

/1
6

20
16

/1
7

85



This page is intentionally left blank



Southend-on-Sea Borough Council
Report of the Deputy Chief Executive (People)

to
Cabinet

on
14th March 2017

Report prepared by:
Catherine Braun – Group Manager Access and Inclusion

The Future Provision of Secondary Places in Southend 
People Scrutiny Committee

Executive Councillor: Councillor James Courtenay
A Part 1 Public Agenda Item

1. Purpose of Report

1.1   To provide Cabinet members with a progress report on the strategy for the provision 
of secondary places as overseen by the School Places Working Party.

2. Recommendation

2.1 That Cabinet is asked to firstly note and secondly agree to the 
recommendations made at the School Places Working Party (SPWP), held on 
6th February 2017.

2.2 The following recommendations are taken from the draft minutes. The SPWP 
endorsed the report, and made the following recommendations:

(To meet immediate needs by September 2018) 

 To agree the continuation of expansion discussions with Good and 
Outstanding Schools

(To meet the additional need for September 2019) 

 To agree an initial exploration with a small number of Academy Trusts 
regarding a secondary free school

 To agree exploring expansion opportunities with schools that currently 
require improvement
In addition

 That officers should continue dialogue with faith schools regarding future 
expansion, where there is excess demand but places should be for 
Southend children only

Agenda
Item No.

9

87

7



3. Background

3.1 On 23 June 2015, Cabinet resolved that officers undertake consultations with 
existing secondary schools regarding expansions to meet increases in pupil 
population demand.  

3.2 Long-term forecasts for secondary schools are reasonably accurate, as the 
numbers of primary pupils transferring to secondary schools are already known.  
The increased birth level indicates the continuation of high pupil numbers in primary 
and subsequently in secondary schools is currently stable with no current indication 
that numbers will reduce.  By comparison, there has been a permanent increase of 
around 9 forms of entry (FE) and nearly 3FE in bulge years within the primary 
sector.  The total cost for the primary expansion was nearly £25 million.

3.3 Over the last four years we have seen an average net loss at secondary transfer 
(year 7) primarily to Essex schools of 300 pupils for mainstream places and a net 
gain from Essex, the London Boroughs and other sources of 567 pupils for selective 
places (those reaching the pass mark for the eleven plus examination and/or 
entering Southend Catholic faith schools). 

Previous attempts to secure Essex County Council’s (ECC) accurate and reliable 
school planning data have not always proven successful or helpful. However, more 
recent communication indicates that their own pupil forecasts identify that due to 
their own pupil population increase and housing developments surrounding the 
Essex/Southend boarder, from 2018 they will only be able to offer limited secondary 
places to Southend children and from 2019 they will have no capacity to offer any 
secondary places to Southend resident pupils. Whilst this very recent information 
from ECC is helpful, officers will continue to work using this intelligence as a factor 
when determining accurate Southend predictions. This factor has increased the 
number of deficit places to beyond the primary expansions taking the need to 12 FE 
plus 2 further FE in bulge years. A summary of the latest forecasts is included in 
Appendix 1.

3.4 The first shortfall of places appears in 2018 where 4-5 forms of entry are needed 
followed by a further 6 FE in 2019.

3.5 Secondary school place offer day was the 1st March 2017. Overall there was a 1.7% 
increase in the number of pupils applying for a school place (32 more pupils, which 
is just over one form of entry). Southend Borough Council was successful in 
ensuring that every child who had applied for a school place was allocated a place 
for September 2017. However the underlying pressures alluded to in this report 
have started to manifest themselves, reflected in a slightly lower percentage of 
places offered to pupils for their first school preference (76% compared to 79% in 
2016). In addition there was a 2% increase in parents not receiving any of their 
preferences (7% for 2017 compared to 5% in 2016). Officers are currently working 
with school leaders where schools are oversubscribed and not meeting catchment.

4. Other Options

Way forward to meet need

88



4.1 Southend School Expansions – Good and Outstanding Schools:

4.1.1 To meet the initial need in 2018 discussions have progressed with 3 secondary 
academies graded good or better by Ofsted to expand by 2FE per site. One of 
these has progressed to planning and one is at feasibility stage. Expansions with 
‘good’ secondary schools are intended to meet the 2018 need. We are currently 
working with Eastwood Academy, Shoeburyness High School and Belfairs to 
secure firm commitments to ensure the required forms of entry for 2018 meet our 
predicted needs

4.1.2 In-depth discussions were also undertaken with secondary faith schools regarding 
the potential for expansion; however there was insufficient evidence that increasing 
places at these schools would secure places for Southend children due to their 
oversubscription criteria for admissions prioritising out of area Catholics, over 
Southend resident non-practising Catholics. There is little evidence to suggest that 
the Catholic population has increased for the immediate need (2018/19), however 
expanding these schools remains an option for 2021 onwards where pupils 
attending the expanded Catholic primary school will reach secondary age.

4.2 Free School 

4.2.1 Any new school now must be a free school. The LA is investigating the feasibility of 
a free school and is in communication with existing and proven academy trusts 
regarding submitting a bid to the Department for Education (DfE). This would be 
through a centrally funded route, whereby a trust puts a bid in directly to the DfE.  
The department, using this route, would fund all capital costs associated but would 
reduce the basic need grant paid to the Council. 

4.2.2 Benefits:
There would be no cost to the Council, and given a smooth transition we would 
have sufficient places within the time allocated. Trusts require a ‘strong track record’ 
and achievement should be above local and national averages. Free Schools (with 
the exception of Free Special schools) must be ‘all-ability’ schools, so cannot use 
academic selection processes.

4.2.3 Risks:
The drawbacks would be that we have no control over which academy trust is 
selected, although remain accountable for the outcomes. The decision on a 
successful bid rests entirely with the department, and we will continue to work very 
closely with their teams to try and ensure Southend views are addressed. 

In addition the process starts by a scrutiny of assets owned by the Council, and 
would in effect utilise those without recompense to the Council, resulting in 
potentially a loss of a significant asset to the Council. This could be land or 
buildings. If no suitable Council land is found, then public land or compulsory 
purchase may be followed.  

Lastly, there is a danger that a new school could draw capacity further from some of 
our underperforming schools, compounding the situation further.

89



Applications for free schools are submitted in September or March and a process of 
assessment by DfE takes place that can take up to 6 months.  As a result of 
consultation, the minister has delayed the next round of application to the “summer 
term”, expected in June. Whilst this allows us time to work with the Trust and 
department to construct the bid, the slight delay in submitting the initial expression 
of interest would now put pressure on our ability to complete the project in order to 
meet a September 2019 opening. If the basic need case is proven to be strong 
enough a free school could open in temporary accommodation, although the DfE 
avoid this where possible.

4.3 Southend School Expansions – Underperforming Schools:

4.3.1 The DfE expects that schools should not generally expand if they are eligible for 
intervention by the local Regional Schools Commissioner (RSC). This is to 
safeguard underperforming schools becoming compromised by expansion. It is 
accepted that there will be exceptional cases where there is no viable alternative to 
ensuring sufficient school places locally.

4.3.2 One currently underperforming academy has raised an interest in expanding.  
Southend LA is in communication with the RSC regarding schools that fall under 
this criteria and their readiness to expand.

5. Reason for Recommendation

Conclusion 

5.1 Need from September 2018 is intended to be met by expansion of ‘good or better’ 
secondary schools.

5.2 Additional need from September 2019 is expected to be met through a successful 
free school application to the DfE

5.3 Additional need from 2020 onwards is aimed to be met from expansions at currently 
underperforming schools (and faith schools if data evidences an increased cohort of 
Catholic pupil’s resident within Southend).

6. Corporate Implications

6.1 Contribution to Council’s Vision & Corporate Priorities 
Ensure residents have access to high quality education to enable them to be lifelong 

learners and have fulfilling employment.

6.2 Financial Implications 
Budget was agreed at February Cabinet meeting

6.3 Legal Implications
If sufficient places are not supplied the council will not meet its statutory duties in 

supplying sufficient school places

90



6.4 People Implications 
Risk of a % of children not having a secondary school place in September 2018

6.5 Property Implications
DfE may commandeer local authority asset to build a free school (only those of sufficient 

size to meet a 6FE school would be at risk)

6.6 Consultation
None 

6.7 Equalities and Diversity Implications
None 

6.8 Risk Assessment
None

6.9 Value for Money
None

6.10 Community Safety Implications
N/A at this present time

6.11 Environmental Impact
N/A until site identified for free school

7. Background Papers
None 

8. Appendices

Appendix 1 - Forecast Numbers with Illustrated Forms of Entry Expansions

91



Appendix 1 – Forecast Numbers including impact of Essex places and Illustrated Forms of Entry Expansions 

 Year 7 
Forecast

Essex 
Places 
pushed 
back to 
SBC

Year 7 
Forecast 

+ 
Pushback

Anticipated Surplus/Deficit Number of FE 
Required

Number of 
Places

Total 
Places Surplus/Deficit

    PAN* (B-A)  (D*28) (B+E) (F-A)

 A Ai Aii B C D E F** G

2017/18 2265 0 2265 2300 35 0 0 2300 35

2018/19 2361 60 2421 2300 -121 5 140 2440 19

2019/20 2525 75 2600 2320 -280 10 280 2600 0

2020/21 2540 90 2630 2320 -310 12 336 2656 26

2021/22 2583 105 2688 2320 -368 14 392 2712 24

2022/23 2585 105 2690 2320 -370 14 392 2712 22

2023/24 2547 105 2652 2320 -332 12 336 2656 4

2024/25 2476 105 2581 2320 -261 10 280 2600 19

2025/26 2508 105 2613 2320 -293 11 308 2628 15

*PAN is combined PAN as known for 2017/18.  From 2019/20 including additional places at Cecil Jones.
**Column F indicates the anticipated increased combined PANs.

92



1. Purpose of Report
1.1 To confirm the admission arrangements for community schools for the academic year 

2018/19. 

2. Recommendations

2.1 That Cabinet notes the final Admissions Arrangements for Community Schools 
for the academic year 2018/19 

3. Background

3.1 The Council has a responsibility to determine in relation to school admissions the 
Admission Arrangements for Community Schools (admission numbers, admission 
criteria and catchment areas); 

3.2 For community schools, the local authority (as the admission authority) must 
consult on the admission arrangements every 7 years if there are no changes. 
There are no changes proposed for 2018 and therefore the next time we have a 
duty to consult will be for the arrangements of 2019/20. 

3.3 For community schools, the local authority (as the admission authority) must 
consult the governing body of each school where it proposes either to 
increase or keep the same PAN. 

3.4      Cabinet approved the admission arrangement in September 2016. 

3.6 Admission arrangements for community school must be determined and included in a 
composite prospectus by 15th March 2017. 

4. Admission Arrangement for 2018/19

Southend-on-Sea Borough Council
Report of Deputy Chief Executive (People)

to
Cabinet

on
14 March 2017

Report prepared by: Catherine Braun – Group Manager 
Access and Inclusion

School Admissions Arrangements for Community Schools and 
the Coordinated Admission Scheme for Academic year 2018/19

People Scrutiny Committee
Executive Councillor: James Courtenay

A Part 1 (Public) Agenda Item

Agenda
Item No.

10

93

8



4.1 Admission Criteria

4.1.1 There are no proposed changes from 2017/18. The final admission criteria for 
community primary schools for September 2018 are shown in Appendix 1.

4.2 Published Admission Numbers

4.2.1 There are currently no proposed changes to the Admission Limits from 2017/18.  The 
proposed admission limits for all community primary schools for September 2018 are 
shown on Page 2 of the Admission Arrangements for Community Schools at 
Appendix 1.

4.3 Catchment Areas

4.3.1 The proposed catchment areas for primary schools for September 2018 are
within the Admission Arrangements in Appendix 1. There are no proposed 
changes from 2018/19.

5. Corporate Implications

5.1 Contribution to Council's Vision & Corporate Priorities — These arrangements will 
assist pupils within the Borough to access quality learning opportunities to achieve the 
best possible outcomes for all children.

5.2 Financial Implications — There are no direct financial implications for the Council. The 
administration of school admissions is funded from the Dedicated Schools Grant.

5.3 Legal Implications
The determination of admission arrangements for community schools and the 
provision of a coordinated admissions scheme is a statutory requirement.

5.4 People Implications 
None

5.5 Property Implications 
None

5.6 Consultation
The admission arrangements and the coordinated scheme were considered by 
the Admission Forum at a meeting on 18th June 2015. The forum were in 
agreement with the proposed changes to the coordinated scheme. Individual 
Governing Bodies to be consulted as at paragraph 3.3.

5.7 Equalities and Diversity Implications
A co-ordinated admissions scheme and clear oversubscription criteria are 
necessary to ensure fair access to school places.

5.8 Risk Assessment
If the Council does not agreed a scheme, one will be imposed by the DfE, and 
the Council's reputation will suffer.

5.9 Value for Money
No direct implications.

94



5.10 Community Safety Implications 
None envisaged.

5.11 Environmental Impact 
None envisaged

6. Background Papers

6.1 School Admissions Code 2014 —
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/school-admissions-code--2
and School Admission Appeals Code 2012 -
https://www.qov.uk/govemment/publications/school-admissions-appeals-code

7. Appendices

7.1 Appendix 1 — Proposed Admissions Arrangements for Community Schools for
September 2018 including Published Admission Numbers on Page 2.

95

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/school-admissions-code--2
https://www.qov.uk/govemment/publications/school-admissions-appeals-code


This page is intentionally left blank



Proposed Admissions arrangements for 
Community Schools 

for September 2018 round of admissions

For office use (to be removed from final/published version) 
26th May  2016 Arrangements for Admission forum

20th September 2016 
31st January 2017

Cabinet draft consultation proposals
Consultation minimum of 8 weeks by this date
PAN consultation 1st Sept 2016 -  1st  November 2016

10th January 2017 Cabinet Determination to Cabinet, for noting 
28th February 2017 Final Determined Admission Arrangements
15th March  2017 Publication of Composite Prospectus of Determined Arrangements
16th March – 15th May 2017 OSA objections

Final publication date:  15th March 2017

. 

Appendix 1

97



1. Community Schools Published Admissions Number 2018/19

Community Primary Schools* Proposed 
admission 

limit for 
2018/19

Barons Court Primary School & Nursery 35
Bournes Green Junior School 66
Chalkwell Hall Infant School 108
Chalkwell Hall Junior School 108
Earls Hall Primary School 90
Edwards Hall Primary School 60
Fairways Primary School 60
Heycroft Primary School 60
Leigh North Street Primary School 90
Richmond Primary School 60
Temple Sutton Primary School 120 
West Leigh Infant School 120

*community Schools as at publication. Should more schools convert to Academy status this list will be updated. 

98



3

2 Oversubscription criteria

For community primary schools, with the exception of Leigh North Street Primary 
School, the admissions policy is that, if at the closing date for applications, there are 
not enough places for all those who have expressed a wish to have their child 
admitted to a particular school, places will be allocated using the following criteria:

a) Infant/primary school intake:
1. Looked after children and previously looked after children (see 

explanatory note );
2. Pupils who live in the catchment area served by the school and who have 

an older sibling attending the school or attending the “partner” community 
junior school;

3. Pupils who live in the catchment area served by the school;
4. Pupils who live outside the catchment area served by the school and who have 

an older sibling attending the school or attending the “partner” community junior 
school;

5. Pupils who live outside the catchment area served by the school.

b) Junior/primary school intake:

Priority will be given to those pupils currently attending the “partner” community infant 
school. Provided that the number of pupils in year 2 of the infant school does not 
exceed the admission limit of the junior school they will all be guaranteed a place. If 
places remain unfilled the following criteria will be used, in priority order to allocate 
places up to the annual admission limit of the junior school.

1. Looked after children and previously looked after children (see 
explanatory note );

2. Pupils who live in the catchment area served by the school and who have 
an older sibling attending the school;

3. Pupils who live in the catchment area served by the school;
4. Pupils who live outside the catchment area served by the school and who 

have an older sibling attending the school;
5. Pupils who live outside the catchment area served by the school.

2. Oversubscription criteria for Leigh North Street Primary School for 
September 2018

1. Looked after children and previously looked after children (see 
explanatory note);

2. Pupils who live in the catchment area served by the school and who have an 
older sibling attending the school;

3. Pupils who live in the catchment area served by the school;
4. Pupils who live outside the catchment served by the school and who have an 

older sibling attending Leigh North Street Primary School;
5. Pupils who live in the catchment area of West Leigh Infant and Junior Schools;
6. Pupils who live outside the catchment served by the school or outside the 

West Leigh Infant and Junior Schools catchment area
99



4

4. Explanatory notes:

Any reference to previously looked after children means children who were 
adopted (or subject to residence or special guardianship orders) immediately 
following having been looked after.

Pupils with Statements of Special Educational Needs that name a particular school 
are required to be admitted and the admission authority does not have the right to 
refuse admission.

In the case of over subscription in any one category “straight line” distance will be 
used to measure the distance between the pupil’s home and the nearest pupil 
entrance to the school. Distances will be measured using the Local Authority’s 
computerised measuring system. The pupils living closest will be given priority.

If the pupil’s home is a flat the distance will be measured to the main external 
entrance to the building. If the same distance is shared by more than one pupil, 
and only one place is available, the place will be awarded on the basis of a 
computerised random allocation process (supervised by someone independent of 
the Council / governing body).

All admissions criteria for pupils applying to start the Reception year and year 3 
(in a separate Junior school) refer to the closing date for admission applications. 
For all other applications the criteria will refer to the date the application is 
received by the Council.

Siblings are considered to be an older brother or sister, half-brother or half-sister, 
step-brother or step-sister, adopted brother or sister, living at the same address, 
who attends the school at the time of application with a reasonable expectation 
that he or she will still be attending at the time of the proposed admission.

In the exceptional situation where one twin or one or two triplets are refused a 
place, in order to keep family members together the additional pupil(s) will be 
admitted even if this results in the admission limit for the year group being 
exceeded.

If it is not possible to offer the child a place at any community school, details of 
the appeals process will be forwarded to the parent by the School Admissions 
Team.

 

100



5
 Please note, schools may change status after publication and before the 

admission round. Information correct as of February 2017

101



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Southend-on-Sea Borough Council
Report of Deputy Chief Executive (People)

to
Cabinet

on
14th March 2017

Report prepared by: 
Tom Dowler, Data Performance and Information Manager

Annual Education Report
People Scrutiny Committee

Executive Councillor: Councillor James Courtenay 

A Part 1 Public Agenda Item

1. Purpose of Report 

1.1 To inform the Council in retrospect of the relative performance of Southend schools in 
the academic year 2015-16

2. Recommendation

2.1 That Cabinet note and approve the draft Annual Education Report (AER) as set 
out in Appendix 1

3. Background

3.1 The Council is required to report annually on the relative performance of all schools, 
irrespective of status.

3.2 The format and scope if this report is left for Councils to determine. As in previous 
years, the Southend Annual Education Report focusses by Key stage and by area of 
importance to the Council.

3.3 The report is by its nature retrospective, sometime after the initial indicative results 
are made public. It is only when the validated data becomes available that the report 
can be complied and verified. 

4. Proposal for future reports to Council

4.1 Officers will work with the Executive Councillor for Children and Learning to prepare 
future reports in the format that proves most useful for members.

5. Reasons for recommendations

5.1 To allow members greater access and scrutiny of school performance. 

6. Corporate Implications

6.1 Contribution to Council’s Vision & Corporate Priorities
Ensure residents have access to high quality education to enable them to be lifelong 
learners and have fulfilling employment.

Agenda
Item No.

11

103

9



6.2 Financial Implications - None

6.3 Legal Implications - None

6.4 People Implications 
The actions and priorities emanating from this report will be delivered as part of the 
Council’s School Performance Strategy

6.5 Property Implications - None

6.6 Consultation – None required, although the document has been constructed through a 
number of partners

6.7 Equalities and Diversity Implications – None

6.8 Risk Assessment – None undertaken.

6.9 Value for Money implications – None

6.10 Community Safety Implications – None

6.11 Environmental Impact – None

7. Background Papers

7.1 There are no background papers.

8. Appendices

8.1 Appendix 1 – Draft Annual Education Report 2015/16

 

   73 days

   55 days

   67 days
_______
195 days

Published 25.04.2005 by Education Information Management
The Schools Service 
Essex County Council, PO Box 47
Chelmsford CM2 6WN Tel. 01245 436242 / 436276

104



1

Southend-on-Sea Borough Council

Annual Education Report 2015 - 2016

Celebrating the achievement of our children 
and young people

105



2

Contents

Introduction ……………………………………………………………………….3
Executive Summary ……………………………………………………………….4

Section 1 
Attainment and Progress……………………………………………………………..5

Early years ……………………………………………………………….5
Key Stage 1 ……………………………………………………………….8
Key Stage 2 ………………………………………………………………10
Key Stage 4 ………………………………………………………………14
Key Stage 5 – Post 16 ………………………………………………………19

Section 2 
Closing the achievement gap between groups of children and young people………21
Disadvantaged children - Free school meals (FSM) achievement gap …………….22
Gender achievement gap……………………………………………………………28
First Language achievement gap………………………………………………...….33
Achievement of pupils with Special Educational Needs (SEN)…………………....36

Section 3
Attainment of Looked After Children………………………………………………40

Attainment…………………………………………………………………..40
Absence……………………………………………………………………..42
Exclusions…………………………………………………………………...43

Section 4
Behaviour and Attendance…………………………………………………..……..44

Section 5
OfSTED Inspection outcomes……………………………………………….……..48

Section 6
School to School Support: The Southend Challenge ………………………….…..50

Section 7 
Future Priorities…………………………………………………………………....51

106



3

Introduction

I have great pleasure in introducing this publication about the achievement of children and young people in Southend 
schools and colleges.  The document follows the publication of last year’s Annual Education Report which was well 
received and brought together useful information and data about the educational achievement of Southend’s children 
and young people. It provides a retrospective overview of the educational outcomes for children and young people in 
the educational year 2015 / 2016 and where possible shows the trend over a number of years in a range of key 
national measures, including comparisons with national averages. 

The Local Authority remains highly ambitious. It works closely with all schools in the Borough to raise pupils’ 
achievement and to offer the best quality education for all children and young people who attend schools and colleges 
in Southend.  I continue to be very appreciative of the commitment of all staff and governors within Southend schools 
and settings, who work hard to improve the life chances and future educational and employment opportunities for the 
children and young people in the Borough.  The Borough’s results in 2016 remain broadly in line with the national 
average for primary age pupils and above the national averages for secondary students and are improving at a faster 
rate than that nationally at GCSE.

Southend has 51 publically funded schools and a Pupil Referral Unit operating as part of Seabrook College and one post 
16 college.  Over 29,000 pupils attend Southend’s primary and secondary schools, over 600 pupils attend maintained 
special schools and there are some 2000 students enrolled at the college.

There are significant national changes which drive the education agenda.  These include a new national curriculum; 
changing assessment and reporting procedures; the need to create additional school places and embedding special 
educational needs (SEN) reforms amongst many others. Other pressures including the National Funding Formula and 
recruitment and retention issues of staff will continue to challenge schools over the coming years.

Many Southend state funded schoolks are already part of a Multi Academy Trust, or an academy in their own right.  
Other maintained schools are considering working in partnership through Multi Academy Trusts. Regardless of the 
status of the school, the local authority aims for every school in the Borough to be judged by OfSTED to be Good or 
Outstanding by 2017/18. We also remain determined to work closely with schools to continue to improve the 
outcomes for disadvantaged learners, narrowing the gap in achievement between these groups and that of their peers. 

The role of both schools and the Local Authority has changed in the last few years. The Local Authority nonetheless 
retains specific duties in relation to all schools and pupils, remaining accountable for all school outcomes regardless of 
status; the vitally important area of supporting vulnerable learners, including those with special educational needs and 
planning sufficient good school places. The Local Authority’s role has subtly shifted to provide challenge to schools 
where standards are not good enough, and ensuring that support is available where it is required. The government has 
placed the responsibility for school improvement to be that of schools themselves, with an expectation that schools 
will work together to raise standards and provide support for each other when necessary.  As part of this new dynamic, 
the Authority wishes to work more in partnership with school leaders to enable them to take the lead on school 
improvement. Our role will be to support this to happen, to broker and commission school to school support and to 
grow capacity within the system to allow schools to thrive. With recent changes in the leadership of Learning within 
the Authority, I am sure that we, schools and the Borough, will continue to work collaboratively in partnership to agree 
our shared policies and ambitions; to set ourselves ambitious targets for improvement, celebrate together our 
achievements and  hold each other to account where we fall short of our aspirations.  

I hope that you find the information within the document of interest and use when considering the issues for the Local 
Authority to achieve its aim, that every child and young person achieves their best and that all schools are good or 
outstanding.

Simon Leftley 
Executive Director of People     March 2017

107



4

Executive Summary

This report provides information about the educational achievement of all children and young people in Southend 
during the academic year 2015 / 16, at the end of each Key Stage of education and compares their outcomes with all 
children and young people nationally.  Included in this information is attendance and exclusions information as well as 
the outcomes of OfSTED inspections of schools in Southend and the percentage of children who attend good or 
outstanding schools. The report also considers how well a number of nationally underperforming groups of children 
and young people, achieve in Southend. The groups that have been focused on are: disadvantaged pupils  - specifically 
those eligible for free school meals (FSM); girls and boys, where boys have achieved less well than girls overall; those 
who have English as their first language as well as those whose first language is not English and children who have 
special educational needs (SEN). 

2015 / 16 saw the introduction of major assessment and accountability reforms for primary schools in key stage 1 and 
key stage 2. This included more challenging tests which were reported using precise scaled scores instead of 
theprevious system of levels, new performance descriptors that were linked to the new curriculum and a higher bar 
with increased expections for school accountability. Consequently, the indicators used to assess pupil performance 
have changed and are not comparable to previous years. Similarly at key stage 4, a range of new headline 
accountability measures were introduced, with the aim of focussing on the progress of all students rather than placing 
undue emphasis on the C/D border line. This has also meant that trend data is not always available or comparable.

During 2015 / 16 there has been an improving picture in many of the measures that are used nationally to judge the 
effectiveness of schools and local authorities. These include:
 
 More young children at the end of the Early Years Foundation Stage, when children are aged 5 have achieved a 

“Good Level of Development” (GLD), the Southend percentage has increased from 69% last year to 71% in 2016
 Children aged 7 at the end of Key Stage 1, in 2016, achieve in line with or above the national averages in all of the 

new measures 
 At the end of Key Stage 2, when children are 11 years old, the percentage of children achieving the expected level 

of attainment is above the national average in the combined measure of reading, writing and maths. The 
proportion achieving the new high standard is above the national average in all subjects

 At the end of Key Stage 4 in the headline measure, Attainment 8, the provisional Southend score of 53.3 was 
significantly higher than the national average. In the new Progress 8 measure pupils performed in line with similar 
pupils nationally

 A higher percentage of young people achieve good grades at A level than nationally which has been so for four 
years

 Persistent absenteeism has reduced significantly in primary and secondary schools
 A higher percentage of children and young people are educated in a good or outstanding school as judged by 

OfSTED at the end of the academic year 2016 than in 2015

Although there has been progress made in improving outcomes for children and young people there are a number of 
areas where schools and the Local Authority will need to continue to focus. These include:

 Closing the achievement gaps between groups of pupils who are disadvantaged as a result of poverty (in receipt of 
free school meals) , gender, first language and SEN 

 Accelerating the progress made by pupils, particularly those who underachieve
 Continue to ensure that pupils are enabled to remain in the mainstream school system with the aim of removing 

permanent exclusions from the secondary sector
 Working with parents to reduce the level of absence and further reduce the rate of  persistent absenteeism
 Further reduce the number of young people who are not in education, employment or training (NEET)
 Challenging schools to ensure that they offer at least a good education to all pupils and reduce the number of 

school causing the Local Authority or OfSTED concern.

108



5

Section 1 Attainment and Progress

Southend school leaders, governors and staff, together with parents, carers, the community and the LA offer children 
and young people a broad curriculum and a wide range of educational experiences; in many schools, these are of the 
highest quality. However, the focus on what children achieve through their time in school is the main focus for 
inspection and how schools are judged.  Therefore this report starts by looking at the achievement (attainment and 
progress) of children and young people in Southend from age 5 to 19.

Early years

The Early Years Foundation Stage (EYFS) of education is completed in the reception class, the academic year in which 
children become 5 years old.  It has long been asserted that children who have experienced good quality early years 
education are more likely to achieve well throughout their schooling.  This belief, which has been long held by early 
year educators, has now been validated by the outcomes and findings of a range of educational research and studies.  
All primary and infant schools in Southend have reception classes and therefore it is a very important part of the 
publicly funded education offer in the borough. 

Young children must have access to an educational programme that covers seven areas of learning.  Three are 
considered to be prime areas.  These are communication and language, physical development and personal, social and 
emotional development.  There are four other specific areas through which the prime areas are strengthened and 
applied.  These specific areas are literacy, mathematics, understanding the world and expressive arts and design.

Successes

The 2016 data shows that 71% of Southend children achieved a Good Level of Development (including PVI settings) - 
this figure is 2 percentage points higher than in 2015. The average total points score achieved on the EYFS was 36.5 in 
Southend (compared to 36.3 last year), putting the local authority 5th in the national rankings. 34 points is the 
equivalent of children achieving the expected level across all Early Learning Goals. The area of learning with the highest 
percentage of children attaining a GLD was Physical Development (90%), the lowest was Literacy (73%). It is the Local 
Authority’s expectation that the very good outcome in 2016 will be maintained in improved further in future years.

A focus by the Local Authority (LA) and schools on ensuring high quality provision for children in the reception class, 
and a partnership with other providers of early years education in a variety of settings, has contributed to the 
significant rise in the outcomes for children at the end of this stage of their education. This focus has included:

 LA commissioned high quality, bespoke training programmes on early years education for head teachers, Early 
Years leaders and Early Years practitioners

 Additional training for Early Years leaders and practitioners focusing on their understanding and knowledge of 
the EY assessment framework, leading to improved judgements of children’s attainment

 The early years ‘hub leaders’ provided additional training for specific schools
 Externally validated high quality moderation of teacher assessment of children’s learning 
 The quality of care provided through settings, including children’s centres, being built on as children enter 

nursery and reception classes
 A focus on closing the significant gap in achievement between girls and boys

109



6

Areas for further development

It will be important that the improved results in 2016 are sustained and further improved.  The Local Authority, in 
partnership with early year’s education providers, has been successful in securing a significant National Lottery grant 
for 10 years which will enable further improvements in the outcomes for young children. In Southend this programme 
of work has been called ‘A Better Start Southend’. The focus for 2016-2017 is on the development of schools’ readiness 
through strengthened partnership working between settings and schools.

‘A Better Start Southend’, aims to provide children 0-3 with a better start in life, focusing on children and families in 
Kursaal, Westborough, Milton, Victoria, Shoeburyness and West Shoebury wards. There are a number of programmes 
and initiatives to improve outcomes for children in three key areas of development: social and emotional 
development; communication and language development; and diet and nutrition. There will be a ‘systems change’ in 
the way that local health, public services and the voluntary sector work together to put prevention in early life at the 
heart of service delivery and practice.

Figure 1

110



7

The chart below shows how the gap in attainment at between the target wards and the rest of Southend has already 
narrowed in the main early years indicator. Furthrmore, the target wards are now achieving in line with the national 
average.

Figure 2

111



8

Key Stage 1

Key Stage 1 is a two year programme of work in the National Curriculum subjects and religious education.  Children in 
years 1 and 2 work through the programme and are assessed by teachers at the end of year 2 in reading, writing, 
maths and science. Although new tests were introduced in 2016, the scores were not reported but instead were used 
by teachers to inform their assessments. Pupils are assessed in three bandings. These are described as “meeting the 
Expected Standard” or “Working at Greater Depth within the Expected Standard” (high attaining). Lower attaining 
pupils could have been reported as “Working Towards the Expected Standard” or at pre-key stage standards below 
this.   All primary and infant schools in Southend educate children in Key Stage 1.

Successes

The 2016 Key Stage 1 data show that the percentage of children in Southend achieving the expected standard or higher 
in reading, writing and maths is above the national average. In science the figures are in line with the national average. 
In terms of the higher standard, Southend is significantly above national in reading, writing and maths and in the top 
25% of all local authorities in the country; this indicator is not applicable to science.

It is not possible to compare 2016 results to previous years as the new Expected Standard is not equivalent to the old 
expected standard (level 2). However, it is possible to measure how Southend has performed relative to other local 
authorities. In all of reading, writing and maths, Southend’s national ranking has improved considerably in the main 
indicator. The subject of reading saw the biggest improvement – up 51 places in the LA tables to a current ranking of 
29th out of 151.

The improvement in the 2016 result at Key Stage 1 is as a result of:

 Pupil premium funding used effectively for interventions to raise the attainment of disadvantaged pupils and 
increased focus on the achievement of pupil premium pupils in academic year 2015-16

 Continued improved outcomes in phonics which have had a positive impact on outcomes at the end of KS1
 The number of schools in Southend being judged by OfSTED as good or better has improved since 2015
 Continued high quality moderation of teachers’ assessment, confirming the accuracy of children’s attainment

Figure 3
112



9

National ranking of Southend for assessments at the end of Key Stage 1

2014 2015 2016
Speaking/Listening 9 41 …
Reading 55 80 29
Writing 66 81 33
Maths 94 95 55
Science 31 41 68

Notes For 2014 & 2015 this represents children achieving level 2 at the end of key stage 1
From 2016 it is those achieving the new expected standard at the end of key stage 1

Source DFE SFR 32/2015 - Table 17
DFE SFR 42/2016 - Table 18

Data Final (2015), Provisional (2016)
Table 1

Figure 4

Areas for further improvement

 To sustain and build on this improvement within the new curriculum and assessment arrangements for the 
academic year 2016-17

 To continue to narrow the gap between disadvantaged and non-disadvantaged pupils. Disadvantaged pupils’ 
outcomes at the end of KS1 in Southend are below those of non-disadvantaged pupils in all subjects

 To address the gender achievement gap. Girls have outperformed boys in all subject areas and levels with the 
exception of the higher standard in maths where boys achieved better. Maths, in general, shows the 
narrowest gap in outcomes between boys and girls and the widest gap is in writing. 

113



10

114



11

Key Stage 2

Key Stage 2 is a four year key stage of the National Curriculum, covering years 3 to 6.  All Southend Junior and Primary 
schools cover this key stage. New assessment and accountability measures in 2016 mean that in reading, maths and 
grammar, punctuation and spelling, pupils are assessed via tests with the results expressed as scaled scores. A score of 
100 represents the national expected standard and will remain so for future years. Pupils scoring 100 or above are said 
to have met the Expected Standard. The threshold for a ‘high score’ is 110. Writing is not tested, so results are based 
on teacher assessments with pupils assessed as meeting the Expected Standard, Working at Greater Depth within the 
expected standard (high attaining) or working towards the expected standard (low attaining). With the new 
assessment framework, it is no longer appropriate to measure progress in terms of expected levels of progress. The 
new progress measure is a relative measure (or value added), where pupils’ attainment is compared to that of pupils 
with similar prior attainment nationally. Those who attained a higher score than similar pupils nationally are said to 
have made positive progress.  This new measure is a school-level accountability measure. Progress is calculated for 
individual pupils solely in order to calculate the school’s overall progress scores. There is no ‘target’ for the amount of 
progress an individual pupil is expected to make. 

Attainment 
 
The 2016 key stage 2 assessments are the first which assess the new, more challenging national curriculum which was 
introduced in 2014. The expected standard has also been raised to be higher than the old level 4. As a result, figures for 
2016 are not comparable to those for earlier years. Attainment at the expected standard in the tests is highest in 
grammar, punctuation and spelling at 73% and lowest in reading at 67%. 79% of pupils were assessed by teachers as 
working at the expected standard in writing, higher than in any of the test subjects. Results are generally in line with 
national averages, apart from in writing which is higher by 5 percentage points. In the combined reading, writing and 
maths measure, Southend’s attainment was above average (56% achieved the expected standard, compared to 53% 
nationally).

In terms of achieving the higher standard, performance is above national in all subjects in 2016. In maths, the figure of 
20% is 2 percentage points above the national average and puts Southend in the top 25% of all authorities in the 
country. Performance is highest in grammar punctuation and spelling and this is also the case nationally.

Successes

 An improvement in Southend’s ranking relative to other local authorities in the expected attainment measure 
in reading, writing and maths since 2015

 Proportion of pupils achieving the higher standard is above national in all subjects
 Top 25% of authorities for high standard in maths
 No Southend schools were below the floor targets set by the Department for Education in 2016

These improvements are due to a relentless focus by schools and the Local Authority on:
 Schools making more effective use  of assessment for learning, marking and feedback so that all pupils know 

their next steps and make accelerated progress and achieve higher attainment
 Close monitoring and tracking of all pupils and groups  with timely intervention for those at risk of falling 

behind
 External validation of writing judgements by the Standards and Testing Agency. 

115



12

Figure 6

Figure 5

116



13

Ranking of Southend for assessments at the end of Key Stage 2

2014 2015 2016
Grammar, Punctuation & Spelling 48 71 75
Reading 44 93 64
Writing 35 72 28
Maths 53 104 65
Reading, Writing & Maths combined 51 82 50

Notes For 2014 & 2015 this represents children achieving level 4 at the end of key stage 2
From 2016 it is those achieving the new expected standard at the end of key stage 2

Source SFR 47/2015 Tables 12-16
SFR 62/2016 Tables L1-L3

Data Revised (2015 & 2016)
Table 2

Progress

The new progress measure uses a value added model to measure the average attainment of pupils relative to that of 
pupils nationally with similar prior attainment. On average , the progress scores for Southend pupils were in line with 
the national average in reading and maths. Although the scores were negative, the fact that the confidence intervals 
overlapped zero means the outcomes are not statistically significant. In reading, scaled scores were an average of 0.2 
below that of pupils with the same level of attainment at key stage 1. In maths, the figure was -0.1. However in writing, 
the progress score was positive (+0.6) and statistically significant, meaning that generally pupils in Southend schools do 
better than pupils with similar prior attainment nationally in this subject. 

Key Stage 1 to 2 Progress against National Average (2016)

Reading Writing Maths
Southend -0.2 0.6 -0.1
Total State-Funded Sector 0.0 0.0 0.0

Notes Figures in bold are statistically significant
Source NCER, KS1-2 Progress School List
Data Revised

Table 3

 Figure 7

117



14

                      

118



15

Key Stage 4 – All Figures are Provisional

Key Stage 4 includes the secondary school years 9, 10 and 11.  At the end of this Key Stage, young people take GCSE 
examinations.  In 2016 the Department for Education announced two new headline measures, Attainment 8 and 
Progress 8.  The new performance measures are designed to encourage schools to offer a broad and balanced 
curriculum with a focus on an academic core at key stage 4, and reward schools for the teaching of all their pupils, 
measuring performance across 8 qualifications. Every increase in every grade a pupil achieves will attract additional 
points in the performance tables.  The percentage of pupils achieving a grade C or above in English and Maths are also 
reported, as well as the percentage entering and achieving the English Baccalaureate (awarded when students secure a 
grade C or above at GCSE level across a core of five academic subjects – english, mathematics, history or geography, 
the sciences and a language).

Attainment

Attainment 8 measures the achievement of a pupil across 8 qualifications including mathematics (double weighted) 
and English (double weighted), 3 further qualifications that count in the English Baccalaureate (EBacc) measure and 3 
further qualifications that can be GCSE qualifications (including EBacc subjects) or any other non-GCSE qualifications on 
the DfE approved list.  Although 2015 data is available, it should be noted that this only became a headline measure for 
schools in 2016.  The average attainment 8 score per pupil has increased in Southend by 1.3 points to 53.3 which is 
above the national average of 49.8.  This puts Southend 15th out of all local authorities nationally.

The percentage of pupils achieiving A*-C in English and maths has increased year-on-year since 2014 and remains 
above the national average.  In 2016 this increase was largely due to a change in methodology with pupils no longer 
required to achieve A*-C in both English language and literature.  In the English Baccalaureate measure, Southend is 
also above the national average with 33.7% of pupils achieving this, an increase of 1 percentage point over last year.  
The old headline measure of 5 A*-C including English and maths is included for comparison purposes -  performance 
has remained stable in Southend relative to last year.

Figure 8

119



16

      
Key Stage 4 Additional Measures

Southend National Southend National Southend National
% of Pupils Achieving A*- C in Eng & Maths 64.0 58.9 66.4 59.2 68.5 62.6
% Achieving English Baccalaureate 31.1 24.2 32.7 24.3 33.7 24.5
% 5 A*-C (Including English and Maths) 62.2 56.6 64.7 57.1 64.8 56.8

Notes National figure is state-funded schools only and includes pupils recently arrived from overseas
Source SFR01/2016 Table LA3

SR48/2016 - Tables LA1/LA6, 1b & 5
SFR48/2016 - Tables 2a & LA1
SFR01/2016 - Tables 4a & LA1
SFR02/2015 - Tables 4a & 15

Data Final (2014 & 2015)
Provisional (2016)

2015
Key Stage 4

2014 2016

Table 4

Successes

 In the main attainment measure Southend’s young people have, on average, achieved better than the national 
average

 In the key subjects of English and maths, the proportion of Southend’s pupils achieving a good grade continues 
to improve

 The percentage of pupils achieving the English Baccalaureate has increased year on year since 2014 and is 
increasing at a faster rate than nationally

Figure 9

120



17

Areas for further development

The overall attainment in the headline indicators is strong. However the diversity of secondary schools in Southend 
leads to significant variation in the attainment and progress of students in different schools. There is still a challenge in 
closing the gap between the highest and lowest attaining schools in the borough as too many students are 
underachieving.

To address this underachievement there is a focus on the following:

 Strengthening middle leadership to be more skilled in assessment and  more accountable for student progress 
and attainment.

 Providing more stable senior leadership to those schools where students are underachieving; this will include 
the use of structural solutions.

 Encouraging all schools use of data allows all staff to track student progress against challenging targets to 
ensure that all students achieve their potential.

Pupil Progress

Progress 8 aims to capture the progress a pupil makes from the end of primary school to the end of secondary school. 
It is a type of value added measure, which means that pupils’ results are compared to the actual achievements of other 
pupils with the same prior attainment.  The greater the Progress 8 score, the greater the progress made by the pupil 
compared to the average of pupils with similar prior attainment.  For all mainstream pupils nationally, the average 
Progress 8 score will be always be zero.  In comparison to this, Southend’s overall Progress 8 score in 2016 is also zero.  
This means that on average, pupils in Southend schools have made similar progress to pupils with the same prior 
attainment nationally.  Breaking the progress data down into subject areas, it shows that Southend pupils make less 
progress in maths compared to similar pupils nationally. There is no comparable data for previous years in this 
measure.

Average Progress-8 Score (2016)

Overall English Maths English Bacc Open Slots
Southend 0.00 -0.01 -0.06 0.05 -0.02
Total State-funded Sector -0.03 -0.04 -0.02 -0.02 -0.04
National 0.00

Notes National is all state-funded mainstream schools
Figures in bold are statistically significant

Source SFR48/2016 - Tables 2a & LA5
Data Provisional (2016)

Table 5

121



18

Figure 10

122



19

Destinations after KS4

The Department for Education introduced a new measure into the school performance tables in 2016 to measure how 
many pupils stayed in employment, education or training for at least 2 terms after key stage 4. In 2014, this figure was 
93% for Southend’s pupils, just below the national figure of 94%. This is an improvement on the figure from the 
previous year which was 90%.

Areas for further development

The new progress measure this year demonstrates that although attainment in Southend is high, more needs to be 
done to ensure that pupils make positive progress, regardless of their starting point at key stage 2.  This is especially 
true in maths, where pupils on average do less well than similar pupils nationally. 

123



20

Key Stage 5 – Post 16 (Figures are Provisional)

After young people have taken their GCSE examinations they are entitled to leave statutory schooling, although there 
is an expectation that they will continue in further education or vocational training programmes until they are 19 years 
old if they do not secure work when they leave school.

In Southend 10 out of 12 secondary schools have 6th form provision, South Essex College also provides for students 
post 16 qualifications.  The current government is continuing the focus on ensuring that young people do not become 
“Not in employment, education or training” (NEET) after statutory schooling.

Successes

Southend has a good record of enabling young people post 16 to achieve well – in almost all of the headline indicators 
Southend in in the top 25% of local authorities nationally . Southend’s young people have outperformed those in 
statistical neighbour local authorities as well as those nationally consistently for several years. The percentage pf 
students achieving 3 or more A grades at A-level remains high at 13.4%, compared to a national average of 12.9%.  
However, the trend is decreasing for Southend compared to an increase in the national figures.  The percentage 
achieving AAB or better at A-level was 21.8%, a drop from 25.8% in 2015. In the new average point score per entry 
measure (for the A-level cohort only), Southend was ranked 12th in the country with a score of 32.6 compared to the 
national average of 31.5.

Figure 11

124



21

Areas for further development

The focus for 2016-2017 is to ensure that NEET is further reduced by earlier identification of appropriate learning 
pathways for learners at risk of becoming NEET and to review and refresh apprenticeship opportunities in existing and 
new sectors linking with the Council’s strategy for skills and employability. 

- The percentage of young people not in education, employment or training as at 31st December has reduced 
year on year in Southend since 2013 and in 2015 was at 4.3%, compared to a national average of 4.2%. This 
puts Southend in the third quartile nationally.

- The percentage of KS4 pupils going on to apprenticeships has increased from 3% to 4% in 2015 but this is 
below the national average of 6% and puts Southend in the bottom 25% of all local authorities.

Figure 12

125



22

Section 2 Closing the achievement gap between groups of children and young people

Early years

In 2016 there has been significant progress made by schools in supporting underachieving groups of children to 
achieve as well as their peers. In three of the four areas highlighted below, underachieving groups have made good 
progress in closing the achievement gap. The exception is for those children who have special educational needs (SEN).  
The outcomes for these pupils are below the national average and have not improved from last year.

Key Stage 1 

In 2016, the achievement of vulnerable groups has been mixed. Whilst the gender gap remains, FSM pupils are 
performing better than in previous years. There continues to be a wider gap between English speaking children and 
their peers relative to the national averages and the performance of SEN pupils is also below the national benchmark.

Key Stage 2

The performance of FSM pupils and those whose first language is not English has improved in 2016 compared to 
previous years. However, the gender gap has widened in Southend and the performance of SEN pupils remains a 
concern. There are still some very wide gaps which indicate that the needs of all children are not being fully met to 
enable them to achieve their best.

Key Stage 4

At key stage 4, the gap in achievement between FSM pupils and their peers remains wider than national. The 
performance of SEN pupils is also a concern. However, the narrowing of the gaps between other vulnerable groups is 
encouraging.

126



23

Disadvantaged children - Free school meals (FSM) achievement gap 

One of the biggest vulnerable groups educationally are those who have to cope with social, economic and educational 
disadvantage.  In recent years the government has made additional funding available to schools to support their work 
in meeting the needs of these pupils.  The Pupil Premium (PP) is additional funding given to publicly funded schools in 
England to raise the attainment of disadvantaged pupils and close the gap between them and their peers. This is a 
particular area of focus for the Local Authority in 2016/17 and beyond particularly in KS4.

Pupil Premium funding is available to both mainstream and non-mainstream schools, such as special schools and pupil 
referral units. The DfE will release a list of PP pupils to schools each financial year. For 2016 this list represented pupils 
who had been declared FSM eligible on a school census at any time in the past 6 years (called EVER6 pupils), were 
adopted from care or have left care and if they were recorded as a service child within the last 6 years.

In the 2015 / 2016 financial year, schools received pupil premium funding in he following sums:

 £1320 for each eligible primary-aged pupil
 £935 for each eligible secondary-aged pupil

The data for the key stages below is based on those children who are eligible for Free School Meals (FSM).  Eligibility 
for free school meals is the main measure of deprivation at pupil level.  FSM data represents pupils who are currently 
FSM eligible and pupils would be identified as FSM eligible from the January census.  Nationally, children who are 
eligible for free school meals FSM / Pupil Premium funding do less well than children who are not eligible for either of 
these benefits.  There has been a focus nationally on closing this attainment gap for a  number of years.

Early Years

Significant progress has been made since 2014 in reducing the gap between disadvantaged children who are eligible 
for FSM, and those who are not, in achieving a “Good Level of Development”. The gap has narrowed from 24% in 2014 
to 16% in 2016. This is now lower than the national average by 2 percentage points. The rate of improvement for FSM 
pupils has slowed in 2016 following a rapid improvement in previous years and therefore the gap has increased slightly 
compared to last year.  The overall improvement is a key success as it is accepted that children need to achieve well at 
the end of the Early Years Foundation Stage so they can fully access the national curriculum at Key Stage 1 and achieve 
the national expectations at the end of the key stage.  The improvement in the achievement of disadvantaged children 
should in two years time enable higher levels of achievement when children are aged 7. This also indicates that schools 
are focusing on ensuring disadvantaged children are supported to achieve well which is an important part of their 
work.

FSM Non-FSM Gap FSM Non-FSM Gap FSM Non-FSM Gap

Southend 43 66 -24 56 71 -15 58 74 -16
National 45 64 -19 51 69 -18 54 72 -18

Notes Data prior to 2013 is not comaparable due to changes made to the EYFSP
Source SFR50/2016 Additional Tables - Table 6
Data Final

2014 2015 2016

Table 6

127



24

KS1

KS1 data in 2016 is not comparable to previous years due to the accountability reforms that were introduced this year. 
Any interpretation of trends should be therefore be conducted with caution. However, in terms of the percentage of 
pupils reaching the expected level (level 2 or above in previous years), Southend’s FSM pupils previously 
underperformed relative to the national average in every subject. In 2016 the picture is reversed with Southend’s FSM 
pupils achieving in line with or above the national average.  Table 7 shows Southend’s ranking relative to other local 
authorities for each subject, comparing old and new measures – the improvement in 2016 is demonstrated here.  
However, it should be noted that this improvement was evident for all pupils and may be a reflection on how schools 
have adapted to the new assessment methods.

Key Stage 1 - Ranking of Southend for children eligible for free school meals (FSM) 
who achieved level 2+ (2014/2015) or met required standard (2016) 

2014 2015 2016
Reading 87 147 67
Writing 79 144 41
Maths 123 148 56
Science 49 98 43

Notes Level 2 was the previous expected level of achievement for pupils 
at the end of key stage 1. 

Source DFE SFR 32/2015 - Table 23
SFR 42/2016 - Table 21

Data Final (2014/2015)
Provisional (2016)

Table 7

Figure 13

128



25

The gap in achievement between FSM eligible pupils and their peers in 2016 is widest in reading, with a differerence of 
19 percentage points. Although this gap is slightly wider than the national gap, this is because Southend’s non-FSM 
pupils outperformed their peers nationally. In writing, the performance of the FSM cohort in Southend was 4 
percentage points higher than the national average. Performance in maths was in line with the national average.

Key Stage 1- percentage of children in Southend reaching the expected standard - 
Free school meals and non-free school meal eligibility

FSM Non-FSM Gap FSM Non-FSM Gap FSM Non-FSM Gap

Southend 60 79 -19 54 71 -17 59 76 -17
National 60 77 -17 50 68 -18 58 75 -17

Notes National figure is for England (State-funded schools)
Source SFR42/2016 - Table 21
Data Provisional 

Reading Writing Maths

Table 8

129



26

KS2

Whilst it is not possible to directly compare 2016 KS2 results with previous years, it is worth examining how the local 
authority performed relative to the rest of the country in the headline performance indicators. In 2015, Southend was 
ranked 111th nationally for the attainment of FSM pupils in the headline indicator for reading ,writing and maths. In 
2016 Southend is placed 46th in the main attainment measure and is now above the national average by 2 percentage 
points. The performance of Southend’s FSM cohort was better than the national average in 2016 in every subject, with 
writing teacher assessments notably higher by 8 percentage points.

The gap between those children entitled to free school meals and their peers who are not remains large in Southend 
but it is now narrower than the national gap in most subjects. The gap in reading, maths and grammar, punctuation 
and spelling is 18 percentage points, compared to just 13 percentage points in writing. Differences between pupil 
groups are not comparable with previous years but it is notable that these gaps in Southend were historically wider 
than the national gaps so this year has seen an improvement. However, there is still some way to go to close the gaps.

Looking at the progress made by FSM children, Southend’s pupils made significantly less progress than all other pupils 
with the same prior attainment nationally in reading and in maths. On average, FSM pupils in Southend achieve just 
over one scaled score point less in all subjects than non-FSM pupils. In writing, the average progress score was in line 
with the national average. It is a similar picture nationally with FSM pupils making less progress in all subjects than 
other pupils with the same prior attainment.

Figure 14

130



27

Note: Progress scores are presented as positive or negative numbers either side of zero.  A score of zero means that on average, pupils in this group made 
the same progress as all pupils with similar prior attainment nationally. National progress scores for pupil groups are also represented here, where the 
progress for the group is compared with that of all pupils nationally with similar prior attainment.

KS4 (data is provisional)

Young people eligible for free school meals (FSM) achieve less well than their peers who are not eligible for FSM. In the 
new Attainment 8 measure, the provisional average score for FSM pupils is 38.6 in Southend, compared to 54.7 for all 
other pupils. This gap of 16.1 points is wider than the provisional national gap of 12.6 points. Similarly, in the English 
Baccalaurate measure, the FSM gap in Southend is wider than national – 8% of Southend’s FSM pupils achieved this 
measure compared to 36% of non-FSM pupils (10% and 27% nationally). In the A*-C measure for English and Maths, 
Southend’s FSM pupils outperformed the national average by just over 1 percentage point but the non-FSM cohort 
were also above the national benchmark by a greater margin.

Key Stage 4 – Attainment 8 achievement gap by Free School Meal Status

Average Attainment 8 score by FSM/Non-FSM

FSM Non-FSM Gap

Southend 38.6 54.7 -16.1

National 38.9 51.5 -12.6

Notes LA and National figures are for state-funded schools only 
Source NCER data based on National Pupil Database
Data Provisional

Table 9

Figure 15

131



28

Key Stage 4 – English Baccalaureate achievement gap by Free School Meal Status

FSM Non-FSM Gap

Southend 8.0 36.0 -28.0

National 10.2 26.8 -16.6

Notes LA and National figures are for state-funded schools only 
Source NCER data based on National Pupil Database
Data Provisional

% achieving English Bacc. by FSM/Non-FSM

Table 10

Key Stage 4 – % achieving A*-C in English & Mathematics by Free School Meal Status

FSM Non-FSM Gap

Southend 40 71.2 -31.2

National 38.8 66.4 -27.6

Notes LA and National figures are for state-funded schools only 
Source NCER data based on National Pupil Database
Data Provisional

% achieving A*-C in English & Maths by FSM/Non-FSM

Table 11

In terms of pupil progress, Southend’s FSM pupils performed significantly worse than all pupils nationally with similar 
prior attainment. The provisional Progress 8 score of -0.48 is similar to the score for FSM pupils nationally (-0.46) 
showing that this group of pupils under-achieve across the country. The gap to Southend’s non-FSM cohort is 0.52 
meaning that on average pupils who are eligible for FSM in Southend achieve over half a grade below the rest of 
Southend’s students.

Figure 16

132



29

Gender achievement gap

Early Years

More girls achieved a “Good Level of Development” than boys, 80% girls compared to 63% boys. The achievement gap 
between boys and girls increased to 16.7 percentage points from 15.6 in 2015 and is now wider than the national gap. 
Clearly there is work to do to further narrow the gap and eradicate it altogether. Over the last 3 years boys have 
improved their performance by 11.1 percentage points, compared to 8.2 points for girls. Boys have improved at  faster 
rate than the national increase over this period.

Figure 17

133



30

Key Stage 1

Girls outperform boys in each subject at KS1, with the gap widest in writing (18 percentage points). Maths has the 
smallest gap, with 4 percentage points separating the attainment of boys and girls in Southend. The national gaps 
between boys and girls are narrower than those in Southend showing that there is work to do to reduce the gender 
difference in attainment locally.

Figure 18

134



31

Key Stage 2

As in previous years, girls do better than boys at KS2 in reading, writing and maths combined. 60% of girls achieve the 
expected standard compared to 52% of boys. The gap is wider than that seen in previous years – 3 percentage point 
gap for the old expected standard in 2015. Looking at individual subjects, the gap is widest locally and nationally in 
grammar, punctuation and spelling (12 percentage points), whereas in maths boys outperform girls by 1 percentage 
point. The gaps are wider in Southend than they are at a national level, which is a reversal of the situation in 2015 so 
there is a challenge for Southend to reduce the difference in attainment between boys and girls.

Figure 19

2016 progress data shows that in maths, boys’ progress was significantly better than the national average for all pupils 
with similar prior attainment whereas girls significantly underperformed in this measure. However, girls’ progress was 
above average in writing. 

135



32

Note: Progress scores are presented as positive or negative numbers either side of zero.  A score of zero means that on average, pupils in this group made 
the same progress as all pupils with similar prior attainment nationally. National progress scores for pupil groups are also represented here, where the 
progress for the group is compared with that of all pupils nationally with similar prior attainment.

Figure 20

136



33

Key Stage 4 (data is provisional)

Girls outperform boys at KS4 in Southend, although the gap of 2.2 points in the Attainment 8 measure is not as large as 
the national equivalent of 4.6.  The picture is the same in the other headline measures so it is positive to see that the 
gender gap is less pronounced in Southend than in the rest of the country.

Figure 21

137



34

First Language achievement gap

Early Years

More children (72%) whose first language is English achieved a “Good Level of Development” in 2016 than those whom 
have another language (67%) as their first language. The gap is now 5 percentage points, but an improvement from the 
gap in 2014 which was 15  points and 10 points in 2015. The gap is now narrower than the national equivalent having 
improved at a much faster rate over the last 3 years. 

Key Stage 1

More pupils whose first language is English achieve the expected level at KS1 than their peers for whom English is an 
additional language.  This is also the case nationally but the gaps are wider in all subjects in Southend apart from in 
science. Pupils with English as an additional language achieve in line with the national average in all subjects but their 
English speaking peers in Southend are above the national average, particularly in reading and writing, hence the wider 
gaps in these subjects. This continues the trend seen in previous years under the old accountability measures.

Figure 22

138



35

Key Stage 2

56% of pupils whose first language is English achieved the expected standard in all of reading, writing and maths 
compared to 55% of pupils whose first language is other than English. This gap of 1 percetnage point is smaller than the 
gap at the national level (4 percentage points). For comparison, last year’s gap was 5 percentage points in Southend so 
this improvement is encouraging. There is a more considerable gap in reading and grammar, punctuation and spelling 
(8 percentage points), and in writing (7 percentage points). However, in maths pupils whose first language is not 
English perform better than their English speaking peers by 2 percentage points.

Figure 24

Figure 23

139



36

KS4 (data is provisional)

The attainment gap at KS4 is almost non-existent in the main headline indicator – Attainment 8 scores for non-English 
speakers were slightly higher by 0.1 points in Southend with both groups performing better than the national average. 
In terms of achieving A*-C in English and maths, pupils whose first language is English perform better than their peers 
in Southend by a margin of 5.9 percentage points. In the Progress 8 measure, pupils with English as an additional 
language make more progress than pupils with similar prior attainment nationally. Their score of 0.37 is just below the 
national average of 0.40 and 0.42 points higher than that of English speaking pupils in Southend (-0.05).

Figure 25

Figure 26

140



37

Achievement of pupils with Special Educational Needs (SEN)

Early Years

In 2016, 16% of children with special educational needs but without a statement or EHC Plan achieved a good level of 
development. This is 10 percentage points lower than the national average. Of the children that did have a statement 
or EHC Plan, none achieved a good level of development in 2016, down from 4% last year; this compares to 4% 
nationally. The attainment of Southend’s SEN pupils has not improved at the same rate as national. Since 2014, the 
attainment of SEN support pupils has improved by 3 percentage points compared to 5 points nationally, whereas the 
attainment of statement/EHC pupils has fluctuated from 2% in 2014, 4% in 2015 and 0% in 2016 (nationally it has 
improved by 1 percentage point over the same period).

Early Years Foundation Stage – % Achieving a Good Level of Development by SEN

No SEN
SEN 

without a 
statement

SEN with a 
statement

No SEN
SEN 

without a 
statement

SEN with a 
statement

No SEN
SEN 

without a 
statement

SEN with a 
statement

Southend 66 13 2 73 16 4 77.0 16 0

National 66 21 3 71 24 4 75 26 4

Notes Southend figures for 'SEN with a statement' were suppressed - calculated using Keypas
Source SFR50/2016 Additional Tables - Table 7
Data Final

2014 2015 2016

Table 12

KS1

The achievement of Southend’s SEN pupils at KS1 is below the national average in almost all subjects. Pupils with SEN 
support were 9 percentage points below the national average in terms of achieving the expected standard in reading, 7 
points below in writing, 6 points below in maths and 5 points below in science. The attainment of pupils with a 
statement or EHC plan was below in all subjects apart from science. This is a continuation of the performance under 
the old system of levels where Southend’s SEN pupils also attained lower than the national average.

Figure 27 141



38

KS2

The attainment of Southend’s SEN pupils at KS2 is broadly below the national average in most subjects. The percentage 
achieving the expected standard in all of reading, writing and maths is 9% for SEN support pupils (compared to 16% 
nationally) and 4% for those with a statement or EHC Plan (compared to 7% nationally). In reading and grammar, 
punctuation and spelling the gap to the national average for SEN support pupils is 9 percentage points, whilst in writing 
it is 8 points. The biggest gap is in maths where Southend’s SEN support pupils are 11 percentage points below the 
national average. The gaps to the national average for Southend’s SEN pupils with statements or EHC plans are not as 
wide but in the combined measure there was a 3 percentage point deficit.

Figure 28

142



39

KS4 (data is provisional)

The attainment of Southend’s SEN pupils is below the national average at key stage 4 in all of the headline indicators. 
The average Attainment 8 scores for both groups of SEN pupils were 1.1 points below the national average, whereas in 
the A*-C measure, Southend’s SEN Support pupils were 5.6 percentage points below their peers nationally. In the 
Progress 8 measure, SEN pupils in Southend and nationally have negative scores, meaning that on average they make 
less progress than all pupils with similar prior attainment nationally. Southend’s SEN Support cohort achieved a slightly 
better score than the national average (-0.37 compared to -0.39), but the score of pupils with a statement or EHC plan 
was worse in Southend than the national average (-1.19 compared to -1.02).

Figure 30

Figure 29

143



40

Figure 31

144



41

Section 3 Attainment of Looked After Children

Virtual School

Southend Borough Council’s Virtual School exists to track and monitor the progress of Looked After Children, to raise 
the achievement and attainment of students and to ‘champion’ the needs of Looked After Children. As a Virtual School 
the aim is support students in school and their foster placement and additionally through a range of extra-curricular 
activities. A programme of support and training is also available for Designated Teachers.

The Department for Education report on the outcomes of children who have been looked after for at least at least 12 
months as at 31st March. The outcomes are often suppressed for Southend and many other local authorities due to the 
low number of pupils and therefore it is not possible to accurately rank how Southend is performing in any given year.. 
It should be noted that outcomes fluctuate greatly from year to year due to the small size of the cohort.

Attainment

Key Stage One

Outcomes for 2014 and 2015 are shown separately due to the accountability changes in 2016. Note the number of 
pupils in Southend’s cohort shown in brackets. 2016 data has not yet been published.
 

Percentage of LAC (>12mths) achieving level 2+ at the end of Key Stage 1

Southend (5 pupils) National Southend (2 pupils) National
Reading 60 71 50 71
Writing 40 61 0 63
Maths 60 72 0 73

Notes Southend data suppressed in SFR11/2016
Source Key to success
Data Final

2014 2015

Table 13

Percentage of LAC (>12mths) reaching expected standard at the end of Key Stage 1

2016
Southend (5 pupils) National

Reading 60 N/A
Writing 60 N/A
Maths 60 N/A

Notes This is a new assessment so there is no comparative data prior to 2016
Source Key to Success based on internal cohort reporting
Data Not yet published
Table 14

145



42

Key Stage Two

Key Stage 2 has also been subject to accountability changes in 2016 so it is not appropriate to compare results with 
previous years.

Percentage of LAC (>12mths) achieving level 4+ at the end of Key Stage 2

Southend (10 pupils) National Southend (6 pupils) National
Reading 100 68 50 71
Grammar, Punctuation, Spelling 60 49 33 54
Mathematics 70 60 33 64
Writing TA 70 59 50 61
Reading, Writing & Maths combined 60 48 33 52

Notes Southend data suppressed in SFR11/2016
Source Key to success (Southend), SFR11/2016 (National)
Data Final (2014), Amended (2015)

2014 2015

Table 15

Percentage of LAC (>12mths) reaching expected standard at the end of Key Stage 2

2016
Southend (9 pupils) National

Reading 30 N/A
Grammar, Punctuation, Spelling 30 N/A
Mathematics 30 N/A
Writing TA 30 N/A
Reading, Writing & Maths combined 20 N/A

Notes This is a new assessment so there is no comparative data prior to 2016
Source Key to Success based on internal cohort reporting
Data Not yet published
Table 16

146



43

Key Stage Four

The outcomes for looked after children at key stage 4 are shown below for the last three years.

Key Stage 4 Measures for LAC (>12mths)

Southend 
(24 pupils) National

Southend 
(19 pupils) National

Southend 
(22 pupils) National

% of Pupils Achieving A*- C in Eng & Maths 20.8 14.4 10.5 15.9 13.6 N/A
% 5 A*-C (Including English and Maths) 20.8 12.2 5.3 13.8 13.6 N/A

Notes Southend data suppressed in SFR11/2016
Source Key to success (Southend), SFR11/2016 (National)
Data Final (2014), Amended (2015)

2016

Key Stage 4

2014 2015

Table 17

Absence

The table and chart below show the absence rates for pupils looked after for at least 12 months as at 31st March 
according to the latest published data. Overall absence rates in Southend have decreased since 2013 and are now in 
line with the national average. The percentage of pupils classed as persistent absentees has historically been higher 
than the national figure; figures for 2014/15 were suppressed due to low numbers.

Absence from school of children who have been looked after continuously for at least twelve months

Authorised Absence Unauthorised 
Absence

Overall Absence

2012/13
Southend 5.2 3.8 1.4 8.4
England 4.4 3.3 1.1 5.0
2013/14
Southend 4.9 3.0 1.9 9.3
England 3.9 2.9 1.0 4.7
2014/15
Southend 4.2 3.2 1.0 x
England 4.0 3.0 1.0 4.9

Notes Data based on six half terms. Persistent Absence is based on 15%+ absence
Source SFR411/2015 Table LA6
Data Final

Percentage of half days missed
% of Persistent 

Absentees

Table 18

147



44

Exclusions

The latest published data shows that there have been no permanent exclusions for looked after children in Southend 
for the last three years. The percentage of pupils with at least one fixed period exclusion is shown below. Southend has 
been above the national average over the period shown.

Percentage of children with at least one fixed period exclusion

2011/12 2012/13 2013/14
Southend 13.74 10.74 11.88
England 11.32 9.77 10.25

Source SFR411/2015 Table LA5
Data Final
Figure 32

Figure 31

148



45

Section 4 Behaviour and Attendance

Behaviour

One measure of how well children behave in schools is to consider the number of fixed term and permanent exclusions 
from schools across the Local Authority.  It is generally accepted that pupils excluded from school are having their 
education interrupted, which will have an impact on the progress and achievement of an individual.  As a result, 
schools and local authorities try as far as possible to manage children’s behaviour within the school system, although it 
is recognised that some young people are not able to be educated in the mainstream school system and may need 
specialist individual education provision.

Overall exclusion data can be looked at in the various phases of education and this data  can be compared with that 
available nationally. This comparison gives an indication as to whether Southend schools have been more or less 
successful than schools nationally in managing pupils’ behaviour positively. 

Fixed term exclusions

Fixed term exclusions are short term exclusions from the school due mainly to inappropriate behaviour. Published data 
is not yet available for the last academic year but in all schools the percentage of fixed term exclusions has increased in 
2015. In primary schools over the last three years the percentage of fixed term exclusions has been consistently lower 
than that nationally, but in 2015 the numbers increased following a dip in 2014. In secondary schools, the figure is 
closer to the national average and also rose in 2015. The rate for Southend’s special schools has been more variable 
but has dropped since 2014. The total exclusion rate for Southend schools was slightly higher than the national figure 
in 2015.

Figure 33

149



46

Permanent exclusions

Successes

The LA for many years, together with schools in Southend, had the aim of ensuring no child or young person is 
permanently excluded from school.  This aim, supported by a range of strategies has seen a significantly lower 
percentage of pupils permanently excluded from either primary, secondary or special schools than that nationally.  The 
data between 2012 /13 and 2014 / 15 in table shows the significance of the much lower permanent exclusion rates in 
the borough. The overall rate has been lower than the national average over the last 3 years.  For a number of years 
there have been no permanent exclusions in primary or special schools.  In secondary schools there is a very low 
number of young people permanently excluded, which has been consistent for a number of years.

Permanent exclusions by school type

No. of 
permanent 
exclusions

% of the 
school 

population

No. of 
permanent 
exclusions

% of the 
school 

population

No. of 
permanent 
exclusions

% of the 
school 

population
Primary
Southend 0 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00
England 670 0.02 870 0.02 920 0.02
Secondary
Southend x x 6 0.05 5 0.04
England 3,900 0.12 4,000 0.13 4,790 0.15
Special
Southend 0 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00
England 60 0.07 70 0.07 90 0.09
Total
Southend x x 10 0.02 10 0.04
England 4,630 0.06 4,950 0.06 5,800 0.07

Notes
Source SFR26/2016  - Table 16

SFR10/2016 - Table 11.1 for pupil enrolment figures
Data Final

2012/13 2013/14 2014/15

Table 19

150



47

Attendance

Poor school attendance can impact dramatically on a young person’s life chances. There are clear links between 
attendance and attainment, and as a consequence poor school attendees overall go on to have poorer job prospects 
and lower earnings in the future. There is a great deal of evidence to suggest that pupils who are regularly absent from 
school are often disengaged and disaffected, and therefore vulnerable. They are more likely to become involved in 
antisocial behaviour or be the victims of crime. Children are safer in school, and ensuring good school attendance is an 
important aspect of the safeguarding agenda. For these reasons, Southend places a high priority on school attendance 
levels, and this is reflected in our strategy.

Additionally a child’s or young person’s full attendance at school is seen as an important aspect in child protection 
work. Periods of absence from school for some children is a cause for concern, as there then maybe no statutory 
service who is in regular contact with the child.  Full attendance at school enables children at risk to be seen by 
professionals regularly.

Absence from school is noted as either authorised or unauthorised.  Authorised absence is usually as the result of 
medically certificated illness or other matters where there is a reason that is listed by the government as being able to 
be classified as such.  Unauthorised absence is for almost all other absences including holidays taken during school 
time.  

Some pupils are absent from school on many occasions.  These are defined as having more than a 15% absence rate 
and recorded as persistent absentees.

Southend’s emphasis is on prevention. We believe that the key to high attendance is to ensure that children are 
encouraged to attend school through a whole-school approach. Enforcing attendance through legal measures should 
be seen as a last resort, only taken when all other options have been exhausted, as there is evidence to suggest that 
statistically this has the least impact on improving attendance.

Successes

Data for 2015/16 has not yet been published for pupil absence. Overall absence has reduced in Southend’s schools 
over the last 3 years from 5.4% of sessions lost in 2012/13 to 4.4% in 2014/15. Both primary and secondary schools 
have seen a 1 percentage decrease in absence rates over this period and are now both below the national average. 
whilst special schools absence rates have been more variable and remain higher than national at 13.2 %.

Persistent absentees during this period were classed as pupils missing 15% or more of sessions over the course of a 
year. The percentage of pupils deemed to be persistent absentees has also reduced from 5.4% in 2012/13 to 2.8% in 
2014/15, which is nearly 1 percentage point below the national average. There has been a particularly large decrease 
in secondary schools from 7.2% to 3.7% over 3 years.

The Council’s approach to improving school attendance is led by the Child and Family Early Intervention team in 
partnership with schools, parents, children and young people.  The following initiatives have been introduced to 
improve school attendance:

 Every School Day Matters: an innovative street patrol programme launched in 2013 
 Attend to Achieve Programme: providing one to one support for school Governors in order to keep school 

attendance data under review
 A Guidance for School Governors on monitoring school attendance
 Locality Attendance Lead Forums

151



48

 A Health Toolkit in schools to improve attendance

The child and family early intervention service provides challenge and support to schools, children, young people and 
their families, offering intensive casework in the home using targeted intervention in order to improve school 
attendance using an early help assessment.

Figure 34

Figure 35

152



49

Section 5 OfSTED Inspection outcomes

The Office for Standards in Education (OfSTED) inspects all schools in England on a regular basis.  The interval between 
school inspections depends on the outcome from the last inspection and a risk assessment based on  analysis of pupil 
performance and other factors which may come to OfSTED’s attention.  Outstanding schools are not routinely 
inspected but are risk assessed. Good schools were risk assessed at two years and could be inspected every 2 – 5 years. 
Requires Improvement and Inadequate schools will have Section 8 monitoring inspections with an HMI. They can have 
up to 5 of these in 2 years but will then have to have a full Section 5 inspection. Changes to these schedules of 
inspection were made in the revised framework guidance in September 2015. (see below)

The inspection will judge the school in a number of key areas of its work, but pupil achievement (attainment and 
progress) is the major focus for inspectors.  Leadership and management (including governance), the quality of 
teaching and the behaviour and safety of pupils are the main areas judged and reported.

OfSTED has, in the last few years, collated data from inspections which enables the production of data to show how 
many children in a local authority area are educated in good or outstanding schools and how many are education in 
schools which are judged to be inadequate or requiring improvement.  It is OfSTED’s expectation that all children will 
attend a good or outstanding school and this is also the aim of Southend Council.

Ofsted updates this data regularly throughout the year. The data presented in the appendix is based on the update 
published in August 2016. This data will not include any school that has not been inspected and this will include schools 
that have recently become Academies. The data for the pre-academy school is removed from the data set at the next 
update after the school becomes an academy. 

There is a new Framework from September 2015. Under this framework outstanding schools will not be inspected 
unless the risk assessment gives a cause for concern. Good Schools will have a new one day short inspection by an HMI 
every three years from the date of their last inspection. Schools that convert to become an Academy when judged as 
good, will also have the short inspection three years from the last good inspection judgement. Schools judged as 
Requires Improvement or Inadequate will continue to be regularly monitored by Section 8 Inspections. The 
Department for Education (DfE) may also identify a new group of schools causing concern as ‘coasting schools’.

School Inspections

As at the end of the 2015 / 16 academic year, out of 49 open schools in Southend with inspection ratings, 9 were 
judged as outstanding and 37 were rated as good. This equates to 98% of all pupils within these schools. All of 
Southend’s primary schools were rated as good or outstanding, with just 3 schools in total judged as requiring 
improvement. Note that these figures exclude schools without a current inspection rating such as closed schools which 
became academies.

Successes

Southend aspires to ‘all children will attend a good or better school’ so there is still work to be done to support all 
schools to be judged, in inspection, as good or better.  The improvement in the number of schools judged positively is 
due to:

 greater focus on tracking progress and make clear the lines of accountability. 
 to Intensive brokerage of school support through education partners such as SETSA. 
 working more closely with partnership organisations to give more joined up support. 
 extra training and support to enable schools, including Governing Bodies, to be Ofsted ready. 

153



50

Areas for further development

There has been a steady rise in the number of schools rated good or outstanding school over the last three years and 
this overall figure is now above the national percentage overall (94% of schools in Southend compared to 86% 
nationally). Individually Primary, Secondary and Special School data show over 98% of Southend students attending 
good or better schools as judged in their last Ofsted inspection.  The published data however, does not include four 
new academies whose last Ofsted inspection occurred before the school closed. Three of these schools’ last ratings 
were ‘Inadequate’ and therefore the overall percentage of schools rated good or outstanding is adjusted to 89% when 
they are included. The focus for 2015-2016 is therefore to continue to strengthen leadership and governance along 
with the identification and addressing specific weaknesses in teaching, whilst supporting the good schools to: 

a) prevent them being identified as coasting and 
b) to enable them to improve their effectiveness to outstanding under the new Common Inspection Framework 

starting September 2015. 

154



51

Section 6 School to School Support: The Southend Challenge

Overall school performance
School performance in 2016-17 improved from previous years in a number of key performance indicators. The OFSTED 
annual report places Southend on Sea third nationally (out of over 150 Local Authorities) with 100% of primary schools 
being judged good or outstanding, an improvement 15 places since 2015 and 34 since  2012. (NB although this is the 
nationally reported means of calibration that takes account of schools losing their OFSTED status on conversion, in 
Southend on Sea we calculate the “true” %, currently 86.6% across all phases. Additionally it was a snapshot taken in 
July 2016). 

In the secondary sector it places Southend on Sea 23rd nationally with 95%, an improvement of 9 places since 2015 
and 19 since 2012. In the Eastern Region supplement to the annual report, Southend on Sea achieved the strongest 
average attainment 8 score regionally (53.3; 3.4 points above the national). Southend also had the strongest 
performance for the achievement of EBacc, with over a third achieving it (33.7%). Locally, 68.5% achieved a GCSE in 
English and mathematics at grades A* to C, the second highest rate for the region. 

The means by which the Local Authority supported and challenged schools has subtly shifted since previous annual 
education reports. Previously, where the majority of schools were maintained by the Council, they were formed into 
challenge groups. With more any more schools, including in the primary sector, forming Multi Academy Trusts, this 
means of school to school support was no longer effective

The Council worked with the Southend Schools Forum to change its remit to establish an Education Board, a board 
made up of school forum members, plus a wider education representation. The Board is supported by a number of sub 
groups, for school performance; vulnerable learners; skills and yet to be established for finance. Board and its sub 
groups scrutinise and challenge school performance, determining where and what support and challenge may be 
required. This includes academy schools, as the Regional Commissioner for Schools, responsible for improvements in 
academies and free schools, is a full member of Board and the school performance sub group. In this way, following 
the annual work plan, it systematically analyses, and then commissions support for the school from its partnership with 
the Teaching School Alliance. Where the improvements required are in an academy, the Board seeks assurance from 
the Trust responsible that they have the capacity to ensure that the academy makes rapid and sustained progress.
Lastly, through its work with the Teaching School Alliance, serving Headteachers and other expert practitioners have 
been trained to undertake this level of school to school support. However, ultimately, including in academies, the 
Council remains accountable for school performance and improvement in all Southend state funded schools, 
irrespective of their status.

155



52

Section 7 Future Priorities

Key and overarching priorities
Several of the areas of focus in the previous annual Education Report remain current. The Council, through the means 
described above in section 5, will re-energise its efforts to make impact in these areas. They are:

 Raise the achievement of disadvantaged young people, children and young people who are looked after and 
those with SEND in all key stages to be closer to that of their peers

 Ensure all schools inspected by OFSTED are judged to be at least good by the end of the academic year 2018 
 Working through the Education Board to ensure that all schools,  regardless of their governance 

arrangements, continue to work with the local authority to ensure the best outcomes for children and young 
people in Southend

 Prepare for a successful SEND area inspection
 Continuing to ensure that pupils are enabled to remain in the mainstream school system with the aim of 

removing permanent exclusions from the secondary sector
 Working with parents to reduce the level of absence and further reduce the rate of  persistent absenteeism
 Ensuring that there are sufficient secondary places over the next five years for Southend pupils
 Embedding the work of our virtual skills academy to allow us to promote the interface between education and 

the local skills market

Our recently published document “Our ambitions for your child’s education in Southend” sets out a clear agenda for 
the delivery of our obligations to children and their families. This document sets out clearly and unambiguously what it 
is that the Council is required to do for its residents, and we will be held to account for the ambitions it portrays. 
 

156



Southend-on-Sea Borough Council
Report of Deputy Chief Executive (People)

to
Cabinet

on
14th March 2017

Report prepared by: Chrissy Papas, Pupil Access Manager

School Term Dates 2018/19
People Scrutiny Committee

Executive Councillor: Councillor James Courtenay 

A Part 1 Public Agenda Item

1. Purpose of Report 

1.1 To propose the guideline school term and holiday dates for the academic year 
2018/19.

2. Recommendation

2.1 That the school term and holiday dates for 2018/19 as set out in Appendix 1 be 
approved as a guide to schools. 

3. Background

3.1 There is no national determination of school term dates. Historically the Council has 
set the term dates for community schools in Southend. In the main, academies, 
foundation, voluntary aided and maintained schools have chosen to adopt dates set 
by the Council. 

3.2   In view of the cross border movement with Essex County Council of both pupils and 
staff, the coordination with Essex has been an important principle.  Discussion took 
place directly with ECC officers concerning the feasibility of moving the school half 
term week in order to provide opportunities for cheaper holidays for residents. The 
importance of maintain parallel term dates and the practicalities of making this 
happen, especially linking with Thurrock, did not allow changes this year. 

3.3   It is recommended that we proceed with the dates as set out in Appendix 1 for     
Southend-on-Sea with a very minor variation to the Essex dates.  It is anticipated that 
any further date variations between Southend-on-Sea and schools in Essex will be 
minimal. 

3.4   It is further recommended that any minor amendments are approved by the Deputy 
Chief Executive (People).  

4. Proposed term dates

4.1 The proposed term dates for 2018/19 are set out in Appendix 1. Please note that 
these dates have been amended in response to the below comments from the 
consultation. 

Agenda
Item No.

12

157

10



4.2 A recommendation was received from a representative of the ATL National Executive 
(UK School leadership).  The recommendation reported that;

‘I do not think a return to school on January 2nd (2019) will be well-received by pupils 
or staff: especially those who have travelled for family celebrations at the New Year.

My recommendation is that the Autumn Term is extended to include Thursday 20th 
December and the Spring term commences (as it did this year) with a two day week 
on Thursday 3rd January.’   Robin M. Bevan Headteacher and ATL National Executive 
(UK School Leadership representative and views supported by GMB, Unison, Mr  N 
Houchen and Mr  J Glazier

4.3 The proposed dates were discussed previously with officers from Essex County 
Council. Following this they were notified formally of these changes on the 20th 
January 2017 and have raised no objections.

4.4 The date variation has been accommodated and it is the view of officers that 
Southend-on-Sea should proceed with the approval of the term dates as set out in 
Appendix 1. 

5. Reasons for recommendations

5.1 As set out in the report. 

6. Corporate Implications

6.1 Contribution to Council’s Vision & Corporate Priorities
Improving public satisfaction is a critical priority for the Council. It is anticipated that as 
the proposed dates coincide with Essex they should be acceptable to the majority of 
parents and carers.  

6.2 Financial Implications - None

6.3 Legal Implications - None

6.4 People Implications – Coordination with Essex is important for pupils and staff.

6.5 Property Implications - None

6.6 Consultation – as detailed in section 4.2 of the report.

6.7 Equalities and Diversity Implications – None

6.8 Risk Assessment – None undertaken.

6.9 Value for Money implications – None

6.10 Community Safety Implications – None

6.11 Environmental Impact – The coordination of term and holiday dates will minimise the 
number of car journeys to school.

7. Background Papers
158



7.1 There are no background papers.

8. Appendices

8.1 Appendix 1 – Southend-on-Sea Proposed school term and holiday dates 2018/19 

Draft Southend-on-Sea Borough Council School Term and 
Holiday Dates for Community and Voluntary Controlled Schools - 

Academic Year 2018-2019

= Schooldays / Weekends = School holidays   = Bank holidays         

In addition, schools allocate five non-pupil days out of the school days indicated, 
or the equivalent in disaggregated twilight sessions.

September 2018 October 2018 November 2018 December 2018

M T W T F S S M T W T F S S M T W T F S S M T W T F S S
1 2 3 4 1 2

3 4 5 6 7 8 9 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 3 4 5 6 7 8 9
10 11 12 13 14 15 16 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 10 11 12 13 14 15 16
17 18 18 20 21 22 23 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 19 20 21 22 23 24 25 17 18 19 20 21 22 23
24 25 26 27 28 29 30 22 23 24 25 26 27 28 26 27 28 29 30 24 25 26 27 28 29 30

29 30 31 31

January 2019 February 2019 March 2019 April 2019

M T W T F S S M T W T F S S M T W T F S S M T W T F S S
1 2 3 4 5 6 1 2 3 1 2 3 1 2 3 4 5 6 7

7 8 9 10 11 12 13 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 8 9 10 11 12 13 14
14 15 16 17 18 19 20 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 15 16 17 18 19 20 21

21 22 23 24 25 26 27 18 19 20 21 22 23 24 18 19 20 21 22 23 24 22 23 24 25 26 27 28
26 29 30 21 25 26 27 28 25 26 27 28 29 30 31 29 30

May 2019 June 2019 July 2019 August 2019

M T W T F S S M T W T F S S M T W T F S S M T W T F S S
1 2 3 4 5 1 2 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 1 2 3 4

6 7 8 9 10 11 12 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 5 6 7 8 9 10 11
13 14 15 16 17 18 19 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 12 13 14 15 16 17 18
20 21 22 23 24 25 26 17 18 19 20 21 22 23 22 23 24 25 26 27 28 19 20 21 22 23 24 25
27 28 29 30 31 24 25 26 27 28 29 30 29 30 31 26 27 28 29 30 31

Published 25.04.2005 by Education Information Management
The Schools Service 
Essex County Council, PO Box 47
Chelmsford CM2 6WN Tel. 01245 436242 / 436276

Autumn Term: Wednesday 5 September 2018 –  Thursday 21 December 2018
Half Term 22 October – 26 October

   72 days

Spring Term: Thursday 3 January 2019 – Friday 5 April 2019
Half Term 18 February - 22 February 

   62 days

Summer Term: Monday 23 April 2019 – Wednesday 24 July 2019
Half Term 27 May – 31 May, and May Bank Holiday, 6 May

   61 days
_______
195 days

Annexure 1

159



 

Wednesday 3 September 2014 – Friday 19 December 2014
Half Term 27 October – 31 October

   73 days

   55 days

   67 days
_______
195 days

Please note:    The above dates may vary for individual schools, especially Foundation and Voluntary Aided schools and 
Academies. You are strongly advised to check with your child’s school before making any holiday or other commitments.

160



Report Title Page 1 of 3 Report Number

Southend-on-Sea Borough Council

Report of Deputy Chief Executive (People)

to
Cabinet

on
14th March 2017

Report prepared by: Andrea Atherton, Director of Public 
Health

The 2016 Annual Report of the Director of Public Health

People Scrutiny Committee
Executive Councillor: Councillor L Salter

A Part 1 Public Agenda Item

1. Purpose of Report

1.1 To present the 2016 Annual Report of the Director of Public Health.

2. Recommendation

2.1 To consider and note the content and recommendations of the 2016 Annual 
Report of the Director of Public Health.
 

3.0 Background

3.1 The Health and Social Care Act 2012 requires the Director of Public Health to 
prepare an annual report on the health of the local population. This is an 
independent report which the local authority is required to publish. The report 
is an opportunity to focus attention on particular issues that impact on the 
health and wellbeing of the local population, highlight any concerns and make 
recommendations for further action.

4.0 The 2016 Annual Report of the Director of Public Health 

4.1 Health protection is the branch of public health concerned with planning for 
emergencies, protecting the population from communicable diseases and a 
range of environmental hazards. Health protection also includes the delivery of 
the national immunisation and screening programmes.

4.2 The transfer of public health into local authorities in April 2013, brought with it 
new responsibilities for health and health protection. These new health 
protection duties build on the existing health protection function and statutory 
powers bestowed on local authorities by various Acts of Parliament, such as 
the Public Health (Control of Diseases) Act 1984, and associated regulations, 

Agenda
Item No.

14

161

11



Report Title Page 2 of 3 Report Number

and delivered through environmental health, trading standards and regulatory 
services. 

4.3 The Director of Public Health, acting on behalf of their local authority, is 
responsible for ensuring that plans are in place to protect the health of the 
local population from threats ranging from relatively minor outbreaks and 
contaminations to full-scale emergencies.  The scope and scale of this work is 
driven by the health risks in the local area.

4.4 In undertaking this assurance role, the Director of Public is expected to provide 
relevant information, advice as well as challenge to key partners so that 
threats to health are properly understood and addressed. Public Health 
England in particular plays a significant role in supporting local authorities with 
their new health protection responsibilities. Other key partners include NHS 
England, Clinical Commissioning Groups as well as provider organisations. 

4.5 The 2016 Annual Report of the Director of Public Health Report provides an 
overview of the following health protection issues:
 Communicable Diseases and Outbreaks
 Immunisation 
 Seasonal Influenza 
 Tuberculosis
 Sexual Health and Blood Borne Viruses
 Healthcare Associated Infections 
 Emergency Preparedness 
 Screening

 A number of recommendations are made for each of the topic areas for the
 Council and relevant partners to consider.

5.0 Other Options

There are no other options presented as it is a statutory duty of the Director of 
Public Health to prepare an Annual Public Health Report.

6.0 Reason for Recommendations

6.1 The Health and Social Care Act 2012 requires Directors of Public Health to 
prepare an annual report on the health of the local population.

6.0      Corporate Implications

6.1      Contribution to Council’s Vision & Corporate Priorities

The Council has a statutory duty to protect the health of the local population. 
The 2016 Annual Public Health Report highlights the key heath protection 
issues for people in Southend and actions being taken to address them.

6.2      Financial Implications

There are no financial implications arising directly from the contents of this 
report.

162



Report Title Page 3 of 3 Report Number

6.3 Legal Implications

There are no legal implications arising directly from this report.

6.4 People Implications

None.

6.5 Property Implications

None.

6.6 Consultation

There will not be any formal consultation on the Annual Public Health Report, 
although it will go through the relevant governance route within the Council as 
well as to the Southend Health & Wellbeing Board.

6.7 Equalities and Diversity Implications

The Annual Public Health Report provides evidence that population health 
needs are assessed and considered.

6.8 Risk Assessment

A risk assessment will be undertaken of individual initiatives introduced to tackle 
the key issues highlighted in the report.

6.9 Value for Money

No implications.

6.10 Environmental Impact

None.

7.0 Background Documents

7.1 Background documents are listed in the Annual Public Health Report.

8.0 Appendices

8.1 The 2016 Annual Report of the Director of Public Health for Southend.

163



This page is intentionally left blank



  

 

 

ANNUAL REPORT 

OF THE 

 DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH  

2016 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

165



2 
 

Contents          

Page 

Foreword          3 

Executive Summary        5 
 
Summary of Recommendations       13 
 
Chapter 1  Communicable Diseases and Outbreaks    15 
 
Chapter 2 Immunisation        20 
 
Chapter 3  Seasonal Influenza        26 
 
Chapter 4 Tuberculosis        31 
 
Chapter 5 Sexual Health and Blood Borne Viruses    35 
 
Chapter 6  Healthcare Associated Infections      44 
 
Chapter 7 Emergency Preparedness       51 
 
Chapter 8 Screening        55 
 
Feedback from Recommendations for 2015     60 
           
References          62 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

166



3 
 

Foreword 
 
The Director of Public Health has a statutory duty to produce an independent report 
on the health of the local population. This year my annual report focuses on health 
protection, a branch of public health concerned with planning for emergencies and 
protecting our population from communicable diseases, as well as minimising the 
health impact of a range of environmental hazards. Health protection also includes 
the delivery of major programmes such as national immunisation and screening 
programmes. 
 
When public health transferred into local authorities in April 2013, it brought with it 
new responsibilities for health and health protection. These new health protection 
duties build on the existing health protection function and statutory powers bestowed 
on local authorities by various Acts of Parliament, such as the Public Health (Control 
of Diseases) Act 1984, and associated regulations, and delivered through 
environmental health, trading standards and regulatory services.  
 
The Director of Public Health, acting on behalf of their local authority, is responsible 
for ensuring that plans are in place to protect the health of the local population from 
threats ranging from relatively minor outbreaks and contaminations to full-scale 
emergencies.  The scope and scale of this work is driven by the health risks in the 
local area. 
 
In undertaking this assurance role, the Director of Public Health is expected to 
provide relevant information and advice, as well as challenge to key partners so that 
threats to health are properly understood and addressed. Public Health England in 
particular plays a significant role in supporting local authorities with their new health 
protection responsibilities. Other key partners include NHS England and Clinical 
Commissioning Groups, as well as provider organisations.  
 
The first part of the report provides an overview of communicable diseases and 
outbreaks, as well as a more in-depth look at tuberculosis, sexually transmitted 
infections, blood borne viruses, and healthcare acquired infections.  This includes 
raising awareness of what can be done to prevent their spread and complications.  
 
The important topic of immunisation for the prevention of communicable diseases is 
explored, with a focus on childhood illnesses and seasonal influenza.  
 
The report covers arrangements for dealing with emergencies relating to issues that 
threaten public health, including extremes of weather. 
 
The final section covers the various national screening programmes in place to 
identity those at risk of serious illnesses that may not cause symptoms early on. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

167



4 
 

I hope that my report will serve to reinforce the important health protection issues for 
Southend. As in previous years I would welcome your feedback, comments and 
suggestions. 
 
 
 
Dr Andrea Atherton 
Director of Public Health 
 
 
Acknowledgments 
I am indebted to many people who have supported and contributed to my report. 
These include: Margaret Gray, Liesel Park, James Williams, Angela Squires, Erin 
Brennan-Douglas, Lisa Holloway, Simon D Ford and Sally Watkins.  
 
I would also like to thank: 
Dr Smita Kapadia and Caroline Back, Public Health England. 
Matt Rangue and Sheila O’Mahony, NHS Southend Clinical Commissioning Group 
Dr Pam Hall and Oliver Jackson, NHS England 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

168



5 
 

Executive Summary 
 
The 2016 Annual Public Health Report explores the topic of health protection. This is 
a branch of public health concerned with planning for emergencies, protecting the 
population from communicable diseases and a range of environmental hazards, and 
also includes the delivery of the national immunisation and screening programmes. 
 
Communicable diseases and outbreaks  
 
There has been a statutory requirement to notify cases of certain infectious diseases 
since the end of the 19th century.  More recent regulations have added substances 
thought to present a significant risk to human health, as well as additional infections 
to the notification list.   
 
Notifications of infectious disease are sent directly from medical practitioners and 
laboratories in England to Consultants in Communicable Disease Control based at 
the Public Health England East of England Centre, who act as the Proper Officer for 
Southend Borough Council. These notifications are collated and an analysis of 
national and local disease trends is published weekly by Public Health England. 
 
Populations of local authority areas are too small to show meaningful trends even in 
the most common infection, as variations in reported cases between years may be 
real or reflect erratic reporting.  
 
Campylobacter, the most common cause of food poisoning in the UK, was the most 
commonly reported infection in Southend in 2014 and 2015.  Campylobacter is found 
in the intestinal tract of animals and birds, and people can become infected by eating 
raw or undercooked meat, particularly chicken; or drinking unpasteurised milk and 
contaminated water. Transmission may also occur from cooked foods that have 
been cross-contaminated with the bacteria from raw meat. Salmonella is also an 
important but less common cause of food poisoning. 
 
Good hygiene in the kitchen when storing and preparing food, particularly raw 
chicken, and ensuring that food is thoroughly cooked are important in the prevention 
of food poisoning.  
 
The Regulatory Services Team within the Council is responsible for developing the 
Annual Southend Official Feed and Food Service Plan, which outlines the inspection 
programme for the 1788 food premises in Southend.   
 
An outbreak is defined as an incident in which two or more people experiencing a 
similar illness are linked in time or place. Early recognition of an outbreak is 
important so that the source can be identified and further action can be taken to 
prevent further spread or recurrence of the infection.  
 
A significant proportion of outbreaks are handled as part of the routine business of 
the Public Health England local Health Protection Teams. In some situations it may 
be necessary to establish an Outbreak Control Team, which includes members of 
environmental health and public health. 
 

169



6 
 

Care homes are a common setting for outbreaks to occur. In 2014 and 2015, care 
homes in Southend accounted for a significant proportion of reported outbreaks of 
gastroenteritis and respiratory illness. 
 
Immunisation  
 
After clean water, immunisation is recognised as one of the most effective public 
health interventions for saving lives and promoting good health. 
 
Although the primary aim of immunisation is to protect the individual who receives 
the vaccine, when enough people in a community are immunised they are less likely 
to be a source of infection to unvaccinated individuals - a concept known as “herd 
immunity”.  The World Health Organisation generally recommends vaccination 
uptake of at least 95% of the eligible population to achieve “herd immunity”. 
 
There is generally good uptake of primary childhood immunisations in Southend, 
with sufficient uptake to achieve herd immunity for most of the programmes. Uptake 
of the second dose of MMR (measles, mumps and rubella) vaccine still remains 
around 5% below the target uptake. 
 
Following a national pertussis (whooping cough) outbreak in 2012, pregnant women 
were offered pertussis immunisation to protect their babies from birth through the 
intrauterine transfer of maternal antibodies. Pertussis activity remained high in 2016 
and unprotected young infants continue to be at risk. In Southend the monthly 
uptake of the prenatal pertussis vaccine ranged from between 40.8% and 55.7% 
between April 2015 and March 2016.  
 
Older people are at greater risk of morbidity and mortality from vaccine-preventable 
diseases as a consequence of reduced immunity with age, and also as they may not 
have received immunisations in younger years. 
 
In 2014/15 only 58.4% of eligible people aged 65 years or over in Southend received 
the pneumococcal vaccine, which is significantly lower than the England average 
(70.1%). Uptake of shingles vaccine in 2014/15 in 70 year olds was also significantly 
lower than the England average, at 46.6% compared to 58.3%. 
 
Staff in NHS England local area teams are responsible for commissioning the 
national immunisation services locally and for providing system leadership, training 
and support to all those involved, including GPs, community pharmacists and 
community providers. 
 
Influenza  
 
The influenza virus is highly contagious and is easily passed from person-to-person 
when an infected person coughs or sneezes. For most healthy individuals, influenza 
is an unpleasant but usually self-limiting illness. However, for some it can lead to 
serious complications which may require treatment in hospital and can be life 
threatening.  
 

170



7 
 

Seasonal influenza vaccine is offered to those at higher risk of serious complications 
including people aged 65 or over, children and adults with an underlying chronic 
health condition such as respiratory disease, heart disease and diabetes, those with 
weakened immune systems as well as pregnant women. 
 
Immunisation is also offered to frontline health and social care staff, main carers of 
older or disabled people and household contacts of immunocompromised people. 
 
Different strains of influenza virus circulate each year, and the vaccine is changed 
annually based on the strains most likely for the coming influenza season. This 
means that eligible people need to get a flu jab every year. 
 
The annual influenza immunisation programme is being extended to include 
vaccination of healthy children from the age of two. These children will generally 
receive the vaccine as an intranasal spray. From 2016/17, the vaccine will be offered 
to two, three and four year olds and children in school years 1, 2 and 3. The 
programme will gradually extend over future years to all primary school aged 
children. 
 
There is poor uptake of influenza vaccine across virtually all eligible groups at a local 
level, with only 64.1%  (target 75%) of people aged over 65 and 38%  (target 55%) 
under 65 in a clinical risk group in Southend receiving the flu vaccine in 2015/16. 
 
A multiagency Southend Seasonal Flu Oversight Group implemented a range of 
initiatives to increase uptake of flu vaccine as part of the 2016/17 immunisation 
programme. Public health continues to commission a service to assist with the 
management of outbreaks of influenza in care homes. 
 
Tuberculosis 
 
Tuberculosis (TB) is a bacterial infection that can affect almost any part of the body, 
most commonly the lungs. TB is much less infectious than other respiratory 
infections, such as influenza.  
 
In some people the initial infection may be eliminated or they may develop latent 
disease.  Latent TB infection (LTBI) may reactivate later in life, particularly if an 
individual’s immune system has become weakened e.g. through HIV or cancer 
chemotherapy.  
 
At the beginning of the 20th century there were over 117,000 new cases of TB in 
England every year. This fell to a low of 5086 new cases every year in 1987, the 
downward trend then reversed until it reached a peak in 2011, (8,280 cases or 15.6 
new cases per 100,000 population). There has been a year-on-year decline since 
then to 5,758 new cases or 10.5 new cases per 100,000 in 2015. 
 
The peak incidence of TB in Southend occurred in 2004-6, and has since continued 
to decline to a three average rate of 7.5 new cases per 100,000 population in 2013-
15. 
 

171



8 
 

TB is now a disease that occurs predominantly in specific population subgroups, 
including communities with connections to higher-prevalence areas of the world and 
in communities with social risk factors such as homelessness, drug or alcohol 
misuse and imprisonment. 
 
The East of England TB Control Board, which covers the population of Southend, 
has comprehensive plans in place to address the key recommendations of the 
national TB strategy across the region.  
 
Locally a community tuberculosis service provides diagnostic, treatment and 
screening services, in which all tuberculosis patients are cared for by a 
multidisciplinary team. 
 
Sexual health and blood borne viruses 
 
Within the population sexual health needs vary according to factors including age, 
gender, ethnicity and sexuality, with some groups disproportionately at risk of poor 
sexual health. Intervention programmes to improve sexual health outcomes should 
be developed based on a robust evidence base and local needs. 
 
Chlamydia is the most common bacterial sexually transmitted infection in England, 
with rates substantially higher in young adults than any other age group. The 
National Chlamydia Screening Programme recommends that all sexually active men 
and women aged under 25 years old are tested for chlamydia every year or on 
change of sexual partner. 
 
Southend continues to have a significantly better rate of chlamydia screening in 15-
24 year olds than the national average. The chlamydia detection rate in Southend is 
also similar to the England average, but remains below the recommended level to 
reduce the prevalence of chlamydia in the population. 
 
The diagnostic rate of genital warts and genital herpes in Southend are both similar 
to the England average, whereas the diagnostic rates of gonorrhoea and syphilis in 
are both significantly lower than the England average. 
 
HIV remains an important communicable disease in the UK. People living with HIV 
can expect a near normal life expectancy if they are diagnosed and treated promptly. 
 
The prevalence of HIV in Southend has historically been higher than the national 
average, although, over time the difference has narrowed. The rate of new HIV 
diagnosis in Southend has almost halved since 2012, and is now lower than the 
England average. 
 
HIV testing is integral to the treatment and management of HIV. Knowledge of HIV 
status increases survival rates, improves quality of life and reduces the risk of HIV 
transmission. HIV test coverage in Southend is significantly higher than the national 
coverage.  
 
Late diagnosis of HIV is the most important predictor of morbidity and mortality 
among those with the infection. Over the last five years there has been a continued 

172



9 
 

downward trend in the proportion of individuals diagnosed late with HIV in Southend, 
which is now similar to the England average. 
 
Locally the SHORE (Sexual Health, Outreach, Reproduction and Education) 
Integrated Sexual Health Service provides comprehensive sexually transmitted 
infection testing and treatment services and contraceptive services across all its 
sites. Southend residents are also able to access the online national HIV self-
sampling service to request an HIV testing kit.  
 
The hepatitis B and C viruses can be transmitted through contact with the blood or 
body fluids contaminated with blood. Many people infected with these viruses won't 
experience any symptoms. Up to 80% of people infected with hepatitis C go on to 
develop chronic infection, whereas the likelihood of developing chronic hepatitis B 
infection varies with age.  The long term complications of chronic hepatitis B and C 
infections include cirrhosis of the liver and primary liver cancer. 
 
Transmission of hepatitis B can be prevented through a course of vaccinations. 
Although there is no vaccine for hepatitis C, it is a potentially curable disease with 
antiviral therapy. 
 
Specialist drug and alcohol services in Southend prioritise hepatitis B and C 
interventions within their nurse-led health and wellbeing work. There are close links 
with the specialist hepatology services and liver nurses to ensure that clients are 
quickly identified and referred for support and treatment where necessary. 
 
Healthcare Associated Infection  
 
Healthcare associated infections are a range of infections acquired in healthcare 
settings or as a direct result of healthcare interventions such as medical or surgical 
treatment. The most common types of healthcare-associated infection are 
respiratory infections, urinary tract infections and surgical site infections. 
 
Everyone carries large numbers of micro-organisms on their skin or in their bodies, 
which only become a problem when the person becomes unwell or when the 
organisms have the opportunity to enter the bloodstream e.g. from an intravenous 
cannula. 
 
There are national surveillance programme to monitor the numbers of certain 
infections that occur in healthcare settings, including Staphylococcus aureus, 
Escherichia coli, Clostridium difficile and surgical site infection.  These infections can 
range from mild to life threatening.  
 
Some strains of Staphylococcus aureus have developed resistance to antibiotics, 
such as meticillin resistant Staphylococcus aureus (MRSA), and will require different 
types of antibiotic to treat them.  
 
Numerous interventions aimed at reducing the incidence of healthcare associated 
infections have been introduced over the last 8 years. These have contributed to a 
marked decrease in MRSA bacteraemia and Clostridium difficile infection rates in 
Southend and England over this time. 

173



10 
 

It is probably impossible to completely eradicate healthcare associated infections. In 
addition to clean environments, the key interventions that can significantly reduce 
their incidence include good hand hygiene practices, proper use of invasive medical 
equipment and prudent use of antibiotics. 
 
The inappropriate use of antibiotics has contributed to the dramatic rise in antibiotic 
resistance over the last 40 years, and few new antibiotics have been developed. 
Work is being undertaken at a national level to tackle antimicrobial resistance, 
directed by a cross-government antimicrobial resistance strategy. 
 
At a local level a multidisciplinary Antimicrobial Resistance Group has been 
established to develop a local strategy and action plan to slow the development and 
spread of antimicrobial resistance by tackling overuse and misuse of antibiotics. 
In addition healthcare professionals and members of the public are being 
encouraged to become an “Antibiotic Guardian”. 
 
Emergency preparedness 
 
Threats to the public’s health such as outbreaks of disease or severe weather 
conditions can arise at any time. On occasions these can escalate into a major 
incident requiring the implementation of special arrangements by one or a number of 
agencies. 
 
The Civil Contingencies Act 2004 (CCA) was brought in to ensure that the 
organisations best placed to manage emergency response and recovery are at the 
heart of civil protection. 
 
The Act divides local responders into two categories. Category 1 responders are 
those organisations at the core of emergency response, such as the emergency 
services, local authorities and acute hospitals. They have a range of specific duties 
around risk assessment, the development of emergency plans and business 
continuity management arrangements; as well as making information available to the 
public with the ability to ’warn, inform and advise’ in the event of an emergency. 
  
Category 2 responders include the utilities, transport, the Health and Safety 
Executive and Clinical Commissioning Groups. They generally support the 
emergency response through the provision of specialist support, equipment or 
advice. 
 
The CCA requirement for multi-agency co-operation in emergency preparedness is 
fulfilled at the local level by the Essex Local Resilience Forum, which brings together 
Category 1 and 2 responders. The Emergency Planning Lead Officer for Southend 
Borough Council and the Director of Public Health are both members of the Essex 
LRF. 
 
There is also an Essex Local Health Resilience Partnership which brings together 
senior representatives from the health sector across Essex to co-ordinate and 
support joint working and effective planning of the health emergency response. Their 
key responsibilities include the production of local sector-wide health plans to 

174



11 
 

respond to emergencies as well as to contribute to multi-agency emergency 
planning.   
 
Greater numbers of people are known to die during periods of extreme temperature. 
In response, Public Health England has developed a Cold Weather Plan and 
Heatwave Plan, associated with a national Weather Alert service which operates 
from 1 November to 31 March and from 1 June to 15 September. This uses Met 
Office data to trigger levels of response from NHS, local government and the public 
health system and communication of risks to the public when severe cold or hot 
weather is forecast.  
 
At a local level, Southend Borough Council facilitates the distribution of relevant 
heatwave and cold weather planning guidance to the relevant non NHS agencies in 
the community (including education establishments and residential homes) and 
cascades the Weather Alert Level notifications. 
 
Screening 
 
Screening is the process of identifying apparently healthy people, who may be at 
increased risk of a disease or condition. They can then be offered information, 
further tests and appropriate treatment to reduce associated risks or complications 
arising from the disease or condition.  
 
However, the screening process is not perfect and in every screening programme 
there are some false positives (wrongly reported as having the condition) and false 
negatives (wrongly reported as not having the condition).  The UK National 
Screening Committee advises the NHS on which population screening programmes 
are implemented. There are currently 11 NHS systematic population screening 
programmes, including 5 young person and adult screening programmes. 
 
England has 3 national cancer screening programmes; breast, cervical and bowel. 
The NHS Breast Screening Programme aims to find breast cancer at an early stage, 
often before there are any symptoms. To do this, X-rays are taken of each breast 
(mammogram) to look for any abnormalities in breast tissue. 
 
Women in England aged 50-70 years are invited for screening every three years. 
The NHS is currently in the process of trialling extending the programme, offering 
screening to some women from the age 47 and up to 73 years old. 
 
In Southend the breast screening coverage for women aged 50-70 years in 2015 
was 67.9%, which is significantly lower than the England average of 75.4%. 
 
The NHS Cervical Screening Programme aims to prevent cancer by detecting 
abnormalities in cells of the cervix and referring women for further investigation and 
potential treatment.   
 
Screening is offered every three years to all women aged 25 to 49 years and every 
five years to those aged 50 to 64 years. Southend has historically had a low 
coverage in this screening programme and most recent data (2015) shows that there 
has been no significant improvement, with coverage currently at 72.6%.  

175



12 
 

 
The NHS Bowel Cancer Screening Programme aims to detect bowel cancer at an 
early stage when treatment is more likely to be effective.   A faecal occult blood 
(FOB) screening kit is offered to men and women aged 60 to 74 every two years. 
This test detects occult traces of blood in a small stool sample. People with a 
positive test are referred further tests and treatment, if necessary. 
 
An additional one-off bowel scope screening test is gradually being offered in 
England to men and women at the age of 55.  A bowel scope (a thin, flexible 
instrument) is used to look inside the lower part of the bowel to find any small polyps 
which may develop into bowel cancer if left untreated. 
 
The NHS Bowel Cancer Screening Programme has been in place for 10 years, but 
uptake is still low both nationally and locally. For Southend, in 2015 coverage was 
53.7% compared with an England average of 57.1%, against a required target of 
75%. 
 
People with diabetes are at risk of a condition called diabetic retinopathy. This 
condition occurs when diabetes affects small blood vessels, damaging the part of the 
eye called the retina. The NHS Diabetic Eye Screening Programme offers screening 
every 12 months to all people with diabetes aged 12 and over. The screening test 
involves examining and taking photographs of the back of the eyes. 
 
An abdominal aortic aneurysm (AAA) is a dangerous swelling (aneurysm) of the 
aorta, which is the main blood vessel that runs from the heart, down through the 
abdomen to the rest of the body.  An AAA usually causes no symptoms, but if it 
bursts it is extremely dangerous and usually fatal. The condition is far commoner in 
men aged over 65 than in women or younger men. 
 
The NHS Abdominal Aortic Aneurysm (AAA) Screening Programme involves a 
simple ultrasound scan to measure the abdominal aorta. Once identified AAAs can 
be monitored or treated, greatly reducing the chances of the aneurysm causing 
serious problems. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

176



13 
 

Summary of Recommendations 

 

 Southend Public Health Department should support the Public Health England 
local Health Protection Team to provide regular updates on the reporting of and 
management of communicable diseases and outbreaks for staff in primary care 
and schools. 

 

 Ensure timely sharing of information between Public Health England, Southend 
Borough Council and Primary Care about outbreaks in healthcare settings, care 
homes and schools so that prompt action can be taken. 

 

 Every opportunity should be taken to actively promote immunisation uptake in 
children across Southend. This should include promotion in children’s centres 
and at school entry. 

 

 Work should continue with primary care and midwives to immunise more 
pregnant women against whooping cough. 

 

 Provide information about immunisations to a broad range of partners who work 
with older people to enable them to pass on accurate information on the 
importance of immunisations at appropriate opportunities. 

 

 A review is undertaken of the Southend Seasonal Influenza Action Plan 
outcomes for 2016/17, and the findings used to inform any changes to the 
action plan for 2017/18. 
 

 Share best practice of those GPs delivering high rates of seasonal vaccination 
as part of the ‘locality approach’ of the South and Mid Essex Sustainable 
Transformation Plan.   

 

 All health and social care organisations covering Southend should put in place 
plans to increase staff influenza vaccination uptake to meet the nationally 
agreed targets.  

 

 Southend University Hospital NHS Foundation Trust to review how to provide 
additional support to increase uptake of influenza vaccination in at risk groups 
and specifically pregnant women. 

 

 Training is made available to professionals to raise awareness of TB in 
vulnerable groups including homeless, drug and alcohol misusers, as well as 
new migrants from high incidence countries, to ensure prompt referral when TB 
is suspected. 

 

 The Council collaborates with the East of England TB Control Board and local 
partners to ensure directly observed therapy (DOT) is available for those 
people with TB in the most disadvantaged or hard to reach groups. 

 

177



14 
 

 The Council supports the East of England TB Control Board and local 
stakeholders to implement the local plan for latent TB infection testing and 
treatment services. 

 

• Undertake a review of availability of chlamydia screening in sexual health 

service venues and community based settings to ensure screening is available 
in the populations with the highest need based on positivity. 

 

• Raise professional awareness about who to screen and test for HIV to continue 

the reduction in late diagnosis.  
 

• Continue efforts to reduce stigma and highlight testing opportunities to those at 

greatest risk of HIV. 
 

• Continue to increase standards and implementation of infection control 
measures across health and social care services (such as hand washing, use 
of personal protective equipment, decontamination, sterilisation, and patient 
isolation).  

 

• Continue to promote the role of Antibiotic Guardian with healthcare 

professionals and the public. 
 

• Promote public education about appropriate use of antibiotics and the 

importance of adherence to the prescribed dose and taking the full course of 
antibiotics. 

 

 The Essex Local Health Resilience Partnership should be asked to prepare an 
Annual Report and present to the Southend Health & Wellbeing Board and 
Cabinet to provide assurance to the Council on local health sector emergency 
preparedness. 

 

 Consideration to be given to the inclusion of information on NHS screening 
programmes in ‘Making Every Contact Count’ training. This will enable staff 
from health, the local authority and other organisations to promote screening 
through routine health promotion messages to residents. 

 

• Increase uptake and decrease inequity in uptake across all the screening 

programmes by targeting groups and communities who are less likely to access 
screening. 
 
My final recommendation is:  
 

 Establish a multiagency subgroup of the Southend Health and Wellbeing Board 
to oversee the development of an action plan to ensure the implementation of 
the recommendations of this report. 

 
 
 

178



15 
 

Chapter 1 Communicable Diseases and Outbreaks 

1.0 Background 
 
There has been a statutory requirement to notify cases of certain infectious diseases 
since the end of the 19th century.  Regulations which came into force in 2010 take a 
wider and more flexible approach to hazards, including chemicals, radiation and 
other environmental hazards. In addition to the specified list of infectious diseases 
which require notification (Table 1), there is a requirement to notify cases of other 
infections or substances thought to present a significant risk to human health.  
 
It is the statutory responsibility of the attending medical practitioner to complete a 
notification certificate or telephone the ‘Proper Officer’ for the Local Authority on 
clinical suspicion, without waiting for laboratory confirmation of the diagnosis. For 
Southend Borough Council and the other local authorities in Essex, the Consultants 
in Communicable Disease Control at the Public Health England East of England 
Centre act as their Proper Officers and receive the notifications directly. 
 
All laboratories in England performing a primary diagnostic role must also notify 
Public Health England when they confirm a notifiable organism. Public Health 
England collates the notifications and publishes an analysis of local and national 
trends every week.  

Table 1 Notifiable Diseases under the Health Protection (Notifiable) Regulations 2010 

Acute encephalitis Haemolytic uraemic syndrome 
(HUS) 

Rabies 

Acute infectious 
hepatitis 

Rubella 

Acute meningitis Infectious bloody diarrhoea Severe acute respiratory 
syndrome (SARS) 

Acute poliomyelitis Invasive group A 
streptococcal disease 

Scarlet fever 

Anthrax Smallpox 

Botulism Legionnaires’ disease Tetanus 

Brucellosis Leprosy Tuberculosis 

Cholera Malaria Typhus 

Diphtheria Measles Viral haemorrhagic fever 
(VHF) 

Enteric fever (typhoid or 
paratyphoid) 

Meningococcal septicaemia Whooping Cough 

Mumps 

Food poisoning Plague Yellow Fever 

2.0 Incidence of Selected Notifiable Diseases in Southend 
 
The prime purpose of the notifications system is to allow rapid detection of possible 
outbreaks in order to enable prompt action to be taken to prevent further cases. As 
cases are notified based on clinical suspicion, not all will subsequently prove to have 
the disease. In addition, not all cases of infectious disease are notified, as the patient 
may not seek medical attention, or the doctor may fail to notify.  
 
Populations of local authority areas are too small to show meaningful trends even in 
the most common infections. Variations in reported cases between years may be 

179



16 
 

real, or may reflect erratic reporting.  All of these factors need to be taken into 
consideration when reviewing the data in the next section.  
 
Selected notifiable diseases reported to Public Health England for Southend in 2014 
and 2015 are shown in Table 2. 
 
Table 2  Selected notifiable diseases reported to Public Health England for Southend   
            and East of England in 2014 & 2015 (crude rate per 100,000 population and  
               number of cases) 
 

 Infection Rate per 100,000 population  and 
(number of cases) 2014 

Rate per 100,000 population  and 
(number of cases) 2015 

 Southend East of England Southend East of England 

Gastrointestinal     
Campylobacter 111.84    (199) 110.17   (6980) 123.64    (220) 91.29    (5784) 
Cryptosporidium 2.81        (5) 6.76        (428) 8.99         (16) 9.75      (618) 
E coli 0157 0.00        (<5) 1.12        (71) 1.69         (<5) 0.79      (50) 
Giardia 0.00        (<5) 5.93        (376) 2.25         (<5) 6.63      (420) 
Salmonellosis 8.99        (16) 9.83        (623) 14.05      (25) 11.10    (703) 
Vaccine 
preventable 

    

Measles 0.00       (<5) 0.21        (13) 0.00         (<5) 0.06      (<5) 
Mumps 3.37       (6) 3.46        (219)  0.56         (<5) 0.98      (62) 
Pertussis 
(whooping cough) 

3.93       (7) 5.89        (373) 2.25         (<5) 6.23      (395) 

Rubella 0.00       ( <5) 0.02        (<5) 0.00         (<5) 0.06      (<5) 
Other     
Meningitis (all) 1.12        (<5) 0.95        (60) 1.12         (<5) 1.20      (76) 

Meningococcal 
septicaemia  

1.12        (<5) 0.51        (32) 0.56         (<5) 0.55      (35) 

Hepatitis B 26.98     (48) 19.29      (1222) 29.22      (52)  22.79   (1444) 

Hepatitis C 19.11     (34) 13.31      (843) 13.49      (24) 15.33   (971) 
Data sources:   Public Health England: HPZone, Second Generation Surveillance System and Enhanced 
Tuberculosis surveillance.  ONS Mid-Year Estimates 2015 used to calculate rates. 

2.1 Food Poisoning 

Two important bacterial causes of food poisoning are Campylobacter and 
Salmonella. 

Campylobacter 

Campylobacter is the most common bacterial cause of food poisoning in the UK and 
is estimated to make more than 280,000 people ill each year. Campylobacter is 
found in the intestinal tract of animals and birds. Methods of transmission to humans 
include the consumption of raw or undercooked meat, particularly chicken, as well as 
unpasteurised milk and contaminated water. Transmission may also occur from 
ready to eat foods that have been cross-contaminated with the bacteria from raw 
meat. It is therefore important to take care to avoid cross contamination by keeping 

180



17 
 

raw meat separate to cooked and ready to eat foods, and ensuring that hands are 
thoroughly washed after handling raw meat.  

A  UK wide survey was undertaken in 2014-15 to determine the levels of 
Campylobacter on whole fresh retail chickens and their packaging (1). A joint Food 
Standards Agency and industry target was set up to reduce the prevalence of the 
most contaminated chickens. 
 
All chickens, regardless of which retail outlet they are bought from, are at risk of 
being contaminated with Campylobacter, which is why it is important for consumers 
to handle and cook their chicken safely. Effective cooking will kill any Campylobacter 
on the chicken.  
 
Chicken is safe as long as consumers follow good kitchen practice: 
 
 Cover and chill raw chicken: Cover raw chicken and store on the bottom shelf  

of the fridge so juices cannot drip on to other foods and contaminate them with 
food poisoning bacteria such as Campylobacter; 

 Don’t wash raw chicken: Cooking will kill any bacteria present, including  
 Campylobacter, while washing chicken can spread bacteria by splashing; 
 Wash hands and used utensils:  Thoroughly wash and clean all utensils,  
 chopping boards and surfaces used to prepare raw chicken. Wash hands  
 thoroughly with soap and warm water, after handling raw chicken. This helps  
 stop the spread of Campylobacter by avoiding cross contamination. 
 Cook chicken thoroughly:  Make sure chicken is steaming hot all the way  
 through before serving. Cut in to the thickest part of the meat and check that it  
 is steaming hot with no pink meat and that the juices run clear. 

Salmonella 

Salmonella is found in the intestinal tracts of wild and domestic birds, animals and 
reptiles. The main route of transmission is through the consumption of contaminated 
food, particularly meat, raw eggs and dairy produce. This may occur either as a 
result of contamination of cooked food by raw food, or by the use of insufficiently 
high temperatures during cooking. Spread can also occur through close contact with 
infected people or animals. 
 
2.2 What is Being Done Locally? 
 
Measures are being taken to reduce the burden of vaccine preventable diseases, 
tuberculosis and blood borne viruses. These are discussed in other chapters of this 
report. 
 
The Food Standards Agency (FSA) requires every local authority to develop and 
submit an annual food enforcement service plan. The purpose of the plan is to 
ensure that the highest achievable levels of food control (including food safety, food 
standards and control of feeds) are maintained, and is the basis on which local 
authorities are monitored and audited by the FSA. 
 

181



18 
 

The Regulatory Services Team within the Council is responsible for developing the 
Annual Southend Official Feed and Food Service Plan (2).  The Service Plan outlines 
the inspection programme for the 1788 food premises in Southend.  Priority for 
inspections and interventions is given to premises which have been risk assessed as 
presenting the highest risk in terms of their activity and the conditions at the 
premises. All high and medium risk category programmed inspections are to be 
completed within the financial year with appropriate alternative approaches adopted 
for the remaining inspections. For 2016/17, 964 premises required an official food 
hygiene intervention. There are also 9 Approved Food Premises in Southend, 
including the cockle processors, which are inspected annually. 

3.0 Responding to Outbreaks 

Definition  

An outbreak may be defined as: 
an incident in which two or more people experiencing a similar illness are linked in 
time or place 

 
The primary objective in outbreak management is to protect the public’s health by 
identifying the source and implementing control measures to prevent further spread 
or recurrence of the infection. 
 
A significant proportion of outbreaks are handled as part of the routine business of 
the Public Health England local Health Protection Teams (3).  However, the 
establishment of an Outbreak Control Team is appropriate when an outbreak is 
characterised by: 

 immediate or continuing significant risk to the health of the population  

 one or more cases of serious communicable disease (e.g. diphtheria) 

 a large number of cases  

 cases identified over a large geographical area suggesting a dispersed source  

 
Membership of an Outbreak Control Team will vary according to the type of outbreak 
and the incident level. In addition to a local Health Protection Team member, 
members are likely to include an Environmental Health Officer, the Director of Public 
Health and a public health microbiologist. 
 
Measures taken to control an outbreak can require a need to urgently mobilise 
resources. This might include the collection of samples for screening or diagnostic 
purposes or the provision of vaccines or antibiotic prophylaxis for contacts.  
 
Figure 1 shows the number of outbreaks in Southend by type of infection reported to 
Public Health England (PHE) East of England in 2014 and 2015. Figure 2 shows the 
number of outbreaks and type of infection in Southend by setting. 
 

 

 

 

 

182



19 
 

Figure 1   Number of outbreaks reported to PHE East of England in     
                Southend (2014-2015) 

 
 
Figure 2  Number of outbreaks reported to PHE East of England in Southend by year   
                (2014-2015) and setting 

 

Figure 2 highlights that care homes are a common setting for outbreaks to occur. It is 
crucial that there are well established procedures for identifying and responding to 
these outbreaks. The management of outbreaks of influenza in care homes is 
described in Chapter 3. 
 

4.0 Recommendations 

 Southend Public Health Department should support the Public Health England 
local Health Protection Team to provide regular updates on the reporting of and 
management of communicable diseases and outbreaks for staff in primary care 
and schools. 

 

 Ensure timely sharing of information between Public Health England, Southend 
Borough Council and Primary Care about outbreaks in healthcare settings, care 
homes and schools so that prompt action can be taken. 

Gastroenteritis
Influenza / Flu-

like illness
Respiratory tract

infection
Rash / Exanthem Septicaemia Other

2014 10 2 2 1 1 1

2015 16 4 2 3 0 0

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

14

16

18

Nu
m

be
r o

f o
ut

br
ea

ks

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

2014 2015

N
u

m
b

e
r 

o
f 

o
u

tb
re

a
ks

Gastroenteritis - Care Home Gastroenteritis - Community

Gastroenteritis - School/Nursery Gastroenteritis - Food outlet/Restaurant

Influenza / Flu-like illness - Care Home Respiratory tract infection - Care Home

Respiratory tract infection - Hospital Rash / Exanthem (Scabies mite) - Care Home

Rash / Exanthem - Other Other (Staphylococcus aureus - PVL) - Care home

Septicaemia - Hospital

183



20 
 

Chapter 2  Immunisation 

1.0 Background  
 

After clean water, immunisation is recognised as one of the most effective public 
health interventions for saving lives and promoting good health (1). Due to routine 
immunisation programmes, we no longer see serious illnesses like smallpox, and 
polio has almost been eradicated. 
 
Immunisation is the process whereby a person is made immune or resistant to an 
infectious disease by the administration of a vaccine. Vaccines work by stimulating 
the body’s own immune system to produce antibodies to protect against subsequent 
infection or disease. Immunisation programmes aim to produce long lasting immunity 
and have led to a drastic reduction in illness and death from infectious diseases. 
 
Immunity can also be acquired from the transfer of antibodies from immune 
individuals, such as mothers to their babies across the placenta. However, this 
‘passive’ immunity lasts for only a few weeks or months.  
 
The primary aim of immunisation is to protect the individual who receives the 
vaccine. If enough people in a community are immunised they are less likely to be a 
source of infection to unvaccinated individuals. This concept is known as “herd 
immunity”. 
 
The World Health Organisation generally recommends vaccination uptake of at least 
95% of the eligible population to achieve “herd immunity”.  
 
2.0 The UK Routine Immunisation Schedule 
 
The routine immunisation schedule is based on the advice of the Joint Committee on 
Vaccination and Immunisation (JCVI) (2). The schedule has changed over time as 
new vaccines become available.  

The aim of the routine immunisation schedule is to provide protection against the 
following vaccine-preventable infections: 

 diphtheria  

 tetanus  

 pertussis (whooping cough)  

 Haemophilus influenza type b (Hib) 

 polio  

 meningococcal disease (certain serogroups) 

 measles  

 mumps  

 rubella  

 pneumococcal disease (certain serotypes)  

 human papillomavirus (certain serotypes)  

 rotavirus  
 

184



21 
 

The immunisation schedule has been designed to provide early protection against 
infections. Some immunisations are provided very early in life to offer protection 
against infections that are most dangerous for the very young. Further vaccinations 
are offered at other points throughout life to provide protection against infections 
before eligible individuals reach an age when they become at increased risk from 
those diseases. Table 1 details the routine childhood immunisation schedule as at 
September 2016 (2). 
 
Table 1     UK Routine Childhood Immunisation Programme (September 2016) 
 

When to 
immunise 

Diseases protected against Vaccine given 

Eight weeks old Diphtheria, tetanus, pertussis (whooping 
cough), polio and Haemophilus influenzae 
type b (Hib) 
Pneumococcal infection  
Meningococcal group B  
Rotavirus gastroenteritis 

DTaP/IPV/Hib 
Pneumococcal 
conjugate vaccine, 
(PCV)  
MenB 
Rotavirus 

Twelve weeks old  Diphtheria, tetanus, pertussis, polio and 
Haemophilus influenzae type b (Hib) 
Rotavirus gastroenteritis  

DTaP/IPV/Hib 
Rotavirus                

Sixteen weeks old  Diphtheria, tetanus, pertussis, polio and 
Haemophilus influenzae type b (Hib) 
Meningococcal group B 
Pneumococcal infection  

DTaP/IPV/Hib 
 
MenB 
PCV  

One year old Haemophilus influenza type b (Hib)/ 
Meningitis C  
Pneumococcal infection 
Measles, mumps and rubella 
Meningococcal B 

Hib/MenC booster 
 
PCV booster 
MMR 
MenB booster 

Two to up to 
seventeen years 
old 

Influenza (each year from September) Live attenuated 
influenza vaccine 
(LAIV) 

Three years & 
four months or 
soon after  

Diphtheria, tetanus, pertussis and polio 
Measles, mumps and rubella  

DTaP/IPV or dTaP/IPV 
+MMR  

Girls aged twelve 
to 
thirteen 
 
Fourteen 
years old  
(School 
Year 9) 

Cervical cancer caused by human 
papilloma virus types 16 and 18  
 
 
Diphtheria, tetanus, polio 
Meningococcal groups A,C,W and Y  

HPV (2 doses 6-24 
months apart) 
 
 
 
Td/IPV  
MenACWY 

Source:  Public Health England (2) 

185



22 
 

 

2.0 Monitoring Uptake of Childhood Immunisations 
 

Vaccination coverage is the best indicator of the level of protection a population will 
have against vaccine preventable diseases, and is closely correlated with levels of 
disease. Monitoring vaccine coverage can help to identify possible drops in immunity 
before levels of disease rise. 
 
The effectiveness of the national childhood routine immunisation programme is 
monitored by Public Health England, through looking at the percentage of eligible 
population immunised in the given period. The programme COVER (cover of 
vaccination evaluated rapidly) data looks specifically at the percentage of the 
population that has received each vaccination by ages one year, 2 years and 5 years 
within certain timeframes (i.e. quarter and annual). 
 
Tables 2-4 detail how Southend childhood vaccine uptake rates compare to England 
and regional rates. 
 
Table 2  Percentage of children immunised by their 1st birthday 2015/16 
 

 
Area 

 
Diphtheria, Tetanus, 
Polio, Pertussis, Hib 
(DtaP/IPV/Hib)  (%) 

 
Pneumococcal 
Disease 
(PCV) (%) 
 
 

 
Rotavirus 
(%) – 2015/16 data* 

 
Southend 

 
93.8 

 

 
94.1 

 
90.7 

 
East of 
England 
 

 
95.6 

 
95.6 

 
- 

 
England 
 

 
93.6 

 

 
93.5 

 
- 

Source: COVER data, Public Health England  
*Rotavirus data still undergoing evaluation 

Table 3  Percentage of children immunised by their 2nd birthday 2015/16 
 

 
Area 

 
Diphtheria, Tetanus, 
Polio, Pertussis, Hib 
(DTaP/IPV/Hib) (%) 

 
 MMR 
(%) 

 
Pneumococcal 
Disease (PCV) (%) 

 
 
Southend 

 
95.4 

 
93.0 

 
93.5 

     

 
East of 
England 
 

 
96.4 

 
93.5 

 
93.5 

 
England 

 
95.2 

 
91.9 

 
91.5 

 

186



23 
 

Source: COVER data, Public Health England 

Table 4  Percentage of children immunised by their 5th birthday 2015/16 
 

 
Area 

 
Diphtheria, 
Tetanus, 
Polio, 
Pertussis, Hib 
(DTaP/IPV/Hib) 
Primary (%) 

 
Diphtheria, 
Tetanus, 
Polio, 
Pertussis, Hib 
(DTaP/IPV/Hib) 
Booster (%) 

 
MMR  
first 
dose 
(%) 

 
MMR 
first and 
second 
dose (%) 

 
Hib/ 
Men C 
booster 
(%) 

 
Southend 

 
95.9 

 
91.6 

 
94.8 

 
90.4 

 
93.9 

 
East of 

England 
 

 
96.7 

 
90 

 
96.8 

 
91.8 

 
94.4 

 
England 

 

 
95.6 

 
86.3 

 
94.8 

 

 
88.2 

 
92.6 

Source: COVER data, Public Health England 

 

Uptake of flu immunisation in children in discussed in Chapter 3. 
 
There is generally good uptake of primary childhood immunisations in Southend, 
with sufficient uptake to achieve herd immunity for most of the programmes. Uptake 
of the second dose of MMR (measles, mumps and rubella) vaccine, however, still 
remains an issue and remains around 5% below the target uptake. This has 
important implications for herd immunity against measles.  
 
Public Health England undertakes surveillance to ensure early detection of increased 
numbers of cases of infectious diseases. Following an increase in cases of pertussis 
(whooping cough), including in infants under three months of age who are most 
vulnerable to severe disease, a national pertussis outbreak was declared in April 
2012. This led to a temporary immunisation programme in which pregnant women 
were offered pertussis immunisation to protect infants from birth, through intra-
uterine transfer of maternal antibodies until they can receive the pertussis vaccine at 
8 weeks old (3). The reported incidence of pertussis in infants under three months 
subsequently fell back to levels observed before the 2012 peak. In 2014, this 
maternal immunisation programme was extended for a further five years (4).  
 
Pertussis activity remains high in 2016 and unprotected young infants continue to be 
at risk. In Southend the monthly uptake of the prenatal pertussis vaccine ranged 
from between 40.8% and 55.7% each month between April 2015 and March 2016. 
GPs, practice nurses, obstetricians and midwives should continue to encourage 
pregnant women to receive the vaccine.  
 
3.0 Recent Changes to the Childhood Immunisation Programme 

A number of changes to the national immunisation programme were made during 
2015-16 to reflect the recommendations by the national Joint Committee on 
Vaccination and Immunisation (JCVI) to improve the overall level of protection 
against preventable diseases. 
 

187



24 
 

The main changes relate to vaccines for meningococcal disease. Meningococcal 
disease can affect all age groups, but cases increase from birth and peak at five 
months before declining gradually until 24 months. Cases remain low until 12 years 
of age and then gradually increase to a smaller peak at 18 years before declining 
again. 
 
Since September 2015, all infants born from 1 July 2015 became eligible for the 
meningococcal B vaccine which is administered together with the other primary 
immunisations at 2 months, 4 months and 12 months. 
 
Due to the success of the MenC programme introduced in 1999, there are now very 
few cases of invasive meningococcal serogroup C disease. Since July 2016, infants 
no longer require the MenC vaccine at 12 weeks of age (5). Children will continue to 
be immunised against MenC via the Hib/MenC vaccine dose given at 12 months of 
age and the MenACWY conjugate vaccine dose given at around 14 years of age.  
 
Various sub groups of meningococcal disease can spread quickly in areas where 
people live closely to each other, such as in university halls of residence.  Young 
people aged 25 and under about to start university and have not received 
MenACWY will also be offered the vaccine. 
 
 
4.0 Adult Immunisations 

 
Immunisation is often seen as the domain of children, however, immunisation should 
be seen as a necessary intervention across all stages of life. Evidence demonstrates 
that older people are at greater risk of morbidity and mortality from vaccine-
preventable diseases. The reasons for this include reduced immunity with age 
leading to increased susceptibility to more severe and frequent infections. In addition 
they may not have received immunisations in younger years and newer vaccines 
may not have been available to them when they were children. 
 
Older adults (65 years or older) should be routinely offered a single dose of 
pneumococcal polysaccharide vaccine, if they have not previously received it. 
Annual influenza vaccination should also be offered. 
 
Adults aged 70 should also be offered shingles vaccine, with a phased ‘catch up’ so 
that those up to 79 are offered the vaccine.   
 
Uptake of influenza vaccination is discussed in detail in Chapter 3.  In 2014/15 only 
58.4% of eligible people aged 65 years or over in Southend received the 
pneumococcal vaccine, which is significantly lower than the England average 
(70.1%). Similarly uptake of shingles vaccine in 2014/15 in 70 year olds is also 
significantly lower than the England average, at 46.6% compared to 58.3%. 
 
5.0 What is Being Done Locally? 

NHS England local area teams are responsible for commissioning the national 
immunisation services locally and for providing system leadership to all those 
involved. 

188



25 
 

Contracts to provide immunisation services are held with a range of providers, 
including general practices for immunisations given in primary care and community 
providers for immunisations given in a school setting. Contracts are also held with 
some community pharmacists, for example for flu vaccine. 

The local NHS England team offers help and support to immunisation providers and 
recently commissioned a series of free update sessions aimed at practice nurses 
across Essex. The aim of these sessions is to help share learning from recent 
incidents and to provide a round-up of hot topics, general updates and changes to 
the immunisation schedule.  

The Health Protection Team, part of Public Health England, has provided training 
and update sessions on the pertussis and flu vaccinations for pregnant women for 
the midwives in Essex.  

The local NHS England team lead commissioner for immunisations holds a 
bimonthly immunisaton oversight meeting attended by public health staff from the 
three upper tier authorities in Essex. 

6.0 Recommendations 

 Every opportunity should be taken to actively promote immunisation uptake in 
children across Southend. This should include promotion in children’s centres 
and at school entry 
 

 Work should continue with primary care and midwives to immunise more 
pregnant women against whooping cough 

 

 Provide information about immunisations to a broad range of partners who work 
with older people to enable them to pass on accurate information on the 
importance of immunisations at appropriate opportunities 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

189



26 
 

Chapter 3  Seasonal Influenza 

1.0  Background 

Influenza (flu) is an acute viral infection of the respiratory tract.  Symptoms frequently 
include fever, headache, cough, sore throat, extreme fatigue, and aching muscles 
and joints. 
 
The influenza virus is highly contagious and is easily passed from person-to-person 
when an infected person coughs or sneezes. Transmission can also occur by 
touching a contaminated surface e.g. a door handle, and then putting the fingers in 
the mouth or near the eyes. Even people with mild or minimal symptoms can still 
infect others.   
 
For most healthy individuals, influenza is an unpleasant but usually self-limiting 
illness with recovery usually within a week. However, for some it can lead to serious 
complications such as bronchitis and secondary bacterial pneumonia, which may 
require treatment in hospital and can be life threatening.  
 
Those at higher risk of serious complications include people aged 65 or over, 
children and adults with an underlying chronic health condition such as respiratory 
disease, heart disease and diabetes, those with weakened immune systems as well 
as pregnant women (1).  
 
Most cases of seasonal influenza in the UK tend to occur during an eight to ten week 
period during the winter. The timing, extent and severity of this can vary from year to 
year.  In addition to the impact on the health and social care system (2), seasonal 
influenza can have a significant impact on the wider society through sickness 
absence amongst the working age population. The latest UK Labour force market 
survey identified that minor illnesses, including influenza, accounted for 27.4 million 
lost working days in 2013. This was 30% of all sickness absences and the most 
common reason for worker absence (3).   
 
2.0 The Influenza Immunisation Programme 

The aim of the national influenza immunisation programme is to protect those who 
are at a higher risk of serious illness or death should they develop influenza. It also 
helps to reduce transmission of the infection (4). 
 
Seasonal influenza vaccine, or ‘flu jab’ should be offered, ideally before influenza 
starts circulating, to those in the following clinical risk groups: 
 
•  All those aged 65 or older 
•  Adults and children (over the age of 6 months) with chronic underlying health 

problems 
- A chest complaint or breathing difficulties, e.g.  severe asthma, chronic 

bronchitis or emphysema 
- A heart problem 
-  A kidney disease 
-  Liver disease 

190



27 
 

-    A neurological disease e.g. multiple sclerosis 
-    Diabetes 

 Lowered immunity due to disease or treatment  e.g. cancer treatment  

 All pregnant women 
 
Immunisation is also offered to health and social care staff directly involved in the 
care of patients/ clients to contribute to the protection of these vulnerable groups and 
to reduce sickness absence through the winter. It can also be offered to the main 
carers of older or disabled people and household contacts of immunocompromised 
people. 
 
As different strains of influenza virus circulate each year, the vaccine formula is 
changed annually based on the strains most likely for the coming influenza season. 
This means that eligible people need to get a flu jab every year. 
 
Following advice from the Joint Committee for Vaccination and Immunisation, the 
annual influenza immunisation programme is being extended to include vaccination 
of healthy children aged two to less than 17 years old. These children will generally 
receive the vaccine as an intranasal spray. In addition to preventing a large number 
of cases of influenza in children, it will also provide indirect protection by reducing 
transmission of influenza from children to adults and those in the clinical risk groups 
of any age.  
 

Due to the scale of the programme it is being phased in over a number of years. 
This began in 2013, with the inclusion of children aged two and three years in the 
routine programme. There were also seven geographical pilots of primary school 
aged children, including one in South East Essex covering Southend. 
 

From 2016/17, the intranasal influenza vaccine will be offered to two, three and four 
year olds and children in school years 1, 2 and 3. In addition, the pilot influenza 
immunisation programmes in primary schools will be continued. The intent is that the 
programme will gradually extend over future years to all primary school aged 
children. 
  
2.1  Uptake of Influenza Vaccine in Southend  
 
NHS England local area teams are responsible for commissioning the national 
influenza immunisation programme. Contracts to provide influenza immunisation 
services are held with a range of providers, including general practices for 
immunisations given in primary care and community providers for immunisations 
given in a school setting. 
 
The NHS England Essex Area Team undertook an influenza immunisation pilot in 
2014/15 with a number of community pharmacists, which evaluated positively. From 
2015/16, a national scheme was introduced to enable all community pharmacies to 
provide flu vaccination to eligible adult patients where they met key criteria.  
 
Influenza immunisation should be offered to 100% of those eligible to receive it.  
Table 1 shows the percentage uptake of influenza vaccine for each eligible group in 
2015 -2016. The range of the lowest and highest uptake by GP practice in Southend 

191



28 
 

is also provided for people aged over 65, those under 65 in a clinical risk group, and 
pregnant women. 
 
Table 1  Seasonal Influenza Vaccine Uptake by Eligible Population in Southend 

compared with England 2015/16 
 

Eligible Population National Targets 
2015/16 

 Uptake of influenza 
vaccine in England 

2015/16 

Uptake of influenza 
vaccine in Southend 

2015/16 
Aged 2 years 65% 35.4% 18.8% 

Aged 3 years 65% 37.7% 22.1% 

Aged 4 years 65% 30.0% 15.7% 

Age 5  
(School year 1)  

Not included N/A 
 

54.4% (local pilot) 
 

Age 6  
(School year 2) 
 

Not included N/A 
 

52.9% (local pilot) 
 

Age 7 
 (School year 3) 

Not included N/A 
 

NA 

All Pregnant 
Women 
 

 (range 40 to 65%) as 
per at risk groups) 

42.3% 39.2%* 
(Range 26.7% - 60.6%) 

Under 65- at risk 55% 45.1% 38.0%* 
(Range 23.2% - 63.3%) 

 

65 and over 75% 
 

71%  64.1%* 
(Range 50.3% - 80.3%) 

 

Health Care 
Workers 
 

75% 54.6% SUHFT-59.3% 
SEPT- 30.1% 
NELFT-24.7% 

Social Care Workers 75% Data not available Data not available 
Source: Public Health England Public (PHE) 2016.  Influenza Immunisation Vaccine Uptake 
Monitoring Programme 
* The range of the lowest and highest uptake by GP practice in Southend is provided for people aged 
over 65, those under 65 in a clinical risk group, and pregnant women. 
 

 
The poor uptake of influenza vaccine across virtually all eligible groups at both a 
national and a local level is concerning. Figure 1 highlights the continued downward 
trend of influenza vaccine uptake in persons aged 65 and over in Southend since 
2014. This downward trend is generally reflected in the other local authority areas 
covered by the Public Health East of England Centre. 

The exact cause of this downward trend in uptake of influenza vaccine is not known. 
It is unfortunate that there is often poor public perception of the benefits of influenza 
immunisation, often fuelled by negative media coverage and general misinformation. 

 
 
 

192



29 
 

Figure 1 Trend of influenza vaccine uptake in persons aged 65 and over in 
Southend compared to the Public Health England East of 
England Region for 2014 to 2016. 

Source: Public Health England (PHE) 2016.  Influenza Immunisation Vaccine Uptake Monitoring    
   Programme  

3.0  What is Being Done Locally? 

Addressing the impact of seasonal influenza is a priority for the Southend health and 
care economy. Southend has an older population, with 18.9% of people aged 65 and 
over compared to the England average of 17.6%. Southend also has more people 
living with three or more long term conditions compared with England. This means 
that Southend has more people in the higher risk clinical groups who are more likely 
to suffer complications from influenza.   

The commissioning of the seasonal influenza vaccination programme is undertaken 
by staff in the NHS England local area teams. The Director of Public Health in local 
authorities has a challenge and assurance role for local arrangements to ensure 
access to flu immunisation to improve uptake by eligible populations (5).  

Following a review of the 2015/16 seasonal influenza immunisation programme in 
Southend, initiatives were put in place to increase local uptake. These included the 
establishment of a multi-agency Seasonal Flu Oversight Group to develop a detailed 
Southend Seasonal Influenza Action Plan to increase uptake of flu vaccine as part of 
the 2016/17 immunisation programme. 

This group comprised representation from all key stakeholders, including local GPs 
and Community Pharmacists, Social Care, Public Health England, Southend 

193



30 
 

University Hospital NHS Foundation Trust, South Essex Partnership NHS Trust and 
NHS Southend CCG.  

To set an example to other employers and increase uptake of flu vaccine amongst its 
own workforce, the Borough Council commissioned an influenza immunisation 
programme for all Council front line staff.  This programme covered care staff 
working in council commissioned residential and care homes and staff employed by 
domiciliary care providers working in Southend. This programme has been 
commissioned for the 2016/17 season. 

The Council also worked closely with NHS Southend CCG and Public Health 
England to increase uptake of influenza vaccination amongst staff in the top twenty 
care homes in the borough with the highest rates of patients admitted to hospital as 
a result of a respiratory condition.  This work included a major communications and 
publicity programme to promote the benefits of flu immunisations as well as 
challenging the myths and misinformation about the vaccine. A number of face to 
face workshops and training sessions were also delivered in the community and 
local care homes.    

The Council’s Public Health Team has worked closely with NHS Southend to 
develop a specific plan for outbreaks of influenza in residential and care homes in 
Southend. When the Public Health England East of England local health protection 
team is alerted to a number of residents in a home with clinical symptoms suggestive 
of influenza, nose and throat swabs of those affected are sent off for laboratory 
confirmation. If the infection is confirmed as influenza, all unaffected residents are 
offered antiviral prophylaxis and appropriate infection control measures are put in 
place in the home. Public health commission the service for taking swabs and 
provision of antivirals, and NHS Southend Clinical Commissioning Group provide the 
funding for antivirals. 

4.0 Recommendations  

 A review is undertaken of the Southend Seasonal Influenza Action Plan 
outcomes for 2016/17 and the findings used to inform any changes to the 
action plan for 2017/18. 
 

 Share best practice of those GPs delivering high rates of seasonal vaccination 
as part of the ‘locality approach’ of the South and Mid Essex Sustainable 
Transformation Plan   

 

 All health and social care organisations covering Southend should put in place 
plans to increase staff influenza vaccination uptake to meet the nationally 
agreed targets  

 

 Southend University Hospital NHS Foundation Trust to review how to provide 
additional support to increase uptake of influenza vaccination in at risk groups 
and specifically pregnant women 

 

 

194



31 
 

Chapter 4  Tuberculosis 

1.0  Background 

Tuberculosis (TB) is caused by infection with the bacteria Mycobacterium 
tuberculosis and can affect almost any part of the body, most commonly the lungs 
(1). The disease develops slowly and it may take several months before symptoms 
appear. Symptoms of TB include persistent cough, possibly with blood stained 
sputum, fever, weight loss and night sweats, and can be fatal if left untreated. 
 
TB is spread by breathing in airborne droplets when a person with infectious 
respiratory TB coughs or sneezes. However, TB is much less infectious than other 
respiratory infections, such as influenza. Prolonged close contact such as living in 
the same household with an infected person is generally required to transmit the 
disease. 
 
Not everyone who comes into contact with TB gets the disease. In some people the 
initial infection may be eliminated or they may develop latent disease when the TB 
bacteria remain in the body but the individual has no symptoms. Latent TB infection 
(LTBI) may reactivate later in life, particularly if an individual’s immune system has 
become weakened e.g. through HIV, cancer chemotherapy or in old age. Up to 10% 
of people who have LTBI will develop the disease at some point in their lifetime (2). 
 
At the beginning of the 20th Century there were over 117,000 new cases of TB in 
England every year. By the 1980s, with better housing and nutrition along with 
effective treatments, the number of new cases fell to a low of 5,086 in 1987 (1).This 
trend then reversed with a steady increase in the number of new reported cases, 
reaching a peak of over 8,280 in 2011 (15.6 new cases per 100,000 population), with 
the highest numbers concentrated in urban areas, particularly London (3).  
 
Over the past four years there has been a year-on-year decline in the number of new 
cases of TB in England, down to 5,758 cases (10.5 new cases per 100,000 
population) in 2015, a reduction of one third since the peak in 2011. This trend is 
shown in Figure 1. 
 
Figure 2 highlights the three yearly trend of TB notifications in Southend from 2000-2 
to 2013-15. The peak incidence of TB occurred in 2004-6 and has since continued to 
decline to a three average rate of 7.5 new cases per 100,000 population in 2013-15. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

195



32 
 

Figure 1 TB case notifications and rates, England, 2000-2015 

 
Source: Public Health England 

 
Figure 2  Notifications of TB in Southend compared to England and East of England 

Region (three year average incidence per 100,000, 2000-2 to 2013-15) 

 
Source: Public Health England 2016. TB Strategy Monitoring Indicators (4) 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

196



33 
 

2.0 The Changing Pattern of Tuberculosis 
 
Over the last 50 years TB has changed from a being disease that occurred across all 
parts of the population to one occurring predominantly in specific population 
subgroups (1). 
 
Rates of TB are higher in certain communities, mainly by virtue of their connections 
to higher-prevalence areas of the world. The rate of TB in the non-UK born 
population is 15 times higher than in the UK born population, and 73% of all TB 
cases notified in 2015 were born abroad (3). Of these, 60% had been in the country 
for longer than six years, suggesting latent TB infection may have played a role in 
these cases. 
 
In other communities, social risk factors such as homelessness, drug or alcohol 
misuse and imprisonment, are important factors. Despite the recent reduction in 
overall TB cases, the proportion of cases with at least one social risk factor 
increased from 9.8% in 2014 to 11.8% in 2015. 
 
2.1 National Initiatives to Tackle Tuberculosis 

Although England is considered as a low incidence country for TB, it still has one of 
the highest rates of TB notifications in Western Europe.  To tackle this problem 
Public Health England in close collaboration with NHS England and a coalition of key 
stakeholders launched the TB strategy for England 2015-2020 (5). This aims to 
achieve a year-on-year decrease in TB incidence, and ultimately the elimination of 
TB as a public health problem in England. 
 
The strategy includes ten key areas of action including the prompt identification of 
individuals who are infectious and ensuring that they are placed on appropriate 
treatment; vaccination of high risk groups; maintaining excellent diagnostic services; 
tackling drug resistant TB; identifying and treating those with latent TB; ensuring 
contact tracing happens; and workforce planning to deliver these interventions. 
 
The national TB strategy created a national TB Office and seven multiagency TB 
Control Boards to oversee the implementation of the national strategy. 
 
The UK previously screened migrants from countries with a high incidence of TB at 
the time of entry into the country. This has since been replaced with a chest x-ray 
based screening for active pulmonary TB prior to entry to the UK (6). 
 
There are effective treatments for TB and there is now a focus on picking up the 
disease when it is latent. From 2015, there has been a national roll-out through GP 
practices of systematically testing and treating eligible new migrants for latent TB 
infection (7). 
 
The BCG vaccine is most effective against the most severe forms of the TB in 
children, but less effective in preventing respiratory TB, which is the more common 
form in adults (1). From 2005, the BCG vaccine has been given to babies and 
children with a parent or grandparent from a country with a high incidence of TB 

197



34 
 

(over 40 cases per 100,000), or those who live in an area of the UK where the 
incidence of TB is high. 
 
3.0  What is Being Done Locally? 
 
The East of England TB Control Board, which covers the population of Essex, has 
comprehensive plans in place to address the key recommendations of the national 
TB strategy across the region. A network of local TB Control Boards from across the 
region, including Southend, link to the regional Board. 
 
Over the past year, the Council has been working with the Essex TB Control Board 
on a number of initiatives, including the delivery of housing solutions for vulnerable 
homeless people diagnosed with TB.  
 
The Clinical Commissioning Groups in South Essex commission the community TB 
service from South Essex Partnership NHS Foundation Trust.  The aim of the 
service is to prevent the spread of TB in the community by providing rapid 
assessment of those suspected to have active TB and to arrange treatment at the 
earliest opportunity. All tuberculosis patients are cared for by a multidisciplinary 
team, and specialist TB nurses follow up and support patients once they are 
presumed to have TB to ensure medication is taken to completion. The nurses also 
identify and screen those who have been in contact with the case and provide 
support to people with TB and their families.  
 
The local drug and alcohol service collaborates with the community TB service to 
support directly observed therapy (DOT) for people with TB with substance misuse 
problems. This involves the supervision of the patient by a healthcare worker when 
taking their medication, leading to better compliance with treatment. The local sexual 
health services have also been promoting the uptake of TB screening for all those 
offered HIV testing.  
 
4.0  Recommendations 
 
To continue the downward trend of TB notifications in Southend it is recommended 
that: 
 

 Training is made available to professionals to raise awareness of TB in 
vulnerable groups including homeless, drug and alcohol misusers, as well as 
new migrants from high incidence countries, to ensure prompt referral when TB 
is suspected. 

 

 The Council collaborates with the East of England TB Control Board and local 
partners to ensure DOT therapy is available for those people with TB in the 
most disadvantaged or hard to reach groups 

 

 The Council supports the East of England TB Control Board and local 
stakeholders to implement the local plan for latent TB infection testing and 
treatment services 

 

 

198



35 
 

Chapter 5  Sexual Health and Blood Borne Viruses 

1.0 Background  

Good sexual health is fundamental to the health and wellbeing of individuals. It is 
underpinned by the provision of high quality, safe and accessible sexual health 
services and interventions. 
 
Despite progress in recent years, the UK continues to have high rates of sexual ill 
health. Within the population sexual health needs vary according to factors including 
age, gender, ethnicity and sexuality, with some groups disproportionately at risk of 
poor sexual health. These include young people aged 16-24, men who have sex with 
men, the 50+ age group, black and minority ethnic groups and other high risk groups 
such as sex workers and people misusing drugs and/or alcohol (1).  
In order to improve sexual health outcomes, intervention programmes should be 
developed based on a robust evidence base and local needs. 
 
Since April 2013, local authorities in England have been responsible for 
commissioning the majority of sexual health services, including sexually transmitted 
infections (STI) testing and treatment, and notification of sexual partners of infected 
persons (2). Clinical Commissioning Groups and NHS England commission other 
aspects of sexual health care. 
 
2.0 Sexually Transmitted Infections 
 
Information on the burden of sexually transmitted infections (STIs) in the population 
is collected from Genitourinary Medicine (GUM) Services, primary care and 
community services. The rate of new STI diagnoses in Southend remains 
significantly lower than the national average (Figure 1). 
 
Figure 1   New STI Diagnoses in Southend compared to England average 
       (rate per 100,000 and excluding Chlamydia in under 25’s) 
 

 
   Source:PHE Fingertips 

 

199



36 
 

2.1 Chlamydia 
 
Chlamydia is the most common bacterial sexually transmitted infection in England, 
with rates substantially higher in young adults than any other age group 
 
Chlamydia infection is often asymptomatic and if left untreated it can cause a range 
of complications such as pelvic inflammatory disease, infertility and ectopic 
pregnancy. 
 
The National Chlamydia Screening Programme (NCSP) recommends that all 
sexually active under 25 year old men and women are tested for chlamydia every 
year or on change of sexual partner. By diagnosing and treating asymptomatic 
chlamydia infections, chlamydia screening can reduce the duration of infection, 
reduce the risk of developing complications, and reduce transmission (3). 
 
The chlamydia detection rate amongst under 25 year olds is used as a measure of 
chlamydia control activity, with an increased detection rate being indicative of 
increased control activity. Public Health England recommends that local authorities 
should be working towards achieving a detection rate of at least 2,300 per 100,000 
population aged 15-24. 
 
Southend continues to have a significantly better rate of chlamydia screening in 15-
24 year olds than the national average (23.8% compared to 22.5% in 2015).   
 
Figure 2 highlights that the chlamydia detection rate in Southend is similar to the 
England average, but remains below the recommended level to reduce the 
prevalence of chlamydia in the population. 
 
Figure 2   Chlamydia Detection Rate in Southend compared to England 

(rate per 100,000 aged 15-24, 2012- 2015) 
 

 
Source:PHE Fingertips 

 
 
 
 
 

200



37 
 

2.2 Other Sexually Transmitted Infections 
 
Gonorrhoea 
Gonorrhoea is the second most common bacterial sexually transmitted infection in 
the UK. Diagnoses of gonorrhoea are particularly concentrated in young adults, men 
who have sex with men and black ethnic minority populations.  
 
Gonorrhoea is often used as a marker for rates of unsafe sexual activity. This is 
because the majority of cases are diagnosed in genitourinary medicine (GUM) 
settings, and consequently the number of cases may be a measure of access to 
sexually transmitted infection treatment. Infection with gonorrhoea is also more likely 
than chlamydia to result in symptoms. 
 
Rates of gonorrhoea in Southend are significantly lower than the national average 
(Figure 3). 
 
Figure 3  Gonorrhoea Diagnostic Rate in Southend Compared to England    
                Average (Rate per 100,000 population, 2009-2015) 
 

           
       Source: PHE Fingertips 

 
Syphilis 
 
If untreated, syphilis can have serious health implications. These include damage to 
the internal organs, nervous system, bones and even death.  Syphilis is an important 
public health issue in men who have sex with men (MSM) among whom incidence 
has increased over the past decade. Figure 4 illustrates the trend in all syphilis 
diagnoses among people accessing GUM services in Southend. The diagnostic rate 
has continued to fall since 2011, and is now significantly lower than the national rate 
(Figure 4). 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

201



38 
 

Figure 4  Syphilis Diagnostic Rate in Southend Compared to England    
                Average (Rate per 100,000 population, 2009-20015) 
 

 
        Source: PHE Fingertips 

 
 
Genital Warts and Genital Herpes 
 
Genital warts are the result of a viral skin infection caused by the human papilloma 
virus and genital herpes is caused by herpes simplex virus, types 1 and 2. The 
diagnostic rate of genital warts and genital herpes in Southend are both similar to the 
England average.  
 
3.0 Human Immunodeficiency Virus (HIV) and Blood Borne Viruses 
 
Blood-borne viruses (BBVs) are viruses that are carried in the blood and can be 
transmitted from one person to another. Those infected with a BBV may show little or 
no symptoms of serious disease, but other infected people may be severely ill.  
 
The most common blood borne viruses are: 

 Human immunodeficiency virus  

 Hepatitis B  

 Hepatitis C 
 
3.1 HIV 
 
Human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) is a virus that attacks the body’s immune 
system, by destroying a type of white blood cell called a T cell (or CD4 cell), 
weakening the ability to fight infections and disease, including cancer. There is 
currently no cure for HIV but there is a range of effective treatments.  
 
HIV can be transmitted by unprotected sexual intercourse, shared needle use by 
injecting drug users, needle stick injuries in healthcare workers as well as mother to 
child transmission before, during or after (via breast milk from an infected mother) 
the birth of the child. 
 

202



39 
 

HIV remains an important communicable disease in the UK. It is associated with 
considerable morbidity and mortality, high treatment and care costs. Treatment is 
available with highly active anti-retroviral therapy, which has led to a substantial 
reduction in the incidence of AIDS and the numbers of HIV-related deaths (4). 
 
In 2015, there were an estimated 101,200 people living with HIV infection in the UK, 
equivalent to 1.6 per 1,000 people; 13% were unaware of their infection and at risk of 
passing on the infection. There were also 6,095 new HIV diagnoses in the UK in 
2015, this represents a new diagnosis rate of 11.4 per 100,000 people which is 
higher than most other countries in western Europe (5). 
 
Of those diagnosed in 2015, 71% were aged between 25 and 49 years, and 17% 
were aged 50 years and over.  The number of new cases of HIV reported in gay and 
bisexual men remains high and accounted for 54% of the new diagnoses in 2015.  
Of the 39% of the new cases of HIV acquired heterosexually, fewer cases were in 
people who were born abroad. 
 
People living with HIV can expect a near normal life expectancy if they are 
diagnosed and treated promptly.  A late HIV diagnosis (defined as having a CD4 cell 
count less than 350/mm3 within three months of diagnosis) can have adverse 
consequences on the individual including making it more likely the person will have 
frequent admissions to hospital due to illness and reducing their life expectancy. In 
2015, among those with CD4 data available, 39% of adults were diagnosed late. 
 
3.2 HIV in Southend 
 
The prevalence of HIV in Southend has historically been higher than the national 
average, although, over time the difference has narrowed (Figure 5).  
 
Figure 5   HIV prevalence in Southend compared to England (diagnosed rate     

per 1000 population aged 15-59 years)  
 

 
   Source: PHE Fingertips 

 

203



40 
 

 
The rate of new HIV diagnosis in Southend has almost halved since 2012. In 2015, 
there were 8.9 new HIV diagnosis per 100,000 population among people aged 15 
and over in Southend, which is lower than England average (12.1 per 100,000 
population aged 15+) 
 
HIV testing is integral to the treatment and management of HIV. Knowledge of HIV 
status increases survival rates, improves quality of life and reduces the risk of HIV 
transmission. Figure 6 shows that HIV test coverage in Southend is significantly 
higher than the national coverage. HIV testing coverage data represents the number 
of people tested for HIV. 
 
Figure 6  HIV testing coverage in Southend compared to England, 2009-15 
           (% uptake in eligible new attendees to genitourinary medicine clinics) 

 

 
   Source: PHE Fingertips 

 
 
Late diagnosis of HIV is the most important predictor of morbidity and mortality 
among those with the infection. Those diagnosed late have ten times the risk of 
death compared to those diagnosed promptly. 
 
Over the last five years there has been a continued downward trend in the proportion 
of individuals diagnosed late with HIV in Southend, which is now similar to the 
England average (Figure 7).  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

204



41 
 

Figure 7   HIV late diagnosis in Southend compared to England 2009-15 
  

 
   Source: PHE Fingertips 

 
 
 
4.0 Hepatitis B and C 
 
Hepatitis B virus (HBV) replicates in the liver, and is also present at very high levels 
in the blood of people who are infected.  The virus is transmitted by contact with an 
infected person’s blood or body fluids contaminated by blood, and can be spread 
through sexual transmission, needle stick injuries, tattooing and body piercing, use of 
contaminated equipment for IV drug use as well as transmission from an infectious 
mother to her unborn child.  
 
Many people with hepatitis B won't experience any symptoms and the infection will 
resolve without them realising they had it. In some people the virus persists for six 
months or more to develop chronic hepatitis B. The risk of chronic infection varies 
with age, occurring in 90% of those infected perinatally, but is less frequent in those 
infected as children.  About 5% or less of previously healthy people infected as 
adults become chronically infected (6). The long term complications of chronic 
hepatitis B infection include liver cirrhosis and hepatocellular carcinoma, the most 
common type of primary liver cancer. 
 
Hepatitis B is relatively uncommon in the UK and most cases affect people who 
become infected while growing up in part of the world where the infection is more 
common, such as Southeast Asia and sub-Saharan Africa. 
 
Transmission of hepatitis B can be prevented through a course of vaccinations. 
These are offered to those at highest risk of infection: household contacts of people 
with hepatitis B including the babies of mothers with hepatitis B, injecting drug users 
and healthcare workers.  
 

205



42 
 

The hepatitis C virus (HCV) is also transmitted by contact with an infected person’s 
blood or body fluids contaminated by blood. The routes of transmission are similar to 
hepatitis B, although transmission through unprotected sexual intercourse is less 
likely.  
 
Most people with hepatitis C do not experience any symptoms. Unlike hepatitis B, 
50-80% of people infected with hepatitis C go on to develop chronic infection. Of 
these 15% will develop liver cirrhosis and 2- 5% will develop hepatocellular 
carcinoma every year (7). 
 
About 214,000 people have chronic hepatitis C in the UK, which is equivalent to 
0.4% of the adult population. Up to 90% of hepatitis C infections in the UK are 
acquired through injecting drug use. 
 
Although there is no vaccine for hepatitis C, it is a potentially curable disease. 
People with chronic hepatitis C infection should be referred to a specialist and 
considered for antiviral therapy. 
 
5.0 What is Being Done Locally? 
 
5.1 Sexual Health and HIV 
 
Southend-on-Sea Borough Council has commissioned the SHORE (Sexual Health, 
Outreach, Reproduction and Education) Integrated Sexual Health Service. 
This is delivered through a collaborative partnership between South Essex 
Partnership Trust, Southend University Hospital Foundation Trust Hospital and 
Brook young people’s sexual health organisation. 
 
The integrated sexual health service ensures that all aspects of the service are 
working consistently to national standards and contractual requirements. It includes: 
 
• Contraceptive, sexual health and reproductive health services 
• Genitourinary medicine services 
• Specialist input for termination of pregnancy service 
• Chlamydia screening including online and postal chlamydia testing services, 

and a data administration service  
• Education Based Health Service - delivered in identified secondary schools 

and further/higher colleges in Southend.  
• Management of the chlamydia testing and treatment and Long Acting 

Reversible Contraception services in primary care general practice settings 
• Management of the chlamydia testing and treatment services and Emergency 

Hormonal Contraception in primary care community pharmacy settings 
• Microbiology Services 
• The Brook My Life programme: This is a programme that enables individuals 

and groups of young people to take charge to improve their own health and 
wellbeing by exploring skills, goal setting and becoming more emotionally 
resilient.  

• Management of a separately commissioned ‘Sexual Health Promotion and 
Community HIV Prevention Service’ contract.  This is currently contracted to 
the Terrence Higgins Trust. 

206



43 
 

SHORE now provides same day HIV testing as part of a four sexually transmitted 
infections (STI) test offer (HIV, syphilis, chlamydia and gonorrhoea) and full STI 
screening across all its sites. 
 
The Council has also commissioned the national HIV self-sampling service to deliver 
online HIV tests since January 2016, to Southend-on-Sea residents through the 
online kit request service (www.test.hiv). This service is being promoted through the 
national website and by SHORE and Terrence Higgins Trust with targeted 
communities and businesses.   
 
5.2 Hepatitis B and C 
 
Specialist drug and alcohol services in Southend prioritise hepatitis B and C 
interventions within their nurse-led health and wellbeing work. They have developed 
pathways to specialist hepatology services and are working closely with liver nurses 
to ensure clients are quickly identified and referred for support where necessary. The 
most recent data suggests that this work is having an effect, and that the number of 
patients receiving hepatitis C tests is now greater than the England average. 
 
 
6.0 Recommendations 
 

 Undertake a review of availability of chlamydia screening in sexual health 
service venues and community based settings to ensure screening is 
available in the populations with the highest need, based on positivity. 

 

 Raise professional awareness about who to screen and test for HIV to 
continue the reduction in late diagnosis.  

 

 Continue efforts to reduce stigma and highlight testing opportunities to those 
at greatest risk of HIV. 

 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

207



44 
 

Chapter 6  Healthcare Associated Infection  

1.0 Background 

Healthcare associated infections are a range of infections acquired in healthcare 
settings or as a direct result of healthcare interventions such as medical or surgical 
treatment (1). They occur most frequently in hospitals but can also be acquired in the 
community (including clinics, care homes and patient’s own home); and affect 
patients, healthcare workers, carers and visitors.  
 
Healthcare associated infection can result in significant harm to those infected; 
causing illness, delaying recovery, prolonging hospital stay, and may cause serious 
disability or even death.  
 
2.0  The Scale of the Problem  
 
Approximately, 300,000 patients a year in England are affected by a healthcare-
associated infection as a result of care within the NHS (2). The most common types 
of healthcare-associated infection are respiratory infections (22.8%), urinary tract 
infections (17.2%) and surgical site infections (15.7%) (3).The cost of healthcare 
associated infections to the NHS is estimated to be in the region of £1 billion a year 
(4).   
 
Everyone carries large numbers of micro-organisms on their skin or in their bodies, 
which only become a problem when the person becomes unwell or when the 
organisms have the opportunity to enter the bloodstream. People are at a greater 
risk of getting an infection when 

 they are very young or very old, 

 they have underlying health conditions e.g. diabetes which can impair their 
natural immune response 

 their treatment involves invasive procedures e.g. urinary catheters or intravenous 
drips that provide an entry point for infection,  

 they have a compromised immune system e.g. patients receiving chemotherapy 

 they have a longer length of hospital stay or are in a high-risk area e.g. Intensive 
Care Unit (2).  
 

3.0  Types of Healthcare Associated Infections 
 
As part of the work to reduce healthcare associated infections, Public Health 
England runs a national surveillance programme to monitor the numbers of certain 
infections that occur in healthcare settings. 
 
There are 4 mandatory surveillance programmes:  

 Staphylococcus aureus (methicillin resistant Staphylococcus aureus or MRSA 
and methicillin sensitive Staphylococcus aureus or MSSA) 

 Escherichia coli 

 Clostridium difficile infection 

 Surgical site infection 
 
 

208



45 
 

3.1  Staphylococcus aureus  
 
Staphylococcus aureus (S. aureus) is a bacterium that is commonly found on human 
skin and mucosa without causing any problems. However, if the bacteria enter the 
body e.g. through a break in the skin or via medical equipment, such as catheters 
and drips, they can cause health problems ranging from mild to life threatening. 
These include skin and wound infections, abscesses, joint infections, infections of 
the heart valves, pneumonia and bacteraemia (blood stream infection). 
 
Most strains of S. aureus are sensitive to commonly used antibiotics, but others have 
developed resistance, such as methicillin resistant Staphylococcus aureus (MRSA), 
and will require different types of antibiotic to treat them.  
 
  
 

Figure 1 MRSA bacteraemia rates in Southend and England, 
 2007-16 (rate per 100,000 population) 

 
         Source: Public Health England 

 

3.2  Escherichia coli 

Escherichia coli (E. coli) bacteria are found in the intestines of humans and animals. 
E. coli bacteria can cause a range of infections including urinary tract infection, 
intestinal infection and can also spread to the blood causing bacteraemia.  
In England there has been a steady rise in the number of cases of E. coli 
bacteraemia reported over the past 4 years. Southend has not seen the same 
increase and remains below the England average (Figure 2). 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

209



46 
 

Figure 2 E Coli Bacteraemia rates in Southend and England, 
  2012 -16 (rate per 100,000 population) 
 

 
    Source: Public Health England 

 
 

Bacteraemia can be divided into two categories: ‘hospital-acquired,’ in which positive 
blood cultures occur more than 2 days after hospital entry; and ‘community-onset,’ 
occurring in the community or detected before 2 days of hospitalisation.  
Surveillance indicates that three quarters of E. coli bacteraemia cases have their 
onset in the community, so this is the setting where prevention and infection control 
interventions will have most benefit.  
 
3.3  Clostridium difficile 
 
Clostridium difficile (C. difficile) is a bacterium that is found in people’s intestines. It 
can be found in healthy people (3% of adults) where it causes no symptoms. When 
people are unwell and treated with antibiotics, this allows C. difficile to grow to take 
over the gut and causes diarrhoea.  
 
C. difficile infections can range in severity from mild diarrhoea through to severe 
inflammation of the intestine, but they can usually be treated with another course of 
antibiotics (5). Infection with C difficile can spread easily to others from contact with a 
contaminated environment or infected person.   
 
Since 2004 the reporting of C difficile has been mandatory and there has been an 
overall decrease in the counts and rates of all reported cases since 2007.  
 
NHS England set official guidance for C. difficile infection for NHS organisations in 

2016/17, including objectives for maximum number of cases and rates of infection for 

acute hospitals and NHS commissioners. Table 1 shows the objectives for the local 

area. A sanction can be applied if hospitals exceed their case objective. 

210



47 
 

Table 1: Clostridium difficile (CDI) objectives for Southend University Hospital 

NHS Foundation Trust and NHS Southend Clinical Commissioning Group 

2016/17  

Organisation CDI case objective CDI rate objective 

Southend University Hospital 

NHS Foundation Trust 

 

30 

 

17.3 

NHS Southend Clinical 

Commissioning Group  

 

36 

 

20.5 

Source: NHS England 

Southend University Hospital NHS Foundation Trust has shown the same decrease 
in rates of C. difficile as has been seen nationally (Figure 3) and is below the 
expected case maximum. 
 
Figure 3 Trust apportioned C. difficile rates Southend University Hospital 
Foundation NHS Trust 2007-2016 

 
          Source: NHS England 
 
 

3.4  Surgical Site Infection (SSI) 
 
A surgical site infection is an infection that occurs after surgery in the part of the 
body where the surgery took place. Surgical site infections can sometimes be 
relatively minor infections involving the skin only. Other surgical site infections are 
more serious and can involve tissues under the skin, organs, or implanted material. 
 
 
 
 
 

211



48 
 

4.0 Reducing Healthcare Associated Infections 
 
The Department of Health has made the control and prevention of healthcare 
associated infections a top priority (6). In addition improving cleanliness and 
reducing healthcare associated infections is a top tier ‘must do’ target for the NHS 
(7). 
 
Although it is probably impossible to completely eradicate healthcare associate 
infections, in addition to clean environments, the key interventions that can 
significantly reduce their incidence are: 

 Good hand hygiene practices 

 Proper use of invasive medical equipment e.g. intravascular (IV) lines 
mechanical ventilation and catheters 

 Prudent use of antimicrobials and optimising prescribing practice  
 

4.1 Good Hand Hygiene Practices 
 
The single most cost-effective intervention to prevent the transmission of healthcare 
associated infection is good hand hygiene, by washing hands with soap and water or 
using alcohol-based hand rubs before and after patient contact (8). 
 
The Cleanyourhands campaign run by the National Patient Safety Agency was 
associated with increased hospital procurement of both alcohol hand rub and soap, 
with reduced rates of MRSA bacteremia and C difficile infection (9). This campaign 
has now been superseded in hospitals by the World Health Organisation’s ‘Save 
Lives – Clean your hands’ and the ‘Five Moments for hand hygiene. 
 
Sometimes even the best hand washing will not be enough, and there is a 
need to wear protective equipment such as gloves and an apron. 
 
4.2 Proper Use of Invasive Medical Equipment 
 
Common invasive devices e.g. urinary catheters or intravenous cannulas carry a 
greater risk of healthcare associated infections. These may result from 
contamination from the skin during insertion of the device, contamination on staff 
hands when manipulating the device, or if the device is left in place for prolonged 
periods. 
 
Strict infection control guidelines govern the use and management of invasive 
devices, their decontamination and disposal and the frequency with which they are 
checked and replaced while in use. 
 
4.3  Prudent Use of Antibiotics 
 
Modern medicine relies on antibiotics for preventing and treating serious infections, 
and their use is an essential component of modern surgery, cancer chemotherapy 
and organ transplants. 
 

212



49 
 

Antibiotic resistance (also known as antimicrobial resistance) occurs when bacteria 
adapt and become resistant to the medicines used so that they no longer work 
effectively. 

 
The inappropriate use of antibiotics has contributed to the dramatic rise in antibiotic 
resistance over the last 40 years, and few new antibiotics have been developed.  
This has led to increased pressure on existing antibiotics and greater challenges in 
treating patients (10). 
 
Work is being undertaken at a national level to tackle antimicrobial resistance, 
directed by a cross-government antimicrobial resistance strategy (11).  This focuses 
activities around improving the knowledge and understanding of antimicrobial 
resistance, conserving the effectiveness of existing treatments and stimulating the 
development of new antibiotics, diagnostics and novel therapies 
 
There are also a wide range of national initiatives to improve antibiotic prescribing 
practice: 

 Raising awareness e.g. European Antibiotic Awareness Day’ (EAAD) is held in 
November each year, aimed at health professionals and the public 

 Optimising prescribing in primary care via education programmes such as 
Stemming the Tide of Antibiotic Resistance and Treat Antibiotics Responsibly, 
Guidance, Education, Tools (TARGET). Health Education England has also 
produced an e-learning module Reducing Antimicrobial Resistance: An 
Introduction aimed at all health and social care staff 

 Optimising prescribing in hospitals and antimicrobial stewardship - the 
introduction of multi-professional specialist teams to monitor prescribing, 
resistance, and infections, and to supporting prescribers in choice and use of 
antibiotics (12) 

 Measures to reduce the use of some antibiotics (associated with an increased 
risk of infection) e.g. cephalosporin and quinolone antibiotics 

 Funding research 
 
NICE have recently issued guidance on the effective use of antimicrobials (including 
antibiotics) which aims to change prescribing practice to help slow the emergence of 
antimicrobial resistance (13).   
The change in prescribing practice needs to be coupled with further public 
campaigns around antibiotics. There is good evidence that these campaigns lead to 
reduction in use (14). 
 
5.0 What is Being Done Locally? 
 
5.1 Healthcare Associated Infections 
 
Healthcare associated infections have been tackled successfully in recent years in 
Southend. This has resulted from a wide range of initiatives that have already been 
launched across the health economy. These include the widespread implementation 
of the “clean your hands campaign” and the Saving Lives High Impact Interventions 
initiative which focuses on actions that are known to make a difference, such as 
good catheter care.  

213



50 
 

Southend Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) works closely with Southend 
University NHS Foundation Trust on infection control issues and audits cases of C 
difficile and MRSA bacteraemia. All cases of Clostridium difficile and MRSA 
bacteraemia are reviewed by provider organisations with CCG infection prevention  
and control input. The CCG Governing Body receives regular updates on healthcare 
associated infections.  
 
5.2 Antimicrobial Resistance  
 
A multidisciplinary Antimicrobial Resistance Group has been established to develop 
a strategy and action plan to slow the development and spread of antimicrobial 
resistance by tackling overuse and misuse of antibiotics.  
 
The Public Health team has highlighted a resource called ‘e-bug’ which has gone out 
to schools through the local Schools Learning Network. E-bug is a free educational 
resource for classroom and home use to make learning about micro-organisms, the 
spread, prevention and treatment of infection, fun and accessible for all students. 
 
All healthcare professionals and members of the public are being encouraged to 
become an Antibiotic Guardian. 
 
The Southend CCG Medicines Management Team continues to work with 
prescribers and pharmacists to educate staff, promote good antibiotic prescribing 
practice and to audit antibiotic prescribing.  
 
The use of delayed prescriptions in primary care for simple non-bacterial infections 
e.g. sore throats. Prescribers issue an antibiotic prescription but ask the patient to 
wait 24-48 hours to see if the condition resolves before commencing use. This has 
been shown to reduce antibiotic usage.    
 
6.0  Recommendations  
 

• Continue to increase standards and implementation of infection control 

measures across health and social care services (such as hand washing, use 
of personal protective equipment, decontamination, sterilisation, and patient 
isolation).  

 

 Continue to promote the role of Antibiotic Guardian with healthcare 
professionals and the public. 

 

 Promote public education about appropriate use of antibiotics and the 
importance of adherence to the prescribed dose and taking the full course of 
antibiotics. 

 
 

 

 

 

214



51 
 

Chapter 7  Emergency Preparedness  

1.0 Background 
 

Threats to the public’s health such as outbreaks of disease, environmental hazards 
and severe weather conditions are continually emerging and can arise at any time.  
On occasions these can escalate into a major incident in a short space of time, 
requiring the implementation of special arrangements by one or a number of 
agencies such as the emergency services, the NHS or the local authority. 
 
A key role of the Director of Public Health, acting on behalf of their local authority, is 
to ensure that plans are in place to protect the health of their population from threats 
ranging from relatively minor outbreaks to full-scale emergencies (1). 
 
This role involves collaboration with Public Health England, NHS England and other 
relevant agencies to plan and prepare for, and contribute to a 24/7 response 
capability to deal quickly and effectively with emergency situations.  
 
2.0 Emergency Preparedness and Planning  
 
The Government is responsible for emergency planning and brought in the Civil 
Contingencies Act 2004 (CCA) (2) to ensure that the organisations best placed to 
manage emergency response and recovery are at the heart of civil protection. 
 
The Act defines an emergency as: 
 

 an event or situation which threatens serious damage to human welfare 

 an event or situation which threatens serious damage to the environment 

 war or terrorism, which threatens serious damage to security 
 

The Act divides local responders into two categories depending on the extent of their 
involvement in civil protection work, and places a proportionate set of duties on each.  
 
Category 1 responders are those organisations at the core of emergency response 
(e.g. emergency services, local authorities, acute hospitals, Public Health England 
and NHS England) and are subject to the full set of civil protection duties. 
 
These duties include the assessment of risk of emergencies occurring and using this 
to inform contingency planning; putting in place emergency plans and business 
continuity management arrangements; having arrangements to make information 
available to the public about civil protection matters as well as the ability to ’warn, 
inform and advise’ public in the event of an emergency 
  
Category 2 responders include the utilities, transport, the Health and Safety 
Executive and Clinical Commissioning Groups. They generally support the 
emergency response through the provision of specialist support, equipment or 
advice. 
 
 
 

215



52 
 

2.1 What is Being Done Locally? 
 
Essex Local Resilience Forum  
 
The CCA requires multi-agency co-operation in emergency preparedness. At a local 
level this is fulfilled by the Essex Local Resilience Forum (Essex LRF) which brings 
together Category 1 and 2 responders. There is also a requirement for the Essex 
LRF to compile a Community Risk Register based on an assessment of the key risks 
facing the local community. The Risk Register is then used to inform emergency 
planning.  
 
To facilitate close partnership working between the organisations that make up the 
Essex LRF, all of their emergency planning leads meet up for a day every week 
(“Working on Tuesdays” group) to help prepare and update plans for responding to 
major emergencies. This group also helps with the preparation and running of 
multiagency exercises and ensures that any lessons learnt are subsequently 
incorporated into the relevant plans. 
 
The Emergency Planning Lead Officer for Southend Borough Council and the 
Director of Public Health are both members of the Essex LRF. 
 
Essex Local Health Resilience Partnership 
 
Local Health Resilience Partnerships (LHRPs) bring together health sector 
organisations to co-ordinate and support joint working and effective planning of the 
health emergency response (3). Their key responsibilities include the production of 
local sector-wide health plans to respond to emergencies as well as to contribute to 
multi-agency emergency planning.  LHRPs are coterminous with LRFs and provide 
assurance about the ability of the health sector to respond in partnership to 
emergencies at the LRF level.  
 
LHRPs are not statutory organisations and each constituent organisation remains 
responsible and accountable for their effective response to emergencies, in line with 
their statutory duties and obligations.  

 
The Essex Local Health Resilience Partnership is co-chaired by the Director of 
Public Health for Southend-on-Sea Borough Council and the NHS England Locality 
Director for Mid and South Essex. The membership includes senior representatives 
from the health sector across Essex and the Health Protection Team at the Public 
Health England East of England Centre. All organisations represented on the Essex 
LHRP have signed a Memorandum of Understanding in relation to dealing with 
outbreaks involving a multiagency response. 
  
NHS England is responsible for seeking assurance on the preparedness of the NHS 
in England to respond to an emergency, and that there is resilience in relation to 
continuing to provide patient care. This process is undertaken on an annual basis via 
LHRPs, and requires both health commissioners and providers to undertake a self-
assessment against relevant NHS Emergency Preparedness, Resilience and 
Response (EPRR) Core Standards. 
 

216



53 
 

In the most recent assurance exercise, NHS Southend Clinical Commissioning 
Group was assessed as being “fully compliant” across all applicable core EPRR 
standards and sufficiently ready to respond to an emergency (4). Over the next 12 
months Southend Clinical Commissioning Group will be undertaking further work to 
gain assurance that any providers they commission and any sub-contractors have 
robust business continuity planning arrangements in place. 
 
On the basis of the self-assessment against the NHS Core Standards for EPRR, 
Southend University Hospital NHS Foundation Trust’s overall compliance is 
considered to be “substantially compliant”. Action has been taken to address the four 
criteria rated as ‘partially compliant’ within the next 6 months (5). 
 
3.0 Extreme Weather and Health 
 

Our climate is changing and evidence suggests that more extreme changes to our 
climate and extreme weather events can be expected in the future. Changing climate 
will affect people’s health, both directly and indirectly. Taking appropriate action and 
preparing for these changes now should lessen their impact. 

 
3.1 Health and cold weather 
 
Greater numbers of people are known to die during the winter months. Cold weather 
increases the risk of heart attacks, strokes, and respiratory diseases, as well as 
injuries from slips and falls in the snow or ice.  Older people, very young children, 
and people with serious medical conditions are particularly vulnerable to the effects 
of cold weather. 
 
The reasons more people die in winter are complex and interlinked with inadequate 
heating and poorly insulated housing, as well as circulating infectious diseases, 
particularly flu and norovirus, and the extent of snow and ice. 
 
Excess winter deaths are additional deaths which occur between December and 
March (December-March) compared to the average number of deaths in non-winter 
months (August-November and April-July). The Excess Winter Death Index in 
Southend is similar to the rest of England (6). 
 
Fuel poverty is an important public health issue, and is considered to be the cause of 
up to 1 in 10 excess winter deaths (7). Currently 9% of households in Southend 
experience fuel poverty, which is significantly better than the England average (6).  
 
3.2 What is Being Done Locally? 
 
Local action to tackle fuel poverty was covered in detail in my last two annual 
reports, which are available on the Council’s website. 
 
Every year detailed local multi-agency planning takes place to inform the System 
Winter Resilience Plan, with the aim of minimising the impact of cold weather on the 
local population and on health and social care services. This includes a detailed 
communications plan covering actions to increase uptake of seasonal flu vaccine in 
eligible groups and a ‘keep warm and well’ campaign for the general public.  

217



54 
 

 
As part of the Cold Weather Plan for England (8), a national Cold Weather Alert 
service operates from 1 November to 31 March. This uses Met Office forecasts and 
data to trigger levels of response from NHS, local government and the public health 
system and communication of risks to the public when severe cold weather is 
forecast.  
 
3.2 Health and Hot Weather 
 
In contrast to deaths associated with cold snaps in winter, the rise in mortality as a 
result of very warm weather follows very sharply – within one or two days of the 
temperature rising. This means that by the time a heatwave starts, the window of 
opportunity for effective action is very short indeed; and therefore advanced planning 
and preparedness is essential  
 
The Heatwave Plan for England and Heat Health Watch alert system were first 
developed following the Heatwave in 2003 when there were an estimated 2000 extra 
deaths in England (9). To support the Plan, the Met Office issues Heatwave Alerts 
from 1 June to 15 September each year.  
 
3.3 What is Being Done Locally? 
 
At a local level, Southend Borough Council facilitates the planning for the distribution 
of relevant heatwave planning guidance to the relevant non NHS agencies in the 
community (including education establishments and residential homes) and 
cascades the Heat Alert Level notifications. NHS England Midlands and East 
Regional Team have made similar arrangements for NHS organisations. 
 
4.  Recommendation 
 

 The Essex Local Health Resilience Partnership should be asked to prepare 
an Annual Report and present to the Southend Health & Wellbeing Board and 
Cabinet to provide assurance to the Council on local health sector emergency 
preparedness. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

218



55 
 

Chapter 8 Screening 

1.0  Background 

Screening is the process of identifying apparently healthy people, but who may be at 
increased risk of a disease or condition. They can then be offered information, 
further tests and appropriate treatment to reduce associated risks or complications 
arising from the disease or condition.  
 
The aim of screening is to identify those who are more likely to be helped than 
harmed by further tests or treatment to reduce risk.  However, the screening process 
is not perfect and in every screening programme there are some false positives 
(wrongly reported as having the condition) and false negatives (wrongly reported as 
not having the condition). Before a screening programme is established there are a 
number of important criteria that must be met relating to the condition itself, the test, 
the intervention and the programme (1).  
 
The UK National Screening Committee advises the NHS on which population 
screening programmes are implemented.  Public Health England leads the NHS 
Screening Programmes and is responsible for quality assurance and monitoring 
uptake. Commissioning of NHS screening programmes is undertaken by NHS 
England. The Essex Screening and Immunisation Team based in NHS England East 
Team commissions the national screening programmes for the population of 
Southend. 
  
There are currently 11 NHS systematic population screening programmes; six 
antenatal and newborn, three cancer and two young person and adult (2). This 
chapter focuses on the cancer and young person and adult screening programmes. 
 
2.0 Cancer Screening 
 
England has 3 national cancer screening programmes; breast, cervical and bowel. 
 
2.1 NHS Breast Screening Programme  
 
Breast cancer is the most common type of cancer in females in the UK and the 
second most common cause of cancer death in women (3).  Approximately 45,000 
cases of breast cancer are diagnosed every year, usually in women who are over 50 
years of age (3).  
 
The NHS Breast Screening Programme aims to find breast cancer at an early stage, 
often before there are any symptoms. To do this, digital scans are taken of each 
breast (mammogram) to look for any abnormalities in breast tissue. Early detection 
may mean simpler and more successful treatment.  

 
Women in England aged 50-70 years are invited for screening every three years. 
Women over 70 can continue to be screened by making an appointment at their local 
screening unit every three years. The NHS is currently in the process of trialling 
extending the programme, offering screening to some women aged 47- 49 and 71-
73 years. 

219



56 
 

 
For the screening programme to be effective, it is important that a substantial 
proportion of the eligible population participate. The minimum standard is for 70% of 
women who are invited over a 3-year period to be screened and the target is 80%.  
 
In Southend the breast screening coverage for women aged 50-70 years in 2015 
was 67.9%, which is significantly lower than the England average of 75.4% (Figure 
1).  Breast screening coverage has been decreasing both nationally and locally since 
2011. There is a need to increase screening coverage to further improve outcomes 
and breast cancer survival rates.   
 
Figure 1            Breast Cancer Screening Coverage in Southend 

     Compared to England 2010 -2015 * 

 
Source: Public Health Outcomes Framework 

   (* % of eligible women screened in previous 3 years) 

 
2.2 NHS Cervical Screening Programme 

 
Cervical cancer is the 20th most common cancer in the UK, with around 3,200 new 
cases per year (3).  The NHS Cervical Screening Programme aims to prevent cancer 
by detecting abnormalities in cells of the cervix and referring women for further 
investigation and potential treatment. Screening is offered every three years to all 
women aged 25 to 49 years and every five years to those aged 50 to 64 years.  
 
It is estimated that early detection and successful treatment can prevent up to 75% 
of cervical cancers from developing (3). Since its introduction, the screening 
programme has helped half the number of cervical cancer cases, and is estimated to 
save approximately 4,500 lives per year in England (4). 
 

Southend has historically had a low coverage in this screening programme and most 
recent data shows that there has been no significant improvement.  
 
 
 
 

220



57 
 

 
Figure 2  Cervical Screening Coverage in Southend  

Compared to England 2010 -15 * 

 
   Source: Public Health Outcomes Framework 

  (*% of eligible women screened adequately within the previous 3.5 or 5.5 years) 

 
2.3 NHS Bowel Cancer Screening Programme 
 
About one in 20 people in the UK will develop bowel cancer during their lifetime. It is 
the third most common cancer in the UK, and the second leading cause of cancer 
death (3). The risk of bowel cancer increases with age, with over 80% of bowel 
cancers arising in people who are 60 or over. 
 
The NHS Bowel Cancer Screening Programme aims to detect bowel cancer at an 
early stage when treatment is more likely to be effective. Bowel cancer screening 
also detects polyps, which are not cancers but may develop into cancers over time 
and can easily be removed.  
 
The NHS offers two types of bowel cancer screening to adults registered with a GP 
in England: 

 A faecal occult blood (FOB) screening kit is offered to men and women aged 60 
to 74 every two years. The kit is completed at home and posted to a laboratory 
for analysis. The FOB test detects occult (hidden) traces of blood in a small stool 
sample. People who test positive for FOB are referred further tests and, if 
necessary, treatment. 
 

 An additional one-off test called bowel scope screening is gradually being 
introduced in England. This is offered to men and women at the age of 55. It 
involves a doctor or nurse using a sigdmoidoscope (a thin, flexible instrument) to 
look inside the lower part of the bowel. The aim is to find any small polyps which 
may develop into bowel cancer if left untreated 

 

221



58 
 

The NHS Bowel Cancer Screening Programme has been in place for 10 years, but 
uptake is still low both nationally and locally. For Southend, in 2015 coverage was 
53.7% compared with an England average of 57.1%, against a required target of 
75%. 
  
2.4 What is Being Done Locally? 
 
Depending on their area of residence and the breast screening round, women in 
Southend can access the breast screening programme at one of a number of sites. 
This can include the Southend University Hospital NHS Foundation Trust site, or the 
breast screening mobile unit which is placed at a number of venues in Southend. 
 
In view of the falling cervical screening coverage in 25-29 year olds, a social 
marketing exercise has been undertaken in Essex with a wide range of stakeholders 
and 25-29 year old women. The findings will be used to inform local work, including a 
programme of communications targeting younger women. 
 
The South Essex Bowel Cancer Screening Programme centre, which covers eligible 
men and women of Southend, commenced the bowel scope screening in December 
2016, with plans for full implementation by the end of 2018. 
 
3.0  Non-cancer young people and adult screening programmes 
 
3.1 NHS Diabetic Eye Screening Programme 
 
People with diabetes are at risk of a condition called diabetic retinopathy. This 
condition occurs when diabetes affects small blood vessels, damaging the part of the 
eye called the retina. Untreated this retinopathy is one of the most common causes 
of sight loss among people of working age. It may not cause symptoms until it is 
quite advanced. 
 
The NHS Diabetic Eye Screening Programme aims to reduce the risk of sight loss in 
people with diabetes through the early detection, appropriate monitoring and referral 
for treatment of diabetic retinopathy. It offers screening every 12 months to all people 
with diabetes aged 12 and over. The screening test involves examining the back of 
the eyes and taking photographs. 
 
The data for screening uptake is at present only available at regional level. The 
uptake for East of England in 2014/15 (82.4%) is similar to the England average 
(82.9%). 
 
3.2 NHS Abdominal Aortic Aneurysm Screening Programme 
 
Abdominal aortic aneurysm (AAA) screening is a way of detecting a dangerous 
swelling (aneurysm) of the aorta – the main blood vessel that runs from the heart, 
down through the abdomen to the rest of the body  The swelling occurs when the 
wall of the aorta weakens and stretches. What causes this weakness is still unclear, 
however, smoking and high blood pressure are thought to increase the risk of an 
aneurysm. 
 

222



59 
 

An AAA usually causes no symptoms, but if it bursts it is extremely dangerous and 
usually fatal. Around 8 out of 10 people with a ruptured AAA either die before they 
reach hospital or do not survive surgery.  
 
Early detection is important because once identified AAAs can be monitored or 
treated, greatly reducing the chances of the aneurysm causing serious problems. 
AAA screening involves a simple ultrasound scan to measure the abdominal aorta. 

 
AAA is far more common in men aged over 65 than it is in women and younger men, 
so men are invited for screening in the year they turn 65. Men over 65 who have not 
previously been tested can self-refer for screening. 
 
The NHS Abdominal Aortic Aneurysm (AAA) Screening Programme aims to reduce 
the number of ruptured AAAs and premature deaths among men aged 65 and over 
by up to 50% through early detection, follow-on tests and referral for treatment.  
 
The Essex AAA Screening service was launched in May 2013.The uptake for 
2015/16 for Essex was 78.8%. This is a promising start for a very new programme, 
especially as it is aimed only at men and for a condition that is not as widely known 
about. Data is also available at Clinical Commissioning Group level, and this shows 
that there is a lower uptake for AAA screening in Southend (75.4%). 
 
3.3 What is Being Done Locally? 
 
As part of the new Essex Diabetic Eye Screening Programme, an Engagement 
Manager has been recruited who is working with local diabetes support groups to 
enhance the service and improve access. They are also working with GP practices in 
the promotion of the service. 
 
The Essex AAA programme is managed by Southend University Hospital NHS 
Foundation Trust. The programme continues to work with GP practices and local 
community services to promote the programme and raise awareness among the 
target age group. 
 
4.0 Recommendations 
 

 Consideration to be given to the inclusion of information on NHS screening 
programmes in ‘Making Every Contact Count’ training. This will enable staff 
from health, the local authority and other organisations to promote screening 
through routine health promotion messages to residents. 
 

 Increase uptake and decrease inequity in uptake across all the screening 
programmes by targeting groups and communities who are less likely to access 
screening. 

 

 
 
 
 

223



60 
 

Feedback from Recommendations for 2015 
 
This section highlights some of the initiatives that have taken place in the past year 
that are linked to the recommendations from the 2015 Annual Public Health Report. 
  
Healthy Early Education and Childcare Settings 
 

 A research report was commissioned by A Better Start Southend looking at 
childhood obesity. This highlighted a range of issues that contribute to childhood 
obesity and the associated high impact changes to address them.  Children’s 
Centres will be central to the delivery of a number of the initiatives, including peer 
support for breast feeding, support for the introduction of solid foods including 
skills for healthy cooking on a low budget, and healthy portion size. 

 

 The appropriate regulations, including a licence from the Medicines and 
Healthcare Products Regulatory Agency (MHRA), and staff training have been put 
in place to enable Children’s Centres to distribute Healthy Start Vitamins from 
their premises. 

 
 
Healthy Schools 

 All Southend Schools engage with the Healthy Schools Agenda. There are 42 
Southend schools (80%) currently working towards achieving Enhanced Healthy 
School Status. In July 2016, 12 further schools achieved Enhanced Healthy 
Schools status.   

 

 A number of primary schools in Southend are now participating in the ‘Daily Mile’. 
This is a simple and free initiative where children take a brisk walk outside in the 
playground averaging a mile each day.  

 
 
Healthy Homes 
 

 Southend Council worked with the multi-agency South East Essex System 
Resilience Group to develop a  ‘Keep Warm, Keep Well’ campaign to promote key  
messages to the public about how to stay well during winter, including having a flu 
jab. 
 

 Southend Council continues to promote Southend Energy, an energy partnership 
between Southend Council and OVO Energy.  Southend Energy offers Southend 
residents offers savings on their energy through competitive tariffs, including 
much-reduced standing charges and 3% interest reward on all credit balances. 

 

 Southend Council has employed a dedicated public health private sector housing 
officer. This officer works predominantly with vulnerable older people, supporting 
them to maintain their properties and take relevant action to address issues that 
might impact on their physical and mental health. This enables people to stay in 
their own homes, reducing the likelihood of a placement in a residential or nursing 

224



61 
 

home. It also helps reduce the emergency hospital admissions, attributable to 
poor housing conditions. 

 

Healthy Workplaces 
 

 During 2016, over 40 small and medium enterprises signed up to the Southend 
Public Health Responsibility Deal. Employees have had the opportunity to access 
a number of initiatives to improve their health and wellbeing, including health 
checks, various physical activities and workshops on topics such as eating for 
performance. 

 

 Southend Council has continued to promote the health and wellbeing of its staff 
through a number of staff health events. This has also included the use of ‘step 
jockey’ to prompt greater physical activity by labelling the stairs for ‘calorie burn’.  

 

Healthy Southend 
 

 Southend Council declared an Air Quality Management Area in 2016 and is 
currently in the process of developing an air quality strategy and Air Quality 
Management Area action plan. 

 

 A Southend Physical Activity Strategy has been developed with an associated 
comprehensive action plan. This includes actions to promote the use of green 
spaces and parks in the borough to increase physical activity. 

 

 Fourteen restaurants, cafes and sandwich shops have signed up to Southend 
Public Health Responsibility Deal and have committed to offering healthy options 
on their menu.  

 

 The Southend Public Health Responsibility Deal has been promoted to schools 
via the Healthy Schools Programme, resulting in 12 schools signing up to the 
Deal.  

 

 A Southend Joint Adult Prevention Strategy has been developed and has 
identified the key areas for prioritisation of resources across the spectrum of 
prevention. 

 

 Southend launched its own version of the national “One You” health initiative. This 
programme is focused on adults and aims to help them live longer healthier lives 
by addressing negative lifestyle factors. 

 

 

 

 

225



62 
 

References 

Chapter 1 

1. Food Standards Agency (2015). UK-wide survey of campylobacter 
contamination on fresh chickens at retail (February 2014 to February 2015). 
https://www.food.gov.uk/science/microbiology/campylobacterevidenceprogram
me/retail-survey-year- 

 
2. Patel D, Georgeou E (2015). The Official Feed and Food Control Service Plan. 

Regulatory Services, Department of Place, Southend-on-Sea Borough Council 
http://democracy.southend.gov.uk/documents/g1772/Public%20reports%20pac
k%2023rd-Jun-2015%2014.00%20Cabinet.pdf?T=10 
 

3. Public Health England (2014). Communicable Disease Outbreak Management 
Operational Guidance. 
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/3
43723/12_8_2014_CD_Outbreak_Guidance_REandCT_2__2_.pdf. 

 

Chapter 2 

1. World Health Organization (2003) Health Topics: Immunization 

http://www.who.int/topics/immunization/en 

 

2. Public Health England (2013) Immunisation against infectious disease. 

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/2

66583/The_Green_book_December_2013.pdf 

 

3. Department of Health press release, 28 September 2012. “Pregnant women to 
be offered whooping cough vaccination” 
https://www.gov.uk/government/news/pregnant-women-to-be-offered-
whooping-cough-vaccination 

 
4. Public Health England. Pertussis: the green book, chapter 24. 2016 

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/pertussis-the-green-book-chapter-
24 4 

 

5.  Public Health England, NHS England (2016). Removal of the infant dose of 
meningococcal serogroup C (MenC) conjugate vaccine given at three months 
from 1 July 2016 
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/5
12311/2016_MenC_infant_schedule_letter-FINAL__1_.pdf 
 

Chapter 3 
 
1. Department of Health. Green Book Chapter 19 Influenza, 2015 

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/4
56568/2904394_Green_Book_Chapter_19_v10_0.pdf 

226

https://www.food.gov.uk/science/microbiology/campylobacterevidenceprogramme/retail-survey-year-
https://www.food.gov.uk/science/microbiology/campylobacterevidenceprogramme/retail-survey-year-
http://democracy.southend.gov.uk/documents/g1772/Public%20reports%20pack%2023rd-Jun-2015%2014.00%20Cabinet.pdf?T=10
http://democracy.southend.gov.uk/documents/g1772/Public%20reports%20pack%2023rd-Jun-2015%2014.00%20Cabinet.pdf?T=10
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/343723/12_8_2014_CD_Outbreak_Guidance_REandCT_2__2_.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/343723/12_8_2014_CD_Outbreak_Guidance_REandCT_2__2_.pdf
http://www.who.int/topics/immunization/en
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/266583/The_Green_book_December_2013.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/266583/The_Green_book_December_2013.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/news/pregnant-women-to-be-offered-whooping-cough-vaccination
https://www.gov.uk/government/news/pregnant-women-to-be-offered-whooping-cough-vaccination
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/pertussis-the-green-book-chapter-24%204
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/pertussis-the-green-book-chapter-24%204
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/512311/2016_MenC_infant_schedule_letter-FINAL__1_.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/512311/2016_MenC_infant_schedule_letter-FINAL__1_.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/456568/2904394_Green_Book_Chapter_19_v10_0.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/456568/2904394_Green_Book_Chapter_19_v10_0.pdf


63 
 

 
2. Cromer D, van Hoek AJ, Jit M, Edmunds WJ, Fleming D, Miller E (2014). The 

burden of influenza in England by age and clinical risk group: A statistical 
analysis to  inform vaccine policy. J Infect, 2014:68: 363-371 

 
3. Office for National Statistics (2014). Sickness Absence in the Labour Market. 

https://www.ons.gov.uk/employmentandlabourmarket/peopleinwork/labourprod
uctivity/articles/sicknessabsenceinthelabourmarket/2014-02-25 

 
4. Public Health England (2016). The National Flu Immunisation Programme 

2016/17.  
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/5
29954/Annual_flu_letter_2016_2017.pdf 

 
5. Public Health England (2016). The Flu Plan. Winter 2016/17. 

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/5
25967/Annual_flu_plan_2016_to_2017.pdf 
 

 
Chapter 4 
 
1. Department of Health. 2013 Green Book Chapter 32, Tuberculosis 

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1
8511/Green-Book-Chapter-32-dh_128356.pdf 
 

2. World Health Organisation 2002 Tuberculosis Fact Sheet No 104. 
http://www.who.int/mediacentre/factsheets/who104/en/print.html. 
 

3. Public Health England (2016). Tuberculosis in England 2016 report. Public 
Health England, London.  
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/5
64656/TB_annual_report_2016.pdf. 
 

4. Public Health England (2016). TB Strategy Monitoring Indicators 
http://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/tb-monitoring/data#page 

 
5. Public Health England 2015. Collaborative Tuberculosis Strategy for England 

2015-2020 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/collaborative-tuberculosis-
strategy-for-england 
 

6. Home Office, 2013.  New phase of tuberculosis screening launched as part of 
Immigration Rules changes. 
https://www.gov.uk/government/news/new-phase-of-tuberculosis-screening-
launched-as-part-of-immigration-rules-changes 
 

7. Public Health England 2015. Latent TB Testing and Treating for Migrants. 
A practical guide for commissioners and practitioners. 
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/4
42192/030615_LTBI_testing_and_treatment_for_migrants_1.pdf 

227

https://www.ons.gov.uk/employmentandlabourmarket/peopleinwork/labourproductivity/articles/sicknessabsenceinthelabourmarket/2014-02-25
https://www.ons.gov.uk/employmentandlabourmarket/peopleinwork/labourproductivity/articles/sicknessabsenceinthelabourmarket/2014-02-25
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/529954/Annual_flu_letter_2016_2017.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/529954/Annual_flu_letter_2016_2017.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/525967/Annual_flu_plan_2016_to_2017.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/525967/Annual_flu_plan_2016_to_2017.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/18511/Green-Book-Chapter-32-dh_128356.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/18511/Green-Book-Chapter-32-dh_128356.pdf
http://www.who.int/mediacentre/factsheets/who104/en/print.html
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/564656/TB_annual_report_2016.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/564656/TB_annual_report_2016.pdf
http://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/tb-monitoring/data#page
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/collaborative-tuberculosis-strategy-for-england
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/collaborative-tuberculosis-strategy-for-england
https://www.gov.uk/government/news/new-phase-of-tuberculosis-screening-launched-as-part-of-immigration-rules-changes
https://www.gov.uk/government/news/new-phase-of-tuberculosis-screening-launched-as-part-of-immigration-rules-changes
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/442192/030615_LTBI_testing_and_treatment_for_migrants_1.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/442192/030615_LTBI_testing_and_treatment_for_migrants_1.pdf


64 
 

 
 

Chapter 5 
 
1. Department of Health (2013) A Framework for Sexual Health Improvement in 

England. London: Department of Health. Available at: 
www.gov.uk/government/publications/a-framework-for-sexual-health-
improvement-in-england 

 
2. Department of Health (2013) Commissioning Sexual Health Services and 

Interventions: Best Practice Guidance for Local Authorities. London: 
Department of Health.  
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1
44184/Sexual_Health_best_practice_guidance_for_local_authorities_with_IRB.
pdf 
 

3. Public Health England (2014) Opportunistic Chlamydia Screening of Young 
Adults in England. An Evidence Summary. 
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/4
97371/Opportunistic_Chlamydia_Screening_Evidence_Summary_April_2014.p
df 
 

4. Kirwan PD, Chau C, Brown AE, Gill ON, Delpech VC and contributors. HIV in 
the UK - 2016 report. December 2016. Public Health England, London. 
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/5
74667/HIV_in_the_UK_2016.pdf 
 

5. HIV/AIDS surveillance in Europe 2015. European Centre for Disease 
Prevention and Control; Available from: 
http://ecdc.europa.eu/en/healthtopics/aids/surveillancereports/Pages/surveillan
ce-reports.aspx. 

 
6. Department of Health. The Green Book, Chapter 18 Hepatitis B. 

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/5
03768/2905115_Green_Book_Chapter_18_v3_0W.PDF 
 

7. NICE (2016) Clinical Knowledge Summary Hepatitis C. 
https://cks.nice.org.uk/hepatitis-c#!topicsummary 

 
 
Chapter 6 
 
1. Health Protection Agency (2012). Healthcare Associated Infection Operational 

Guidance and Standards for Health Protection Units 
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/3
32051/HCAI_Operationalguidancefinalamended_05July2012.pdf 
 

2. National Audit Office (2009) Reducing healthcare associated infections in 
hospitals in England. London: The Stationery Office 
https://www.nao.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2009/06/0809560.pdf 

228

http://www.gov.uk/government/publications/a-framework-for-sexual-health-improvement-in-england
http://www.gov.uk/government/publications/a-framework-for-sexual-health-improvement-in-england
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/144184/Sexual_Health_best_practice_guidance_for_local_authorities_with_IRB.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/144184/Sexual_Health_best_practice_guidance_for_local_authorities_with_IRB.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/144184/Sexual_Health_best_practice_guidance_for_local_authorities_with_IRB.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/497371/Opportunistic_Chlamydia_Screening_Evidence_Summary_April_2014.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/497371/Opportunistic_Chlamydia_Screening_Evidence_Summary_April_2014.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/497371/Opportunistic_Chlamydia_Screening_Evidence_Summary_April_2014.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/574667/HIV_in_the_UK_2016.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/574667/HIV_in_the_UK_2016.pdf
http://ecdc.europa.eu/en/healthtopics/aids/surveillancereports/Pages/surveillance-reports.aspx
http://ecdc.europa.eu/en/healthtopics/aids/surveillancereports/Pages/surveillance-reports.aspx
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/503768/2905115_Green_Book_Chapter_18_v3_0W.PDF
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/503768/2905115_Green_Book_Chapter_18_v3_0W.PDF
https://cks.nice.org.uk/hepatitis-c#!topicsummary
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/332051/HCAI_Operationalguidancefinalamended_05July2012.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/332051/HCAI_Operationalguidancefinalamended_05July2012.pdf
https://www.nao.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2009/06/0809560.pdf


65 
 

 
3. NICE (2014) Infection prevention and control Quality standard QS61 

 
4. Plowman et al (1999): The Socio-economic Burden of Hospital Acquired 

Infection – Public Health Laboratory Service London. 
 

5. Public Health England (2013) Updated guidance on the management o and 
treatment of Clostridium difficile infections.  
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/3
21891/Clostridium_difficile_management_and_treatment.pdf 

 
6. Department of Health (2008) The Health Act 2006. Code of Practice for the 

Prevention and Control of Healthcare Associated Infections. London. 
 

7. Department of Health (2008) Clean, safe care: reducing infections and saving 
lives. London. 
http://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/+/www.dh.gov.uk/en/Publicationsand
statistics/Publications/PublicationsPolicyAndGuidance/DH_078134 
 

8. Pratt, R J (2005) Preventing healthcare associated infections: an essential 
component of patient safety London: Patient Safety Agency, BMJ Publishing 
Group, and the Institute for Healthcare Improvements. 

 
9. Stone, S et al (2012) Evaluation of the national ‘Clean your hands’ campaign to 

reduce Staphylococcus aureus bacteraemia and Clostridium difficile infection in 
hospitals in England and Wales by improved hand hygiene: four year, 
prospective, ecological, interrupted time series study BMJ 2012;344: e3005 

 
10. Department of Health (2011) Annual Report of the Chief Medical Officer,   

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1
38331/CMO_Annual_Report_Volume_2_2011.pdf 
 

11. Department of Health (2013) UK Five Year Antimicrobial Resistance Strategy  
2013 to 2018 
 

12. Department of Health (2015) Start Smart - Then Focus. Antimicrobial 
Stewardship Toolkit for English Hospitals  
 

13   NICE (2015) NG 15 Antimicrobial stewardship: systems and processes for  
 effective antimicrobial medicine use  
 
14 Filippini M, Ortiz LG, Masiero G. (2013) Assessing the impact of national 

antibiotic campaigns in Europe. Eur. J. Health Econ. 14, 587–599 
  
Chapter 7 
 
1. Department of Health (2012). Arrangements for Health Emergency 

Preparedness, Resilience and Response from April 2013. 
 
2. Civil Contingencies Act 2004.  

229

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/321891/Clostridium_difficile_management_and_treatment.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/321891/Clostridium_difficile_management_and_treatment.pdf
http://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/+/www.dh.gov.uk/en/Publicationsandstatistics/Publications/PublicationsPolicyAndGuidance/DH_078134
http://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/+/www.dh.gov.uk/en/Publicationsandstatistics/Publications/PublicationsPolicyAndGuidance/DH_078134
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/138331/CMO_Annual_Report_Volume_2_2011.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/138331/CMO_Annual_Report_Volume_2_2011.pdf


66 
 

http://www.cabinetoffice.gov.uk/content/civil-contingencies-act 
 

3. Health Emergency Preparedness, Resilience and Response from April 2013. 
Summary of the principal roles of health sector organisations. Department of 
Health 2012 
 

4. King J. 2016. NHS Southend Clinical Commissioning Group Governing Body, 
August 2016 Agenda Item 10: Assurance Against the Emergency 
Preparedness, Resilience and Response (EPRR) NHS England Core 
Standards. 

 

5. Hepworth P. 2016 Southend University Hospital NHS Foundation Trust. Board 
of Directors Meeting August 2016 Agenda Item 6: Emergency Preparedness, 
Resilience and Response (EPRR) Core Standards 2016-17 Self-Assessment. 

 

6. Public Health England 2016. Public Health Outcomes Framework. 
 

7. Hills J. 2011 Fuel Poverty: The problem and its measurement. Department for 
Energy and Climate Change. 
 

8. Public Health England. Cold Weather Plan for England 2015. London. 
 

9. Public Health England & NHS England. Heatwave Plan for England 2015: 
Protecting health and reducing severe harm from severe heat and heatwaves. 
London.  

 
 
Chapter 8 
 
1. Public Health England (2015) Criteria for appraising the viability, effectiveness 

and appropriateness of a screening programme 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/evidence-review-criteria-national-
screening-programmes/criteria-for-appraising-the-viability-effectiveness-and-
appropriateness-of-a-screening-programme 
 

2. Public Health England (2016) NHS Screening Programmes in England.1 April 
2015 to 31 March 2016 
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/5
74713/Screening_in_England_2015_to_2016.pdf 
 

3. Cancer Research UK (2014) Cancers statistics for the UK – Cancer incidence 
 
4. Peto et al (2004) The cervical cancer epidemic that screening has prevented in 

the UK. Lancet 35, 249–256 
 

230

http://www.cabinetoffice.gov.uk/content/civil-contingencies-act
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/evidence-review-criteria-national-screening-programmes/criteria-for-appraising-the-viability-effectiveness-and-appropriateness-of-a-screening-programme
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/evidence-review-criteria-national-screening-programmes/criteria-for-appraising-the-viability-effectiveness-and-appropriateness-of-a-screening-programme
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/evidence-review-criteria-national-screening-programmes/criteria-for-appraising-the-viability-effectiveness-and-appropriateness-of-a-screening-programme
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/574713/Screening_in_England_2015_to_2016.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/574713/Screening_in_England_2015_to_2016.pdf


Report Title: Committee updates Page 1 of 3 17 04 11 

 

Southend-on-Sea Borough Council 
 

Report of Chief Executive 

to 

People Scrutiny Committee 

 

11th April 2017  

Report prepared by:  
Fiona Abbott 

Scrutiny Committee - updates 

A Part 1 Agenda Item 

 

1. Purpose of Report 
 

To update the Committee on a number of health scrutiny matters and other 
matters relating to the work of the Committee.  

 
2. Recommendations 
 
2.1 That the report and any actions taken be noted. 
 
2.2 That the Report of the Task & Finish Group looking at mental health issues for 

children and young people in Essex be received and noted. 
 
3. NHS Southend CCG & Castle Point & Rochford CCG Consultation  
 
3.1 The above mentioned CCGs carried out a consultation on proposals to change 

the service restriction policy of 3 specific treatments - Gynaecomastia 
(enlargement of the male breast tissue); spine injections for back pain; 
implantation of toric lenses for corneal astigmatism during cataract surgery. The 
consultation ran from 21st February – 14th March 2017.  

 
3.2 The consultation document was circulated to Committee members on 21st 

February 2017 and advised that this was now a joint consultation with NHS 
Castle Point and Rochford CCG and also that the consultation on bariatric 
surgery will be undertaken at another time.  No comments were received from the 
Committee and the CCG was advised accordingly. 

 
3.3 The CCG will report the outcomes from this consultation to the Clinical Executive 

Committee(s) and Governing Body and also keep the Committee informed 
throughout. 

 
4 Quality Report / Account – 1st April 2016 – 31st March 2017 
 
4.1 The Scrutiny Committee, as a statutory consultee is invited to comment on the 

draft Quality Accounts received from health bodies.  Unfortunately there is no 
discretion in the statutory timescales. In 2016, the draft Quality Accounts from 
South Essex Partnership Trust (SEPT) and Southend Hospital were circulated to 

Agenda 
Item No. 

 
 

12 

231

12



Report Title: Committee updates Page 2 of 3 17 04 11 

 

Committee members for any comments and a submission was sent to the Trusts 
in the time frame (Minute 778 refers). 

 
4.2 Quality Report / Account - 1st April 2016 – 31st March 2017 - SEPT have advised 

that the draft Quality Account for 2016/17 will be sent on the 21st April 2017 and 
the Hospital have advised they will be sending through the document in the third 
week of April. The documents will be circulated to the Committee as soon as they 
are received. There is a requirement that any comments must be received by the 
Trusts within 30 days, in accordance with the Regulations.  

 
5. Mental health services for children and young people 
 
5.1 The Committee will recall that Councillors Boyd and Endersby joined this Essex 

HOSC Task & Finish Group looking at mental health issues for children and 
young people in Essex – refer to Minute 356 (October 2016) & Minute 501 
(November 2016).  

 
5.2 The focus of the Group was on the perception, awareness, signposting and 

accessibility to service aimed at children of school age. The Group were 
interested to see how the wider system worked and explored some of the issues 
around the level of coordination and joined up working between agencies.  

 
5.3 The final report from the review has been considered and agreed by the Essex 

HOSC at its meeting on 20th March, with some minor amendments made. A copy 
of the summary report from the review is attached at Appendix 1. The full report 
has been placed in the members area. The Committee is asked to note the 
publication of the report. 

 
6. Other matters 
 
6.1 GP practice change – on 21st February 2017 the CCG advised about a change to 

the practice operating at the University of Essex, Southend Campus in Luker 
Road, Southend. This information was shared with the Chairman & Ward 
Councillors.  

 
 NHS Property had advised the CCG that the landlord to this practice will no 

longer offer the university building to the practice, which is a branch surgery to 
the Northumberland Avenue practice, which is not closing. There are about 5,000 
on the whole registered list and that there is capacity in the local area to take any 
additional patients who choose to move following the change, which will be from 
October 2017. The CCG do know that there are a higher number of students 
registered at the practice and have said they will monitor student movement. The 
CCG have also said that they would be grateful for any feedback from Councillors 
on any increase in appointment times for residents in the central area, to enable 
them to investigate issues. The Committee is asked to note the position.  

 
6.2 St Lukes Primary Care Development – the CCG has been asked to provide an 

update on this project which will be circulated as soon as it is received. 
 
6.3 Update on SEPT/ NEP merger – the Committee will be aware of the proposed 

merger of SEPT and North East Partnership NHS Foundation Trust (NEP) on 1st 
April 2017 to form Essex Partnership University NHS Foundation Trust (EPUT). 

232



Report Title: Committee updates Page 3 of 3 17 04 11 

 

An update briefing note prepared by SEPT on this matter is attached at 
Appendix 2 which the Committee is asked to note. 

 
6.4 Success Regime / STP - as advised at the last meeting, the Regional Health 

Scrutiny officers group held a half day workshop on STP on 6th February 2017. 
The meeting was facilitated by Brenda Cook, regional advisor with the Centre for 
Public Scrutiny and the training offered for all Eastern region health scrutiny 
Chairmen and Vice Chairmen and Scrutiny Officers and was attended by Cllr 
Moyies, Cllr Nevin and Fiona Abbott. A copy of the presentation slides have been 
placed in the members area. 

 
 Councillors Moyies, Nevin and Boyd met with the Essex CC HOSC Chairman 

and 2 other County Council HOSC members from the south east Essex area on 
23rd March. The meeting was held in Southend. They met with NHS England and 
discussed timelines and future work programming.  

 
 A special meeting of the Scrutiny Committee will be held on 6th April 2017 and 

NHS England have been requested to update the Committee on the clinical 
evidence base underpinning the proposals and potential (hospital) models, and 
for the business case to be shared with the Committee prior to the public 
consultation stage. Any slides from the meeting will be circulated. 

 
6.5 School achievement data – at the meeting on 24th January 2017 it was agreed 

that a training session would be arranged for Committee members on this new 
annual set of data (Minute 691 refers). Six Councillors attended the session 
which took place on 21st March and was led by the Director of Learning.  

 
7. Corporate Implications 

7.1 Contribution to Council’s Vision and Critical Priorities – Becoming an excellent 
and high performing organisation. 

7.2 Financial Implications – There are no financial implications arising from the 
contents of this report. The cost of any Joint Committee work can be met from 
existing resources. 

7.3 Legal Implications – none. 
7.4 People Implications – none. 
7.5 Property Implications – none. 
7.6 Consultation – as described in report.  
7.7 Equalities Impact Assessment – none. 
7.8 Risk Assessment – none. 
 
8. Background Papers 

 Emails regarding CCG consultation 

 Emails regarding Quality Accounts; letter from SEPT dated 17th March 2017 
regarding Quality Account / Report process and new organisation being created 

 Emails regarding GP practice change 

 Emails regarding SEPT / NEP merger update 

 Emails with NHS England re SR 

 Emails regarding arrangements for briefing re school achievement data  

9. Appendices  
Appendix 1 – Summary document 
Appendix 2 – Briefing on SEPT / NEP merger 

233



This page is intentionally left blank



all together, better 

 

Page 1 – final draft 

 

Update report on the merger of North 
Essex Partnership University NHSFT 

(NEP) & South Essex Partnership 
University NHSFT (SEPT)  

 

 
Southend on Sea Borough Council Members & People Scrutiny 

Committee Briefing 
Monday 3rd April 2017 2017 

 

Update Report on the Merger of NEP and SEPT to create 
Essex Partnership University NHSFT (EPUT)  

 
This report updates the wider Councillor membership of Southend on Sea Borough 
Council and the People Scrutiny Committee with the merger between North Essex 
Partnership University NHSFT (NEP) and South Essex Partnership NHSFT (SEPT) 
to create Essex Partnership University NHSFT (EPUT).   
 
This paper builds upon the report given on 3rd October 2016, in which it was noted 
that the Trusts were in the process of finalising the Full Business Case for the 
merger for submission to their regulator NHS Improvement.  This case was 
submitted on 5th December 2016. 
 
It was also noted that an Interim Board would be in place for 1st November 2016 and 
this was achieved.  The Board is chaired by Janet Wood until a substantive Chair is 
sought in the summer of 2017 and the executive team is led by Sally Morris as Chief 
Executive Officer. 
 
This report will update members on the key aspects of the assessment process from 
NHSI and the integration plans for the first year of EPUT’s operation. 
 
Summary  
 
The Trust first approached the idea of a formal merger in September 2015, in 
response to regional plans for the future. The strategic rationale for a proposed 
merger remains strong with the publication of the four Sustainability and 
Transformation Plans (STPs) which affect the proposed new Trust and the Essex 
Mental Health Strategy.  
 
The Outline Business Case, competition reviews and the due diligence exercise 
confirmed that a proposed merger is a feasible and deliverable proposition. The Full 
Business Case (FBC) defines and describes the benefits of the proposed merger 
and details how it will be implemented fully. This was agreed by both Trust Boards in 
November 2016 and submitted to NHS Improvement (NHSI), our regulator, in early 
December 2016 – as advised by CEO letter to HOSC Chair that same month. 
  

235



all together, better 

 

Page 2 – final draft 

 

Update report on the merger of North 
Essex Partnership University NHSFT 

(NEP) & South Essex Partnership 
University NHSFT (SEPT)  

Engagement with a range of stakeholders, specifically staff at both Trusts and 
service users and carers via a proposed merger stakeholder reference group, has 
continued throughout the process. 
 
Current merger status 
 
The Trust Boards received and approved a Full Business Case for the merger at 
their meetings on 30th November 2016.  Following some final comments and 
additions this was submitted to NHSI on 5th December 2016 for their review. 
 
This triggered the NHSI assessment process.  Following authorisation from the Trust 
Boards of both NEP and SEPT in November 2016 the draft Full Business Case and 
draft Post Transaction Integration Plan was submitted to NHS Improvement’s 
Provider Assessment team.   
 
The assessment process is fully described in the Transactions Guidance at pp35 to 
57 available at 
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/41779
9/Transactions_guidance_2015_FINAL.pdf .   
 
In summary the process focuses on four areas: 
 

 strategy: Is there a clear strategic rationale for the transaction and does the 
board have the capability, capacity and experience to deliver the strategy? 
 

 finance:  Does the transaction result in an entity that is financially viable? 
 

 quality:  Is quality maintained or improved as a result of the transaction? 
 

 transaction execution: Does the trust have the ability to execute the 
transaction successfully? 

 
The assessment takes the form of a review of various background evidence used to 
write the business case and integration plans; meetings with Interim Executive 
Directors and other staff members to understand, assess and challenge the 
assumptions used in the business case; and finally a meeting with the Interim Board 
and NHSI Executives to summarise the findings of the assessment and challenge 
any outstanding areas of concern.   
 
NHSI confirmed in its letter of 20th March 2017 that it had given the transaction a 
“green” rating meaning that they had no material concerns. 
 
In parallel, Grant Thornton (NEP’s current external auditors and appointed as 
Reporting Accountants for the merger by both Boards) completed their assessment 

236

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/417799/Transactions_guidance_2015_FINAL.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/417799/Transactions_guidance_2015_FINAL.pdf


all together, better 

 

Page 3 – final draft 

 

Update report on the merger of North 
Essex Partnership University NHSFT 

(NEP) & South Essex Partnership 
University NHSFT (SEPT)  

of the transaction to allow them to provide each Board with an independent expert 
opinion regarding: 
 

 proposed financial reporting procedures 

 proposed quality governance procedures 

 integration planning 
 
The opinion was given on a Board Memorandum that covers each of the topics 
above and presented to the NEP and SEPT Boards at the end of February.   
The formal audit opinion of Grant Thornton and the green risk rating letter from NHSI 
was shared with both Trusts’ Councils of Governors who were asked to vote to 
confirm that the Boards of Directors had approved the merger after undertaking all 
due diligence and had sought and gained the views of the Trusts’ membership.   
 
Both Councils and the Trusts then signed a legally binding merger agreement.  This 
allowed NHSI to agree a Grant of Merger that dissolves NEP and SEPT on 31st 
March 2017 and creates Essex Partnership University NHS Foundation Trust on 1st 
April 2017.  All the assets and liabilities of NEP and SEPT legally transferred to 
EPUT at the stroke of midnight 31st March 2017. 
 
Planned engagement with stakeholders.  
 
The Trusts have established a Stakeholder Reference Group of service users, carers 
and Healthwatch Mental Health Ambassadors. This group is chaired by a service 
user. It is an active and engaging group. Members are keen to develop it themselves 
and, at the next meeting, will be debating draft Terms of Reference developed by a 
member. The group is being engaged by the Trusts’ clinical leaders on the emerging 
clinical model from the design stage onwards. Anyone with an interest in the 
proposed model can join the group. It is advertised widely on both Trusts’ websites 
and at public meetings.  
  
A major public meeting was held at the end of January 2017 in Brentwood. 
Attendees were able to meet the Interim Board of the proposed new Trust and ask 
questions related to the merger plans and the proposed new organisation. It was a 
lively and very well attended meeting. People who were unable to attend had the 
opportunity to send in questions in advance. These were read out and answered on 
the night. In addition, both Trusts have held or are holding public meetings in their 
localities for people to ask questions directly about the merger proposals. 
 
In the summer, many staff took part in focus groups to discuss the Trusts’ current 
cultures. Following on from these, joint workshops for staff were run, along with 
surveys for staff and service users and carers, to engage everyone in co-producing 
the proposed new organisation’s vison and values. The outcomes were that the 
vision ‘Working to improve lives’ and the values ‘Open, Compassionate and 
Empowering’ were agreed.  These are values that staff in the proposed new 

237



all together, better 

 

Page 4 – final draft 

 

Update report on the merger of North 
Essex Partnership University NHSFT 

(NEP) & South Essex Partnership 
University NHSFT (SEPT)  

organisation, including the Interim Trust Board, will be expected by colleagues and 
people who use the proposed new Trust’s services to demonstrate in every contact 
they make at work. Also, they will be part of the proposed new Trust’s processes 
such as recruitment, supervision and appraisal of staff.   
 

The Consultants and other clinical and social care leaders from both current Trusts 
have been meeting together to help shape the proposed future Trust. Their 
discussions have included the principles for the emerging proposed new Essex-wide 
integrated health and social care model for mental health services for adults and 
older people. The proposed model is being co-produced with a range of stakeholders 
including staff, commissioners, service users and carers. Progress to date was 
shared with the East of England Clinical Senate in February 2017 and we are 
awaiting their formal feedback.  
 
The CEOs of both Trusts have provided other key stakeholders with written updates 
at key points in the merger process, including MPs, Local Authorities, NHS partners, 
Healthwatches and HOSCs. The Trusts have attended HOSC meetings in Essex, 
Thurrock and Southend to present to members on the merger proposals and have 
provided detailed merger progress updates which have been published on Council 
websites. A merger update is discussed at every public meeting of each Trust Board 
and published on the Trusts’ websites.  
 
The FBC document contains much information that is commercially sensitive to the 
Trust and its partners and so will not be made available publicly.  A “Proposed Trust 
Prospectus” has been published on both Trusts’ websites and made available at 
public meetings. 
 
Planned Timetable for Merger 
 
The merger will legally take effect at one minute past midnight on Saturday 1st April 
2017 when all operational services are transferred to Essex Partnership University 
NHSFT. 
 
There will be no significant changes to the clinical services brought about by the 
merger until the new clinical model is agreed with commissioners, service users and 
other stakeholders.  This is scheduled for Quarter 3 of 2017/18 – from about October 
2017.  Until we have agreement on the new service model and any changes to 
service configuration – which will mean, potentially, formal consultation – the 
services continue to be commissioned and delivered much as they are now.  In the 
first year, changes will be incremental and have been agreed as part of our contracts 
with commissioners for 2017/18. 
 
The first year changes are in corporate services – creating a single Board, ensuring 
that corporate support services such as IT and estates are working together as a 
single team, to reduce our overall corporate costs.  This allows a solid foundation for 

238



all together, better 

 

Page 5 – final draft 

 

Update report on the merger of North 
Essex Partnership University NHSFT 

(NEP) & South Essex Partnership 
University NHSFT (SEPT)  

EPUT to work with commissioners and stakeholders to plan and deliver truly 
transformational clinical change from 2018/19 and beyond. 
 
What are the main benefits of merger? 
 
The Trusts believe that by merging they will be ‘stronger together’. They will be 
better able to co-produce the transformed mental health and social care services 
required by changing commissioning intentions and to meet patients/service users’ 
needs. They will also be able to deliver the additional savings required which would 
assist the local health and social care system to come back into financial balance.  
 
The main benefits of merger are set out in the merger prospectus published on the 
Trusts’ websites and include: 
 

 Protecting and improving front line services by using the economies of scale and 
resources released by the merger to deliver significantly improved care for local 
people and to protect NHS frontline services from increasing financial pressures. 

 Fewer patients needing to use beds outside of Essex. 

 Better ability to recruit and retain doctors, nurses and therapists with greater 
opportunities for career development, rotation between different units and 
research and education programmes at two universities instead of one each   

 We will be better able to make best use of bank staff as both current banks would 
be shared. This could help reduce use of agency staff. 

 Better access to more specialist expertise as service users would have access to 
staff from both Trusts. 

 The merged Trust’s new clinical model for Essex-wide mental health services 
supports the locally-agreed principles of transforming a whole system of 
integrated care for people with mental health needs. It fits well with the co-
produced Essex-wide mental health strategy. A merged Trust can do this better 
than two Trusts working separately in different parts of the county. 

 Better consistency of care as more standardised training of staff would lead to 
higher quality and less variation in the standards of clinical care and better 
outcomes for service users. Each Trust has different areas where excellent care 
is provided and different areas where there are improvements to be made. They 
are both aiming to improve clinical standards to offer excellent services. They are 
starting from different points, but aiming for the same goal and will be more likely 
to achieve this by pooling their expertise as a one organisation.     

 More efficient use of our facilities to release money for front line services. 

 Integrating our community health and mental health teams to provide more 
rounded care for people with physical and mental health needs. 

 Wrapping our services around local primary care services in a new clinical model 
for adults and older people’s mental health services would mean more people 
could be assessed and treated in their GP surgery or clinic and more people 
could be cared for at home. 

 

239



all together, better 

 

Page 6 – final draft 

 

Update report on the merger of North 
Essex Partnership University NHSFT 

(NEP) & South Essex Partnership 
University NHSFT (SEPT)  

The merger will also bring a more secure and stable financial future.  Not merging 
the Trusts would, we calculate, cost taxpayers around £16 million more over five 
years. 
 
What commissioner preparations and support has there been for the merger? 
 
A key driver of the merger has been to respond to the Essex Review of Mental 
Health Services and the Greater Essex Mental Health Strategy that came from the 
review.  The Trusts played an active role in the review and helping commissioners to 
develop the subsequent strategy. 
 
Commissioner representatives from all CCGs and local authorities have formed part 
of the working groups that developed our initial clinical model for mental health and 
were also interviewed by NHSI as part of their assessment for our plans for 
integration.  The Accountable Officer for the lead CCG for mental health 
commissioning across the county of Essex – Sam Hepplewhite from North East 
Essex CCG – has been invited to all meetings of the Merger Project Board and 
Interim Board as we moved through the business case process. 
 
We will have the final version of the revised clinical model, that meets the 
expectations of commissioners in their new mental health strategy, ready for 
stakeholder review by the beginning of October 2017.  At this point we will engage 
with wider stakeholders and undertake any formal process of consultation that is 
required to be ready to implement the new model from April 2018. 
 
Acronyms used in update report:  
 
CCG  Clinical Commissioning Group 
CEO   Chief Executive Officer 
CQC  Care Quality Commission 
EPUT   Essex Partnership University NHS Foundation Trust (proposed new Trust) 

FBC  Full Business Case 
HOSC  Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
IT  Information Technology 
MPs  Members of Parliament 
NEP  North Essex Partnership University NHS Foundation Trust 
NHS  National Health Service 
NHSFT NHS Foundation Trust 
NHSI  NHS Improvement 
SEPT  South Essex Partnership University NHS Foundation Trust 
STPs   Sustainability & Transformation Plans  
 
 

  

240



Document is Restricted

241

15

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the Meeting held on Tuesday, 24th January, 2017
	4 Minutes of the Special Meeting held on Tuesday, 20th December, 2016
	6 Monthly Performance Report
	7 The Future Provision of Secondary Places in Southend
	8 School Admissions Arrangements for Community Schools and the Coordinated Admission Scheme for Academic year 2018/19
	Appendix 1

	9 Annual Education Report
	Appendix

	10 School Term Dates 2018/19
	11 The 2016 Annual Report of the Director of Public Health
	Appendix

	12 Scrutiny Committee - updates
	Appendix 2 Southend HOSC merger update - April 2017

	15 Schools Progress Report

